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BEFORE THE
SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BOARD

Finance Docket No. 35799

RAPID CITY, PIERRE & EASTERN RAILROAD, INC.
-ACQUISITION AND OPERATION EXEMPTION
INCLUDING INTERCHANGE COMMITMENT-
DAKOTA, MINNESOTA & EASTERN RAILROAD CORP.

PETITION FOR REVOCATION OF EXEMPTION

The Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way Employes Division/IBT, Brotherhood of
Railroad Signalmen, and International Association of Sheet Metal, Air, Rail and Transportation
Workers/Mechanical Division (“Unions”) petition the Board to revoke the exemption from prior
Board approval under 49 U.S.C. §10901, invoked by the Rapid City Pierre & Eastern Railroad,
Inc. (“RCP&E) by which RCP&E, a newly formed subsidiary of Genesee & Wyoming Industries
(“GWT”) plans to acquire certain railroad lines and trackage rights from the Dakota, Minnesota &
Easton Railroad Corp. d/b/a Canadian Pacific Railway (“DME/CP”), a subsidiary of the
Canadian Pacific Railway (“CP”).

The Unions submit that the acquisition the DME/CP lines is actually an acquisition of a
rail carrier’s lines by a group of carriers and a holding company that controls rail carriers, so it
can be effected only after Board approval or exemption under 49 U.S.C. §11323 and subject to
employees protective conditions as required by 49 U.S.C. §11326.

I. INTRODUCTION

In 1986 GWI, which owned the 18 mile Genesee and Wyoming Railroad Co. (“GWRR?”)
and the 10 mile Dansville and Mount Morris Railroad Co., formed the Rochester & Southern

Railroad Inc. to acquire another103 miles of railroad line from a CSXT subsidiary. The ICC



authorized the acquisition under former Section 10901thereby allowing GWI to acquire a rail line
from another carrier by use of a wholly controlled subsidiary. Rochester and Southern Railroad,
Inc. And Genesee and Wyoming Industries, Inc. Exemption from 49 U.S.C. §1090, 11301 and
11343, F.D. 30779 (July 15, 1986) (this decision is unpublished but is included in the Unions’
exhibists as Exhibit A).' The Commission treated the acquisition as one governed by former
Section 10901 of the ICA because, as a newly formed corporation, R&S was a new entity and
was not previously recognized as a carrier, even though GWI would control R&S; the
Commission noted that together the carriers controlled by GWI would operate about 160 miles of
line all within western New York. /d at 2.

In 1989 GWI formed the Buffalo & Pittsburgh Railroad, Inc. to acquire another 369 miles
of rail lines. The Commission again treated the transaction as a Section 10901 transaction
because the acquisition was effected by a new corporation which was not a carrier, and it would
be responsible for the line’s operation and financial obligations. Buffalo & Pittsburgh Railroad,
Inc.— Exemption— Acquisition and Operation of Lines in New York and Pennsylvania, Genesee
& Wyoming Industries, et al — Exemption Control, F.D. 31116 and 31117 (June 20, 1989) 1989
WL 238919. Because GWI would control B&P after the acquisition, the Commission decided it
had to approve or exempt GWI’s continued control of B&P once it acquired the lines, so the ICC
exempted that continued control of a carrier under former Section 11343. But it deemed the
acquisition and control to be separate transactions so the employee protections imposed in the

control transaction would not apply to the employees affected by the acquisition.

" The Unions’ exhibits are being submitted in a separate volume of exhibits. None of
those documents contain information designated as “confidential” or “highly confidential” under
the protective order issued in this Finance Docket and in Finance Docket 35800.
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These two decisions were part of an escalating use of former Section 10901 in the 1980s
to authorize new entity acquisitions of rail lines (and to do so without imposition of employee
protections), even when the new entities were controlled subsidiaries or affiliates of rail carriers.
The surge of authorizations of acquisitions of rail lines to new entities under Section 10901 was
driven by ICC determinations and policies that permitting transactions under Section 10901
without employee protections would preserve service on abandonable and “marginally
profitable” lines, and would result in operation of endangered lines by locally managed
companies that presumably would be more responsive to local shippers. Ex Parte 392, Class
Exemption for the Acquisition and Operation of Rail Lines Under 49 U.S.C. §10901, 1 ICC 2d
810, 812-814 (1985), 1985 WL 56040*3-*5; Central Michigan Ry. Co. Acquisition and
Operation—Certain Lines of Grand Trunk Western RR. Co. , The Straits Corp.—Exemption from
49 U.S.C. 11343, F.D. 31059 and 31061(1987), 1987 WL 99287 at *2; Northwestern Pacific
Acquiring Corp. And Eureka Southern RR Co.— Exemption from 49 U.S.C. 10901 and 11301,
F.D. 30555 (1987) 1987 WL 100142 at *2-*4.

Today, GWI is a wholly different entity, the circumstances of the acquisition at issue here
are very different from those at issue in the 1980s and the railroad industry today is markedly
different from the industry in the 1980s. The GWI group now comprises over one hundred
railroads in the United States collectively operating over 9,500 miles of track in 39 States
through 8 operating regions. GWI is has grown from owner of railroads operating 28 miles of
track in western New York to a multi-national corporation operating over 13,300 miles of track
in 5 countries; and the combined revenue of GWI’s carrier subsidiaries for 2013 was almost $1.6
billion. GWI 2013 Annual Report (Unions’ Ex. B) at 1, 7 and Part [ at 4, 7). That amount of

revenue would be sufficient to make the GWI group a Class I railroad; indeed the revenue of the



GWI controlled carriers combined exceeds that of several Class I carriers. Moreover, as is
demonstrated below, in materials other than those submitted to the STB, GWI presents itself as
an integrated enterprise, not as a collection of commonly owned but independent rail
subsidiaries. The extent of coordination and integration ranges from organizing the various
railroads into regions with centralized management, oversight and support structures, to creation
of GWI-wide practices and corporate cultures, to a common style of logos for all GWI railroads.

Notwithstanding all those changes, GWI now seeks to replicate in the instant case what it
did in adding another Class III carrier to its small group of small railroads in western New York
in the late 1980s. GW1 is relying on the 1980s precedent that allowed holding companies that
controlled carriers to acquire abandonable or marginally profitable lines through newly formed
subsidiaries, to now accomplish an acquisition of over 600 miles of railroad lines from Canadian
Pacific that are not remotely abandonable, adding a new Class Il railroad to its 101 U.S.
railroads. But, while once again asserting that it is engaged in a non-carrier acquisition through a
new non-carrier entity, GWI has nonetheless touted its expertise, experience and strength as a
group of commonly controlled railroads as reasons why the transaction will benefit shippers and
is in the public interest.

The Unions respectfully submit that the Board must reconsider its approach to these
transactions and to this transaction in particular. The line of cases from the 1980s on which GWI
relies allowed corporate form to dictate application of the Act and ignored the reality of the
transactions. This was at odds with Supreme Court precedent that use of subsidiaries by holding
companies cannot dictate application of the Act, and that a holding company cannot avoid
seeking authorization for acquisition of a carrier’s property by use of a subsidiary (United States

v. Marshall Transport Co., 322 U.S. 31, 36, 40 (1943); Allegheny Corp. v. Breswick & Co., 353
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U.S. 151, 169 (1957)); that the predecessor to current Section 11323 was amended because its
application was being evaded through the use of “elaborate corporate devices” and the “holding
company system” (Gilbertville Trucking Co. v. United States, 371 U.S. 115, 123, 124 (1962));
and that Commission jurisdiction could not be manipulated by transactions between commonly
controlled entities designed to give the appearance of a transaction different from what was
actually occurring (County of Marin v. United States, 356 U.S. 412, 418 -419 (1958)). The
1980s precedent on which GWI relies was also inconsistent with the rules applied by other
federal agencies which do not allow corporate formalities to dictate their application of Federal
law. But the ICC relied on its perceived policy imperative to ensure that rail service on
abandonable or marginally profitable lines was continued, and the assumption that local
ownership would be more responsive to local shippers; and appellate courts that reviewed those
decisions deferred to the Commission’s rationale and holdings.

There is no reason to apply to the instant transaction the policies of the 1980s when the
rail industry was in distress, Class I’s were consolidating, branch and feeder lines were being
abandoned, acquisitions of abandonable and marginal lines were deemed risky, acquisitions of
those lines by newly formed subsidiaries created by small holding companies to insulate the
holding companies and their other carrier subsidiaries from the acquisition risks was deemed the
only way to save service, and the prospects of the new companies were so uncertain that
application of former Section 11343 with its employee protections was viewed as an obstacle to
continued rail service on those lines.

GWI is now a behemoth. The combined revenues of its railroad subsidiaries is almost



four times the threshold for Class I status and exceeds that of several Class I’s.” The industry is
much healthier, and the lines in question are not in danger of abandonment. Furthermore in
presentations to financial analysts, GWI has forecast continued growth and prosperity, and has
recognized and promoted its different circumstances today by describing the RailAmerica
acquisition as the “[n]atural progression of the evolution of the rail industry since deregulation”.
However, at the Board GWI seeks to take advantage of old policy rationales to accomplish a
transaction very different from the ones it accomplished in 1986 and 1989, when GWI today is a
very different holding company than it was in 1986 and 1989. Moreover, if allowed to use the
new entity/non-carrier device to acquire a line that will constitute a Class II carrier from a Class I
carrier, GWI would have a comparative advantage relative to any Class I which might be
interested in this line or in a similar line because a Class I would have employee protection
obligations and GWI would not. In actuality the planned transaction is for the sale of assets of a
Class I railroad to a group of carriers that collectively constitute a Class I railroad. Such
transactions are subject to the New York Dock Ry-Control- Brooklyn Eastern District Terminal,
360 ICC 60 (1979) employee protections as modified by Wilmington Terminal RR-Purchase &
Lease- CSX Transportation, Inc., 6 ICC 2d 799, 814-26 (1990)), and those protective
arrangements should be imposed on this transaction.

It is time to end the charade, to revert to an application of the Act consistent with its

wording and purpose, consistent with Supreme Court precedent rejecting the use of holding

> GWI does not separately report the combined revenue of the 101 United States
subsidiaries but since the revenue of the combined subsidiaries in 2013 was almost $1.6 billion,
and the threshold for Class I status is $435 million, even with the revenue from the 10 foreign
railroads is excluded, the operating revenue for the U.S. railroads is well over the Class I
threshold.



companies and the use of corporate devices to manipulate application of the Act, and consistent
with the treatment of holding companies and their subsidiaries and affiliates under other Federal
laws. The exemption invoked by GWI and RCP&E should be revoked, and any effort by GWI or
any GWI entity to acquire the line should be handled under Section 11323 with the New York
Dock/Wilmington Terminal employee protections imposed under Section 11326 of the Act.
II. FACTS

A. THE LINES AT ISSUE

RCP&E, a wholly owned subsidiary of GWI, proposes to acquire approximately 670
miles of railroad lines from DME d/b/a Canadian Pacific Railway, a subsidiary of Canadian
Pacific Railway. Notice of Exemption at 2-3, STB published Notice 3/27/14 in F.D. 35799. The
line RCP&E plans to acquire runs from west of Tracy, Minnesota, across South Dakota to Huron
South Dakota and into northern Nebraska. RCP&E also plans to acquire approximately 220 miles
of trackage rights. The DME/CP is a subsidiary of CP as described in the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated September 4, 2007 among Soo Line Holding Company, Soo Line Properties
Company, Canadian Pacific Railway Company and Dakota, Minnesota &Eastern Railroad
Corporation. A copy of that agreement is attached to Exhibit D to the Notice of Exemption in
Finance Docket No. 35799 (Appendix Volume 2). That agreement identifies Soo Line as a
wholly owned subsidiary of CP which would acquire the DM&E and merge into DM&E. /d at 1,
14.
B. GENESEE AND WYOMING INDUSTRIES AND ITS RAILROAD SUBSIDIARIES
1. Genesee and Wyoming Industries

GWTI is a holding company that owns and operates short line and regional railroads and

provides rail car switching and other railroad services in the United States, Canada, Australia, the



Netherlands and Belgium. GWI 2012 Annual Report (Ex. C) Part I at 4, Notice of Exemption at
2, Notice of Exemption in F.D. 35800 at 3-4. The 2013 GWI Annual Report, Unions” Ex. B
(available on the GWI website (gwrr.com)) stated: “As of December 31, 2012, we operated in 39
states in the United States, four Australian States, one Australian territory and four Canadian
provinces....”. 2013 Annual Report Part I at 4. That report continued to state that “we operate one
regional and 100 local (short line) railroads in the United States over approximately 9500 miles
of track”™. Id. Part L at 7.

The 2013 Annual Report states (at 1) that the combined operating revenue for the GWI
railroads in 2013 was approximately $1.6 billion. The 2012 Annual Report acknowledges that
the threshold for Class I carrier status in 2012 was $435.2 million. /d. Part I at 6. See also the
Association of American Railroads January 10, 2013 publication (Unions’ Exhibit D) which also
cites a Class I threshold of $435.2 million. The combined operating revenue for the GWI
railroads in 2013 exceeded the operating revenues of three Class I’s (KCS Mexico-$.9
billion)(KCS-$1.2 billion, and FXE- $1.3 billion). /d.

The 2013 and 2012 reports describe a collection of railroads that are doing well
financially and producing good results for GWI shareholders, not a collection of companies in
peril. 2013 Annual Report at 1, 3, 19; 2012 Annual Report at 3, 5, 9, 10.

2. The GWI Railroad Subsidiaries

In the United States, the GWI railroads are organized into 8 regions for management,
supervision and oversight of the various railroad subsidiaries. See map in the 2013 Annual
Report; see also the powerpoint presentation shown to DME/CP employees and provided to
union officers (Unions’ Exhibit E) at 6. GWTI’s regional management oversees, supports and

provides administrative, commercial and operational guidance and assistance to the railroad



subsidiaries. The 2012 Annual Report (Part I at 4) stated, “our railroads operate under strong
local management teams, with centralized administrative, commercial and operational support
and oversight”. According to the powerpoint presentation GWI provided to DME/CP employees
and Union officers, GWI’s Chief Operating Officer David Brown provides “Operating Support
for Regions” in the areas of safety, and compliance, engineering (track and bridges), mechanical
(locomotives and cars), dispatching, purchasing, and service design; and the COQO’s office
standardizes processes and best practices for the railroads. Powerpoint at 7. The powerpoint
presentation also demonstrates how the regions provide services to the railroads; using the West
region as an example, it shows that the regions provide services in the following areas: safety,
finance, human resources, information technology, marketing and sales, transportation,
mechanical services and engineering. Powerpoint at 8. The 2013 Annual Report states: “Each
Operating Region is under the leadership of a Regional Senior Vice President who has his own
regional management team and operates an independent business unit with direct accountablility
for safety and business results”. 2013 Annual Report at 7. The 2012 Annual Report (at 16)
utilizes the Southern Region to demonstrate “how GWI creates regional systems over time via
contiguous and nearby acquisitions” (emphasis added); and the 2013 Annual Report (at 7)
describes the GWI railroads as being organized in a “regional structure” with a “regional
management team”. The 2012 Annual Report provides safety performance data and customer
satisfaction survey data on a GWI-wide basis. Id. at 5, 9. The 2013 Annual Report said (at 3) that
in 2013 “we welcomed 2000 new employees to our organization”.

The powerpoint presentation provided to DME/CP employees and union officers offers
the opportunity to send questions and comments to two e-mail addresses, both of which are

@gwrr.com; gwrr.com is the GWI website. Powerpoint at 24-25. The GWI website lists jobs



available for all GWI carriers nationally (Unions’ Exhibit F). The website also provides a link to
the GWI Code of Ethics (Unions’ Exhibit G) which states that it applies to all employees, no
exceptions. The powerpoint presentation provided for DME/CP employees includes a page on
the GWI Code of Ethics which states that it is to be “read and acknowledged annually by every
employee”. Powerpoint at 12.

Internet searches using the names of the individual GWI subsidiary railroads lead to the
GWI website tab for that railroad. For example, a search for the Buffalo and Pittsburgh Railroad
leads to gwrr.com/operations/railroads/north_america/buffalo pittsburgh. Unions’ Exhibit H.
When one clicks on the “employees” tab on that page, one is directed to the GWI page and the
GWI website “employees” tab which in turn directs the reader to gwrr.com/employees. The same
is true for the Arizona and Eastern, Otter Tail Valley, New England Central, Columbus and Ohio
River Valley, etc. Id.

3. GWI Statements And Presentations To Investors And Industry Analysts About GWI
And Its Subsidiary Railroads

In publically available industry conference presentations and quarterly earnings calls,
GWI has made numerous statements about the structure of GWI, its regional operations, and how
its subsidiary railroads are integrated into GWL

In discussing its acquisition of RailAmerica lines and the integration of RailAmerica into
GWI at the Cowen and Company 6™ Annual Global Transportation Conference on June 11, 2013
(Unions’ Exhibit I), GWI railroads were identified as belonging to nine North American regions
(Pacific, Mountain West, Central, Midwest, Southern, Ohio Valley, Northeast, Rail Link and
Canada). Id. at 11. The presentation also described the re-branding of the 45 railroads acquired

through the RailAmerica transaction, by which the logos of those various lines had been replaced
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with logos that are the same style as the GWI logo and the logos of the pre-existing GWI
railroads. /d. at 15. The Cowen presentation also illustrated how the acquisition of various
railroads created “Regional Rail Systems”. /d at 22. On a Third Quarter 2013 Earnings Call held
on November 1, 2013, GWI Chief Financial Officer T.J. Gallagher explained that GWI had
incurred substantial costs getting some of the RailAmerica lines’ “safety and operating culture”
up to GWI’s standards, and was focusing on improvements to the individual railroads’ operating
conditions. This included replacing approximately 40% of the railroad general managers at the
railroads acquired from RailAmerica; GWI CEO Hellman later said that 25 of 45 RailAmerica
general managers had been replaced. See Declaration of Kelly Beck (Unions’ Exhibit P) 94 and
attachment documenting these statements.

The integration of operations at GWI is laid out in the slideshow accompanying the Third
Quarter 2013 Earnings Call. One slide was described as illustrating the “overhead cost synergies”
achieved in the RailAmerica acquisition, with operations for safety, finance, HR, IT,
marketing/sales, transportation, mechanical and engineering being led at the regional level.

Third Quarter 2013 Earnings Call, Nov. 1 2013, Ex. J at 5. The structure of the Central Region
with its various centralized management functions is shown at page 5 of the presentation. And at
the BB&T 29™ Annual Transportation Services Conference on February 13, 2014, GWI’s
presentation (Unions’ Exhibit K) described the acquisition of the DME/CP lines as an acquisition
by “G&W?”, the presentation stated (at 11): “On January 2, 2014, G&W signed an agreement to
purchase the assets of the “DM&E West” from Canadian Pacific (CP) for $210 million (expected
to close 2Q 2014, subject to STB approval)”. See also remarks of GWI CEO Hellman at the
BB&T conference, Beck Declaration (Unions’ Ex. P) attachment, third and fifth paragraphs--

describing the acquisition of the DME/CP lines as a GWI acquisition (“our most recently
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announced acquisition...”, “we signed an agreement...”, “We paid $210 million...”).* GWI CEO
Hellman also stated that every region has an executive vice president who functions as a local
CEO, along with a local finance director, head of transportation, chief mechanical officer and
chief engineer. Jack Hellman at BB&T 29" Annual Transportation Services Conference,
February 13, 2014. See Beck Declaration Unions’ Ex. P 94. According to Mr. Hellman, each
region is an autonomous business unit, and when GWI acquires railroads, “[GWI] folds them
straight into the overhead that already exists at the regional level.” Hellman at BB&T
Conference. In reference to the RCP&E acquisition, Hellman stated that “we’ll make sure the
G&W business and safety culture is inculcated there as well.” Id.

In a presentation at the Credit Suisse Global Industrials Conference on December 5, 2013,
GWI identified one of its growth strategies as using “Contiguous railroads as building blocks of
regional rail systems”. Unions’ Exhibit L at 20. GWI also referred to the acquisition of
RailAmerica as “consolidation of short line industry”’; and GWI described its efforts to
consolidate lower-density short lines and its technique of eliminating duplicate overhead at these
short lines by relying on GWI’s extensive regional operations structure, thereby expanding the
existing GWI regions. /d. at 36. As an example of this strategy, GWI illustrated how through a
series of seven small acquisitions from 1985 to 2000, GWI was able to expand the 14 miles of
track it owned in 1977 into a regional rail system that stretches from Rochester, New York to

Columbus, Ohio. /d. at 21. A slide titled “Contiguous Railroads Building Regional Rail

* In a March 2014 presentation by GWI CFO T.J. Gallagher to Raymond James (Unions’
Exhibit R). Gallagher also described the acquisition of the DME/CP lines as an acquisition by
“G&W?”, his presentation also stated (at 9): “On January 2, 2014, G&W signed an agreement to
purchase the assets of the “DM&E West” from Canadian Pacific (CP) for $210 million (expected
to close 2Q 2014, subject to STB approval)”.
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Systems” showed how GWI built a regional rail system from the its base in western New Y ork
to Columbus, Ohio by various separate acquisitions effected through different newly formed
subsidiaries such as the Rochester & Southern, the Buffalo & Pittsburgh, the Allegheny &
Eastern, the Pittsburgh & Shawmut and the “Ohio Lines”. /d. The Credit Suisse presentation
went on to describe the combination of GWI and RailAmerica as the “Natural Progression in the
evolution of the rail industry since deregulation”. First there was the “rationalization” of dramatic
improvements by Class I railroads, then there was the GWI-RailAmerica transaction and the
“consolidation of lower density short lines, creating the ability to invest in long-term
infrastructure and provide customers world class service from door to door”, eliminating
duplicative overhead, expanding GWTI’s regions, and providing a “powerful commercial platform
in 39 U.S. states and 4 Canadian provinces. /d. at 34-36. And in its 2012 10-K filing with the
SEC, GWI stated that it “believe[s] that [its] larger footprint of railroads in North America will
increase the number of future opportunities to make contiguous short line acquisitions due to a
higher number of touch points with other railroads.” GWI 2012 Annual Report, 10-K filing
(excerpts), Unions’ Exhibit M at 6.
4. The Rapid City, Pierre & Eastern

RCPE& E is a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of GWI which will continue to be
controlled by GWI after the DME/CP lines are acquired. Notice of Exemption at 2-3, 5. The
Notice of Exemption asserts that the acquisition will be made by RCP&E, even though GWI
CEO Hellman and GWI CFO Gallagher told investors and analysts that “G&W signed an
agreement to purchase the assets of the DM&E West”.

The Notice of Exemption for RCP&E in this proceeding was verified by Allison M.

Fergus as Secretary for RCP&E. According to the GWI website (Unions’ Exhibit N), Ms. Fergus
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is also the General Counsel and Secretary for GWI; and Ms. Fergus also verified the notice of

exemption filed by GWI in F.D. No. 35800 (GWTI’s continued control of RCP&E) in her role as

General Counsel and Secretary for G 1. | R

As is noted above, RCP&E employees will be subject to GWI’s code of ethics which
deals with such issues as drug and alcohol use, retaliation claims, discipline, use of company
resources and expense reimbursement, claims of discrimination or harassment (Unions’ Ex. G);
all employees of GWI companies are bound by that Code and must read and acknowledge it

annually. Powerpoint at 12 (Unions’ Ex. E).

The offiers of Repc: or- [

C. THE GWI/RCP&E ACQUISITION OF THE DME/CP RAILROAD LINES AND
TRACKAGE RIGHTS

The Notice of Exemption in Finance Docket 35799 states that RCP&E (a newly formed
entity created for this transaction), plans to acquire approximately 670 miles of railroad lines
from DME/CP along with about 220 miles of trackage rights; however, DME/CP will retain the
common carrier obligation for coal shipments on the lines until 2030. Notice of Exemption at 2,
4-5. The Notice further states that the projected annual operating revenue for RCP&E would

make it a Class Il carrier. /d at 2.
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In describing RCP&E’s service plans, the Notice of Exemption states (at 5) that because
it is a wholly owned subsidiary of GWI, “it will benefit from GWT’s safety and training programs
and from the expansive reach of GWI’s national marketing and commercial resources, all of
which will supplement the locally based railroad”, and that as a GWI subsidiary, RCP&E can
bring “focused attention to customer service and safety that are trademarks of the GWI subsidiary
railroads” (id. at 9). In the Notice of Exemption filed in Finance Docket N. 35800 (at 3-4) GWI
states that RCP&E will be able to “take advantage of the administrative, marketing and
operational support that GWI can provide, and that ““ as a long term holder of short line railroads,
GWT’s ownership of RCP&E should provide shippers with the comfort of stable ongoing rail
service”. The Notice in FD 35800 also states (id.) that “[t]he new operations will broaden GWI’s
geographic footprint by adding operations in an area where GWI does not have presence”.*
Similarly, the 2013 Annual Report describes the RCP&E acquisition and states “By selling to an
operator with G&W’s experience, CP is also protecting its business by reducing the operating

risk of a large start-up”. Id. at 12.

* The Notice of Exemption in FD 35800 acknowledges that the Otter Tail Valley Railroad
Co., which is controlled by GWI operates in Minnesota in which RCP&E will also operate, but
the two railroads will not connect. Id at 4 n. 4. But see the 2012 Annual Report (at 16) which
utilizes the Southern Region to demonstrate “how GWI creates regional systems over time via
contiguous and nearby acquisitions” (emphasis added).
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D. THE RELATED FINANCE DOCKET -GWI’S POST ACQUISITION CONTROL OF
RCP&E

In Finance Docket 35800, GWI has filed a notice invoking an exemption for its continued

control of RCP&E after RCP&E acquires the DME/CP rail lines. However, at about the same

16



time this notice was filed GWI CEO Hellman and GWI CFO Gallagher told investors and
analysts that “G&W signed an agreement to purchase the assets of the DM&E West from
Canadian Pacific”. Unions’ Ex. K at 11, Ex. R at 9.

Because GWI has described the RCP&E acquisition of DME/CP’s lines as a new entity
acquisition, rather than an acquisition by GWI or the GWI group of carriers, and GWI has
separated the control from the acquisition. GWI has described the control question as one arising
only after the acquisition is effected, and it has consequently characterized that transaction as a
discrete post-acquisition continuance in control, rather than as an arrangement involving
acquisition of DME/CP lines by a group of carriers and by a holding company that controls
carriers. GWI has engaged in this fiction so it can invoke the 1980s precedent described above
that construed the Act so as to facilitate acquisitions of abandonable or marginal lines at minimal
cost in order to preserve service. But the DME/CP lines are not remotely abandonable, and the
GWI group is not a small company that might be overwhelmed by review of the transaction
under Section 11323, and imposition of employee protections on the acquisition transaction. As a
result of engaging in this fiction, although employee protections apply in the control transaction,
they would not apply to anyone affected by the acquisition.

E. Effects of the Acquisition on DME/CP Employees

According to the Notice of Exemption, DME/CP estimates that 215 of its employees
currently work on the lines to be conveyed. RCP&E expects to hire 180 employees “for various
positions” working on those lines. RCP&E has said that it will offer jobs to some number of
current DME/CP employees but it has not represented that the 180 jobs it will initially have will
be offered to current DME/CP employees. Notice of Exemption at 10. See also Declaration of

BMWED Unified System Division First Vice Chairman Galen Owen 94 (Unions’ Ex. Q). For
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example, there currently are between 75 and 80 BMWED represented DME/CP maintenance of

way employees working on the lines to be acquired; it appears that RCP&E will fill only 45

positions with former DME/CP employees. Owen Declaration 5. _

RCP&E
represents that it has held “town hall” meetings with current DME/CP employees and that it is
accepting applications, though there is no guarantee that RCP&E will accept the applications;
and RCP&E is not affording the DME/CP employees a priority in hiring or even a priority of
consideration. Notice of Exemption at 10. The powerpoint presentation described a recruiting
process, but again gave no indication of a priority in hiring or priority of consideration.
DME/CP employees have been told that RCP&E jobs will have similar levels of pay and
benefits as DME/CP jobs, but they have not been told that they will be in the same positions
which would have the same rates of pay. Thus far, RCP&E has offered jobs to some junior
employees, but not to some more senior employees; and it has offered higher classification
employees lower classification jobs (e.g. DME/CP foremen and assistant foremen have been
offered lower paid track laborer jobs with RCP&E). Owen Declaration §7. DME/CP employees
who accept jobs with RCP&E will not have the benefit of the work rules established under the
collective bargaining agreement between BMWED and DME/CP, and they will be required to
significantly increase their health care contributions, while the level of coverage is still unknown.

Owen Declaration 95, 8. Employees who are not offered jobs with RCP&E, or who choose not
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to work under terms devised unilaterally by RCP&E and GWI, will have to exercise seniority to
other DME/CP positions at significant distances from their current jobs, if jobs are available for
them to do so; because of the way GWI has structured the transactions, absent Board action,
those employees will not be able to receive employee protection benefits to compensate them for
losses as a result of the transaction. Owen Declaration 6.

The powerpoint presentation describes the RCP&E benefit plans and contribution rates, a
few of which are identified as GWI plans (the tuition and scholarship plans and the Mangrove
flexible spending account, which is on the GWI website). Powerpoint at 20-23. The powerpoint
presentation refers DME/CP employees to the GWI FIRE Code of Ethics and states that it must
be read and acknowledged by all employees annually. The powerpoint (at 24-25) encourages
those with questions and comments to send them to addresses @gwrr.com, which is the GWI
web address.

Because GWI and RCP&E have characterized the acquisition as a non-carrier acquisition
under Section 10901(e) they assert that no employee protection obligations are applicable. Notice
of Exemption at 11. Of course, if their characterization is incorrect, and this is a transaction
governed Section 11323, employee protections are required under Section 11326.

III. STATUTORY PROVISIONS AND
DECISIONS INTERPRETING AND APPLYING THOSE PROVISIONS

A.ICA SECTION 11323

Section 11323 governs transactions by which carriers or entities that control carriers may
merge, acquire another carrier, acquire the property of another carrier or acquire control of
another carrier. Section 113232(a) provides that specified transactions may be carried-out “only

with the approval and authorization of the Board. Among those transactions are “consolidation or
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mergers of the properties or franchises of at least 2 rail carriers”(subsection (a)(1); “purchase,
lease or contract to operate the property of another carrier by any number of rail carriers”
(subsection (a)(2); “acquisition of control of a rail carrier” by any number of rail carriers
(subsection (a)(3); “acquisition of control of a rail carrier” by a “person that is not a rail carrier
but that controls any number of carriers” (subsection (a)(5). Section 11323(b) provides that “[a]
person may carry out a transaction referred to in Section (a)” or “participate in achieving control
or management, including the power to exercise control or management, in a common interest of
more than one of those rail carriers, regardless of how that result is achieved, only with the
approval and authorization of the Board under this subchapter”.

In County of Marin, supra., the Supreme Court noted that former ICA Section 5
[predecessor to current Section 11323] gave the ICC authority over mergers and consolidations
of “railway properties” (356 U.S. at 416-417); and in Marshall Transport , supra. the Court said
that former Section 5 governed acquisitions of control of rail carriers and the purchase of the
property of rail carriers by companies that control rail carriers, and specifically acquisitions of
property of a rail carrier by a rail carrier controlled by a holding company (322 U.S. 31, 37-40).
In Black v. ICC, 762 F. 2d 106, 115 (D.C. Cir. 1985) the D.C. Circuit stated that former Section
11343 [immediate predecessor to current Section 11323 (a)] “is concerned not with new, non-
carrier entities entering railway market through limited acquisitions such as the one at issue here,
but with transactions integrating two or more carriers and with the effect of multi-carrier
transactions on competition”. In Chicago Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific Railroad Co. v.
Railway Labor Executives' Association, 658 F.2d 1149, 1169 (7th Cir. 1981), the Seventh Circuit
held that "[t]ransactions involving transfers or sales between two or more existing carriers,

normally termed unifications, are governed by 49 U.S.C. §11343. A significant consequence of a
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decision as to whether a transaction is governed by Section 11343 or Section 10901 is that
Congress has mandated employee protections under Section 11343". Subsequently, the D.C.
Circuit observed that “it is well-settled that §11343(a)(2) encompasses acquisitions of assets (a
‘purchase’ of ‘property’ of another carrier) as well as acquisitions of equity ( a purchase...of
another carrier)”. Redden v. ICC, 956 F. 2d 302, 304 n. 2 (D.C. Cir. 1992), emphasis and ellipsis
in original. See also Minnesota Transportation Regulation Board v. United States, 966 F. 2d 335,
339- 341 (8" Cir. 1992)— former Section 11343 governed consolidations and acquisitions of
control of carriers as well as a rail carrier’s purchase of the property of another rail carrier.
B. ICA SECTION 11326

Under Section 11326, as a condition of approval of a transaction governed by Section
11323, the Board shall require that the carrier provide arrangements for the protection of the
interests of employees affected by the transaction that are at least as protective as those imposed
under former Section 5(2)(f) of the Interstate Commerce Act and under [49 U.S.C.] Section
24706(c) [the recodified Rail Passenger Service Act]. However, a transaction between one Class
II rail carrier and one or more Class III rail carriers are subject to lesser protections (49
U.S.C.§11326(a); and transactions involving only Class II carriers are not subject to employee
protections.
C.ICA SECTION 10901

Former Section 10901(a) of the Act provided that a rail carrier may “construct an
extension of any of its railroad lines”, “construct an additional railroad line, “acquire or operate
an extended or additional railroad line” or “provide transportation over or by means of an
extended or additional railroad line” if the Commission determined that present or future public

convenience or necessity required or permitted the action. The ICC held that former Section
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10901 applied to acquisitions of railroad lines by non-rail entities that would become rail carriers.
The Commission concluded that since former Section 11343 applied to transactions involving
existing carriers, and Section 10901(a) dealt with construction, extension and additions to rail
lines and providing transportation over an extended or additional line, former Section 10901(a)
applied to “new entrants” to the industry not affiliated with a rail carrier, and governed
acquisitions of rail lines by non-carriers that would become carriers upon acquisition of a line.
Various Courts of Appeals held that this was not an unreasonable interpretation of the Act. See
e.g People of the State of Illinois v. United States, 604 F. 2d 519, 525 (7" Cir. 1979)-the
predecessor to Section 10901 “was intended to deal with the acquisition, abandonment and
extension of an individual line of railroad and was essentially directed at the transportation -
oriented activities of a single rail carrier or applicant”; Chicago, Milwaukee St. Paul and Pacific
RR, supra. 658 F. 2d at 1169—former Section 10901 was “directed at the transportation-oriented
activities of single rail carrier or non-carrier, whereas the focus in Section 11343 proceedings is
upon the potential effect of multi-carrier transactions™; Black v. ICC, 762 F. 2d 106, 115 (D.C.
Cir. 1985) -"the acquisition of a single rail line by an entity that is not itself a carrier and that is
not affiliated with any other carrier falls under §10901 not §11343"; as well as ICC decisions by
those courts.

In 1995, the Act was amended so Section 10901 now provides that a person may
construct an extension to any of its railroad lines, construct an additional railroad line, provide
transportation over or by means of an and extended or additional line or, in the case of a person
other than a rail carrier, acquire a railroad line or acquire or operate an extended or additional
railroad line only if the Board authorizes that activity. 49 U.S.C. §10901(a). The Board may

impose conditions other than employee protective conditions on any such approval. 49 U.S.C.
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§10901(c).

4. 1980s Decisions Concerning Acquisition of Rail Lines by Newly Formed Subsidiaries of
Holding Companies That Controlled Carriers

Efforts of newly formed subsidiaries of holding companies that controlled other carriers
to acquire rail lines under Section 10901 were contested in a number of cases in the 1980s. The
Commission approved handling of the acquisitions under Section 10901, stating that it would
treat the new entities as non-carriers, not as agents of the holding companies or as parts of carrier
groups if the new entities had sufficient “indicia of independence” and were not formed for the
exclusive purpose of evading Section 11343. In assessing the independence of a new subsidiary
of a holding company that controlled carriers, the Commission generally looked to whether the
new entity would operate under its own name, publish tariffs, directly serve shippers, hire its own
employees, acquire equipment and materials under its own name, have officers and directors
named in accordance with State law, and be responsible for financial and contractual obligations
(although substantial capital contributions and guarantees of loans by the holding companies was
deemed irrelevant). And in determining whether the acquiring entity was formed exclusively to
evade Section 11343, the Commission generally looked to whether there were valid business
reasons for effecting the acquisition through a newly formed subsidiary; such as not saddling the
affiliated companies with the risk of losses that might flow from operation of marginally
profitable lines, and avoidance of insurance costs and other liabilities related to ownership of the
additional lines. See e.g. Buffalo & Pittsburgh Railroad, Inc, supra. 1989 WL 238919 at *6-8,
*11; FRVR Corp.—Acquisition and Operation Exemption—Chicago and North Western Transp.
Co., F.D. 31205 (1989), 1989 WL 237970 at *4-*7; Southeastern Rail Corp. — Acquisition and

Operation Exemption—Gulf and Mississippi RR Corp., F.D. 31187 (1989) 1989 WL 239280 at
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*3-*7. and ICC cases cited in those decisions.

Consistent with its general handling of Section 10901 transactions (discussed above), the
Commission typically noted that the lines being acquired were abandonable or only marginally
profitable, and that handling of the acquisitions under Section 11343 would necessitate
imposition of employee for the benefit of adversely affected employees of the selling carriers
which, the Commission concluded, would imperil transactions involving financially troubled
lines that were designed to preserve rail service. See e.g. Rochester Southern, supra. where the
Commission said that the acquisition by R&S and continued control of R&S by GWI were “an
integrated effort to ensure continuation of rail service that might otherwise be lost”, and that
R&S’s lower operating costs and local marketing efforts could bring increased efficiency. /d. at
2-3. The agency declined to impose employee protections based on its policy of “not imposing
labor protections on newly formed acquiring carriers acquiring carriers” and R&S’ assertions that
the line was a “marginal operation subject to potential abandonment”, and that the cost of
employee protections could not be recouped by the line’s operation so their imposition would
result in termination the purchase agreement. /d at 3-4. See also Buffalo & Pittsburgh Railroad,
Inc, supra. 1989 WL 238919 at *7, FRVR Corp, supra . 1989 WL 237970 at *5; and ICC cases
cited in those decisions.

With regard to the control relationships, the Commission recognized that the control of
the new companies by the holding companies had to be approved or exempted under Section
11343, but it treated the acquisitions and control authorizations as separate transactions and held
that any employee protections imposed in the control transactions applied only to those who were
affected by the control arrangements—employees of the commonly controlled entities [i.e. no one]

and not to the employees of the selling carrier because they were not employees of carriers
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controlled by the holding companies as of the time of the sales. See e.g. Buffalo & Pittsburgh
Railroad, Inc, supra. 1989 WL 238919 at *8; Itel Rail Corp. and Itel Corp. —Continuance in
Control Exemption—FRVR Corp., F.D. 31206 (1988) 1988 WL 224748; and ICC cases cited in
those decisions.

Several of the ICC’s decisions were challenged in the Courts of Appeals which deferred
to the ICC’s interpretation of the Act. See e.g. Railway Labor Executives Ass’n v. ICC, 819 F. 2d
1172, 1173 (D.C. Cir. 1987)-denying review of the Rochester and Southern decision and stating
that while a finding that GWI was really the acquiring entity would have required that the
acquisition by reviewed under Section 11343, the ICC was not compelled to ignore corporate
formalities, and that the Commission’s finding that R&S was sufficiently independent of GWI
was not unreasonable. See also Railway Labor Executives Ass’n v. ICC, 914 F. 2d 276 (D. C.
Cir. 1990)(denying review of the FRVR decision, though not endorsing the exclusive purpose of
evasion of Section 11343 test); and Railway Labor Executives Ass 'n v. United States, 791 F. 2d
994, 998-999, 1006 (2d Cir 1994)--noting the asserted risks associated with acquiring a
financially troubled and potentially abandonable line, and accepting the ICC’s determination that
the subsidiary was independent of the parent corporation. The decision denying review of the
FRVR decision also deferred to the ICC’s conclusion that employee protections imposed in
connection with Itel’s control of FRVR should not apply to employees of the selling carrier
because the seller was not a party to the control case. 914 F. 2d at 280-281.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE ACQUISITION OF THE DME/CP’S RAILROAD LINES
SHOULD BE TREATED AS A SECTION 11323 TRANSACTION

A. Introduction
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As is demonstrated above, Section 11323(a)(2) governs acquisitions of rail carrier
property by any number of carriers; Section 11323(a)(3) and (5) govern transactions involving
acquisition of control of a rail carrier by any number of carriers and by a holding company that
controls carriers; and Section 11323(b) provides that “[a] person may carry out a transaction
referred to in Section (a)” or “participate in achieving control or management, including the
power to exercise control or management, in a common interest of more than one of those rail
carriers, regardless of how that result is achieved, only with the approval and authorization of the
Board under this subchapter”. Consequently, if the DME/CP lines were being acquired by one or
more of the GWI railroads or by GWI itself, the acquisition would clearly be covered by Section
11323. On the other hand, if the DME/CP lines were being acquired by a true new entity
unaffiliated with a carrier, the acquisition would be covered by Section 10901.

The facts outlined above show that the acquisition of the DME/CP lines is anything but
an acquisition by a new entrant unaffiliated with a rail carrier. Even though the acquisition and
control transactions are structured like a new entrant/non-carrier acquisition by GWI’s creation of
a 102" American subsidiary to effect the acquisition, the transaction is in reality an acquisition of
railroad lines by the GWI group of railroads.

That the acquisition must be treated as a Section 11323 transaction is demonstrated by the
long line of Supreme Court precedent, never overruled or limited, that the agency must look to
the reality of a transaction, not the manner in which it is presented; and that use of holding
company—subsidiary arrangements and other corporate devices cannot dictate application of the
statute. Furthermore, other federal agencies do not allow corporate forms to control their
administration of their statutes. Proper application of the Act does not require a finding that the

RCP&E is not a bona fide corporation under state law, or that it was illegitimate for GWI to
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create another corporation to effect the acquisition, only that the use of a newly formed
subsidiary cannot dictate application of the Act.

That GWI has filed a separate notice of exemption for its post acquisition control of
RCP&E does not satisfy the requirements of the Act. Because the transaction at issue is in reality
the sale of railroad lines of a Class I railroad to a group of railroads, the acquisition is subject to
Board approval or exemption under Section 11323 not Section 10901. Requiring authorization
under Section 11323 necessitates imposition of employee protective conditions on the acquisition
pursuant to Section 11326, but it also means that the standards for approval under Section 11323
and 11324 apply, rather than the less rigorous standards that apply to true new entrant
acquisitions under Section 10901. Bifurcating what is in reality the GWI group acquiring railroad
lines from CP into separate acquisition and control transactions, with the scope of the control
transaction limited to post-acquisition control issues, does not satisfy the requirements of the Act
because the acquisition is not considered under Section 11323 and 11324 and no employee
protections are imposed in the acquisition case. To the extent that ICC decisions from the 1980s
sanctioned this sort of arrangement in response to the financial circumstances of the railroad
industry at that time, and perceived policy imperatives to preserve rail service on abandonable
and marginal lines through acquisitions by small and local new entrants to the industry, despite
the Marshall Transport lines of decisions, the Board should not follow the 1980s precedent given
the circumstances of the industry today and the facts of this case.

B. In Deciding Whether A Transaction Is Governed By Section 11323 Or Section 10901,
The Board Must Be Guided By The Actual Nature And Practical Effects Of The
Transaction, Not By the Manner In Which The Transaction Is Structured And Presented

For Authorization

Section 11323 is a recodification of former Section 11343 which in turn was a
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recodification of the former ICA Section 5(2)(a).® The Supreme Court consistently recognized
that proper application of Section 5 required that the Commission examine the practical effects of
transactions before it, and that agency decisionmaking should be determined by the true nature of
a transaction, not the form in which it was presented, especially with regard to affiliated and
subsidiary corporations.

In United States v. Marshall Transport Co. supra., Refiners Transport, a subsidiary of
Union Tank Car (a holding company that controlled carriers) sought to acquire the property of
another carrier—Marshall Transport. The ICC held that the parent corporation (Union Tank) was
required to join the application for approval of the acquisition under Section 5. The reviewing
court disagreed, but the Supreme Court reversed and affirmed the ICC’s interpretation and
application of the Act. 322 U.S. at 36-37. The Court said that if Union Tank had sought to
acquire the property and operating rights of Marshall in its own name, approval of the acquisition
under Section 5 would have been necessary. The Court rejected the notion that Union Tank could
“extend its control indefinitely to other carriers merely by directing the purchase of their property
and business by Refiners [the subsidiary] without subjecting itself to the jurisdiction of the
Commission as provided in §5(3), so long as Union does not act directly as the purchaser of
property or of a controlling interest in such other carriers”. Id. footnote omitted. The Court stated
that "the existence of control must be determined by a regard for the 'actualities' of intercorporate

relationships". Id. at 38, citing Rochester Telephone Corp. v. United States, 307 U.S. 125, 145

% The changes in the language of this provision as it was recodified from Section 5 to
Section 11343 in 1978 recodification were not intended to have substantive effect. P.L. 95-473,
§3, 92 Stat. 1466. United Parcel Service, Inc. v. United States, 612 F.2d 277, 278 (7th Cir. 1979).
There was no change in the language of that provision when it was renumbered as Section 11323
other than reference to the Board instead of the Commission, and deletion of a reference to
pipelines and references to subchapters of chapter 105.
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(1939). The Court further stated that “[t]he statute is thus concerned, not merely with the
acquisition of control of one corporation by another, but with the acquisition of control of a
corporation which is doing the business of a carrier, because such control is in effect control of
its carrier business. Control of that business which may be effected by stock ownership, may also
be effected through a contract of a controlled carrier to purchase the business of the other
carrier....”; and "the purpose of the Act would be defeated if outright purchase, through the
medium of a controlled subsidiary carrier, of another carrier's property and operating rights were
exempted [from regulation under Section 5], while control by purchase of stock of the other
carrier through the same subsidiary remained within the Act". /d. at 40.

Allegheny Corporation v. Breswick & Co., 353 U.S. 151 (1957), concerned the merger of
several railroads and holding companies by which a non-carrier holding company (Allegheny)
came to control other rail carriers. The Commission held that Allegheny, a non-carrier, would
nonetheless be "considered as a carrier". A three-judge district court rejected the Commission’s
conclusion but the Supreme Court reversed and affirmed the ICC. The Court stated (id. at 159,
160) "[n]ot labels but the nature of the changed relation is crucial in determining whether a
rearrangement within a railroad system constitutes an 'acquisition of control' under §5(2)." The
Court further stated that "a non-carrier may not gain 'control' over carriers free of Commission
regulation merely by operating through subsidiaries." Id. at 169. Additionally, the Court said that
the remoteness of the parent from the subsidiary was irrelevant to whether the parent controlled a
carrier, because a holding company could always make itself more remote by creating additional
subsidiaries. /d.

County of Marin v. United States, 356 U.S. 412 (1958), concerned the creation of a new

subsidiary that would acquire the property and operating rights of a corporate affiliate where a
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purpose of the transaction was avoidance of the jurisdiction of a state agency. The Supreme
Court held that §5(2)(a) did not require that the Commission assert jurisdiction where the
transaction was little more than a "paper transaction" between the two commonly owned
corporations for the purpose of avoiding State regulation. /d. at 418. The Court concluded that:
“There may or may not, in fact, be financial or operational justification for the proposed
transaction; that question is not before us. We consider only the applicability of §5(2)(a) as a
ground for Commission jurisdiction, and in so doing the question narrows to the nature of the
change in relations between the companies." Id. at 419, quoting Allegheny Corp. v. Breswick &
Co., supra, 353 U.S. at 169.

In Gilbertville Trucking, supra., the Commission rejected an application for merger of two
carriers after it found that the two companies had effectively been jointly controlled through
family relationships without prior ICC approval. The Supreme Court affirmed, concluding that
the Act was intended to reach “de facto relationships” and the applicants had therefore violated
Section 5. Among other things, the Court noted that the ICA was amended in 1940 because the
1920 Act “proved inadequate to reach the holding company system”. 371 U.S. 124-125. And in
In Schenley Distillers Corp. v. United States, 326 U.S. 432 (1946), the Court held that a parent
corporation which had created a separate subsidiary corporation for certain purposes could not,
for other purposes, claim that the parent and the subsidiary were a single entity. Although
Schenley Distillers involved the reverse of the situation in this case (there a parent corporation
argued that it and a subsidiary must be considered as one entity for regulatory purposes), the
Supreme Court applied the same principle relied it had applied in other cases: that the corporate
structure of regulated parties can not dictate the application of the Act. /d. at 437.

Thus, the Supreme Court has consistently held that proper application of the Act requires
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analysis of the true nature and actual effects of a transaction, and that regulation should not be
determined by the manner in which a transaction is presented, or the use of corporate devices
such as a holding company’s use and/or creation of a subsidiary.

C. Corporate Formalities Are Generally Disregarded If They Impede Effectuation Of
Federal Law

In numerous contexts the Supreme Court has held that while the corporate form is
normally respected, it may not be used to defeat legislative mandates. Under many other
regulatory regimes, agencies and courts have not allowed the use of corporate devices to dictate
application of federal law, regardless of whether the separate corporations were created or used
with bad intent. And the willingness of other agencies and the courts to ignore corporate forms
does not depend on findings that a subsidiary was created for the express and sole purpose of
evading federal law and regulation. The impact of the use of the corporate form on proper
administration of a statute is determinative.

In deciding whether corporate formalities must be disregarded in order to effectuate the
policies of the Federal Reserve Act, the Supreme Court stated that "[w]e are not concerned with
any question of good intention [in establishing the corporation]. The question is whether the
parties did what they intended to do and whether what they did contravened the policy of the
law". Anderson v. Abbott, 321 U.S. 349, 358(1943). The Court said that while cases of fraud
were a subset of the cases in which corporate form is ignored, they are not the only such cases;
and “[i]t has been often been held that the interposition of a corporation will not be allowed to
defeat a legislative policy, whether that was the aim or only the result of the arrangement... ‘the
courts will not permit themselves to be blinded or deceived by mere forms of law’ but will deal

‘with the substance of the transaction involved as if the corporate agency did not exist and as the
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justice of the case may require’”. Id. at 363, citations omitted. In Bangor Punta Operations v.
Bangor & Aroostook Railroad Company, 417 U.S. 703 (1974), which concerned alleged
violations of the Clayton Anti-trust Act and the Securities and Exchange Act, the Court found
that the parent corporation of the plaintiffs would have been estopped from bringing the action
against the defendants, so the action could not be brought by its subsidiaries where the parent
would be the ultimate beneficiary of any recovery. The Court stated that "[i]n such cases, courts
of equity, piercing all fictions and disguises, will deal with the substance of the action and not
blindly adhere to the corporate form." Id. at 713. And, in Electric Bond & Share Company v.
Securities and Exchange Commission, 303 U.S. 419 (1938), the Court held that certain holding
companies which owned other companies, which in turn owned public utility companies in
various states, were subject to regulation under the Public Utilities Holding Company Act (15
U.S.C. §79); the Court stated:

That [the holding companies] conduct such transactions through the instrumentality of

subsidiaries cannot avail to remove them from the reach of the federal power. It is the

substance of what they do, and not the form in which they clothe their transactions, which

must afford the test. The constitutional authority confided to Congress could not be

maintained if it were deemed to depend upon the mere modal arrangements of those

seeking to escape its exercise.
Id. at 440 (citations omitted).

In the antitrust realm, the courts have refused to be handcuffed by corporate formalities

when applying antitrust statutes. £.g Bangor Punta, supra. In Consolidated Gold Fields PLC v.
Minorco, S.A., 871 F.2d 252 (2d Cir.) cert. dismissed, 492 U.S. 939 (1989), a corporation called
Minorco attempted to acquire stock of Gold Fields. When the District Court examined

Minorco’s market share, it included the market share of entities not owned by Minorco, but

owned by Minorco’s owners. The Second Circuit agreed with this approach, holding that the
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“intertwined relationships” among Minorco’s owners and other competing firms warranted
attributing all of those firms’ market power to Minorco. Id. 871 F.2d at 261. See also
Community Publishers, Inc. v. Donrey Corp., 892 F. Supp. 1146, 1172 (W.D. Ark. 1995) aff'd

sub nom. Cmty. Publishers, Inc. v. DR Partners, 139 F.3d 1180 (8th Cir. 1998).

The Hart-Scott Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act requires mandatory notifications to
the Department of Justice and the FTC prior to proposed acquisitions or mergers, and stays of
those transactions while the DOJ and FTC investigate their antitrust implications. See generally,
Irving Scher, Emerging Issues Under the Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, 77 Colum. L. Rev.
679 (1977). Hart-Scott-Rodino added a clause to Section 7 of the Clayton Act, establishing that
in evaluating proposed mergers or acquisitions, “the amount or percentage of voting securities or
assets of a person which are acquired or held by another person shall be determined by
aggregating the amount or percentage of such voting securities or assets held or acquired by such

other person and each affiliate thereof.” (Emphasis added). 15 U.S.C.A. § 18a(b)(3)(B). The

Federal Trade Commission has interpreted this language to mean that “any assessment of the
legality of a merger must take account of the relationship between the acquiring and the acquired
firms...from the perspective of their overall operations.” In the Matter of Jim Walter Corp., 90
F.T.C. 671 (1977). InJim Walter Corp., the FTC examined the acquisition of the stock of
Panacon Corporation by Celotex. Celotex was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Jim Walter
Corporation (JWC). JWC believed that it was not subject to Section 7 because it was not
engaged in interstate commerce within the meaning of Section 7 and that its subsidiary, Celotex,
was the proper party in the matter. The FTC disagreed, finding that for the purposes of Section 7,

“the statutory policy at stake here transcends the legal distinctions that might be relevant in other
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contexts.” Id. at 52. In reaching this conclusion, the FTC pointed to the “considerable control
and influence over the financial, legal and promotional affairs of Celotex,” that JWC exercised.
The Court noted the overlap between officers and directors of JWC and Celotex, the fact that
Celotex’s employment policies were set by JWC, and the fact that JWC promoted the JWC name
in favor of that of Celotex or its other subsidiaries. Id. This decision was affirmed by the Fifth

Circuit. Jim Walter Corp. v. F.T.C., 625 F.2d 676, 681 (5th Cir. 1980).

This functional view of application of Federal law to affiliated corporations has been
applied by various courts of appeals under other Federal statutes. In /n Re Pittsburgh Rys. Co.,
155 F.2d 477 (3rd Cir.1946), the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit held that the corporate
affiliates of a bankrupt urban transit company were required to participate in the reorganization
of the bankrupt company because the various companies constituted a unified transit system. The
Court noted that the affiliates were not insolvent and had "maintain[ed] separate books of
account, [had] separate directors and in fact performed all the ritualistic acts which a careful
lawyer would advise a corporation to do in order to maintain its appearance of corporate
individuality (id. at 481) and stated that "[w]e thus have a highly interesting contrast between a
legal theory of corporate personality and the facts of transportation life as life is lived in
Pittsburgh." Id. at 482. The Court concluded that despite the corporations' observance of
corporate formalities, all of the affiliates should be included in the reorganization, stating that:
"the corporate function can be given effect in some instances and with perfect consistency be
disregarded in other instances. Id. at 484. Bowater Steamship Company v. Patterson, 303 F.2d
369, 372 (2d Cir.1962) concerned whether picketing of one subsidiary corporation which was

related to a labor dispute involving a second subsidiary corporation could be enjoined. The
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Second Circuit said that whether the two corporations would be deemed separate under State law
in contract or tort actions, did not determine application of the Norris- LaGuardia Act. The Court
stated "[w]hether a subsidiary corporation is to be considered a separate entity 'cannot be asked
or answered in vacuo'. . the issues in each case must be resolved in light of the policy underlying
the applicable legal rule. . . ." Id. at 372 (citations omitted). The Court further stated that “The
policy behind the Norris-LaGuardia Act was a strong one; we cannot think Congress would have
meant this to be defeated by the fragmentation of an integrated business into congeries of

corporate entities, however much these might be respected for other purposes. /d. at 373.

In North American Telcommunications Ass'n. v. FCC., 772 F.2d 1282 (7th Cir. 1985), the
Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit upheld the FCC’s examination of the activities and
capitalization of non-operating equipment subsidiaries. The Court stated that the use of regulated
telephone operations to support the unregulated equipment businesses “would be an abuse of the
holding company form that the Commission would have the duty to correct, and no lack of
statutory power to do so...the Commission cannot be prevented from regulating within its proper
domain by the creation of paper entities; it can pierce the corporate veil in order to prevent
frustration of its regulatory tasks." /d. at 1293. And the Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit
held that the Federal Communications Commission could regulate telephone companies with
regard to cable television service when the services were being offered by corporations that were
affiliated with the telephone companies, but were not themselves "carriers" within the FCC's
jurisdiction. General Telephone Co. v. United States, 449 F.2d 846 (5th Cir. 1971). The Court

stated:

Under these circumstances the activities of the non-common carrier affiliates may be
imputed to the common carrier parent. To hold otherwise would balk the Commission in
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the execution of its statutory duties. The anticompetitive practices, real and potential,
which the Commission sought to eradicate through its rules are effected through the
instrumentality of an affiliated CATV company. Where the statutory purpose could thus
be easily frustrated through the use of separate corporate entities, the Commission is
entitled to look through corporate form and treat the separate entities as one and the same
for purposes of regulation.

Id. at 855 (citation omitted).

Use of corporate devices also will not allow circumvention of the Federal Gun Control
Act. Casanova Guns, Inc. v. Connally, 454 F.2d 1320, 1322 (7th Cir. 1972). Casnaova’s Inc.,
was indicted and later convicted for possession of unregistered firearms, making it ineligible to
renew its federal firearms license. After Casanova’s was indicted but before its conviction, the
son of the President of Casanova’s Inc. formed a new company, Casanova Guns, with other
members of the Casanova family as officers. The two companies maintained separate books and
accounts, but the son was the only employee of Casanova Guns and his salary was paid entirely
by Casanova’s, Inc. After conviction of Casanova’s, Inc., Casanova Guns took over Casanova’s,
Inc.’s business and sought to renew its federal firearms license. The application was denied by
the ATF which found that Casanova’s controlled or had the power to control Casanova Guns.
The District Court upheld that decision, and the Seventh Circuit affirmed, finding that “a
substantial purpose for the incorporation of Casanova Guns was the circumvention of the statute
restricting issuance of firearms licenses to convicted felons,” and that “the fiction of a corporate
entity must be disregarded whenever it has been adopted or used to circumvent the provisions of
a statute.” Id. at 1322. See also Mew Sporting Goods, LLC v. Johansen, 1:13CV10, 2014 WL

222114 (N.D. W.Va. Jan. 21, 2014).

Courts and agencies have adopted a similar “real world”, practical approach to holding

company/parent company-- subsidiary/affiliate arrangements under a variety of other Federal
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statutes. E.g. Kavanaugh v. Ford Motor Co., 353 F.2d 710, 716 (7th Cir. 1965) (Automobile
Dealers Franchise Act); Ohio Tank Car Co. v. Keith Ry. Eguipment Co., 148 ¥.2d 4, 7-8 (7th
Cir. 1945) (Elkins Act); Corn Products Refining Co. v. Benson, 232 F.2d 554, 565 (2d Cir. 1956)
(Commodity Exchanges Act); Sebastopol Meat Co. v. Secretary of Agriculture, 440 F.2d 983,
985 (9th Cir. 1971) (Packers and Stockyards Act); Baker v. Stuart Broadcasting Co., 560 F.2d

389, 392 (8th Cir. 1977) (Equal Employment Opportunity Act).

These decisions under different Federal statutes all demonstrate the fundamental point that
corporate formalities should be disregarded if they impede effectuation of Federal legislation. But
disregarding the corporate form for purposes of enforcement of Federal law does not require a
finding of impropriety, or that the corporation involved was not lawfully incorporated under the
law of the State of its incorporation. Nor does disregarding of the corporate form require a
finding that the corporation is an "alter ego" of its parent thereby negating the legal distinction
between subsidiary and parent. As the cases above demonstrate, the corporate form should be
disregarded when respecting such formalities impedes effectuation of Federal law. Disregarding
the corporate formalities for purposes of Federal law does not invalidate the separate corporation
for other purposes, but legitimate business reasons for creation of a separate corporation and full
compliance with State corporate law requirements will not allow a Federally regulated entity to

use the corporate fiction to obtain a result that would impede enforcement of Federal law.

D. The Acquisition of the DME/CP Lines Should Be Treated As Acquisition Of The Lines
Of Rail Carrier By A Group Of Rail Carriers

Applying the rule established in the Supreme Court’s Marshall Transport line of cases

under the ICA, and the standards applied under many other Federal statutes, the sale of the
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DME/CP lines and the related trackage rights arrangements should be treated as transaction

between CP and the GWI group of carriers.

The facts regarding the relationship between GWI and RCP&E, the relationships among
the GWI railroads and the involvement of GWI in the operation and management of the GWI
subsidiaries described above demonstrate that the RCP&E transaction is really acquisition of a
Class I rail carrier’s lines by a group of rail carriers and their holding company parent which
together are the size of a Class I carrier. Furthermore, virtually everywhere other than the STB,
GWI describes itself as an integrated group of rail carriers, and it touts the experience, expertise,
corporate culture and size of the collection of rail carriers under its control as advantages for
investing in, working for, and doing business with GWI railroads. Indeed in two recent
presentations to investors and financial analysts GWI’s CEO and CFO described the transaction
as one between “G&W” and CP. And even in its filings in this case, and in the control
transaction, GWI could not resist trumpeting the advantages of its integrated subsidiaries and the
benefits its stewardship over the operation and management of its subsidiary railroads, while

simultaneously asserting that RCP&E is an independent entity that will be self-sufficient.

In the 2012 and 2013 Annual Reports, and on its website, GWI does not describe 100
independent and autonomous carriers that GWI just happens to own. In both, GWI explicitly
shows its subsidiaries grouped into regions for management, support and oversight. Additionally,
the 2103 Annual Report states “As of December 31, 2012, we operated in 39 states in the United
States, four Australian States, one Australian territory and four Canadian provinces....”, and that
“we operate one regional and 100 local (short line) railroads in the United States over

approximately 9500 miles of track”. Id. Part I at 4,7. And the 2012 Annual Report provided
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safety performance data and customer satisfaction survey data on a GWI-wide basis and touted
those statistics as flowing from the GWI culture. /d. at 5, 9. The powerpoint presentation GWI
provided to the DME/CP employees and their unions shows that GWI’s Chief Operating Officer
provides “Operating Support for Regions” in the areas of safety, purchasing, service design, and
the major railroad functions: maintenance of way and signal, maintenance of equipment, and
dispatching; and regional managers provide the same type of oversight and support for the
railroads, as well as services in finance, human resources, information technology, marketing and
sales. Powerpoint at 7,8. The 2013 Annual Report states: “Each Operating Region is under the
leadership of a Regional Senior Vice President who has his own regional management team and
operates an independent business unit with direct accountablility for safety and business results”.

2013 Annual Report at 7.

In the BB&T conference GWI described regional executive vice presidents as local CEOs
and other regional managers as regional finance directors, chief mechanical officers and chief
engineers. Beck Declaration 94 and attachment. Additionally, the 2012 Annual Report (at 16)
describes the contiguous and nearby railroads within regions as functioning as “regional
systems”. In the Credit Suisse presentation (Unions’ Ex. L) GWI explained that it uses individual
railroad acquisitions to create such regional systems, and it illustrated its methodology by citing a
series of seven small acquisitions from 1985 to 2000 that expanded GWI from the GWRR’s 14
miles of track it owned into a regional rail system that stretches from Rochester, New York to
Columbus, Ohio though purchases like the R&S, B&P and the Ohio railroads. This was shown
on a slide titled “Contiguous Railroads Building Regional Rail Systems”. /d. at 21. The

presentations also describe achieving “overhead cost synergies” among the railroad subsidiaries
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and “fold[ing]” new subsidiaries and their overhead into existing regions. BB&T presentation,
Beck Declaration attachment. And all of the GWI railroads have logos that are similar to each
other and modeled on the GWI logo; indeed the logos for all the former RailAmerica railroads
were switched to GWI template logos. Cowen Presentation (Unions’ Ex. I) at 15. The GWI
presentations to investors and analysts describe using contiguous railroads as “building blocks of
regional rail systems”, and refer to inculcating GWI safety and operating culture and GWI
standards in the former RailAmerica carriers as well as RCP&E . See statements of CFO
Gallagher, Beck Declaration 43 and attachment. At the BB&T Conference GWI CEO Hellman
referred to the RCP&E acquisition and stated “we’ll make sure the G&W business and safety
culture is inculcated there as well.” Beck Declaration 94 and attachment. Beyond merely
inculcating GWI corporate an safety cultures at the former RailAmerica railroads, GWI has
replaced 20 of the 45 general managers at those railroads. The subsidiary railroads are plainly not
merely commonly owned independent entities, they are managed and operated as related parts of

the GWI enterprise.

The webpages for the various railroads are accessed through the GWI website; and
clicking on any tab on a subsidiary railroad page (e.g. employees, suppliers) results in being re-
directed to the GWI webpage. GWI promulgates a Code of Ethics applicable to every employee
at every GWI controlled railroad; the employee tabs on the railroad webpages transfer the reader
to the GWI employees page. Job listings for all of the railroads are listed on the GWI website
rather than on the railroad webpages; and the jobs are listed by title, department and geographic

location, not by railroad. From the standpoint of employees, future employees, suppliers and
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others who deal with the railroads, they are not dealing with separate railroads, they are dealing

with a railroad group.

The integration of GWI and its railroad subsidiaries is also shown by key documents
relating to the acquisition the DME/CP lines and trackage rights through its subsidiary RCP&E.
The Notice of Exemption for RCP&E was verified by Allison M. Fergus as Secretary for
RCP&E, she is the General Counsel and Secretary for GWI and she also verified the notice of

exemption filed by GWI in F.D. No. 35800. Documents in the appendix to the notice of

exemption reveal that the officers of RCP&E are _

AN
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Finally, despite arguing that RCP&E is a separate entity and new entrant to the industry,
the Notice of Exemption in F.D. 35799 expressly states that RCP&E “will benefit from GWI’s
safety and training programs and from the expansive reach of GWI’s national marketing and
commercial resources”, and that as a GWI subsidiary, RCP&E can bring “focused attention to
customer service and safety that are trademarks of the GWI subsidiary railroads” (id. at 9). And
the Notice of Exemption in FD 35800 (at 3-4) states that RCP&E will be able to “take advantage
of the administrative, marketing and operational support that GWI can provide, and that “as a
long term holder of short line railroads, GWI’s ownership of RCP&E should provide shippers
with the comfort of stable ongoing rail service”.” Thus, GWI seeks to benefit from accomplishing
the acquisition through a new subsidiary, but in seeking support for the transaction and in
attempting to establish credibility with shippers and demonstrate public benefits of the

transaction, GWI trades on its own name and reputation. And in describing the transaction to

" Indeed, one shipper that filed comments in support of the acquisition (Bentonite
Performance Minerals LLC) specifically stated that it was supporting the transaction after have
been reassured by dealings with GWI. Bentonite stated: “We are encouraged by visits from GW’s
management at our plant; at our General Offices in Houston, TX and with CP personnel as
prospective employees in the affected areas”. This shipper understands the true parties to this
transaction.
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investors and analysts GWI”’s CEO and CFO both described it as a transaction between GWI and

CP.

The Unions submit that, under the Marshall Transport lines of cases, the basic
relationships between and among GWI and its subsidiaries, and between them and RCP&E in
particular, requires that the acquisition of the DME/CP lines and the trackage rights arrangement
be treated as a Section 11323 transaction. But any possible doubt in that regard is removed by the
facts about the integration and coordination among the GWI railroads, GWI’s involvement in the
governance, management, and direction of the railroad subsidiaries, GWI’s direct involvement
with the acquisition of the DME/CP lines, and GWT’s reliance on its own reputation and
promotion of its own successes and those of its railroads in order to gain support for the
transaction. GWI and the GWI group are the true acquiring entities here and under Marshall
Transport and County of Marin; the Board should not allow the manner in which GWI structures
and presents the transaction, or its decision to file notices in two Finance Dockets to dictate how
the Board views and treats the transaction. This functional approach is required not only under
the ICA and decisions applying the ICA, under other Federal laws the use of a subsidiary would
not control application of the statute. As the ICC once realized with the endorsement of the
courts, and as other agencies recognize, an agency cannot do its job, and is not performing its
statutory role, if it allows regulated parties to determine their own treatment under the law by use

of corporate devices and artful filing of cases.

E. The GWI Acquisition Of The DME/CP Lines Through RCP&E Is Not A Section 0901
Transaction
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The GWI acquisition of the DME/CP Lines through RCP&E is not a Section 10901
transaction under the language of Section 10901 or precedent concerning the application of

Section 10901 and Section 11323 (and former Sections 5 and 11343).

As is described above, former Section 10901 was interpreted as applying to acquisitions of
railroad lines by non-rail entities that were “new entrants” to the rail industry, not affiliated with
a rail carrier, that would become rail carriers. E.g. People of the State of Illinois 604 F. 2d at 525
-the predecessor to Section 10901 “was intended to deal with the acquisition, abandonment and
extension of an individual line of railroad and was essentially directed at the transportation -
oriented activities of a single rail carrier or applicant”; Black v. ICC, 762 F. 2d at115 -"the
acquisition of a single rail line by an entity that is not itself a carrier and that is not affiliated with
any other carrier falls under §10901 not §11343". Section 10901 as amended in 1995
incorporated that interpretation; it now expressly states that it applies when a person other than a
rail carrier, acquires a railroad line. 49 U.S.C. §10901(a)(4). By contrast, Section 11323 (which
was not amended in 1995 other than to conform to other changes in the Act and not in ways
relevant to this case) “is concerned not with new, non-carrier entities entering railway market
through limited acquisitions..., but with transactions integrating two or more carriers and with the
effect of multi-carrier transactions on competition”. Black v. ICC, 762 F. 2d at 115. See also
Chicago Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific Railroad Co. v. Railway Labor Executives' Association,
658 F.2d at 1169 -- "[t]ransactions involving transfers or sales between two or more existing
carriers, normally termed unifications, are governed by 49 U.S.C. §11343"; Redden v. ICC, 956
F. 2d at 304 n. 2-- “it is well-settled that §11343(a)(2) encompasses acquisitions of assets (a

‘purchase’ of ‘property’ of another carrier) as well as acquisitions of equity ( a purchase...of
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another carrier)”; Minnesota Transportation Regulation Board v. United States, 966 F. 2d at 339-
341— former Section 11343 governed consolidations and acquisitions of control of carriers as

well as a rail carrier’s purchase of the property of another rail carrier.

Given the nature of this transaction, the interrelationships among GWI and its railroad
subsidiaries; the management, supervision, and oversight of the railroad subsidiaries by GWI and
its regional managers; GWI’s centralized policies and practices; GWI’s authority (and use of that
authority) to direct the actions of the railroad subsidiaries (including replacement of their general
managers); the combined revenues of the GWI railroads; and GWI’s acknowledgment that it
used the subsidiary acquisitions to create regional rail systems; this transaction does not remotely
resemble the sort of transactions that prior decisions have described as Section 10901new entrant

acquisitions.

Furthermore, once the true nature of the acquisition transaction is recognized and it is
apparent that this transaction is really an acquisition lines of a carrier by a group of carriers, it
become clear that consideration of the transaction under Section 11323 is appropriate; whereas
consideration of the transaction under Section 10901 is plainly not. Under Section 11323,
approval of a transaction is subject to review under Section 11324, under which the Board is to
consider the effect of the transaction on adequacy of transportation, the effect on the public
interest of including or not including other carriers, fixed charges that will result from the
transaction, the interests of rail carrier employees affected by the transaction, whether the
transaction will have an adversely effect on competition in the region or nation and whether the
transaction is consistent with the public interest. 49 U.S.C. §11324(a) and (b). By contrast,

because Section 10901 applies to new construction and to acquisitions by new entrants to the
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industry, the Board is to approve a transaction unless the Board finds it is inconsistent with the
public convenience and necessity. 49 U.S.C. §10901( c¢). The GWI group’s acquisition of the
DME/CP lines, by addition of a 102" railroad to the group is not an acquisition by a non-carrier
under Section 10901, but is a “multi-carrier transaction[]” by which the assets of a carrier are
being acquired by a group of carriers, that involves “integrating two or more carriers”; and it does
not involve “the transportation -oriented activities of a single rail carrier or applicant”, or
"acquisition of a single rail line by an entity that is not itself a carrier and that is not affiliated

with any other carrier”.

Furthermore, the policy determinations and mandates from the 1980s that drove the
decisions applying Section 10901 to acquisitions of rail lines are no longer applicable generally,
and certainly not in this particular case. The lines involved here are not abandonable, there is no
danger of loss of rail service if GWI does not buy the lines, and GWI is a multi-national
profitable corporation that has grown exponentially since the early acquisitions in the 1980s, it
plans continued growth and it has projected continued good financial performance. GWI is not a
small local entity so marginal that any increase in costs or regulation is going to drive it away
from this transaction. GWI group is well above the threshold for Class I status, and the combined
revenue of the GWI railroads is greater than that of several Class I’s. Additionally, GWI acts like
a Class I. It is organized into regions, has centralized departments that support operations at all
parts of the various regions. GWI has established and promotes its own business culture, code of
ethics, and safety culture. GWI has centralized employee recruitment, purchasing, marketing, and

dealings with shippers. There is no valid policy reason for GWI to receive the same treatment as
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so-called “Mom and Pop” operations and the small local companies that acquired lines under

Section 10901 in the 1980s.

Indeed, allowing GWI to be treated as it was in 1980s provides a competitive advantage to
GWI over any Class I that might seek to acquire the DME/CP lines or similar lines which would
have employee protection obligations if they acquired, even though GWTI is of similar size and
rank to a number of Class I’s. There is simply no reason to avoid application of the Marshall
Transport line of cases in the context of the industry today and the circumstances of GWI and the

GWI carriers.

GWI will presumably respond to this petition by relying on the precedent from the
transactions when it originally began to expand; when it acquired lines in western New York and
Pennsylvania using the Rochester and Southern and Buffalo and Pittsburgh subsidiaries. And
GWI may cite the “indicia of independence” test developed in that line of cases. But those
decisions should not be followed here. Those decisions were always dubious given the language
of the Act and the Marshall Transport line of cases, but as is described above, they were driven
by perceived transportation policy objectives, and reviewing courts afforded deference to the
ICC’s rationale. But the policy considerations behind those decisions are no longer applicable.
Furthermore, the indicia of independence test was never a meaningful test; it was always an
empty shell. As is apparent from review of the items considered under the test, it looked to
relatively inconsequential and superficial factors and gave little weight to actual consequences of
the intercorporate relationships; the test mostly provided a rationale for policy-based decisions.
And subsequent events have shown that the test was fundamentally flawed; the new subsidiary

transactions were generally acquisitions by affiliated carriers or groups of carriers rather than
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acquisitions by true new entrants. That is shown by GWI’s regional structure and creation of
regional systems by multiple subsidiary acquisitions, which GWI itself describes as building
blocks for regional systems. GWI’s annual reports and other public presentations candidly
describe sequential acquisitions of lines by separate rail subsidiaries as its method for creating
regional systems. Perhaps most brazen is the part of the Credit Suisse presentation titled
“Contiguous Railroads Building Regional Rail Systems” which explains how GWI extended its
original line, the GWRR, to Rochester, through Buffalo, and Pittsburgh to Columbus, Ohio;
creating a regional rail system by separate acquisitions by different newly formed subsidiaries
such as the Rochester & Southern, the Buffalo & Pittsburgh, the Allegheny & Eastern, the
Pittsburgh & Shawmut and the “Ohio Lines”. Unions’ Ex. L. Of course, the Rochester &
Southern and Buffalo & Pittsburgh transactions were the ones challenged by Rail Labor in cases
where the ICC rejected the contention that the new subsidiaries were making the acquisitions on
behalf of GWI and the rail carrier affiliates. That GWI now acknowledges that these transactions
were really extensions of the GWRR and the initial steps toward a regional system and the
hundred carrier, Class I size, GWI carrier group further demonstrates the inadequacy of the
indicia of independence test described in the Buffalo and Pittsburgh and FRVR cases.
Furthermore, GWI does not even limit its definition of regional systems to contiguous lines, GWI

also includes nearby railroads in regional systems. 2012 Annual Report, Unions’ Ex. C at 16.

Whatever may be said about the decisions from the 1980s, the Board should recognize that
subsequent events and admissions by GWI demonstrate that those transactions were not as they
were described then, and the Board should reject any reliance on those decisions by GWI given

the facts about the acquisition of the DME/CP lines, the changed circumstances of the industry,
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the facts about the relationships among and between GWI and its subsidiaries and the absence of

the policy mandates that drove those decisions.

Handling of the transaction under Section 11323 means that the employees of DME/CP
will be eligible for employee protections if they are adversely affected by the transaction —if they
are unable to remain employed with DME/CP or suffer a loss of compensation as a result of the
transaction. Because of GWI’s size, growth and increasing profitability; and because the lines at
issue are by no means abandonable or in danger of abandonment, none of the considerations on
which the ICC relied in denying employee protections in Section 10901 transactions, and in

refusing to treat acquisitions of lines by new formed subsidiaries as Section 11343 transactions

subject to employee protections are present here. _

Recognition that the acquisition of the DME/CP lines and related trackage rights is a
Section 11323 transaction means that employee protections are required under Section 11326.
Any predisposition to deny protections cannot overcome the statutory mandate; but, in any event,
none of the considerations that were previously seen as militating against employee protections

1s a factor in this case.

As the Unions have shown, this transaction involves the acquisition of lines of a Class I

railroad by the GWI group of carriers. Even presentations given by GWI CEO Hellman and CFO
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Gallagher described the transaction as one between GWI and CP. See Unions’ Ex. K at 11, Ex. R
at 9. Because the revenue of the combined GWI railroads significantly exceeds the Class I
threshold, this transaction is properly treated as one between two Class I’s, and the New York

Dock/ Wilmington Terminal protections are the appropriate protections.

F. GWD’s Invocation of an Exemption from Section 11323 for its Control of RCP&E After
the Acquisition Is Effected Does Not Satisfy the Requirements of the Act.

GWI may assert that it has complied with the Act by seeking exemption from the
requirements of Section 11323 for its continued control of RCP&E after RCP&E acquires the
DME/CP lines and becomes a carrier. But it is not enough that GWI seeks authorization for
control of RCP&E after the acquisition. By separating what is really one transaction into two
transactions, and by dealing with each as separate and self-contained, GWI is attempting to
obfuscate the true nature of the transaction and to suggest that it has done what is necessary

under the Act to effect that transaction.

Treating the ostensibly different transactions as one 11323 acquisition is necessary
because, as the Unions have shown, the whole arrangement really is the acquisition of rail lines
and trackage rights from a carrier by a group of carriers. This transaction is actually one between
carriers and involving multiple carriers, that is being orchestrated by a holding company that uses
individual subsidiary acquisitions to create regional rail systems. It is therefore necessary that the
acquisition be authorized by approval in accordance with Section 11323 and the standards of
Section 11324, or by exemption from approval under those provisions. Additionally, because the
acquisition involves the acquisition of a rail carrier’s lines by a group of carriers, employee
protections for the benefit of employees affected by the acquisition are mandatory under Section

11326. If GWI is allowed to artificially bifurcate the transaction into separate acquisition and
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control transactions, the protections imposed in a contrived control-only finance docket will not
apply to the DME/CP employees, even though they will be adversely affected by the acquisition,

solely because of GWT’s filing of two proceedings instead of one.

As the Unions have shown, the decisions in Marshall Transport and County of Marin, etc.
held that the agency must deal with the actual nature and real effect of transactions; and it may
not allow corporate devices or the manner in which a transaction is presented to dictate
application of the Act or the agency’s handling of the transaction. And it does not matter that
here GWI has filed something with the Board whereas Union Tank filed noting in connection
with Refiners’ acquisition of Marshall Transport. The point of that decision was not only that
Union Tank had to submit to the jurisdiction of the ICC, but that the agency’s consideration of
the acquisition of Marshall Transport had to include not only the acquisition by Refiners, but also
the consequences Union Tank’s effective acquisition of control of a carrier by Refiners’ purchase
of Marshall. As the Court noted, the Act was not concerned solely with Union Tank’s control of
another corporation, but also with its control of Marshall’s business of providing carrier service.
And in County of Marin, the ICC and the Supreme Court made it clear that the agency’s
processes may not be manipulated by the mere act of a form of filing with the Commission.
Bifurcation of the one transaction here into two ostensibly separate and distinct transactions in
two finance dockets with decisions confined to each (and employee protections limited to the
control transaction) would simply ignore the reality of the transaction and fail to satisfy the Act’s
requirement that transactions between carriers be approved or exempted under Section 11323.
The Board should not allow GWT’s filing of notices in two finance dockets to determine its

handling of the case.
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V. CONCLUSION

The Unions respectfully submit that because of the language of the statute, the actual
nature of the transaction, the reality of the GWI organization, changes in the industry over the
past twenty years, and changes in the GWI group, the sale of DME/CP’s lines and the trackage
rights arrangement can not be effected without approval or exemption under Section 11323 and
imposition of employee protections under Section 11326. Because of the importance of the issues
in this case, and the long term consequences of the decision in this case given GWI’s intention to
continue to expand and extend its system, the Unions request that the Board hear oral argument

in this case.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Richard S. Edelman
Richard S. Edelman
Kelly Beck
O’Donnell, Schwartz & Anderson
1300 L Street, N.W.
Suite 1200
Washington, D.C. 20005
(202) 898-1707
(202)-682-9276
REdelman@odsalaw.com

Dated: April 18, 2014
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Y O\Y INTERSTATE COMMEACE COMMISSIOM SERVICE DATE |
/]? DECISICH JuL 13 1986 !

Finance Dockast MNa. 10779

AOCHESTER AND SOUTHEAN BAILROAD, [NC., AND GENESEE AND WYOMING
ISDUSTRIES, INC. - EXEYPTION FROM 49 U.5.C. 10901, 11301, AND
11343

Decided: June 27, Ll¥%a8s

This decision grcants e joint peticlon filga Januacy 21,
1985, by =he Rochester & Southern Railroad, Inc. (RS}, and
Ganesee and Wyoming Induscries, Inc. (GWI), for exemptian under
49 0.5.C. 10305 froam tho prior approval requiraments applinaols
£3 che following cransaceciana:

(1) Under 49 UY.5.C. 10901, ia) AS's acguiaition
and operacion of abouc l0) =milea SE rail line, Jwned
Sy the Buffalo, Nochester and Pitcsburgh Rallway
Company i GRP) and operaced by the Balcimore and GOnio
Railroad Company (8&0) .2/ hatween Fochester, MY
{mileposc 0.00), and Asnford, NY (mileposc 91.58i1,
Secwean ailepoac 3.00 and ailepost 5.%0 (the
Rochester Bel: fine), and between mileposc 0.00 and
ailegost 2,17 (cthe Silver Lake ASranchl: and (5) RS's
acguisicion of (ncidencal ccackage cights over 14.]
ailea of line owned Sy BRP and operaced by O&0,
batween Ashford (milepost 93.63) and Easc Salamanca,
NY (alleposc 107.31);

{2) Underc 49 U.5.C. 11101, ®3'as iasuance 2£ up
to 10,000 anaces of coesmon scock:; and

(3} Under 49 U.5.C. L1143, :uqtlnued contral of
A5 by GWI, through stock ownecship.=/

Commency wera 2iled by the Railway Labor Exacutlives'
Asamociacion (RLEA), =he Onized Tranaportation Union, the
drotnernood of ocomotive Enginaers, and four membacs Of =he
How Yarxk 5S5tace AssemDiy. RLEA also submitted a supplemencal
stacement in oppusitlion whlch among ocher tNLNgD, Céquesced that
=he pecicion Se assigned fcr oral hearing. Pecltionercs ceplied.
Thne hearing rcequest <4ill be denied sinca there? are no macoectial
Lasues that cannot Se properly resclved on the basie =f the
axisting recorcd.

i 4RP i3 cwned, contcolled, and apecaced oy @60 unders an
agresment apprcaved in Buffalo, R.&P. Ry. Co. Cantrol., lEQ [.C.C.
14 {103%].

4/ Most scguimitions and opearacions under section 19901, and mosk
securicles lssuances undar secticn 11301 have Seen nada the
subject of class sxempcions. 3ee Ex Parze Yo. 192 [Sub-Wo, 11,
~iass Exemptior=—Acg., and Oper. of Rail Mines iindec 49 U.3.0.

el :t;"' EREN TR E] I 11n~:: ?1r:a N0, 2"1. EXemorion=—
gilroads Regulacion dndar 49 J.5,C. 1301, I I.C.C. Jdd #L15%

2850, =a 48 Consldecifn =Ne LASCANE ceqQuascs individuaily

acaude Shey «ory submitted pricc td the sflectlive larem of =ne

Z.888 axemptions and wars .nocompanied =y Anothar xeaptlon EXHIBIT A
rageest am JArc of a alagie szorpolldaged prajecz, Ashlandg 2v,

Ing,, ard 5. David Ccanm=Exaup., fr=e 19 ©,5.C. 12991, TTTAL, and

11340 (a0t scinted), served saren L), L9d4. R




SARCE DOCTKNT ROL IUTTY —

RS is a nevly formed, wnolly owmed susaidiary of Gul.)s It
is not n.:l:tﬂ..: Sut will Decome Ofe LpOn COmmeAcisg T:nr,tm

k0 and have agreed = sall the limes, Decacse =h
cperaticns cver the last few yeara 2ave prodeced oaly smarginal
Tesults and Secauss the line Dears a limited celatiomghip 22 tha

reaainder of their sysataa. I their view, A new, local cacctiar
can operacts tne lires more efficiently. RS intends to operate
two Irains, onod in 2ach direcCtion, Setwsen Acchestar and Easc
Salamanca, § Says a “wek. The proposed TIACKAge Tigncs :nt.m*:
Asnford and East Salamacca ill' anaple RS to intscchange zzaffy
«i%3 8&0 AT East st.mn:.l

A 2DOACACTIAT WY acgulse and opearate & mail line oaly =iia
SC13C approval of tae Commission pucsuant o Section 10901, See
39 CT.F.R. 1153.1(al. RS as 2 nonCacrtier may alao acquice "
crackage Tigacs over 3RP's li.l-mile line Detween Mn!uﬂl mﬂ i
fast Salamanca under the provisions af Eaction 13901.

Soceaesrn R. Co. Inc., ot al.==fxsaption, 1 1.C.C, 24 2li !l ¢

i aii caza thernl; Aailwa ecutives" ‘a v, L_

Cnited States, No. 82 109) £. My 22, 1%86)1 i. )
The scguisizion will De fZimanced thr>ugh debT inascrumenczs

and the issuance by RS of 10,000 shares of comson stock =2 SWI in

exchange £0C Sash And SthEer assets having a sotal valua 2f ae

least 573%9,000., RS's issuance of atock ceqguited approva. snder

Because R3 will Secome a carrcier ¢pon commencing cail
cperaticns, its continued concrol Sy GWI tegquires agatoval under

seczion 11343. Ses Finance Oocket ®o. 30629, Staren Isl. Ry.
[ - H CoEDw & tacen
F {noE priantedl, sEcved

2

Cnoer 49 U.5.C. 10535, =» =us™ axeapt & TranSaction {rom
tegulation .f we fips thae (1) regulaticm i AGT NeCYSEALy T2
Carcy oGt the calil transpoccation palicy of 49 J.5.C: 101014y and

i) alicher (a) the transacrion ia of l:mited scope or (D)
regulacion is NOC neCeSAAry IO protect shippers f{rom an atuse 2f
TALESL SOWOC.

Detailed scrutiny of the proposed transaction 1la not
secesSACy $2 CALTY Sulb tne rail STansportation ;w-::r:-,r. These
TfansacIions, Togetier, cepresenc an lategracted efIizct Iz enaure
the concimdation of rail service thac mignt stnecwise be lost.

_:'_-' CHT also swns all the stack Sf the Seneses and Syoaing
Aailirsad Company (GWRR) and the Qansville and Hount Yoryls
Aaiiroad Cosmpany (2rmM)., DMM cperates 10 miles of cail line
Setween Dansville and Sroveland, NY, where .t interchanges
scafflc with GWRR., GWRR opecatas over 18 alles 9f£ Erack Datween
sroveland and Caledonla, WY, an intersediate point on BRP's

iine. It molds traffic rights to operats sver a lZ-alle sagaent
2f 3AP's line Detween Calédonia and Rochsstar S0 #0a0le it O
mtercnanygs traffic ac RwWehescer <itn Zonsplidaces Aall

rporesion (Jo0nraia.l . iR 3ips Sperites toalod 9T SAs Acooune
ne Oelswace and dudson Aailvay, Zecany (Dadl from Jacedonia

2 Silver Springs, dY, another (ncormediace polnr oa ERP'3 line.,
I, S4RR, oM, and A3 wi.l shnare common JLR1CEeTS ARd TicedTotry,

o

5 Alcaouygn treflic soulc Se Lnmerchanged st Aahfard, withouc
~ee2 f{Oof tRe STACRAge rignes, Lntecchanging ot Zastc Jalamanca ia
ofe Jractical apnd efficient Decause =f it3 interchange “cack ard
rsar Escilities, SED's ZA4C Spwracipons at the Taat jalamanca

al S

2 =me Winlias. TCRCR JAQACITY 1L Agnford,



A5, A8 & Sarrier with anticipated lower Tating costs and i
contentrited local marketing effcris, will Srimg increased
#fficiency o rall transportatioa im the area. Accormingly.
acjuisition of the line and related Trackage rights oy 25 will
foster sound economic coacditiona i TIaASpOTtatios aad -cgnrl;o
sfficiont sallroed manajemeat, Cxempticn of toe fimascing<” and
control mAtTers, AS relatsl transactions ceguired o cacty out
Lhe acguisition and speration, Likewise will foster asd esmcour
those same Danefita. Further=more, each 2 These examptions =il
miaiaize the tewed f£or Federal regulatssy ssatrol, expedizs
Secisicons whsn Tegulation i3 ©O: Secesllry, and reduce Tegulatacy
Sarriers %o entIy.

ihe transactions are If limited sCOpe 3lACe thay Lavalve The
financing, acjquisition, and cperatioa of approximately 117.3
ailes of rail line and zraczags rigats for wnat ia essentially a
iocal Tail cpeczation ia a aingle State. Morsaver, the line has
minimm potential as a oridge carrier for sigaificant current =¢
futors .verhead traffic, Since sost of the line's mafiic
aiscorically origisated or termiaated on the line, RS will have
iiztle ilafluence On the sSuting of cars and licctle impac: =
Arsas cutside chat served direc:tly oy =oe line. THhe coatlauancs
in coatrol, whea ES bDecomes & carrier, will involwe oaly three
small carviers with limited operating arsas and less Tnan
apprexisately 160 miles of integrated rail iline ia ssatcoen New
IOrk Scate. %o change in Sasic operations ia contemplated.

Regulazion is 20Tt neCessary %o protect shlppers from che
aSuse of sarket pOower and oo shipper Sppose the transaction at
issum. RS's entry as a new mail carTier will gresarve
competition Dy saiatalnisg the coanecticn Detwesn Bi” and che
#ochester, NY, marxat and should [screase Transporcation
compatizion in its markecinmg area 5y providing access o
sddicticoal carrisrcs.

Alehouch RS will conneCt with CHRR a4t Caledonia, zhare L&
a0 prospect of aarket aduse Frowing ot 2f the common control,
GERR's ctraffic primarily iz curtbound loada of rack salc from
Incernational Sal:t Co. The majority of the ourocund galt (s
destined for delivery to Conzail at Rochester and noas wlll
CerminALS On The Lise o De acguired. OmMN's operations and
reaffic oase ara limites, aod mone of tha =zaffic =o or from DAM
sriginates O/ terainactes on the lime = De scguired.

PS, on =he Other 2and, will 50 serving vaciety of
CuUStomars ia *5e Acciedter Ared and along tae routs SLiveen
fochester and Ashford. As already r~oted, peticionsrs d= mac
envidion any changes ia the cperaticas 3f GERR ot O8M 318 a cesul:
ot =he proposed acguisitioms, 25°s entry essentially will
presscve and increase comgetition in the aackec arva, I will
aggceusively sarket its services IO IACTeABS LT3 CUuBLOrmer Sade,
pacticularly in the RocChestsr area, Ard to iacrease frsight
volune from current customery. RS vi.l rehabDllitate the line and
JTOArViSS AXPECES I provids il cuscomers with significanc
senefits 1o i1zs cole as 8 toanspartacion grovider,

27 faras € inGeDtednesd 3L ZACTI6CE THAL A9 AOT IRL D VTOCkl
snd Dondg have Deen lscersidywd L AacmeCcorls Secank Saged oL 9 4
“tecycities” &8 zhat tecm Ll Jsed In 4% J.5.5. L2201. TN

fisance Docket Ho. JU660, Infiang & Cnis R, ©5., [Ac.== TammD . ==
£ ‘RaC SCLACRO), 36780 AuQUBL 28, i383;: ang
711, Missouri-farsas-Toxesg P, ©5,, ==

ASECHSCLON Sf SOLIZECLON — fXeMD. FEom 39 J.5.0. LL]J AQE
JEintec] , BEcTved ioveRDarC ., T L 8 IpeCLifiC MWMTUTe JIT che
DL Sroplesd Oy S La A0E JLECLOBAC,: ASCIOCRLnglys ChREe fxemproon
58 sQulty acd cadf findnce Lransaciions Jranced ia =hid decvia
sppsias 2al thin our

§ %9 Lhe GNTINC CNOAE LIANESSTIOAS AP wifhi
-

=
furisdictica,



RLEA Tontencs :RAT the exs=piions should de denled Secauss’
the financing structurt 2f the JIcposed TTAnSACTION Mad A0t Deen
derarained AT The =ime the petition was £filed. Sowever, in their
teply o RLEA's supplesental statement in Opposition, petitionera
state tiat the financial structure of the transactioan has Sesn
firaly established ia the fora of an cutright purchase 2y RS.
Thaere L8 nothing of record To indicate that RS, as a aev caccler,
is fimancially anfir =0 commeace rail operations. Wnile
financial fitneass 13 a0t a specific criterion under section
10505,27 .ns lecord dsmonstoates that RS wvill Se cuned and
SperateZ by experiencsd rall sanagement and provides 230 support
f=2r allagatiocas that tas financial structure i3 la any wvay
iradequare %o perai: successful Speraticns. T the Iontrary, RS
‘s receiving & substancial capital coantridution Zcom its
carpacate parent and Aas ceceived a firm financial comalitaent far
the rezainder 3f the capital necsssary %to acquire and apecate Lhe
iiss from an inscizucional invescor.

LABOK PRUTECTION

The acculsition transactions. —-— Onder 4% U.5.C.
10%051g1(2), we a4y oot ralieve a carrier 2f its odligatioas to
Frotect the interests of employees. Howaver, 1n Transactions
under ssction 10301 or petitions sesking axesprion from (ta
requiremsats, the imposition of labor pratection i3
discreticoary. Black v, ICC, 742 r.2d 106, 11l 10.C. Cir.

1583). In Alapana Soutnern, supra, at 3100, and in numarsus other
decisions, we zave referred to cur loog standing and fudiclally
agproved policy of oot iaposing labor protective cbligacions spon
aswly formed scquiring carriers. The Surdens on naw cperators
are jreac sncugh without the additional cost af labor

gr=tection. See, #.9., In re Chi o. M. St. P. & Pac. R. Ca.,
6§58 F.2d 1149, L171 (7en cic. LaB1), ser:t. P b

(1582). Tals policy was =cat recencly spproved in Ratilvay Laoo
Pxecutives Ass'a. w, ICC, TH4 F.2d 359 (9=h ciz. 19388] :IEEE 7.

In chis instance the evicdence suggests that =he (=poaizion
3¢ lapor protection would force BES to assume in excess 2f
$.1.,400,000 in <eDt, =ore than double =he purchass price, in
-ecurn £or cthe authority co acguire and operats a marginally
sroficable line, RS conctends that the coac of a labor candicion
Sould not De recouped eArzugn the lire's Cperation and chat its
itzposicion sffectively woulg terminate tThe ZUCShase agreement.
Jased on the svidencs of rceford, we conclude that =he imposltion
2¢ surdensoms e=ployee protective conditTions 20 25 would he
isagproprliace,

%or 4o we find reascn To exercisa cur diecretlonary power
andear section 10901 co ispose laboc pratection on B&0. We noted
in Zx Pacte %o. 192 (Sun=Nc. li, Class Ex . for the Acg. and
Jcer. of Rail Lines Under 49 U.5.C. 1 s CRat Jiscrecionary
-ADOr pJEOTECILVE CORALticons Are noC lapased on a selling carrier
Secause the associaced costa would indirectly 5e Dorne oy the
acguiriny carrcisr througnh the selling price. ™This would diminisn
of =sgats the esconomic juscificacion for tranmferring =arjinal
iine8.

0 283y Jasgance A8 Lo Finance Docher 49, J043%, Zu.r
sizsssdigsi 3. Torp. Purcnams  Parsion) - Exampcion = TILLn0L1S
-.w. R, CD. iMSL printed), secved Jaruary 2, .35, the lJaoor
tepresencacives make jensral allegactions 7€ potential sarm 2
ennioyees DUt fall =5 uantify the narm, ©On the 2cher hand, 480




_—

concends ThAt the line i3 Delag sald o RS at subscaatiall; lean
than Aalf tae projectsd cost 0of labor protacticn. Like BS, 1t
AsSerts that the imposition of labor protecticn would =aike the

sale uneconomic., The coats ta RY and 5.0 of lador
Protsction allegedly cCaanot De justifiled Dy ihe gain sitier
Sarsier woold Serive from the sale.

It appeirs that somas of taw 41 people e=plisyez 2y WD 2
Sperate tae line maay De adversely affected. However, RS Nas
stated Chat it latencs =2 Aire At least 15 adn-aansgement B0
smplioyses it The outsat And will rely on tha Iormer employees 2
€11l wacancies and nav QOSitions As they ars Created. RS slans
o offer non-naragemant emplcoyees An houtly wage that allegecly
i competitive «#1th Or JIeater than the wages pald Sy ather .ew
Yore anort lices, and an annually discrituted, incantive Sonus
Sian suppor=ed oy 4 Tevenus 3naring formuila. In additios, RS
asserts that it «1ll 2ffer its non-=manigensat persoanel a
complete and f3i: peckijde Of Senefits anc Stnar Cerms and
conditions including holicays, saniority Sased vacation laave,
s4ic medical and iife insurance, jury duty and Dacrsavement lsave,
a seaioricy system, and other cooditicns cosmoa ia che indusctoy.

while there may Se scme loss of ssployment Dy 240 employess,
it is nevarchaless clear that ches Transaction overall is in the
pudlic interest and that the eguitiss do not weigh in faver of
imposing labor protaction 43 4 discrecionary BATIEr., The Dulk ar
t=e BAO employees will De hired LDy BES ang 4ill Se conpensated
with & Falr package of wayes and Senefits {or work actually
pe~formed. The shipgpers and the community will bensfit fcom the
sseservacion of rail service. Instead of 3 =4:31ntl Specacion
subject to potantial abancdonmsnt or cessation of services, the
sommunity will obtain 3 more efficienc, ctreamlined oparacticon Dy
a locally =managed, service oriented carcier. RS will oe
poalticned £o De mOre responsive o the Aeseds of the community
and morw aggressive ia ity purauit =f woaffic,

ALZA argues that che acguisition 2f the line Oy AS is
suplect =3 49 U.5.C. 1114] becauss of iz3 incecliocking
relacionsnigs with SWRR and O, It contends thac RS Sas Deen
incarpacated oy GWI and 1za sybaidiaries as a vehicle Zo Sring
toe tzansaczion under secticn 10901, Sut thac aftac che
TTansaction (3 approved, GWI CAn sictier =merje AS w«1Ch G&RR ands/=rc
oMM and ogerate them under cne name or alect to keep cthem
nominally separaca.

RS°s rvply showa that Lt L5 A separate corpocation organized
dncer cthe lawvs of che Stace of New Yok for the purpose of
conducting cailroad operaciocns and Lcs cfficers and directsca
«ill De 2u)y elected and appolaced In aAccardanca «1itih that
state’s laws, [% will gwn and cperats %he line 3§ a4 Sommon
cacrier Oy rail, publisn cariffs and scacions, directly serve the
iine's pactzons, and De responsibla for financlisl and contractual
2Gligationa in Les awn name and for 1ts own account. Siallarly,
it will acguire ic3 own locomotive power, egulpment and supplies,
asd employess and superviasry staff in lta owa name and account.

Alzhough A 203l Telationsnip «x156C5 acwesn AR and G¥T,
£ =oes A0C <ACZANEC & fincin, thAC ZOmy iCe ONe and =08 Iame and
TEAC secCion 11J4) apgplies. Thece i3 no eVicence 2O sugyest chat
" -

I3 was f2tmed exclisively =2 eluds che 2LhAsrwise applicatie
Jroviiiond 3 sectlon [1J4]). 79 the conEracy, :Ne avidance
Suggescd Zasc A8 <as formed o discance OWI froa the Tidka 4§
<ould alsume udon comamaensing cperaticng. 25 nad Afsumed all Lhe
cisgs =f the veatore On 1t Swn and L3 not financially Juacanteéed
Y i%3 JECeat. jiran thp ADove Ladicaticns 3¢ ndegensSance, wa

s



sonclute that RS i3 a mev enterplfiss and a AOACATTier «itn
Tespect T this section 10901 acquisitiom Zrom BRP 34D. See RLEA
II, supra. ®oreoves, the plaia language 2f sectica 11341 3

thnat 1t applies o The purchase O Zroperty =f A 2thar carrier oy
a4 carrier ot carriers. RS (s mot a carrier. Therefors, RS's
acgaeisition of BW0's line falls sguarely within che amdit of
section 10901 a.ln:: & noACACIier i3 3CJUITiING 3 1ine ot

Tailroad. -

:a-h-h-l 51"

Lined, 383

Relying on lagislartive NDiatory, RALEA Arg. +s That the
scyuilsition of 14.) miles of Trackage Tights over the lipe owned
oy ARP and cperated Oy Bil anoculd De sudject o 4% U.5.C.
11343{adisl. In Alananma Scutnerm, supra, at 299, = rejected tnis
RLEA arjument and OVeITules prict 135ion casas dolding thac a
new company Acquiriag a line 2ut wAICH 2AA AOL yet commenced
cperations 13 & carzier for purposes of section 111343
Jjurisgiction Decause it will Decosme a zsarrier. 3ae also Ex Pazte
K0. 392 {Sub-No. l), supra, siip cp. ac 4. 1Ia ¢ SuUDra, At
368 n. 11, che Nisch Circuit determined that our Alabana Southern
dacision “clearly comports with a plain readipng of the SEACLEOCY
defi-: zion oFf ‘carrier' within 4% 0.5.C. §11343." Even mora

Tecently, in RLEA II, a, 81ip op. at 3476-3301, che Secand
Cizcui: squarely rejected ‘s amalysis.

It is clear that the trackags cights are alsc subject to
section 1090.l. However, for the toascns expressed in SuC
analysis of 25's acgquisition ano operation of the
Rochestec-Asnford lipe, we must alsc Cecline to exercise ocur
discreTi0n o iopose labor protection on RS's proposed
acguisizion of these toackage cights.

we 40 not agree with RLEA zaat section 10903 emploves
grotection conditions shculd De imposed on 880 Dacause =ns sale
sf she Lins i3 egquivaleat to an abdandonment Dy 550. ALEA
acknowladges thnat Railw Lapor Execurives' Ass'a v. Uniced
Scaces,. 537 F.2d 2 {i9en Cir. 1, CAK®" A Visw CONCIALy tO
i%3 posizion that transactions sucn as this are witchin tha 5scope
af sotnh secticns 10901 and [U903. sHcwever, it clalms LhAC The
sdzh Circuitc case contradicty sSmitn v. Hobokan R. €Co., 128 U.S5.
123 (1948) (ESmich). e ciscussed a similar argument By RLEA in
finance Docket No. 10457, San Diego & Imperial Vailey R. Co.,
inc.=-=-Exemption, 1 I[.C.C.

Wwhils zhe “strict logic® of Smitn "would seem to JdicCacts """
that the oue<=' ng [of]! wnechner one railroad snculd De allowed 2o
soandon a Lline and another should ne allowed o opurate It are
iistinct,” Railway labor Exscutives' Ass'n v, ICC, 719 F.2d 551
703=703 (2d Ciz. 19684), Smith iavoivad a JebDtOr “h reorganization
sndar =28 Bankruptcy Act and the Court's princijpal concern was
prisc consiceracion by the Commisstion of a forfeiture lasue
savoliving ocuscer of a lessee and cesumption of cperations Dy the
-afsof. At page 1)2 of che Smith decision ir is acated:

The pownt L chag if cthe ceccganization cgurs decreen
8 facfeinure in advance 2f consideratbicon 3% the
JteoLem Dy =“he Commission, it iazerferss <~ith the
TLACTLICAS entousced 90 Rhe Tommission Jsderc 377

Lilmois v, ICC, 504 F.2d %13 'en Cice 19791, gers isnlied,
— ¥ =9Es. 5
443 U.3. 7% 15801, zne Court spacificslly neld, ac 524, that




“It is immaterial whether a Sorresponding adancomment applicatica

tar the line of Ttrack o De acguirTed das desn tiltﬂ:rtnt
existing Tperating SarTvier ©r has been denled.® Moredver, the
Ninen Circuit in RLEA °, m&:lt 367 stated that “There seems
to De gJeneral ajIeement tnat =2 uitimately stanss for a0 more
than the gensral propositica that A -wr shoulad nﬂnll.r defay
o the initial authority of an ageacy.”™ Thus, the 3ale 2f the
ilima 13 20T AJuivAaient tO an abandonmant, and the ssctisa 19323
anployes protection concitions are mot applicabdble.

Finalliy, =e Ieject RLEA'S azgument THAT lador protective
condizions shoald e imposen to CarTy out the fall tramspocrtatian
solicy of section l1010laill) pectainiag ™D tae escCoOuTagemsat Of
falr «“ages ana safe AnG Suitadie workisg conditioas. RLEA has
not demonstrited that the employees Rlged 2y BAS Or retained Dy
s6U) wouls receive leass than fair =ages 21 S sudjectes to unsate
or unsultable working conditioas. To the Coatrary, RS has arguec
sersuasively that it nas develcped a complete ana fair pacxage of
wages, densfits, and cther terms and conditions of employment for
non=mAnagement personnel ta De esplcyed by it.

The securities and control transactions. — Employes
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Financial Highlights

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Income Statement Data
Operating revenues $1,569,011 $874,916 $829,096 $630,195 $544,866
Income from operations 380,188 190,322 191,779 130,410 99,322
Net income 272,091 52,433 119,484 81,260 61,473
Net income available to common stockholders 269,157 48,058 119,484 81,260 61,327

Diluted earnings per common share attributable
to Genesee & Wyoming Inc. common stockholders:

Diluted earnings per common share (EPS) 4.79 1.02 2.79 1.94 1,57
Weighted average shares - Diluted 56,679 51,316 42,772 41,889 38,974

Balance Sheet Data as of Period End

Total assets $5,319,821 $5,226,115 §$2,294,157 $2,067,560  $1,697,032

Total debt 1,624,712 1,858,135 626,194 578,864 449,434
Equity 2,149,070 1,500,462 960,634 817,240 688,877
Operating Revenues Income from Operations Net Income Diluted Earnings
($ In Milions) ($ In Millions) ($ In Millions) Per Common Share

$1,600 1,569.0  $400 394.1° $275 2721'  $5.00

4.79'

250 450

1,400

25 = 4.00
1,200 - .
3.50
1,000 175
3.00
150
800 2.50
125

100 1056°

200

0 0
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2008 2010 2011 2012 2013 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

(M As Reported

@ Adjusted income from operations, adjusted net income and adjusted diluted EPS are non-GAAP financial measures and are not intended to replace
income from operations, net income and diluted EPS, their most directly comparable GAAP measures. The information required by Item 10(e) of the
Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Item 10(e)) and Regulation G under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, including a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measures, is included on pages 18-23.
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From the CEO

John C. Hellmann
President and Chief Exscutive Officer

To Our Shareholders:

In 2013, Genesee & Wyoming completed its first year of operations following our $2 billion acquisition
of RailAmerica, a transaction that added 45 new railroads and doubled the size of our business

in North America. While the successful integration of RailAmerica was a significant achievement in
2013, the year was marked by several other important accomplishments. First, we led the rail industry
in safety for the fifth consecutive year, which is remarkable in a year that we welcomed 2,000 new
employees to our organization. Second, our financial performance was strong as we increased
adjusted diluted earnings per share by 50% and used record free cash flow to pay down more

than $200 million of debt, reducing our leverage to less than 3.0x debt to adjusted EBITDA.®
Third, our Australian operating team seamlessly implemented a major expansion of our iron ore
service, hauling a record 11 million tons of iron ore to a customer’s port facility in South Australia
for export primarily to China. Fourth, with our newly expanded company performing well, we
focused on investment and acquisition opportunities, culminating in our January 2014 agreement
with Canadian Pacific Railway to purchase a 670-mile railroad located in South Dakota, Minnesota,
Wyoming and Nebraska for $210 million. Our newly formed Rapid City, Pierre & Eastern Railroad
(RCP&E) is one of the largest proposed Class I spinoffs in recent history and, following expected
approval by the U.S. Surface Transportation Board (STB), we are excited about its anticipated
contribution to G&W’s long-term growth.

Safety

In 2013, G&W'’s overall injury frequency rate of 0.80 per 200,000 man-hours was once again

better than any Class I railroad and more than three times safer than the short line industry average.
Although our 2013 results were impressive in the context of our industry, we fell short of our target
of 0.45. Nonetheless, we are confident in our ability to continuously improve our safety performance
and have established our 2014 target once again at 0.45. It is noteworthy that 91 of our 111 railroads
worldwide did not have a reportable injury in 2013, so our ultimate objective of being an injury-free
company is also in reach. Visit any of our operations — from Corpus Christi to Labrador City, from
the Port of Rotterdam to Australia’s Northern Territory — and you will find the same language and
culture of safety that binds the entirety of G&W.

® Adjusted diluted EPS, free cash flow and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures
and are not intended to replace diluted EPS, cash provided by operating activities and net income,
their most directly comparable GAAP measures. The information required by Item 10(e) of
Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Item
10(e)) and Regulation G under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Regulation G), including

a reconciliation of non-GA AP measures to their most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measures,
is included on pages 18-23.
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From the CEO, continued

Financial Resuits
In 2013, G&W achieved record financial results in operating revenues, adjusted income from
operations, adjusted diluted earnings per common share and free cash flow.® Highlights include:

Operating Revenues increased 79.3% from $874.9 million in 2012 to $1.57 billion in 2013.
Assuming G&W had controlled and consolidated Rail America for the full year of 2012,
which we refer to as the “Combined Company” basis, our 2013 revenues increased 7.4%.®

Adjusted Operating Ratio (adjusted operating expenses divided by operating revenues) improved
from 75.9% in 2012 to 74.9% in 2013;@ Reported Operating Ratio improved from 78.2% in 2012
to 75.8% in 2013.

Adjusted Income from Operations increased 86.6% from $211.2 million in 2012 to $394.1 million
in 2013;@ Reported Income from Operations increased 99.8% from $190.3 million in 2012
to $380.2 million in 2013.

Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Gommon Share (EPS) increased 50% from $2.53 in 2012

(with 51.3 million average shares outstanding) to $3.80 in 2013 (with 56.7 million average shares
outstanding);® Reported Diluted EPS increased from $1.02 in 2012 (with 51.3 million average shares
outstanding) to $4.79 in 2013 (with 56.7 million average shares outstanding).

Free Cash Flow increased from $33.2 million in 2012 to $217.6 million in 2013. Before
investments in equipment and facilities to support new business, free cash flow increased
from $135.0 million in 2012 to $251.8 million in 2013.@

While our growth metrics were strong due to the absolute size of the RailAmerica acquisition, in
order to better understand trends in our business, it is also useful to analyze our same railroad revenue
trends for 2013 versus the prior year. The following discussion highlights our revenue trends on

a Combined Company, same railroad basis as though the RailAmerica railroads were owned by G&W
during 2012. G&W'’s Combined Company same railroad freight revenues were up 10.1% in 2013,
driven by a 5.8% increase in carloads and a 4.2% increase in average freight revenues per carload.

@ To provide comparative context for 2013 consolidated operating revenues and traffic volumes,
G&W is providing “Combined Company” comparisons for those items as though the RailAmerica
railroads were owned by G&W during 2012. In doing so, G&W has amended RailAmerica’s 2012
information to conform with G&W’s reporting methodology. Combined Company operating revenues
include both RailAmerica and G&W operating revenues for 2012. Combined Company operating
revenues, adjusted operating ratio, adjusted income from operations, adjusted diluted EPS and free
cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures and are not intended to replace operating revenues,
operating ratio, income from operations, diluted EPS and net cash provided by operating activities,
their most directly comparable GAAP measures. The information required by Item 10(e) of Regula-
tion S-K under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Item 10(e))
and Regulation G under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Regulation G), including a reconcili-
ation of non-GA AP measures to their most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measures, is included
on pages 18-23.
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Highlights pf 2073

Industry-Leading Safety

4 Safety is the No. 1 priority at G&W,
and the safety goal is as simple as it is
important: Work Injury Free Every Day.
That goal may also apply to other
railroads or companies in other
industries. What sets G&W apart is
the passion with which that goal
is pursued at our company. )

Tyrone C. James, Senior Vice President
Safety and Compliance

Injury Frequency Rate per 200,000 Man-Hours
as reported 10 the Frederal Railroad Administration (FRA)

== FRA Group 3 (Avg) mmm Class | (Avg)
Short Line Railroads e G&W

m= FREA Group Z (Avg)
Regional Rellroads

2013 Safety Performance
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2006-2013 Safety Performance

Cultural Changes in Safety
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fianiights of 2013

Successful Integration
of_,RaiIAmerica

‘ On behalf of the Board of Directors,

| want to welcome the 2,000 new
employees of Genesee & Wyoming
who joined the company in 2013.
We look forward to working together
to achieve our Core Purpose: to be the
safest and most respected rail service =&
provider in the world.

| want to acknowledge and thank
the Mountain West and Central regions
for working injury-free in 2013 and
setting the example for all of G&W
and its goal to be injury-free.

| also want to thank our senior
executives for their leadership and

acknowledge the extra time, effort and
personal sacrifice made by many to
accomplish the successful integration
of RailAmerica into G&W. ??

Mortimer B. Fuller Il
Chairman of the Board of Directors

6 Genesee & Wyoming Inc.




From the CEO, continued

Metallic Ores revenues were up $44.4 million (+54.5%) led by the start-up of a new iron ore mine
in South Australia. Metals revenues were up $13.2 million (+11.6%) primarily in North America
where increased auto production and increased demand for steel pipe in the energy sector helped
drive strong output at several steel mills served by G&W. Petroleum Products revenues were up
$11.6 million (+21.8%) led by increased shipments to destination crude oil terminals in our Pacific
and Southern regions and increased shipments of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) originating

in our Ohio Valley Region. It was also good to see freight revenues for Coal & Coke up 8.7%,
Lumber & Forest Products up 9.4% and Pulp & Paper up 6.8% after years of limited or negative
growth, which bodes well for the general economy. Finally, it is worth noting that our freight
revenues would have been even stronger; however, the depreciation of the Australian and Canadian
currencies versus the U.S. dollar in 2013, down 14.2% and 6.5% respectively, negatively impacted
the translation of our foreign revenues into U.S. dollars.

Strong Free Cash Flow

We generated free cash flow of more than $250 million in 2013, prior to capital expenditures

to support new business. The strength of G&W'’s free cash flow is derived from a customer base
that is unique in its diversity by commodity and geography. In 2013, no single customer represented
more than 6% of our total revenues, and no single commodity group represented more than
9% of our total revenues. Meanwhile, our revenue base spans more than 2,000 customers in

39 U.S. states, four Canadian provinces, Australia, the Netherlands and Belgium.

As demonstrated in 2013, our longstanding philosophy has been to use free cash flow to pay
down debt and strengthen our balance sheet until we identify attractive new investment opportuni-
ties. In some years, such as the period of aggressive institutional lending that preceded the global
financial crisis in 2008, we made no acquisitions because we concluded that valuations were
unreasonably high. In other years, when valuations have been attractive to us, we have made
multiple acquisitions. Over my 14 years at G&W, I have seen an almost steady pipeline of potential
transactions and believe this will continue, especially given our wider geographic coverage.
Nevertheless, we will remain patient and disciplined in our approach to acquisitions and will
only deploy capital where we anticipate significant long-term benefits to our shareholders.

Organizational Evolution

The company I joined in 2000, with 21 railroads and $175 million in revenues, was dramatically
different in size and geographic reach than today’s G&W, with 111 railroads and $1.6 billion in
revenues. Although each of our operating regions now has a larger number of railroads (10 railroads
on average), it is remarkable how little our organizational structure has changed over the years.
Each operating region is under the leadership of a Regional Senior Vice President who has his
own regional management team and operates an independent business unit with direct accountability
for safety and business results. Within the region, each discrete railroad has a General Manager
who reports to regional management and is responsible for the safety and efficiency of daily
operations and the quality of customer service. The essence of G&W?’s regional structure is to

be as close as possible to our customers and to cultivate a local culture of service, cost control

and entrepreneurship that has characterized the success of the short line industry.

2013 Annual Report 7



From the CEO, continued

Although the independence of our regional organizational design has been unchanged as we have
grown larger, we also have added or enhanced specialized corporate functions such as industrial
development, customer service, track and structure engineering and mechanical to provide central-
ized support and expertise to the operating regions. As the regions are fully accountable for their
business performance, they draw upon the specialized knowledge within these corporate functions
to maximize performance.

To illustrate how we have continued to strengthen the G&W senior management team, 1 would
like to highlight some of the key changes that we made among our Regional Senior Vice Presidents
over the past 12 months:

w Joel Haka, formerly Chief Operating Officer of Florida East Coast Railway and CMA CGM
North America (container shipping), joined us as Senior Vice President of G&W'’s Pacific Region.

m Jim Irvin, formerly Senior Vice President of our Oregon Region as well as Vice President
of New Business Operations in Australia, returned from Adelaide and is now Senior Vice
President of our Rail Link Region.

m Bill Jasper, formerly Senior Vice President and 25-year veteran of our Rail Link Region,
was named Senior Vice President of our Southern Region.

m Gary Long, formerly President of Omnitrax, joined us as President of our Atlas Railroad
Construction subsidiary.

m Greg Pauline, formerly Executive Director of Development and Corporate Affairs of Lend Lease
Group’s Infrastructure Services business, joined us as Managing Director of Genesee & Wyoming
Australia, our largest operating region.

a Dewayne Swindall, formerly Vice President of Transportation of our Southern Region,
was promoted to Senior Vice President of our Central Region.

The list of personnel appointments above is merely a snapshot of the hiring, development and
succession planning that takes place at all levels of G&W. In order to ensure that we continue

to attract and develop great people, we hired an outstanding Chief Human Resource Officer,

Mary Ellen Russell. As an executive recruiter, Mary Ellen previously helped place several senior
executives at G&W and demonstrated a perfect understanding of the right people for G&W’s
business culture. She also brings deep human resource experience from her previous background
in the container shipping and trucking industries. Building on the success of the transportation
training centers that we have developed in both Jacksonville, Florida, and Adelaide, South Australia,
Mary Ellen is also spearheading new education and training initiatives for all disciplines within G&W.

8 Genesee & Wyoming Inc.
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November 2013 Survey by a
Leading Customer-Satisfaction
Research Firm

Overall Customer Satisfaction with Genesee & Wyoming
vs. Other Transportation Service Providers
Former RA Rallroads 7.1 G&W 7.5

/
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Trucking Industry 1.3“ '
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9.

Railroad Industry
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Genesee & Wyoming’s Top Three
Highest Rated Attributes by Customers:

Operating personnel
demonstrate a clear
commitment to safety

Professionalism of customer
service personnel

Availability of customer
service personnel

“The ultimate goal of customer
service is to build trusting,
long-lasting relationships
that help grow our customers’
businesses, because if they
grow, we'll grow. ??

Andrew T. Chunko, Senior Vice President
Customer Service
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&k The planning, procurement, hiring
and training for this service expansion
was an immense undertaking, executed
with outstanding teamwork by GWA.
It is a perfect example of our ability
to make investments in support
of customer growth projects.??

David A. Brown, Chief Operating Officer,
Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and Director,
Geneses & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd
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From the CEO, continued

Commercial Development

One of the most important changes to G&W since the acquisition of RailAmerica has been the
creation of a strong corporate commercial team under the leadership of our Chief Commercial
Officer, Michael Miller. We believe that we can generate additional revenue growth in our regions
with the support of centralized commercial expertise that includes:

= Industrial Development: Our objective is to be the first company anyone calls when seeking
to locate a new industrial facility on a railroad in North America. To achieve this, we hired
Mike Peters, who has a deep background in logistics, real estate development, railroads and
siting industrial plants, as our Senior Vice President, Real Estate & Industrial Development.

m Real Estate: Our objective is to maximize the value of our right-of-way and other properties.
Under Mike Peters’ leadership, we are developing a comprehensive Geographic Information
System and a team that will ensure the best use of our real estate assets and also support the
needs of our industrial development team.

m Transload: Our objective is to efficiently transfer freight shipments from other modes of trans-
portation to and from our railroads. As a result, we hired Mike Webb, who spent 14 of his 24
years at Norfolk Southern as a transload expert, to add new distribution facilities at select
locations on our national footprint and to extend our reach to non-rail-served industries.

Mike joined us as Senior Vice President, Distribution Services.

Another addition to our commercial capabilities is our Atlas Railroad Construction subsidiary,
acquired as part of the RailAmerica transaction. Under the leadership of Gary Long, we are now
able to offer a turnkey solution for customers whereby Atlas builds and we operate rail infrastructure
for new mines and industrial plants. By bundling Atlas’ track construction expertise with G&W'’s
safety and service excellence, we have developed an offering that we believe will be attractive
to customers in multiple industries.

Our ability to increase the growth rate of our railroads is ultimately dependent on the quality
of our rail service. In November 2013, we conducted our biennial survey of our 2,000 customers
worldwide. The good news is that our same railroad customers scored our overall service 7.9 out
of 10, ever closer to our target of 8.0. The bad news is that our overall customer service score
declined slightly to 7.5. The main reason for the decline was that the former RailAmerica railroads
scored 7.1, an outcome that we view as an opportunity to improve service, earn the trust of customers
and increase future carloads. For those railroads with lower scores, our regions are executing specific
plans to address customer concerns, and we intend to re-survey these customers in the near future.

In reviewing our commercial outlook, it is important to note that we continue to see considerable
upside for the company from further improvement in the North American economy. For perspective,
in 2013, our Combined Company, same railroad carloads were still down 14% versus 2008. Given
the potential benefit from economic recovery, the scope of our new commercial capabilities and
the ongoing opportunity to improve service at the former RailAmerica railroads, we are confident
in our ability to increase G&W'’s long-term rate of growth.
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From the CEO, continued

Rapid Clty, Pierre & Eastem Rallroad

While still subject to approval by the U.S. Surface Transportation Board, we hope to close the
RCP&E acquisition in the second quarter of 2014. The railroad is initially expected to generate
approximately $65 million in annual revenues for G&W, serving two of the largest bentonite mines
and one of the largest ethanol facilities in North America, a major cement producer and major agri-
cultural producers throughout South Dakota. South Dakota is one of the top 10 states in the pro-
duction of many crops, including wheat, soy beans, corn and seeds and, subject to Mother Nature,
we expect long-term volume will continue to rise from a combination of increasing crop yields

and greater demand from Asian markets.

Canadian Pacific’s spinoff of the railroad is a classic short line opportunity. From CP’s perspective,
the transaction allows them to sell off a lighter density line that was isolated at the western end of their
U.S. network but still permits them to compete for a majority of the originating traffic for the longer
haul. By selling to an operator with G&W?’s experience, CP is also protecting its business by reducing
the operating risk of a large start-up. For G&W, similar to most Class I spinoffs, we expect to unlock
latent customer demand due to increased local service and intense local marketing. The fact that the
RCP&E will interchange with three Class I railroads — Canadian Pacific, BNSF and Union Pacific —
should enhance our carload conversion opportunity, and we expect all connecting Class I carriers
to benefit relative to the status quo. In addition, thanks to the significant investments that CP made
in the rail line over the past few years, the track infrastructure is positioned well for the long term.

Having spent considerable time on the ground in South Dakota with customers, potential
employees and government officials, our integration team is rapidly advancing preparations for the
start-up. We expect to hire approximately 180 new employees, primarily from the existing employee
base, and we are working closely with Canadian Pacific and the State of South Dakota to ensure
a smooth transition following STB approval.
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Highlights of 2013
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From the CEO, continued

Update on the North American Energy Market

In last year’s letter to shareholders, I wrote about the dramatic evolution of the North American
energy market and promised an update on how it is impacting our business. The extraction of oil
and natural gas from shale formations through hydraulic fracking technology, the development
of oil sands in Canada and the relative decline in the use of coal for power generation in the U.S.
have each had a direct impact on our rail shipments, and we have been seeking to optimize our
position as long-term shipment patterns become clearer. As powerful market forces continue

to transform the North American energy market, it is important to recognize that the long-term
outcome for G&W also will be significantly influenced by non-market forces including federal
and local politics and/or legislation, environmental and safety regulations, political conditions in
other energy rich nations, as well as weather patterns that powerfully impact energy consumption.
Now turning to some details for G&W:

m Coal: In 2013, our Combined Company same railroad coal revenues were up 8.7% to $110.8
million, due to investments in emissions controls at several of our coal-fired power plant customers
as well as more favorable weather conditions for electricity consumption.® This growth followed
a 14.8% decline in our coal revenue in 2012, as declining natural gas prices, increased environ-
mental regulation and specific facility maintenance negatively impacted our coal business. As

of today, higher natural gas prices and a cold U.S. winter have reduced utility coal stockpiles

to low levels that should result in strong coal shipments for G&W in 2014,

m Petroleum Products: In 2013, our Combined Company same railroad petroleum products
revenues were up 21.8% to $65.0 million. Of this increase, two-thirds was crude oil, primarily
to destination terminals, and one-third was LPG traffic in the western United States.

— Utica Shale: Our Ohio Valley Region has the geological good fortune of sitting on

top of much of the Utica Shale. We expect to benefit primarily from outbound LPG traffic
as new natural gas liquids processing and fractionation plants are constructed at locations
served by our railroads, and also from increased inbound sand and pipe as drilling in the
region continues to ramp up. In August 2013, a $900 million natural gas liquids fractiona-
tion hub in Scio, Ohio, commenced operations with the first of three planned fractionation
units, and we expect to ship between 10,000 and 15,000 carloads per year when the three
units are fully operational. The second and third fractionating units are currently under
construction, and both are expected to be operational by the end of 2314. Some of the out-
bound natural gas liquids that we carry are destined for Canada for use as a diluent in the
processing of heavy crude oil that is subsequently exported to the United States.

® Adjusted tree cash tlow and Combined Company freight revenues are non-GAAP financial
measures and are not intended to replace cash provided by operating activities and freight revenues,
their most directly comparable GAAP measures. The information required by Item 10(e) of Regula-
tion S-K under the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Item 10(e)) and
Regulation G under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Regulation G), including a reconciliation
of non-GAAP measures to their most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measures, is included on
pages 18-23.
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— Marcellus Shale: Our Northeast Region, which includes western New York and western
Pennsylvania, is focused primarily on the natural gas producing Marcellus Shale and was
our first region to benefit from the energy revolution, initially with sand and pipe traffic.
Although drilling activity moved west from the Marcellus to the Utica Shale over the past
few years, higher natural gas prices could lead to increased Marcellus drilling activity and
an associated increase in frac sand traffic. Also, as natural gas liquids production in the
Marcellus Shale increases, we expect to increase our propane traffic in the Northeast.

— Crude Oil: While G&W does not originate meaningful amounts of crude oil, customers
have developed destination terminals to receive crude oil on our railroads, and we also
serve some refineries directly. In 2013, we handled approximately 37,000 carloads of
crude oil largely due to growth at two major terminals: (i) Genesis Energy increased traffic
to its recently constructed destination crude oil terminal on our Alabama & Gulf Coast
Railroad in Walnut Hill, Florida, where it transfers the crude oil into a pipeline to serve
Gulf Coast refineries, and (ii) Global Partners purchased a dormant crude oil and ethanol
facility located on the Columbia River in Oregon and served by our Portland & Western
Railroad. The facility receives inbound crude via rail, which is then barged to West Coast
locations that are not accessible by pipeline.

The level of crude oil traffic carried by rail is heavily influenced by the relative price
differences, or “spreads,” between crude oil produced in different regions (e.g., Brent crude
oil produced in Europe versus West Texas Intermediate crude oil) and the relative transporta-
tion costs to deliver the crude oil to market (e.g., rail versus pipeline). Fluctuations in these
price spreads contributed to volatility in levels of crude oil traffic that we handled in 2013,
and we expect these fluctuations to impact our crude oil rail traffic in the future.

The increase in crude oil being shipped by the rail industry in North America has been extraordi-
nary, with approximately 400,000 carloads shipped in 2013 versus 9,500 in 2008. Even with the
eventual construction of new pipelines to handle surging crude oil supply, rail is expected to
play an important long-term role in the crude oil supply chain, particularly east-west across

the continent. The shipment flexibility of the rail network combined with the continued commitment
of the rail industry and G&W to strict operating procedures and tighter standards for tank cars

will further enhance the safety of rail transportation for this vital energy resource.

Outlook for 2014

We expect our positive business momentum to continue in 2014, although the year is starting slowly
due to severe winter weather impacting our business across most of North America. As a result

of multiple snowstorms and extremely cold temperatures, our first quarter shipment levels will

be lower than normal due to service disruptions on our railroads and congestion across the entire
North American rail network. In addition, our costs will be higher than normal due in part to snow
clearing costs, overtime expense and higher locomotive fuel consumption. We hope to recover

a portion of our lost traffic in March, weather permitting, and the general sentiment among

our customers is for good economic growth this year.
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From the CEO, continued

In 2014, we expect growth from most of our commodity groups including, (i) crude oil and
LPG shipments in the United States as several new projects come on line; (ii) iron ore shipments
in Australia, where we commenced a major new contract in 2013, and in Canada, where we expect
to start service on a rail line that we are constructing to a new iron ore mine in Labrador; (iii) steam
coal shipments in the United States where the severe winter has led to the significant depletion
of stock piles at electric utilities; (iv) salt shipments in the United States where the extreme winter
weather has depleted stockpiles of road salt for highway de-icing; and (v) shipments on the RCP&E
following acquisition approval by the STB. Partially offsetting our favorable outlook is the expected
negative impact of the weaker Canadian and Australian dollars, which will reduce the translation
of our revenues from foreign operations into U.S. dollars.

As we enter 2014, G&W has five main priorities. First, we are focused on achieving our safety
target of 0.45 on the way to becoming an injury-free company. Second, we are targeting 20% growth
in pre-tax income and to de-lever our business to 2.5x debt/EBITDA after the purchase of the
RCP&E (absent attractive new investment opportunities). Third, we are preparing for a successful
integration of the RCP&E and solidifying the G&W culture within the former RailAmerica railroads.
Fourth, we are focused on building congressional support for another renewal of the U.S. short line
tax credit, which provides approximately $26 million of benefit to our track improvement programs
and has strong bipartisan support in both the House and Senate. Fifth, we will continue to pursue new
acquisition and investment opportunities within the broad international footprint of G&W railroads.

Special Recognition

Reflecting upon 2013, I would like to thank my fellow employees at G&W for the intense focus
and dedication that enabled us to successfully integrate the largest acquisition in our history while
simultaneously positioning us for future growth. Whether in local railroad operations or corporate
staff functions, the entire G&W team has been imparting the business culture that has underpinned
our success for many decades: unwavering commitment to safety, intense commercial energy,
entrepreneurial spirit, local accountability and professionalism.

One of my colleagues deserves special recognition for his contributions.
Over the past 36 years, Mark Hastings has been a tireless architect of G&W’s
growth from one railroad to 111 railroads, serving as Chief Financial Officer,
as Executive Vice President of Corporate Development and most recently
as Executive Vice President of International Business Development based
in South Australia. While not fully retiring, Mark is now returning to
the United States and will work for us on select projects. His leadership,
integrity, business acumen, respect for others and tremendous work ethic
have been essential in building G&W. On behalf of the Board of Directors
and all of our employees, I would like to thank Mark for his immeasurable . o

i K K Mark W. Hastings, Executive Vice
contributions to G&W. The value created for shareholders during Mark’s President, International Business
tenure has been exiraordinary, and our entire team is committed to delivering Development
similar shareholder value in the years to come.

Jack Hellmann

President and Chief Executive Officer
March 19, 2014
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Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratio Description and Discussion

Management views its Income from Operations, calculated as Operating Revenues less Operating Expenses,
and Operating Ratio, calculated as Operating Expenses divided by Operating Revenues, as important meas-
ures of G&W’s operating performance. Because management believes this information is useful for investors
in assessing G&W'’s financial results compared with the same period in prior years, the Income from Opera-
tions and Operating Ratio for the year ended December 31, 2009 used to calculate Adjusted Income from
Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratio are presented excluding net gain/(loss) on sale and impairment
of assets, gain on insurance recoveries, legal expense associated with resolution of an arbitration proceeding
and restructuring charges. The Income from Operations and Operating Ratio for the year ended December
31, 2010 used to calculate Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratio are presented
excluding net gain on sale of assets, gain on legal settlement, FreightLink acquisition-related costs and the
reversal of restructuring charges. The Income from Operations and Operating Ratio for the year ended
December 31, 2011 used to calculate Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratio are
presented excluding business development and financing costs, net gain/(loss) on sale and impairment
of assets, gain on insurance recoveries and Edith River derailment costs. The Income from Operations and
Operating Ratio for the year ended December 31, 2012 used to calculate Adjusted Income from Operations
and Adjusted Operating Ratio are presented excluding RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related costs,
business development and financing costs, net gain on sale of assets, gain on insurance recoveries and
contract termination expense in Australia. The Income from Operations and Operating Ratio for the year
ended December 31, 2013 used to calculate Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratio
are presented excluding RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related costs, business development and
financing costs and net gain on sale of assets. The Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating
Ratios presented excluding these effects are not intended to represent, and should not be considered more
meaningful than, or as an alternative to, the Income from Operations and Operating Ratios calculated using
amounts in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratio may
be different from similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies.

In accordance with Regulation G, the following table sets forth a reconciliation of G&W’s Income
from Operations and Operating Ratio calculated using amounts determined in accordance with GAAP to the
Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Operating Ratios as described above for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013 ($ in millions):

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Operating revenues $ 5449 $ 630.2 $ 829.1 $ 874.9 $1,569.0
Operating expenses 445.5 499.8 637.3 684.6 1,188.8
Income from operations $ 993 $ 1304 $ 191.8 $ 190.3 $ 3802
Operating ratio 81.8% 79.3% 76.9% 78.2% 75.8%
Operating expenses $ 4455 $ 499.8 $ 6373 $ 684.6 $1,188.8
RailAmerica integration/acquisition costs - - - (29.5) (17.0)
Business development and financing costs - - (2.6) 2.3) (1.6)
Net gain/(Joss) on sale and impairment of assets 4.0) 6.4 5.7 11.2 4.7
Gain on legal settlement - 8.7 - - -
Gain on insurance recoveries 3.1 - 1.1 0.8 -
Contract termination expense in Australia - - - (1.1) -
FreightLink acquisition-related costs - (28.2) - - -
Legal expense associated with resolution

of an arbitration proceeding (L.1) - - - -
Restructuring charges 2.3) 2.3 - - -
Edith River derailment costs - - (1.8) - -
Adjusted operating expenses $ 4413 $ 489.0 $639.6 $ 663.7 $1,174.9
Adjusted income from operations $ 103.6 $ 1411 $ 1895 $ 2112 $ 394.1
Adusted operating ratio 81.0% 77.6% 77.1% 75.9% 74.9%
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Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted Earnings per Common Share

Management views its Net Income and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share (EPS) as important measures
of G&W'’s operating performance. Because management believes this information is useful for investors in
assessing G&W'’s financial results compared with the same period in prior years, Net Income and Diluted
EPS for the year ended December 31, 2009 used to calculate Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted
EPS are presented excluding net gain/(loss) on sale and impairment of assets, gain on insurance recoveries,
legal expense associated with the resolution of an arbitration proceeding, restructuring charges, gain on sale
of investment and the short line tax credit for 2009. Net Income and Diluted EPS for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2010 used to calculate Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS are presented excluding net
gain on sale of assets, gain on legal settlement, FreightLink acquisition-related costs, the reversal of restruc-
turing charges, financing-related costs, discontinued operations gain from insurance and the short line tax
credit for 2010. Net Income and Diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2011 used to calculate
Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS are presented excluding acquisition-related income tax
benefits, gain on insurance recoveries, net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets, Edith River derailment
costs, business/corporate development costs, short line tax credit for 2011 and gain on sale of investment.
Net Income and Diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2012 used to calculate Adjusted Net Income
and Adjusted Diluted EPS are presented excluding RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related costs,
business development and financing costs, acquisition costs incurred by RailAmerica, gain on insurance
recoveries, net gain on sale of assets, contract termination expense in Australia and contingent forward sale
contract mark-to-market expense. Net Income and Diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2013 used
to calculate Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS are presented excluding RailAmerica integration
and acquisition-related costs, business development and financing costs, net gain on sale of assets, the
retroactive short line tax credit for 2012 and foreign tax credit valuation allowance and are further adjusted
to exclude the 2013 short line tax credit. The Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS presented
excluding these effects are not intended to represent, and should not be considered more meaningful than,
or as an alternative to, Net Income and Diluted EPS calculated using amounts in accordance with GAAP.
Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS may be different from similarly titled non-GAAP financial
measures used by other companies.

In accordance with Regulation G, the following table sets forth a reconciliation of G&W’s Net Income
and Diluted EPS calculated using amounts determined in accordance with GAAP to the Adjusted Net Income
and Adjusted Diluted EPS as described above for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and
2013 (in millions except per share amounts):

Diluted Earnings/(Loss)

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Net Income Diluted shares g}elgr(éolﬂrgglt

As reported

Add back certain items, net of tax: $ e =0 B -
Net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets 22 0.06
Gain on insurance recoveries (2.0) (0.05)
Legal expense associated with resolution

of an arbitration proceeding 0.7 0.02

Restructuring charges 1.4 0.04
Gain on sale of investment (2.8) 0.07)
Short line tax credit for 2009 (11.4) (0.29)

As adjusted $ 49.5 390 $ 1.27
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Year Ended December 31, 2010

As reported

Add back certain items, net of tax:
Net gain on sale of assets
Gain on legal settlement
FreightLink acquisition-related costs
Reversal of restructuring charges
Financing-related costs
Discontinued operations gain from insurance
Short line tax credit for 2010

As adjusted

Year Ended December 31, 2011

As reported

Add back certain items, net of tax:
Acquisition-related income tax benefits
Gain on insurance recoveries
Net (gain)/loss on sale/impairment of assets
Edith River derailment costs
Business development and financing costs
Short line tax credit for 2011
Gain on sale of investment

As adjusted

Year Ended December 31, 2012

As reported

Add back certain items, net of tax:
RailAmerica integration/acquisition costs
Business development and financing costs
Acquisition costs incurred by RailAmerica
Gain on insurance recoveries
Net gain on sale of assets
Contract termination expense in Australia

Contingent forward sale contract mark-to-market expense

As adjusted

Year Ended December 31, 2013

As reported

Add back certain items, net of tax:
RailAmerica integration/acquisition costs
Rusiness development and financing costs
Net gain on sale of assets
Retroactive short line tax credit for 2012
FTC valuation allowance

As adjusted
Impact of 2013 short line tax credit

As adjusted (excluding the short line tax credit)
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Diluted Earnings/(Loss)

Per Common

$ 216.1

Net Income Diluted shares Share Impact
$ 81.3 41.9 $ 1.94
4.3) (0.10)
(5.1) (0.12)
19.2 0.46
(1.5) (0.04)
1.1 0.03
(2.8) (0.07)
(10.2) (0.24)
$ 174 41.9 1.86
Diluted Earnings/(Loss)
Per Common
Net Income Diluted shares Share Impact
$ 119.5 42.8 2.79
(1.9) (0.04)
0.7) (0.02)
3.9 (0.09)
13 0.03
2.3 0.05
(10.2) (0.24)
(0.8) (0.02)
$ 105.6 42.8 2.47
Diluted Earnings/(Loss)
Per Common
Net Income Diluted shares Share Impact
$ 52.4 51.3 1.02
21.0 0.41
11.0 0.21
3.5 0.07
(0.5) (0.01)
(8.6) ©.17)
0.8 0.02
50.1 0.98
$ 129.7 513 2.53
Diluted Earnings/(Loss)
Per Common
Net Income Diluted shares Share Impact
$ 2721 56.7 4.79
10.7 0.19
14 0.03
3.2) (0.06)
(41.0) (0.72)
2.0 0.03
242.0 56.7 4.26
(25.9) (0.46)
56.7 3.80



Free Gash Flow Description and Discussion

Management views Free Cash Flow as an important financial measure of how well G&W is managing its
assets. Subject to the limitations discussed below, Free Cash Flow is a useful indicator of cash flow that may
be available for discretionary use by G&W. Free Cash Flow is defined as Net Cash Provided by Operating
Activities less Net Cash Used in Investing Activities, excluding net cash used for acquisitions/divestitures.
Key limitations of the Free Cash Flow measure include the assumptions that G&W will be able to refinance
its existing debt when it matures and meet other cash flow obligations from financing activities, such as
principal payments on debt. Free Cash Flow is not intended to represent, and should not be considered more
meaningful than, or as an alternative to, measures of cash flow determined in accordance with GAAP. Free
Cash Flow may be different from similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies.

In accordance with Regulation G, the following table sets forth a reconciliation of G&W’s Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities to G&W'’s Free Cash Flow ($ in millions):

2012 2013
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 170.7 h 413.5
Net cash used in investing activities (2,101.7) (208.7)
Net cash used for acquisitions/divestitures @) 1,964.2 12.9
Free cash flow 33.2 217.6
New business investments 101.9 342
Adjusted free cash flow $ 135.0 $ 251.8

@ The 2012 period included $1.9 billion in net cash paid for the acquisition of RailAmerica, Inc.
as well as $38.9 million in cash paid for incremental expenses related to the purchase, integration
and financing of the acquisition. The 2013 period included $12.9 million in cash paid for incremental
expenses related to the integration of RailAmerica, Inc.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Description and Discussion

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) and Adjusted EBITDA are widely
used non-GAAP financial measures of operating performance. They are presented as supplemental informa-
tion that management believes is useful to investors in assessing G&W’s financial results. EBITDA is calcu-
lated by adding back to Net Income provision for income taxes; other income, net; interest expense; interest
income and depreciation and amortization expense. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by adding back to Net
Income provision for income taxes; other income, net; interest expense; interest income; depreciation and
amortization expense; non-cash compensation expense related to equity awards; RailAmerica integration and
acquisition-related costs; business development and financing costs and net gain on sale of assets. EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as substitutes either for Net Income, as an indicator of
G&W'’s operating performance, or for cash flow, as a measure of G&W'’s liquidity. EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA may be different from similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies.

In accordance with Regulation G, the following table sets forth a reconciliation of G&W’s Net Income
calculated using amounts determined in accordance with GAAP to EBITDA and to Adjusted EBITDA
each as described above for the year ended December 31, 2013 ($ in millions):

2013

Net income - as reported $ 272.1
Add back:

Provision for income taxes 46.3

Other income, net 2.1

Interest expense 67.9

Interest income (4.0)

Depreciation and amortization expense 141.6
EBITDA 521.8
Add back certain items:

Non-cash compensation expense related to equity awards 17.0

RailAmerica integration/acquisition costs 17.0

Business development and financing costs 1.6
Net gain on sale of assets (4.7)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 552.7
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Combined Company Operating Revenues Description and Discussion

Management views Operating Revenues as an important financial measure of G&W’s operating perform-
ance. Because management believes this information is useful for investors in assessing G&W’s financial
results, compared with the same period in the prior year, the 2012 Combined Company Operating Revenues
are presented excluding non-freight revenues earned during the year ended December 31, 2012 by a sub-
sidiary of RailAmerica for work performed for various subsidiaries of G&W and including reclassifications
of certain revenues of RailAmerica to align with G&W?’s accounting policies. Likewise, the 2013 Combined
Company Same Railroad Operating Revenues are presented excluding operating revenues through the
one-year anniversary of operations from Marquette Rail, LLC, which RailAmerica acquired on May 1, 2012,
and Columbus & Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc. (CCH), which G&W commenced operations on July 1, 2012.
Certain revenues of RailAmerica have been reclassified to align with G&W'’s accounting policies. The
Combined Company Operating Revenues and the Combined Company Same Railroad Operating Revenues
excluding these effects are not intended to represent, and should not be considered more meaningful than,
or as an alternative to, Operating Revenues calculated using amounts in accordance with GAAP. Combined
Company Operating Revenues and Combined Company Same Railroad Adjusted Operating Revenues may
be different from similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies.

In accordance with Regulation G, the following tables set forth a reconciliation of Operating Revenues
to the Combined Company Adjusted Operating Revenues as described above for the year ended December
31, 2012 and Operating Revenues to the Combined Company Same Railroad Adjusted Operating Revenues
for freight revenues and certain commodity groups within freight revenues as described above for the year
ended December 31, 2013 ($ in millions):

RailAmerica As Eliminations/ Combined
Year Ended December 31, 2012 G&W As Reported Reported Adjustments (®) Company
Freight revenues $ 624.8 $ 447.6 $ 8.7) $ 1,063.6
Non-freight revenues 250.1 158.5 (10.8) 397.7
Operating revenues $ 874.9 $ 606.0 $ (19.5) 3 1,461.4

@ Includes the elimination of non-freight revenues earned during the year ended December 31, 2012 by a subsidiary
of RailAmerica for work performed for various subsidiaries of G&W and reclassifications of certain revenues of

RailAmerica
Combined
G&W New RailAmerica New Company Same
Year Ended December 31, 2013 G&W As Reported Operations (@ Operations @) Railroad
Freight revenues $ 1,177.4 $ (3.5) $ (2.6) $ 1,171.3
Coal and coke revenues $ 110.8 $ - - 110.8
Petroleum products revenues ~ $ 65.2 $ 0.2) $ (0.1) $ 65.0
RailAmerica Combined
Year Ended December 31, 2012 G&W As Reported As Reported Adjustments Company
Freight revenues $ 624.8 $ 447.6 $ R.7) $ 1,063.6
Coal and coke revenues $ 70.1 $ 31.8 $ 0.1 $ 102.0
Petroleum products revenues  $ 253 $ 25.1 $ 3.0 $ 53.4

©® G&W New Operations: Columbus & Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc. (CCH); Rail America New Operations:
Marquette Rail, LLC (MQT)

® Includes the reclassifications of certain revenues of RailAmerica to align with G&W’s accounting policies

22 Genesee & Wyoming Inc.



Combined Company Average Revenues per Garload Description and Discussion

Management views Average Revenues per Carload as an important financial measure of G&W’s operating
performance. Because management believes this information is useful for investors in assessing G&W’s
financial results, compared with the same period in the prior year, the Average Revenues per Carload for the
year ended December 31, 2012 used to calculate Combined Company Average Revenues per Carload are
presented including adjustment of carloads and reclassifications of certain revenues of RailAmerica to align
with G&W'’s accounting policies. The Combined Company Average Revenues per Carload presented includ-
ing these effects are not intended to represent, and should not be considered more meaningful than, or as an
alternative to, Average Revenues per Carload calculated using amounts in accordance with GAAP. Combined
Company Average Revenues per Carload amounts may be different from similarly titled non-GAAP financial
measures used by other companies.

In accordance with Regulation G, the following table sets forth a reconciliation of Average Revenues
per Carload calculated using amounts determined in accordance with GAAP to Combined Company Average
Revenues per Catload as described above for the year ended December 31, 2012 ($ in millions, except average
freight revenues per carload):

RailAmerica Combined
Year Ended December 31, 2012 G&W As Reported As Reported Adjustments (a) Company
Freight revenues $ 624.8 $ 447.6 $ (8.7) $ 1,063.6
Carloads 927,094 864,136 (22,519) 1,768,711
Average revenues per carload  $ 674 $ 518 $ 601

@ Includes adjustments of carloads and reclassifications of certain revenues of RailAmerica to align with G&W’s
accounting policies
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Unless the context otherwise requires, when used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (Annual Report), the
terms “Genesee & Wyoming,” “G&W,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” and “‘us” refer to Genesee & Wyoming Inc.
and its subsidiaries. All references to currency amounts included in this Annual Report, including the financial
statements, are in United States dollars unless specifically noted otherwise.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The information contained in this Annual Report, including Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7, contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (Exchange Act), regarding future events and future performance of G&W. Words such as “anticipates,”
“intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “should,” “seeks,” “expects,” “estimates,” “trends,” “outlook,” variations of these
words and similar expressions are intended to identify these forward-looking statements. These statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to
forecast. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or forecast in these forward-looking statements.
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The areas in which there is risk and uncertainty are further described in “Part I Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this
Annual Report, which contain additional important factors that could cause actual results to differ from current
expectations and from the forward-looking statements contained herein. Readers of this document are cautioned that
our forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and our actual results or developments
may differ materially from the expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements.

In light of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions associated with forward-looking statements, you should not
place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Additional risks that we may currently deem immaterial or
that are not presently known to us could also cause the forward-looking events discussed or incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report not to occur.

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements
to encourage companies to provide prospective information about their companies without fear of litigation. We are
taking advantage of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act in connection with
the forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report.

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report or as of the date they are
made, and except as otherwise required by applicable securities laws, we undertake no obligation to publicly update
or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed
circumstances or any other reason after the date of this Annual Report.

Information set forth in “Part I Item 1. Business™ and in “Part II Item 7. Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” should be read in conjunction with the risk factors set
forth in Item 1A. in this Annual Report.



PART I

ITEM 1. Business.

OVERVIEW

We own and operate short line and regional freight railroads and provide railcar switching and other rail-
related services in the United States, Australia, Canada, the Netherlands and Belgium. In addition, we operate a
longer-haul railroad that runs approximately 1,400 miles between Tarcoola in South Australia and Darwin in the
Northern Territory of Australia. As of December 31, 2013, we operated in 39 states in the United States, four
Australian states, one Australian territory and four Canadian provinces and provided rail service at 35 ports in North
America, Australia and Europe. As of December 31, 2013, we operated over approximately 14,700 miles of owned,
jointly owned or leased track (inclusive of the Tarcoola to Darwin rail line operated under a concession agreement)
and approximately 3,300 additional miles under other contractual track access arrangements.

GROWTH STRATEGY

Since our initial public offering in 1996 through December 31, 2013, our revenues increased at a compound
annual growth rate of 19.3%, from $77.8 million in 1996 to $1.6 billion in 2013. Over the same period, our diluted
earnings per common share (EPS) increased at a compound annual growth rate of 17.9%, from $0.29 (adjusted for
stock splits) in 1996 to $4.79 in 2013. We have achieved these results primarily through the disciplined execution of
our growth strategy, which has two main drivers: (1) our operating strategy and (2) our acquisition and investment
strategy.

Operating Strategy

Our railroads operate under strong local management teams, with centralized administrative, commercial and
operational support and oversight. As of December 31, 2013, our operations were organized as 11 regions. In the
United States, we have eight regions: Rail Link (which includes industrial switching and port operations), Pacific,
Mountain West, Central, Southern, Midwest, Ohio Valley and Northeast. Outside the United States, we have three
regions: Australia, Canada (which includes a contiguous railroad located in the United States) and Europe (which
consists of operations in the Netherlands and Belgium).

In each of our regions, we seek to encourage the entrepreneurial drive, local knowledge, customer service and
safety culture that we view as critical to achieving our financial goals. Our regional managers continually focus on
increasing our return on invested capital, earnings and cash flow through the disciplined execution of our operating
strategy. At the regional level, our operating strategy consists of the following four principal elements:

= Continuous Safety Improvement. We believe that a safe work environment is essential for our employees,
our customers and the communities in which we conduct business. Each year, we establish stringent safety
targets as part of our safety program. In 2013, G&W achieved a consolidated Federal Railroad Association
(FRA) reportable injury frequency rate of 0.80 per 200,000 man-hours worked. Through the
implementation of our safety program, we have reduced our injury frequency rate by 59% since 2006,
when it was 1.95 injuries per 200,000 man-hours worked. For comparative purposes, from January 2013
through November 2013, the most recent month for which FRA data is publicly available, the United States
short line average reportable injury frequency rate was 2.9 injuries per 200,000 man-hours worked, and the
United States regional railroad averace was 2.9 injuri“ ner 200.000 man-hours worked. Based on these
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results. in 2013. G&W was more than three times safer than the short line and regional railroad averages,
and also safer than any United States Class I railroad.

*  Qutstanding Customer Service. We are committed to providing exceptional service to our customers and
each of our local railroads are intently focused on exceeding customer expectations. This customer
commitment results not only in traffic growth, but also customer loyalty and new business development
opportunities. Periodically, we engage a leading independent customer-satisfaction research firm to conduct
a comprehensive customer satisfaction survey. The survey results are used to measure our performance and
develop continuous improvement programs.



*  Focused Regional Marketing. We generally build and operate each of our regions on a base of large
customers and seek to grow rail traffic through intensive marketing efforts to new and existing customers.
As aresult of the acquisition of RailAmerica, Inc. (RailAmerica) in 2012, we believe that our expanded
North American footprint provides us with greater visibility to new commercial and industrial development
opportunities in North America that should help increase the success of our marketing efforts. We also
pursue additional sources of revenue by providing ancillary rail services such as railcar switching, repair,
storage, cleaning, weighing and blocking and bulk transfer, which enable shippers and Class I carriers to
move freight more easily and cost-effectively. Separately, in Australia and Europe, where there are open
access regimes, we are able to compete for new business opportunities with customers at most locations on
the open access rail networks.

*  Low Cost Structure. We focus on running cost effective railroad operations and historically have been able
to operate acquired rail lines more efficiently than they were operated prior to our acquisition. We typically
achieve efficiencies by lowering administrative overhead, consolidating equipment and track maintenance
contracts, reducing transportation costs and selling surplus assets.

»  Efficient Use of Capital. We invest in track and rolling stock to ensure that we operate safe railroads that
meet the needs of customers. At the same time, we seek to improve our return on invested capital by
focusing on cost effective capital programs. For example, in our short haul and regional operations in North
America, we typically rebuild older locomotives rather than purchase new ones and invest in track at levels
appropriate for our traffic type and density. In addition, because of the importance of certain of our
customers and railroads to their regional economies, we are able, in some instances, to obtain state,
provincial and/or federal grants to upgrade track. Typically, we seek government funds to support
investments that otherwise would not be economically viable for us to fund on a stand-alone basis.

To assist our local management teams, we provide administrative, commercial and operational support from
corporate staff groups where there are benefits to be gained from centralized expertise. Our commercial group
assists local management by providing assistance with regional pricing, origin and destination offerings across the
Company, managing real estate revenue (including from land leases and crossing and access rights), industrial
development project expertise, 24/7 customer service and Class I relationship management. Our operations
department assists with implementing our safety culture and training programs, leveraging our scale purchasing rail
and rail-related equipment, ensuring efficient equipment utilization and service design, and providing mechanical,
locomotive and bridge engineering expertise. In addition, we maintain other traditional, centralized functions, such
as accounting, finance, legal, corporate development, government and industry affairs, human resources and
information technology.

Acquisition and Investment Strategy

Our acquisition and investment strategy includes the acquisition or long-term lease of existing railroads, as
well as investment in rail equipment and/or track infrastructure to serve new and existing customers. Since 2000, we
have acquired 92 railroads and made several significant rail equipment and track investments to serve customers
that are developing natural resource projects, such as iron ore mines. Historically, our acquisition, investment and
long-term lease opportunities have been from the following five sources:

e Acquisitions of other regional railroads or short line railroads in the United States and Canada, such as our
acquisitions of RailAmerica in 2012, Arizona Eastern Railway Company (AZER) in 2011, CAGY
Industries, Inc. in 2008, the Ohio Central Railroad System in 2008 and Rail Management Corporation in
2005. Based on Association of American Railroads (AAR) data, as of December 31, 2012, there were
approximately 470 short line and regional railroads in the United States not owned by us;

« Investments in track and/or rolling stock to support new industrial or mineral development in new or
existing areas of operations, such as our expansion of two existing rail haulage contracts to transport export
iron ore in South Australia;

*  Acquisitions of international railroads, such as our acquisitions of FreightLink Pty Ltd (FreightLink) in
Australia in 2010 and Rotterdam Rail Feeding (RRF) in the Netherlands in 2008. We believe that there are
additional acquisition and investment opportunities in Australia, Europe and other international markets;



*  Acquisitions or long-term leases of branch lines of Class I railroads, such as our proposed acquisition of
the assets comprising the western end of the Dakota Minnesota & Eastern Railroad Corporation (DM&E)
from Canadian Pacific (CP), which includes 670 miles of CP's current operations between Tracy,
Minnesota and Rapid City, South Dakota; north of Rapid City to Colony, Wyoming; south of Rapid City to
Dakota Junction, Nebraska; and connecting branch lines as well as trackage from Dakota Junction to
Crawford, Nebraska, currently leased to the Nebraska Northwestern Railroad (NNW), which acquisition
was announced in January 2014. The asset acquisition is expected to close by mid-2014, subject to
approval of the United States Surface Transportation Board (STB) and the satisfaction of other customary
closing conditions; and our lease from Norfolk Southern Railway Company (NS) of the Columbus &
Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc., a 26-mile segment of NS track that runs from Girard, Alabama to Mahrt,
Alabama in 2012; and

*  Acquisitions of rail lines of industrial companies, such as our acquisition of railroads owned by Georgia-
Pacific Corporation in 2003.

When we make acquisitions, we seek to increase revenues and reduce costs wherever possible and to
implement best practices to increase the value of our investment, which is frequently accomplished through the
elimination of duplicative overhead costs, implementation of our safety culture, improvements to operating plans,
more efficient equipment utilization and enhanced customer service and marketing initiatives. For instance, with the
acquisition of RailAmerica we eliminated duplicative corporate overhead costs and general administrative expenses
during 2013.

We also believe that our footprint of railroads in North America will provide future opportunities to make
contiguous short line acquisitions due to a higher number of touchpoints with other railroads. On a global basis, we
believe that our scale and financial resources improve our ability to invest in rail opportunities worldwide. We have
played a significant role in the consolidation of the short line industry in North America and have made a number of
important railroad investments in international markets, and we expect to continue to pursue our acquisition and
investment strategy while adhering to our disciplined valuation approach.

INDUSTRY
North America
United States

According to the AAR, there are 574 freight railroads in the United States operating over 138,700 miles of
track. As described in the table below, the STB classifies railroads operating in the United States into one of three
categories based on the amount of an individual railroad's operating revenues (adjusted for inflation).

The following table shows the breakdown of freight railroads in the United States by classification:

Aggl:egate
Classification of Railroads Number Ox:!::ed Revenues and Miles Operated
Class I (1) 7 95,264 $452.7 million or more
Regional or Class II 21 10,592 At least $20 million and 350 or more miles operated or
$36.2 to $452.7 million
Locai or Ciass IIi 546 32,858 Less than $36.2 million and less than 350 miles operated
Total 574 138,714

(1) CSX Corp, BNSF Railway Co., Norfolk Southern Corp., Kansas City Southem Railway Co., Union Pacific Railroad Co.,
Canadian National Railway Co. and Canadian Pacific Railway Limited.

Source: AAR 2013 Railroad Facts Book



Class I railroads operate across many different states and concentrate largely, though not exclusively, on long
haul, high density, intercity traffic lanes. The primary function of the Regional and Local railroads is to provide
local service to rail customers and communities not located on the Class I networks. Regional railroads typically
operate 400 to 650 miles of track and provide service to selected areas of the country, mainly connecting
neighboring states and/or economic centers. Typically, short line (or local) railroads serve as branch lines connecting
customers with Class I railroads. Short line railroads have more predictable and straightforward operations as they
generally perform point-to-point, light density service over shorter distances, versus the complex networks
associated with the large Class I railroads.

Regional and short line railroad traffic is largely driven by carloads that are interchanged with other carriers.
For example, a Class [ railroad may transport freight hundreds or thousands of miles from its origination point and
then pass the railcar to a short line railroad, which provides the final step of service directly to the terminating
customer.

The railroad industry in the United States has undergone significant change since the passage of the Staggers
Rail Act of 1980 (Staggers Act), which effectively deregulated certain pricing and types of services provided by
railroads. Following the passage of the Staggers Act, Class I railroads in the United States took steps to improve
profitability and recapture market share lost to other modes of transportation, primarily trucks. In furtherance of that
goal, Class I railroads focused their management and capital resources on their core long-haul systems, and some of
them sold branch lines to short line railroads, whose smaller scale and more cost-efficient operations allowed them
to commit the resources necessary to meet the needs of customers located on those lines. Divestiture of branch lines
spurred the growth in the short line railroad industry and enabled Class I carriers to minimize incremental capital
expenditures, concentrate traffic density, improve operating efficiency and avoid traffic losses associated with rail
line abandonment.

We operate one regional and 100 local (short line) railroads in the United States over approximately 9,500
miles of track.

Canada

According to Rail Trends 2013, published by The Railway Association of Canada (RAC), there are 26,923
miles of track operated by railroads in Canada.

We operate seven local (short line) railroads in Canada over approximately 1,200 miles of track.

Australia

Australia has approximately 25,000 miles (approximately 40,000 kilometers) of both publicly and privately
owned track that link major capital cities and key regional centers together and also connect key mining regions to
ports. The Australian rail network comprises three track gauges: broad, standard and narrow gauge. There are three
major interstate rail segments in Australia: the east-west corridor (Sydney, New South Wales to Perth, Western
Australia); the east coast corridor (Brisbane, Queensland to Melbourne, Victoria); and the north-south corridor
(Darwin, Northern Territory to Adelaide, South Australia). In addition, there are a number of intrastate rail freight
networks servicing major agricultural and mining regions in Queensland, New South Wales, Western Australia and
South Australia.

Through our Australian subsidiaries, we manage approximately 2,900 miles (approximately 4,700 kilometers)
of track in South Australia and the Northern Territory, which includes approximately 1,400 miles (approximately
2,200 kilometers) of track between Darwin and Tarcoola that we manage pursuant to a concession agreement that
expires in 2054, unless canceled due to our failure to meet our commitments under the concession agreement.



The Australian rail freight industry is largely open access, which means that network owners and managers
must provide access to the rail network to all accredited rail service providers, subject to the rules and negotiation
framework of each applicable access regime. We are an accredited rail service provider in all mainland Australian
states and in the Northern Territory. The rules generally include pricing principles and standards of use, and are
established by the applicable state or Commonwealth government. The Australia rail industry is structured around
two components: train operations for freight haulage services (above rail) and rail track access operation and
management (below rail). This contrasts with the North American freight rail industry where railroad operators
almost always have exclusive use of the track they own or lease. Through our concession agreements, we have long-
term economic ownership of the primary tracks that we manage in South Australia and the Northern Territory, and
we receive below rail access fees when other rail operators use the track we manage. Our economic ownership of
the tracks we manage, combined with our above rail operations, makes our Australian operations more similar to a
typical North American railroad.

Because Australian rail customers have access to multiple rail carriers under “open access” regimes, all rail
carriers face possible competition on their above-rail business from other rail carriers, as well as from competing
modes of transportation, such as trucks for above rail business. The open access nature of the Australian rail freight
industry enables rail operators to develop new business and customer relationships in areas outside of their current
operations, and there are limited barriers to entry that preclude any rail operator from approaching a customer to
seek new business. However, shipments of bulk commodities in Australia are generally handled under long-term
agreements with dedicated equipment that may include take-or-pay provisions and/or exclusivity arrangements,
which make capturing new business from an existing rail operator difficult.

Netherlands

According to ProRail, the entity responsible for a substantial majority of the Dutch rail infrastructure, there
are approximately 4,350 miles of track under its control on the Dutch rail network. As a result of the country's open
access regime, this track may be accessed by any admitted and licensed rail operator. According to the trade
association, Rail Cargo Information Netherlands, there are currently 16 rail operators that provide freight rail
services in the Netherlands.

Belgium

According to Infrabel, the Belgian railways infrastructure manager, there are approximately 2,225 miles of
track under its control on the Belgian rail network and 12 rail operators certified for freight transport in Belgium. As
a result of the country's open access regime, this track may be accessed by any operator admitted and licensed to
provide freight transport in the country.

OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2013, through our subsidiaries, we owned or leased 111 freight railroads. Of these, 109
are short line railroads and one is a regional freight railroad with a total of approximately 13,300 miles of track in
the United States, Australia, Canada, the Netherlands and Belgium. We also operated one longer-haul, 1,400-mile
railroad that links the Port of Darwin to the Australian interstate rail network in South Australia, pursuant to a
concession agreement. Also, through various track access arrangements, we operate over approximately 3,300
additional miles of track that is owned or leased by others.

Freight Revenues

We generate freight revenues from the haulage of freight by rail. Freight revenues represented 75.0%, 71.4%
and 70.3% of our total revenues in the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Non-Freight Revenues

We generate non-freight revenues primarily from the following activities:

» Railcar switching - revenues generated from industrial switching (the movement of railcars within
industrial plants and their related facilities), port terminal switching (the movement of customer railcars
from one track to another track on the same railroad, primarily at United States ports) and contract coal
loading;

»  Car hire and rental services - charges paid by other railroads for the use of our railcars;
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*  Demurrage and storage - charges to customers for holding or storing their railcars;

»  Car repair services - charges for repairing railcars owned by others, either under contract or in accordance
with AAR rules;

»  Other operating income - primarily revenues from providing crewing services and track access and
management fees, real estate holdings, and from providing access to passenger operations, such as from
Amtrak's use of the New England Central Railroad;

*  Railroad construction - revenues earned by Atlas Railroad Construction, LL.C (Atlas) for railroad
engineering, construction, maintenance and repair, primarily in the midwestern, northeastern and
southeastern United States, for short line and regional railroads and industrial customers; and

*  Fuel sales to third-parties - revenues earned by Genesee & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd (GWA) in South
Australia from the sale of diesel fuel to other rail operators; GWA sold its third-party fuel operation in
Cook, South Australia in the third quarter of 2012.

Non-freight revenues represented 25.0%, 28.6% and 29.7% of our total operating revenues in the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Railcar switching represented 41.3%, 54.0% and 52.1% of our
total non-freight revenues in the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Customers

As of December 31, 2013, our operations served more than 2,000 customers. Revenues from our 10 largest
customers accounted for approximately 24%, 31% and 29% of our operating revenues in the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Three of our 10 largest customers in 2013 were located in
Australia.

In North America, we typically handle freight pursuant to transportation contracts between us, our connecting
carriers and the customer. These contracts are in accordance with industry norms and vary in duration, with terms
generally ranging from less than one year to 10 years. These contracts establish a price or, in the case of longer term
contracts, a methodology for determining a price, but do not typically obligate the customer to move any particular
volume. Freight rates and volumes are not directly linked to the prices of the commodities being shipped. In
Australia, we generally handle freight pursuant to transportation contracts directly with our customers. These
contracts generally contain a combination of fixed and variable pricing, with the fixed portion linked to our invested
capital and the variable portion based on the volumes shipped.

Commodities

Our railroads transport a wide variety of commodities. For a comparison of freight revenues, carloads and
average freight revenues per carload by commodity group for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
see the discussion under “Part II Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations.”

Commodity Group Descriptions

The intermodal commodity group consists of various commodities shipped in trailers or containers on flat
cars.

The coal and coke commodity group consists primarily of shipments of coal to power plants and industrial
customers.

The agricultural products commodity group consists primarily of wheat, barley, corn and other grains as well
as soybean meal.

The pulp and paper commodity group consists primarily of outbound shipments of container board and
finished papers and inbound shipments of wood pulp.

The metallic ores commodity group consists primarily of manganese ore, iron ore, copper concentrate and ore,
alumina and nickel ore.

The metals commodity group consists primarily of finished steel products such as coils, pipe, slabs and ingots
as well as scrap metal and pig iron.



The minerals and stone commodity group consists primarily of cement, gypsum, salt used in highway ice
control, sand used in fracking oil and gas wells, roofing granules, clay and limestone.

The chemicals and plastics commodity group consists primarily of sulfuric acid and other chemicals used in
manufacturing, particularly in the paper industry.

The lumber and forest products commodity group consists primarily of export logs, finished lumber, wood
pellets and wood chips used in paper manufacturing.

The petroleum products commodity group consists primarily of liquefied petroleum gas, crude oil, asphalt and
diesel fuel.

The food or kindred products commodity group consists primarily of canned fruits and vegetables.

The waste commodity group consists primarily of municipal solid waste and construction and demolition
debris.

The autos and auto parts commodity group consists primarily of finished automobiles and stamped auto parts.

The other commodity group consists of all freight not included in the commodity groups set forth above.

Segment and Geographic Information

For financial information with respect to each of our segment and geographic areas, see Note 18, Segment and
Geographical Area Information, to our Consolidated Financial Statements set forth in “Part IV Item 15. Exhibits,
Financial Statement Schedules” of this Annual Report.

Traffic

Rail traffic shipped on our rail lines can be categorized either as interline or local traffic. Interline traffic
passes over the lines of two or more rail carriers. It can originate or terminate with customers located along a rail
line, or it can pass over the line from one connecting rail carrier to another without the traffic originating or
terminating on the rail line (referred to as overhead traffic). Local traffic both originates and terminates on the same
rail line and does not involve other carriers. Unlike overhead traffic, originating, terminating and local traffic in
North America provides us with a more stable source of revenues because this traffic represents shipments to and/or
from customers located along our rail lines and is less susceptible to competition from other rail routes or other
modes of transportation. In 2013, revenues generated from originating, terminating and/or local traffic in North
America constituted approximately 94% of our North American freight revenues. In Australia, the distinction
between interline or local traffic is less relevant, as the open access regime in Australia permits all participants in the
above rail industry to compete for new and existing traffic and for new business development opportunities.

Seasonality of Operations

Some of the commodities we carry have peak shipping seasons, either as a result of the nature of the
commodity or its demand cycle. For instance, certain agricultural and food products, such as winter wheat in
Canada, ship only during certain months each year.

Seasonality is also reflected in our results of operations as a result of weather patterns. See Note 19, Quarterly
Financial Data (unaudited), to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annuai Report.
Typically, we experience relatively lower revenues in North America in the first and fourth quarters of each year as
the winter season and colder weather in North America tend to reduce shipments of certain products such as
construction materials. In addition, due to adverse winter conditions, we may also experience reduced shipments as
a result of weather-related network disruptions and also tend to incur higher operating costs. We typically initiate
capital projects in North America in the second and third quarters when weather conditions are more favorable. In
addition, we experience relatively lower revenues in Australia in the first quarter of each year as a result of the wet

season (e.g., monsoonal rains in the Northern Territory).

10



Employees

As of December 31, 2013, our railroads and railcar switching locations had approximately 4,800 full time
employees. Of this total, approximately 1,800 employees were union members. Our railroads have 76 contracts with
unions. We are currently engaged in negotiations with respect to 18 of those agreements. We are also a party to
employee association agreements covering an additional 68 employees who are not represented by a national labor
organization. GWA has a collective enterprise bargaining agreement covering the majority of its employees. In the
Netherlands, RRF is not party to any collective bargaining agreements, but it is party to a collective bargaining
agreement in Belgium.

The Railway Labor Act (RLA) governs the labor relations of employers and employees engaged in the
railroad industry in the United States. The RLA establishes the right of railroad employees to organize and bargain
collectively along craft or class lines and imposes a duty upon carriers and their employees to exert every reasonable
effort to make and maintain collective bargaining agreements. The Canada Labour Code and the relevant provincial
labor laws govern the labor relations of employers and employees engaged in the railroad industry in Canada. The
Federal Fair Work Act governs the labor relations of employers and employees engaged in the railroad industry in
Australia. The RLA and foreign labor regulations contain detailed procedures that must be exhausted before a lawful
work stoppage may occur.

We believe we maintain positive working relationships with our employees.

SAFETY

Our safety program involves all employees and focuses on the prevention of accidents and injuries. Operating
personnel are trained and certified in train operations, the transportation of hazardous materials, safety and operating
rules and governmental rules and regulations. In order to continuously improve our safety results, we also focus on
additional safety metrics, such as human factor incidents, that are instrumental in reducing our FRA reportable
injuries. G&W's consolidated FRA reportable injury frequency rate, as defined by the FRA as reportable injuries per
200,000 man-hours worked, was 0.80 for the year ended December 31, 2013. On a pro forma basis, G&W's FRA
reportable injury frequency rate combined with RailAmerica was 1.13 for the year ended December 31, 2012. The
average injuries per 200,000 man-hours worked for all United States short line railroads in the rail industry was 2.9
in 2013 (through November) and 3.2 in 2012.

Our employees also strive to heighten awareness of rail safety in the communities where we operate through
participation in governmental and industry sponsored safety programs, like Operation Lifesaver, a non-profit
organization that provides public education programs to prevent collisions, injuries and fatalities on and around
railroad tracks and highway-rail grade crossings. During 2013, employees of our railroads made more than 200
Operation Lifesaver presentations focused on the dangers associated with highway-rail grade crossings and
trespassing on railroad property. We also participate in safety committees of the AAR and the American Short Line
and Regional Railroad Association.

INSURANCE

We maintain liability and property insurance coverage to mitigate the financial risk of providing rail and rail-
related services. On August 1, 2013, we renewed these annual insurance policies, which now cover all of our
operations under one insurance program. Incidents involving entities previously owned by RailAmerica that
occurred prior to this renewal would be considered under RailAmerica’s legacy liability and property insurance
policies.
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Our primary liability policies currently have self-insured retentions of up to $1.0 million per occurrence.
RailAmerica's prior primary liability policies’ self-insured retentions were as high as $4.0 million per occurrence.
The liability policies cover third-party claims and damages associated with sudden releases of hazardous materials,
including hazardous commodities transported by rail, and expenses related to evacuation as a result of a railroad
accident. Personal injuries associated with grade crossing accidents are also covered under our liability policies. Our
property damage policies have various self-insured retentions, which vary based on the type and location of the
incident, that are currently up to $1.0 million per occurrence except in Australia where our self-insurance retention
for property damage due to a cyclone or flood is A$2.5 million. RailAmerica's primary property damage policies
previously had self-insured retentions up to $1.5 million per occurrence. The property damage policies also provide
business interruption insurance arising from covered events. The self-insured retentions under our policies may
change with each annual insurance renewal depending on our loss history, the size and make-up of our company and
general insurance market conditions.

Employees of our United States railroads are covered by the Federal Employers’ Liability Act (FELA), a fault-
based system under which claims resulting from injuries and deaths of railroad employees are settled by negotiation
or litigation. FELA-related claims are covered under our liability policies. Employees of our industrial switching
and railroad construction businesses are covered under workers’ compensation policies.

Employees of our Canadian railroads are covered by the applicable provincial workers’ compensation policy.
Employees of our Australian operations are covered by the respective state-based workers’ compensation legislation
in Australia. Employees of our European operations are covered by the workers’ compensation legislation of the
Netherlands and Belgium, as applicable.

COMPETITION

The unique and difficult to replicate infrastructure associated with railroads is a key benefit of the industry as
compared to other modes of transportation, such as trucking (which uses public highways, toll roads, etc.) and
shipping (which uses river systems and ports). However, railroads compete directly with other modes of
transportation, principally highway competition from trucks and, on some routes, ships, barges and pipelines.
Competition is based primarily upon the rate charged and the transit time required, as well as the quality and
reliability of the service provided.

In North America, a railroad typically is the only rail carrier directly serving a customer on its line, which is a
key differentiating factor versus trucking and shipping. Most freight is interchanged between railroads prior to
reaching its final destination. To the extent that highway competition is involved, the degree of that competition is
affected by government policies with respect to fuel and other taxes, highway tolls and permissible truck sizes and
weights.

In Australia, the Netherlands and Belgium, our customers have access to other rail carriers under open access
regimes so we face competition from other rail carriers in addition to competition from competing modes of
transportation.

To a lesser degree, we also face competition from similar products made in other areas where we are not
located, a kind of competition commonly known as “geographic competition.” For example, a paper producer may
choose to increase or decrease production at a specific plant served by one of our railroads depending on the relative
competition,” where commodities we transport are exposed to competition from substitutes (e.g., coal we transport
can compete with natural gas as a fuel source for electricity generation).

In acquiring rail properties and making rail equipment and/or track infrastructure investments in projects, we
generally compete with other railroad operators and with various financial institutions, including infrastructure and
private equity firms, operating in conjunction with rail operators. Competition for rail properties and investment
projects is based primarily upon price and the seller’s assessment of the buyer’s railroad operating expertise and
financing capability. We believe our established reputation as a successful acquirer and long-term operator of rail
properties, our managerial and financial resources, as well as our commitment to safety and the communities in
which we operate, positions us well in a competitive acquisition and investment environment.
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REGULATION

United States

In addition to environmental laws, securities laws, state and local laws and regulations generally applicable to
many businesses, our United States railroads are subject to regulation by:

« STB;

« FRA;

» federal agencies, including the United States Department of Transportation (DOT), Occupational Safety
and Health Administration (OSHA), Pipeline and Hazardous Material Safety Administration (PHMSA),

Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) and Transportation Security Administration (TSA), which
operates under the Department of Homeland Security (DHS);

= state departments of transportation; and
»  some state and local regulatory agencies.

The STB is the successor to certain regulatory functions previously administered by the Interstate Commerce
Commission (ICC). Established by the ICC Termination Act of 1995, the STB has jurisdiction over, among other
things, certain freight rates (where there is no effective competition), extension or abandonment of rail lines, the
acquisition of rail lines and the consolidation, merger or acquisition of control of rail common carriers. In limited
circumstances, the STB may condition its approval of an acquisition upon the acquirer of a railroad agreeing to
provide severance benefits to certain subsequently terminated employees. The FRA, DOT, OSHA and PHMSA have
jurisdiction over certain aspects of safety, which includes the regulation of equipment standards, track maintenance,
handling of hazardous shipments, locomotive and railcar inspection, repair requirements, operating practices and
crew qualifications. The TSA has broad authority over railroad operating practices that have implications for
homeland security. Additionally, various state and local agencies have jurisdiction over disposal of hazardous waste
and seek to regulate movement of hazardous materials in ways not preempted by federal law.

In 2013, the STB continued various proceedings on whether to expand rail regulation. The STB continues to
evaluate the impact of “access” regulation that would impact railroads' ability to limit the access of other rail service
providers to their rail infrastructure. During the past several legislative sessions, bills have been introduced in
Congress that would expand the regulatory authority of the STB and could include new antitrust provisions that alter
the regulatory structure of the railroad industry. Additionally, a two-year DOT study on the impacts of a possible
increase in federal truck size and weight limits, which commenced in 2012, could result in subsequent federal
legislation. The majority of the actions under consideration and pending are directed at Class I railroads; however,
we continue to monitor these proposed bills. The outcome of these initiatives could impact regulation of railroad
operations and prices for our rail services, which could undermine the economic viability of certain of our railroads,
as well as threaten the service we are able to provide to our customers.

In 2010, the FRA issued rules governing the installation of positive train control (PTC) by the end of 2015.
Although still under development, PTC is a collision avoidance technology intended to override locomotive controls
and stop a train before an accident. Certain of our railroads may be required to install PTC or PTC-related
equipment by the end of 2015. We do not expect that our compliance with the final rules governing the installation
of PTC will give rise to any material financial expenditures.

Canada

St. Lawrence & Atlantic Railroad (Quebec) and Ottawa Valley Railway are federally regulated railroads that
fall under the jurisdiction of the Canada Transportation Agency (CTA) and Transport Canada (TC) and are subject to
the Railway Safety Act. The CTA regulates construction and operation of federally regulated railways, financial
transactions of federally regulated railway companies, all aspects of rates, tariffs and services and the transferring
and discontinuing of the operation of railway lines. TC administers the Railway Safety Act, which ensures that
federally regulated railway companies abide by all regulations with respect to engineering standards governing the
construction or alteration of railway works and the operation and maintenance standards of railway works and
equipment.
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Quebec Gatineau Rajlway and Cape Breton & Central Nova Scotia Railway are subject to the jurisdiction of
the provincial governments of Quebec and Nova Scotia, respectively. In addition, Huron Central Railway, Goderich-
Exeter Railway and Southern Ontario Railway are subject to the jurisdiction of the provincial government of
Ontario. Provincially regulated railways operate only within one province and hold a Certificate of Fitness delivered
by a provincial authority. In the Province of Quebec, the Fitness Certificate is delivered by the Ministére des
Transports du Quebec, while in Ontario, under the Shortline Railways Act, 1995, a license must be obtained from
the Registrar of Shortline Railways. Construction, operation and discontinuance of operation are regulated, as are
railway services.

Acquisitions of additional railroad operations in Canada, whether federally or provincially regulated, may be
subject to review under the Investment Canada Act (ICA), a federal statute that applies to the acquisition of a
Canadian business or establishment of a new Canadian business by a non-Canadian. In the case of an acquisition
that is subject to review, a non-Canadian investor must observe a statutory waiting period prior to completion and
satisfy the minister responsible for the administration of the ICA that the investment will be of net benefit to
Canada, considering certain evaluative factors set out in the legislation.

Any contemplated acquisitions may also be subject to Canada’s Competition Act, which contains provisions
relating to pre-merger notification as well as substantive merger provisions.

Australia

In Australia, regulation of rail safety is generally governed by state legislation and administered by state
regulatory agencies. Our Australian assets are subject to the regulatory regimes governing safety in each of the
states and the one territory in which we operate. Regulation of track access is governed by federally legislated
guidelines that are implemented by the states. The state access regimes are required to be certified by the Australian
Competition and Consumer Commission. As a result, with respect to rail infrastructure access, our Australian
subsidiaries are subject to the state-based access regimes. In addition, certain new acquisitions in Australia will also
be subject to review by the Foreign Investment Review Board and the Australian Competition and Consumer
Commission.

Europe

In the European Union (EU), several directives have been issued concerning the transportation of goods by
rail. These directives generally cover the development of railways, allocation of railway infrastructure capacity and
the levying of charges for the use of railway infrastructure and the licensing of railway undertakings. The EU
legislation also sets a framework for a harmonized approach towards railway safety. Every railway company must
obtain a safety certification before it can run trains on the European network and EU Member States must set up
national railway safety authorities and independent accident investigation bodies. These directives have been
implemented in Dutch railway legislation such as the Railways Act and in Belgian railway legislation such as the
Law on Railway Safety.

In the Netherlands, we are subject to regulation by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Environment; the Living
Environment and Transport Inspectorate; the Dutch railways infrastructure manager, ProRail; and Keyrail (the
Dutch railways infrastructure manager for the Betuweroute, a dedicated freight railway connecting the Port of
Rotterdam to the German border and within the Port of Rotterdam). All railways in the Netherlands must have a
license and a safety certificate issued by the regulator, the Human Environment and Transport Inspectorate, part of
the Netherlands Ministry of Infrastructure and Environment. A rail operator must also have a license from ProRail
and/or Keyrail, the Dutch rail infrastructure authorities, to use the rail infrastructure. The Dutch Competition
Authority is charged with the supervision of compliance with the European Community's directives on the
development of the railways, the allocation of railway infrastructure capacity and the levying of charges for the use
of railway infrastructure.
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In Belgium, we are subject to regulation by the Federal Public Service (FPS) Mobility and Transport, the
Regulatory Service for Railway Transport and for Brussels Airport Operations, which is currently hosted by FPS
Mobility and Transport, and the Belgian railways infrastructure manager, Infrabel. Rail service providers based in
Belgium must obtain a rail operator license from the Federal Minister for Mobility and Transport. Rail service
providers that wish to operate in Belgium must obtain a safety certificate, which is comprised of Parts A and B. Part
A must be obtained from the Railway Safety and Interoperability Service (SSICF) if the rail service provider is
based in Belgium. Part B must be obtained from SSICF regardless of where the rail service provider is based. In
Belgium, the Belgium Competition Authority is responsible for promoting and safeguarding active competition in
Belgium.

Both the Dutch Competition Authority and the Belgium Competition Authority work together with other
competition authorities and are part of the European Competition Network, the European Competition Authorities
and the International Competition Network.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our operations are subject to various federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations relating to the
protection of the environment. In the United States, these environmental laws and regulations, which are
implemented principally by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and comparable state
agencies, govern the management of hazardous wastes, the discharge of pollutants into the air and into surface and
underground waters and the manufacture and disposal of certain substances. The primary laws affecting our
operations are the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, regulating the management and disposal of solid and
hazardous wastes, the Clean Air Act, regulating air emissions, and the Clean Water Act, regulating water discharges.
We are also indirectly affected by environmental laws that impact the operations of our customers. In Canada,
environmental laws and regulations are administered at the federal level by Environment Canada and by the
Ministry of Transport and comparable agencies at the provincial level. In Australia, these functions are administered
primarily by the Department of Transport at the federal level and by environmental protection agencies at the state
level. In the Netherlands, European, national and local laws regulating the protection of the environment are
administered by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Environment and authorities at the provincial and municipal
level, whereas laws regulating the transportation of hazardous goods are primarily administered by the Ministry of
Infrastructure and Environment. European, national and local environmental policies are administered by the FPS
Health, Food Chain Safety and Environment in Belgium.

The Commonwealth of Australia has acknowledged that certain portions of the leasehold and freehold land
that we acquired from them and used by our Australian operations contain contamination arising from activities
associated with previous operators. Consequently, the Commonwealth has carried out certain remediation work to
meet existing South Australia environmental standards. Noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations may
result in the imposition of fines, temporary or permanent shutdown of operations or other injunctive relief, criminal
prosecution or the termination of our concession in Australia.

We believe our railroads operate in compliance with current environmental laws and regulations and agency
agreements. We estimate any expenses incurred in maintaining compliance with current environmental laws and
regulations will not have a material effect on our earnings or capital expenditures. We cannot predict the effect, if
any, that unidentified environmental matters or the adoption of additional or more stringent environmental laws and
regulations would have on our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We were incorporated in Delaware on September 1, 1977. We completed our initial public offering in June
1996, and since September 27, 2002, our Class A common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) under the symbol GWR. Our principal executive offices and corporate headquarters are located at 20 West
Avenue, Darien, Connecticut 06820, and our telephone number is (203) 202-8900.
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Our Internet website address is www.gwrr.com. We make available free of charge, on or through our Internet
website, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after those materials are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Also, filings made pursuant to Section 16 of the
Exchange Act with the SEC by our executive officers, directors and other reporting persons with respect to our
common shares are made available, free of charge, through our Internet website. Our Internet website also contains
charters for each of the committees of our Board of Directors, our corporate governance guidelines and our Code of
Ethics and Conduct.

The information regarding our Internet website and its content is for your convenience only. From time to
time, we may use our website as a channel of distribution of material company information. Financial and other
material information regarding the Company is routinely posted on and accessible at www.gwrr.com/investors. In
addition, you may automatically receive email alerts and other information about us by enrolling your email address
in the “E-mail Alerts” section of www.gwrr.com/investors.

The information contained on or connected to our Internet website is not deemed to be incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report or filed with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors.

Our operations and financial condition are subject to certain risks that could cause actual operating and
financial results to differ materially from those expressed or forecast in our forward-looking statements, including
the risks described below and the risks that may be identified in future documents that are filed or furnished with the
SEC.

GENERAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS

Adverse global macroeconomic and business conditions could negatively impact our business.

Slower growth, an economic recession, or significant changes in commodity prices or regulation that affects
the countries where we operate or their imports and exports, could negatively impact our business. For instance, in
Australia, a portion of the commodities we transport are supporting economic growth and industrial development in
Asian countries, particularly China. A sustained slowdown in such countries could impact us. Slower growth in
China, and the resulting impact on demand for, and lower prices of, natural resources could be a factor influencing
decisions to delay and cancel certain mining projects in Australia. In addition, we anticipate benefiting from
development of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids from shale regions in the United States, but low natural gas
prices or additional regulations impacting the energy sector could reduce such development and the benefit we could
realize.

In addition, we are required to assess for potential impairment of non-current assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances, including economic circumstances, indicate that the respective asset's carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Given the asset intensive nature of our business, weakness in the general economy
increases the risk of significant asset impairment charges. A decline in current macroeconomic and financial
conditions or commodity demand from economic activity and industrialization could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Our results of operations and rail infrastructure are susceptible to severe weather conditions and other natural
occurrences.

We are susceptible to adverse weather conditions, including floods, fires, hurricanes (or cyclones), tornadoes,
droughts, earthquakes and other natural occurrences. For example, bad weather and natural disasters, such as
blizzards in the United States or Canada and hurricanes (or cyclones) in the United States or Australia, and resulting
floods, could cause a shutdown, derailment or other substantial disruption of operations, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. Even if a material adverse
weather or other condition does not directly affect our operations, it can impact the operations of our customers or
connecting carriers. For example:

¢ Our minerals and stone freight revenues may be reduced by mild winters in the northeastern United States,
which lessen demand for road salt.

*  Our coal and coke freight revenues may be reduced by mild winters in the United States, which lessen
demand for coal.

*  Our revenues generated by our Australian operations are susceptible to the impact of drought conditions on
the South Australian grain harvest and the impact of heavy rains and flooding in the Northern Territory.

Furthermore, our expenses could be adversely impacted by such weather conditions, including, for example,
higher track maintenance and overtime costs in the winter at our railroads in the United States and Canada related to
snow removal and mandated work breaks. Such weather conditions could also cause our customers or connecting
carriers to reduce or suspend their operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.
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If we are unable to consummate additional acquisitions or investments or manage our growth effectively, then we
may not be able to implement our growth strategy successfully.

Our growth strategy is based in part on the selective acquisition and development of, and investment in, rail
operations, both in new regions and in regions in which we currently operate. The success of this strategy will
depend on, among other things:

« the availability of suitable opportunities;

+ the level of competition from other companies;

*  our ability to value acquisition and investment opportunities accurately and negotiate acceptable terms for
those acquisitions and investments;

*  our ability to identify and enter into mutually beneficial relationships with partners; and

» the receipt of government approvals and financial constraints or other restrictions that may be specific to
the particular company or asset to be acquired.

We have experienced significant growth in the past, partially due to the acquisition of additional railroads.
Effective management of rapid growth presents challenges, including the availability of management resources to
oversee the integration and operation of the new businesses effectively, the need to expand our management team
and staff when necessary, the need to enhance internal operating systems and controls and the ability to consistently
achieve targeted returns on capital. These challenges are more pronounced when we experience growth in numerous
geographies and on a larger scale. We may not be able to maintain similar rates of growth in the future or manage
our growth effectively.

Our inability to integrate acquired businesses successfully or to realize the anticipated cost savings and other
benefits could have adverse consequences to our business.

We may not be able to integrate acquired businesses successfully. Integrating acquired businesses, including
our pending acquisition of the assets comprising the western end of the DM&E, could also result in significant
unexpected costs. Further, the process of integrating businesses may be disruptive to our existing business and may
cause an interruption or reduction of our business as a result of the following factors, among others:

¢ loss of key employees or customers;

»  possible inconsistencies in or conflicts between standards, controls, procedures and policies among the
combined companies and the need to implement company-wide financial, accounting, information
technology and other systems;

o failure to maintain the safety or quality of services that have historically been provided;

« inability to hire or recruit qualified employees;

» failure to effectively integrate employees of rail lines acquired from other entities into our regional railroad
culture;

* unanticipated environmental or other liabilities;

» fajlure to coordinate geographically dispersed organizations; and

» the diversion of management's attention from our day-to-day business as a result of the need to manage any
disruptions and difficulties and the need to add management resources to do so.

These disruptions and difficulties, if they occur, may cause us to fail to realize the cost savings, synergies,
revenue enhancements and other benefits that we expect to result from integrating acquired companies and may
cause material adverse short- and long-term effects on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
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Even if we are able to integrate the operations of acquired businesses into our operations, we may not realize
the full benefits of the cost savings, synergies, revenue enhancements or other benefits that we may have expected at
the time of acquisition. We may be unable to realize these savings or other benefits in the time frame that we expect
or at all. Expected savings and benefits are frequently based on due diligence results and on extensive analyses that
involve assumptions as to future events, including general business and industry conditions, the longevity of specific
customer plants and factories served, the ability to negotiate acceptable contractual arrangements, including
renewals of leases with Class I railroads, operating costs, competitive factors and the ongoing cost of maintaining
track infrastructure, many of which are beyond our control and difficult to predict. There is no guarantee that the due
diligence results will be accurate or that the Company will not discover unanticipated liabilities. Further, while we
believe these analyses and their underlying assumptions are reasonable, they are estimates that are necessarily
speculative in nature. In addition, even if we achieve the expected benefits, we may not be able to achieve them
within the anticipated time frame. Also, the cost savings and other benefits from these acquisitions may be offset by
unexpected costs incurred in integrating the companies, increases in other expenses or problems in the business
unrelated to these acquisitions. For example, if key employees of acquired companies depart because of issues
relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or a desire not to become our employees, our ability to realize
the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions could be reduced or delayed. Accordingly, you should not place undue
reliance on our anticipated synergies.

Many of our recent acquisitions have involved the purchase of stock of existing companies. These
acquisitions, as well as acquisitions of substantially all of the assets of a company, may expose us to liability for
actions taken by an acquired business and its management before our acquisition. The due diligence we conduct in
connection with an acquisition and any contractual guarantees or indemnities that we receive from the sellers of
acquired companies may not be sufficient to protect us from, or compensate us for, actual liabilities. Generally, the
representations made by the sellers, other than certain representations related to fundamental matters, such as
ownership of capital stock, expire within several years of the closing. A material liability associated with an
acquisition, especially where there is no right to indemnification, could adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition and liquidity.

We may need additional capital to fund our acquisitions and investments. If we are unable to obtain this capital
at a reasonable cost, then we may forego potential opportunities, which would impair the execution of our growth
strategy.

We intend to continue to review acquisition and investment opportunities and potential purchases of railroad
assets and to attempt to acquire companies and assets that meet our investment criteria. As in the past, we expect
that we will pay cash for some or all of the purchase price of acquisitions and purchases that we make. In addition,
from time to time we may make investments in equipment and assets to support our customers. Depending on the
number of acquisitions and investments and funding requirements, we may need to raise substantial additional
capital. To the extent we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, equity-linked or convertible debt
securities, the issuance of such securities could result in dilution to our existing stockholders. If we raise additional
funds through the issuance of debt securities, the terms of such debt could impose additional restrictions and costs
on our operations. Additional capital, if required, may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. If we are unable
to obtain additional capital, we may forego potential acquisitions, which could impair the execution of our growth
strategy.
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The loss of important customers or contracts may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition
and liquidity.

Our operations served more than 2,000 customers in 2013. Revenues from our 10 largest customers accounted
for approximately 24% of our operating revenues in 2013. Three of our 10 largest customers in 2013 were located in
Australia and accounted for approximately 10.1% of our operating revenues. In 2013, our largest customer was a
company in the metallic ores industry and represented approximately 5.9% of our operating revenues. In North
America, we typically handle freight pursuant to transportation contracts between us, our connecting carriers and the
customer. These contracts are in accordance with industry norms and vary in duration. These contracts establish
price or, in the case of longer term contracts, a methodology for determining the price, but do not typically obligate
the customer to move any particular volume. Under these contracts, freight rates and volumes are not directly linked
to changes in the prices of the commodities being shipped. A number of our customer contracts, predominately in
Australia, contain a combination of fixed and variable pricing, with the variable portion based on the volumes
shipped. Substantial reduction in business with, or loss of, important customers or contracts could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Because we depend on Class I railroads and other connecting carriers for a significant portion of our operations
in North America, our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity may be adversely affected if our
relationships with these carriers deteriorate.

The railroad industry in the United States and Canada is dominated by seven Class I carriers that have
substantial market control and negotiating leverage. In 2013, approximately 85% of our total carloads in the United
States and Canada were interchanged with Class I carriers. A decision by any of these Class I carriers to cease or re-
route certain freight movements could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and liquidity. The quantitative impact of such a decision would depend on which of our routes and freight
movements were affected. In addition, Class I carriers also have traditionally been significant sources of business
for us, as well as sources of potential acquisition candidates as they divest branch lines to smaller rail operators.

Our ability to provide rail service to customers in the United States and Canada depends in large part upon our
ability to maintain cooperative relationships with connecting carriers with respect to lease arrangements, freight
rates, revenue divisions, fuel surcharges, car supply, reciprocal switching, interchange and trackage rights.
Deterioration in the operations of, or service provided by, those connecting carriers or in our relationship with those
connecting carriers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and
liquidity.

We are dependent on lease agreements with Class I railroads and other third parties for our operations, strategy
and growth.

In North America, our rail operations are dependent, in part, on lease agreements with Class I railroads and
other third parties that allow us to operate over certain segments of track critical to our operations. We lease several
railroads from Class I carriers and other third parties under lease arrangements with varied expirations, which
railroads collectively accounted for approximately 9% of our 2013 total revenues. We also own several railroads that
lease portions of the track or right-of-way upon which they operate from Class I railroads and other third parties.
Our ability to provide comprehensive rail services to our customers on the leased lines depends in large part upon
our ability to maintain and extend these lease agreements. Leases from Class I railroads and other third parties that
are subject to expiration in each of the next 10 years represent less than 2% of our annual revenues in the year of
expiration based on our operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. For example, our revenues
associated with leases trom Class | railroads and other third parties subject to expiration in each of the next five
years would represent approximately 1.2%, 1.5%, 0.0%, 1.8% and 1.6% of our operating revenues in each of those
years, respectively, based on our operating revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013. Expiration or
termination of these leases or the failure of our railroads to comply with the terms of these leases could result in the
loss of operating rights with respect to those rail properties and could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.
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Certain of our capital projects may be impacted by our inability to obtain government funding.

Certain of our existing capital projects are, and certain of our future capital projects may be, partially or
completely funded through government grant programs. During 2013, we obtained government funding for 28 new
projects that were partially or completely funded by United States and Canadian federal, state, provincial and
municipal agencies. The spending associated with these grant-funded projects represented approximately 6% of our
total capital expenditures during 2013. Government funding for projects is limited, and there is no guarantee that
budget pressure at the federal, state, provincial and local level or changing governmental priorities will not eliminate
funding availability. In addition, competition for government funding from other short line railroads, Class I
railroads and other companies is significant, and the receipt of government funds is often contingent on the
acceptance of contractual obligations that may not be strictly profit maximizing. In certain jurisdictions, the
acceptance of government funds may impose additional legal obligations on our operations. If we are unable to
obtain adequate government funding, we may have to defer or forgo certain capital projects, incur additional debt or
use additional cash.

As a common carrier by rail, we are required to transport hazardous materials, regardless of cost or risk.

We transport certain hazardous materials and other materials, including crude oil and toxic/poisonous
inhalation hazard (TIH/PIH) materials, such as chlorine, that pose certain risks in the event of a release or
combustion. Additionally, United States laws impose common carrier obligations on railroads that require us to
transport certain hazardous materials regardless of risk or potential exposure to loss. A rail accident or other incident
or accident on our railroads, at our facilities, or at the facilities of our customers involving the release or combustion
of hazardous materials could create catastrophic losses in terms of personal injury, property damage and
environmental remediation costs and compromise critical parts of our railroads. In addition, insurance premiums
charged for some or all of the coverage currently maintained by us could increase dramatically or certain coverage
may not be available to us in the future if there is a catastrophic event related to rail transportation of these
commodities. Also, federal regulators have previously prescribed regulations governing railroads’ transportation of
hazardous materials and have the ability to put in place additional regulations. For instance, existing legislation
requires pre-notification for hazardous materials shipments. Such legislation and regulations could impose
significant additional costs on railroads. Additionally, regulations adopted by the DOT and the DHS could
significantly increase the costs associated with moving hazardous materials on our railroads. Further, certain local
governments have sought to enact ordinances banning hazardous materials moving by rail within their borders. Such
ordinances could require the re-routing of hazardous materials shipments, with the potential for significant
additional costs. Increases in costs associated with the transportation of hazardous materials could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
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The occurrence of losses or other liabilities that are either not covered by insurance or that exceed our insurance
limits could materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

We have insurance coverage for losses arising from personal injury and for property damage in the event of

derailments or other accidents or occurrences. Unexpected or catastrophic circumstances associated with

. derailments of valuable lading, accidents involving passenger trains or spillage of hazardous materials or other
incidents involving our operations could cause our losses to exceed our insurance coverage limits or sub-limits. In
addition, on certain of the rail lines over which we operate, freight trains are operated over the same track as
passenger trains. For instance, in Oregon, our Portland & Western Railroad operates certain passenger trains for the
Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District of Oregon and our New England Central Railroad is also used by
Amtrak for passenger service in New England. Further, we operate excursion trains on behalf of third parties on
certain of the rail lines over which we operate. Derailments, collisions or other incidents involving us and passenger
or excursion trains could give rise to losses that exceed our insurance coverage. Moreover, certain third-party freight
and excursion train operators have contractual trackage rights to operate over certain of our rail lines. These third-
party operators generally are required to maintain minimum levels of insurance coverage, but there can be no
assurance that such insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover all of the losses arising from an incident involving
such operators on our rail lines. Also, insurance is available from only a very limited number of insurers, and we
may not be able to obtain insurance protection at current levels or at all or obtain it on terms acceptable to us.
Deteriorating insurance market conditions caused by global property casualties, as well as subsequent adverse
events directly and indirectly attributable to us, including such things as derailments, accidents, discharge of toxic or
hazardous materials, or other like occurrences in the industry, may result in additional increases in our insurance
premiums and/or our self-insured retentions, volatility in our claims' expenses and limitations to the coverage under
our existing policies and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and
liquidity. In addition, we are subject to the risk that one or more of our insurers may become insolvent and would be
unable to pay a claim that may be made in the future. Even with insurance, if any catastrophic interruption of
service occurs, we may not be able to restore service without a significant interruption to our operations, which
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

We are subject to significant governmental regulation of our railroad operations. The failure to comply with
governmental regulations or changes to the legislative and regulatory environment could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

We are subject to governmental regulation with respect to our railroad operations and to a variety of health,
safety, security, labor, environmental and other matters by a significant number of federal, state and local regulatory
authorities. In the United States, these agencies include the STR, DOT, FRA of the DOT, MSHA, OSHA, PHMSA,
EPA, DHS and other federal and state agencies. New rules or regulations mandated by these agencies could increase
our operating costs. For example, in 2010, the FRA issued rules governing the implementation of an interoperable
positive train control system (PTC), which generally is to be completed by December 31, 2015. The FRA’s rule
contains certain exceptions to these PTC requirements as they apply to Class II or Class III railroads, including but
not limited to, excepting the PTC requirements to trains traveling less than 20 miles on PTC-required track, and
providing Class II and Class III railroads until 2020 to employ PTC-equipped locomotives. However, certain of our
railroads may be required to install PTC or PTC-related equipment. While we do not expect that our compliance
with PTC requirements will give rise to any material financial expenditures, non-compliance with these and other
applicable laws or regulations could undermine public confidence in us and subject us to fines, penalties and other
legal or regulatory sanctions.

In Australia, we are subject to both Commonwealth and staie regulations. in Canada, we are subject to
regulation by the CTA, TC and the regulatory departments of the provincial governments of Quebec, Ontario and
Nova Scotia. In the Netherlands, we are subject to regulation by the Ministry of Transport, Public Works and Water
Management, the Transport, Public Works and Watcr Management Inspectorate and the Dutch railways managers,
ProRail and Keyrail. In Belgium, we are subject to regulation by the Federal Public Service (FPS) Mobility and
Transport, the Regulatory Service for Railway Transport and for Brussels Airport Operations, which is currently
hosted by FPS Mobility and Transport, and the Belgian railways infrastructure manager, Infrabel. See “Part I Item 1.
Business — Regulation” for a discussion of these regulations. Our failure to comply with applicable laws and
regulations could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
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There are various legislative and regulatory actions that have been considered in the United States in recent
years to modify the regulatory oversight of the rail industry. In addition, various proceedings have been initiated by
the STB related to rail competition, interchange commitments and competitive “access.” A two-year DOT study on
the impacts of a possible increase in federal truck size and weight limits also commenced in 2012, and could result
in subsequent federal legislation. The majority of the actions under consideration and pending are directed at Class I
railroads; however, specific initiatives being considered by Congress and the STB could expand regulation of
railroad operations and prices for our rail services, which could undermine the economic viability of certain of our
railroads, as well as threaten the service we are able to provide to our customers. The cost of compliance with the
proposed rules and regulations could also be significant. In the other geographies in which we operate, federal, state,
provincial and local regulatory authorities could change the regulatory framework (including the access regimes) or
take actions without providing us with any recourse for the adverse effects that the changes or actions could have on
our business, including, without limitation, regulatory determinations or rules regarding dispute resolution and
business relationships with our customers and other railroads. Significant legislative or regulatory activity could
expand regulation of railroad operations and prices for rail services, which could reduce capital spending on our rail
network, facilities and equipment and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and liquidity.

Our Senior Secured Syndicated Facility Agreement (the Credit Agreement) contains numerous covenants that
impose certain restrictions on the way we operate our business.

Our Credit Agreement contains numerous covenants that impose restrictions on our ability to, among other

things:

e incur additional indebtedness;

*  pay dividends on capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire capital stock or indebtedness;

* make investments, loans, advances and acquisitions;

* engage in certain transactions with affiliates;

*  create liens;

» sell assets, including capital stock of any of our subsidiaries;

«  consolidate or merge;

« enter into sale leaseback transactions;

*  change the business conducted by us and the guarantors;

* change our fiscal year; and

*  enter into certain agreements containing negative pledges and upstream limitations.

Our Credit Agreement also contains financial covenants that require us to meet financial ratios and tests. Our
failure to comply with the obligations in our Credit Agreement and other debt agreements could result in an increase
in our interest expense and could give rise to events of default under the Credit Agreement or other debt agreements,
as applicable, which, if not cured or waived, could permit lenders to accelerate our indebtedness and foreclose on
the assets securing such debt, if any.

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our
obligations under such indebtedness.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2013, we had a total indebtedness of $1.6
billion, and we had unused commitments of $406.0 million under our Credit Agreement (after giving effect to $3.1
million of undrawn letters of credit that reduces such availability). We expect to use a portion of the availability
under our Credit Agreement to fund the pending acquisition of the assets comprising the western end of the DM&E.
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Subject to the limits contained in the Credit Agreement and our other debt instruments, we may be able to
incur additional debt from time to time to finance working capital, capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions,
or for other purposes. If we do so, the risks related to our high level of debt could intensify. Specifically, our high
level of debt could have important consequences, including the following:

+ making it more difficult to satisfy our obligations with respect to our outstanding debt;

»  limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or
other general corporate requirements;

*  requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other
purposes, thereby reducing the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

*  increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

= exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings, including borrowings under
the Credit Agreement, are at variable rates of interest;

»  limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which we compete;

* placing us at a disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors; and

* increasing our cost of borrowing.

In addition, the Credit Agreement contains restrictive covenants that will limit our ability to engage in
activities that may be in our long-term best interest. Our failure to comply with those covenants could result in an
event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all our debt and foreclosure on the
assets securing such debt, if any.

We are exposed to the credit risk of our customers and counterparties, and their failure to meet their financial
obligations could adversely affect our business.

Our business is subject to credit risk. There is a risk that customers or counterparties, which include
government entities related to grants and financial institutions related to derivative transactions, will fail to meet
their obligations when due. Customers and counterparties that owe us money have defaulted and may continue to
default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. For
interline traffic, one railroad typically invoices a customer on behalf of all railroads participating in the route. The
invoicing railroad then pays the other railroads their portion of the total amount invoiced on a monthly
basis. Therefore, when we are the invoicing railroad we are exposed to customer credit risk for the total amount
invoiced and we are required to pay the other railroads participating in the route even if we are not paid by the
customer. We have procedures for reviewing our receivables and credit exposures to specific customers and
counterparties; however, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee.
Certain of our risk management methods depend upon the evaluation of information regarding markets, customers
or other matters. This information may not, in all cases, be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated. In
addition, we may make substantial investments in equipment and assets to support our customers, in particular those
in the mining and natural resources industry, before the customer commences operations. In those cases, we may be
exposed to start-up risks that we would not be exposed to in respect of customers with active operations. As a result,
unexpected credit exposures or start-up delays could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition and liquidity.

We face competition from numerous sources, including those relating to geography, substitute products, other
types of transportation and other rail operators.

In North America, each of our raiiroads is typicaiiy the oniy rail carrier directly serving our customers. in
certain circumstances, including under the open access regimes in Australia, the Netherlands and Belgium, our
customers have direct access to other rail carriers. In addition, our railroads also compete directly with other modes
of transportation, principally trucks and, on some routes, ship, barge and pipeline operators. Transportation
providers such as trucks and barges utilize public rights-of-way that are built and maintained by governmental
entities, while we must build and maintain our own network infrastructure. Competition for our services could
increase if other rail operators build new rail lines to access certain of our customers or if legislation is passed that
provides materially greater latitude for trucks with respect to size or weight restrictions.
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We are also subject to geographic and product competition. A customer could shift production to a region
where we do not have operations. Also, commodities that are not transported by rail could be substituted for another
commodity that we transport by rail. For example, natural gas can compete with coal we transport as a fuel source
for electricity generation. In either case, we could lose a source of revenues.

The extent of competition varies significantly among our railroads. Competition is based primarily upon the
rate charged, the relative costs of substitutable products and the transit time required. In addition, competition is
based on the quality and reliability of the service provided. Because a significant portion of our carloads in the
United States and Canada involve interchange with another carrier, we have only limited control over the total price,
transit time or quality of such service. It is difficult to quantify the potential impact of competition on our business,
since not only each customer, but also each customer location and each product shipped from such location is
subject to different types of competition. However, changes to the competitive landscape could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

For information on the competition associated with the open access regimes in Australia and Europe, see
“Additional Risks Associated with our Foreign Operations.”

Changes in commodity prices could decrease demand for the commodities we transport, which could adversely
affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Changes in the price of commodities that we transport could decrease demand for the transport of such
commodities, which could reduce our revenues or have other adverse effects. For example, a decline in the price of
corn that we transport may result in lower revenues for us if farmers decide to store such commodities until the
prices for such commodities increase. In such instances, we could experience reduced revenues and increased
operating costs associated with the storage of locomotives, rail cars and other equipment, labor adjustments and
other related activities, which could negatively impact our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Market and regulatory responses to climate change could adversely affect our operating costs.

Market and regulatory responses to climate change, as well as its physical impacts, could materially affect us.
For example, federal, state and local laws, regulations, restrictions, caps, taxes or other controls on emissions of
greenhouse gases, including diesel exhaust, could significantly increase our operating costs to comply with these
laws and regulations to the extent they apply to our diesel locomotives, equipment, vehicles and machinery or our
rail yards.

Market and regulatory responses to climate change, including the closure of coal-fired power plants we serve,
climate change litigation and climate change itself could decrease demand for the commodities we transport and
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Restrictions on emissions could affect our customers that use commodities that we carry to produce energy,
that use significant amounts of energy in producing or delivering the commodities we carry, or that manufacture or
produce goods that consume significant amounts of energy or burn fossil fuels, including, for example, coal mining
operations, natural gas developers and producers, coal-fired power plants, chemical producers, farmers and food
producers and automakers and other manufacturers. Significant cost increases, government regulation, or changes in
consumer preferences for goods or services relating to alternative sources of energy or emissions reductions could
materially affect the markets for the commodities we carry, such as by resulting in the closure of coal-fired power
plants that we serve, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition and liquidity. Government incentives encouraging the use of alternative sources of energy could also
affect certain of our customers and the markets for certain of the commodities we carry in an unpredictable manner
that could alter our traffic patterns, including, for example, the impacts of ethanol incentives on farming and ethanol
producers. Finally, we could face increased costs related to defending and resolving legal claims and other litigation
related to climate change including claims alleging impact of our operations on climate change. Any such market or
regulatory responses or litigation, as well as physical impacts attributed to climate change and global warming, such
as floods, rising sea levels and increasingly frequent and intense storms, individually or in conjunction with one or
more of the impacts discussed above or other unforeseen impacts of climate change, could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

25



We could incur significant costs for violations of, or liabilities under, environmental laws and regulations.

Our railroad operations and real estate ownership are subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign
environmental laws and regulations concerning, among other things, emissions to the air, discharges to waters, the
handling, storage, transportation and disposal of waste and other materials and cleanup of hazardous materials
(including lading) or petroleum releases. We generate and transport hazardous and non-hazardous waste in our
operations. We may incur environmental liability from conditions or practices at properties previously owned or
operated by us, properties leased by us and other properties owned by third parties (for example, properties at which
hazardous substances or wastes for which we are responsible have been treated, stored, spilled or disposed), as well
as at properties currently owned or operated by us. Under some environmental statutes, such liability may be found
without regard to whether we were at fauit and may also be “joint and several,” whereby we are responsible for all
the liability at issue even though we (or the entity that gives rise to our liability) may be only one of a number of
entities whose conduct contributed to the liability.

Environmental liabilities may arise from claims asserted by owners or occupants of affected properties, other
third parties affected by environmental conditions (for example, contractors and current or former employees)
seeking to recover in connection with alleged damages to their property or personal injury or death, and/or by
governmental authorities seeking to remedy environmental conditions or to enforce environmental obligations.
While we maintain insurance for certain environmental damages and claims, environmental requirements and
liabilities could obligate us to incur significant costs and expenses to investigate and remediate environmental
contamination that may or may not be covered by our insurance, which could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Exposure to market risks, particularly changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, and
hedging transactions entered into to mitigate these and other risks could adversely impact our results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.

We are exposed to various market risks, including interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks. It is
impossible to fully mitigate all such exposure and higher interest rates and unfavorable fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
From time to time, we may use various financial instruments to reduce our exposure to certain market risks. For
instance, we have entered into interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk associated with the floating interest rate
payments under our Credit Agreement. While these financial instruments reduce our exposure to market risks, the
use of such instruments may ultimately limit our ability to benefit from lower interest rates or favorable foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations due to amounts fixed at the time of entering into the hedge agreement and may
have significant costs associated with early termination, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.

We may be adversely affected by diesel fuel supply constraints resulting from disruptions in the fuel markets and
increases in diesel fuel costs.

In 2013, we consumed 43.5 million gallons of diesel fuel. Fuel availability could be affected by any limitation
in the fuel supply or by any imposition of mandatory allocation or rationing regulations. If a severe fuel supply
shortage arose from production curtailments, disruption of oil imports, disruption of domestic refinery production,
damage to refinery or pipeline infrastructure, political unrest, war or otherwise, diesel fuel may not be readily
available and may be subject to rationing regulations.

In addition, diese! fue! costs constitute a significant portion of cur total operating cxpenscs. Currently, we
receive fuel surcharges and other rate adjustments to offset fuel prices. However, if Class I railroads change their
policies regarding fuel surcharges, the compensation we receive for increases in fuel costs may decrease and could
have a negative effect on our profitability. Costs for tuel used in operations were approximately 12% and 13% of
our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

If diesel fuel prices increase dramatically from production curtailments, a disruption of oil imports or
otherwise, these events could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and
liquidity.
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We may be subject to various claims and lawsuits that could result in significant expenditures.

The nature of our business exposes us to the potential for various claims and litigation related to labor and
employment, personal injury, freight loss, property damage and other matters. For example, United States job-
related personal injury claims by our railroad employees are subject to FELA, which is applicable only to railroads.
FELA's fault-based tort system produces results that are unpredictable and inconsistent as compared with a no-fault
worker's compensation system. The variability inherent in this system could result in the actual costs of claims being
very different from the liability recorded.

Any material changes to current litigation trends or a catastrophic rail accident or series of accidents involving
material freight loss or property damage, personal injury and environmental liability against us that is not covered
by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Some of our employees belong to labor unions, and strikes or work stoppages could adversely affect our results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.

We are a party to 76 collective bargaining agreements with various labor unions in the United States,
Australia, Canada and Belgium. We are currently engaged in negotiations with respect to 18 of those agreements.
Approximately 1,800 of our approximately 4,800 full time employees are union members. We have also entered into
employee association agreements with an additional 68 employees who are not represented by a national labor
organization. GWA has a collective enterprise bargaining agreement covering the majority of its employees.

Our inability to negotiate acceptable contracts with these unions could result in, among other things, strikes,
work stoppages or other slowdowns by the affected workers. If the unionized workers were to engage in a strike,
work stoppage or other slowdown, or other employees were to become unionized, or the terms and conditions in
future labor agreements were renegotiated, we could experience a significant disruption of our operations and/or
higher ongoing labor costs. A substantial majority of the employees of the Class I railroads with which we
interchange are unionized. If such Class I railroads were to have a work stoppage or strike, the national rail network
and our operations would be adversely affected. Additional unionization of our workforce could result in higher
employee compensation and restrictive working condition demands that could increase our operating costs or
constrain our operating flexibility.

If we are unable to employ a sufficient number of qualified workers, or attract and retain senior leadership, our
results of operations, financial condition and liquidity may be materially adversely affected.

We believe that our success and our growth depend upon our ability to attract and retain skilled workers who
possess the ability to operate and maintain our equipment and facilities. The operation and maintenance of our
equipment and facilities involve complex and specialized processes and often must be performed in harsh and
remote conditions, resulting in a high employee turnover rate when compared to many other industries. The
challenge of attracting and retaining the necessary workforce is increased by the expected retirement of an aging
workforce, training requirements and significant competition for specialized trades. Within the next five years, we
estimate that approximately 16% of our current workforce will become eligible for retirement. Many of these
workers hold key operating positions, such as conductors, engineers and mechanics. In addition, the demand for
workers with the types of skills we require has increased, especially from Class I railroads, which can usually offer
higher wages and better benefits. A significant increase in the wages paid by competing employers could result in a
reduction of our skilled labor force or an increase in the wage rates that we must pay or both. In addition, if key
employees of acquired companies depart because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or
a desire not to become our employees, our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions could be
reduced or delayed.

Finally, there can be no assurance that we will be able to attract and retain senior leadership necessary to
manage and grow our business. Our performance significantly depends upon the continued contributions of our
executive officers and key employees, both individually and as a group, and our ability to retain and motivate them.
Our officers and key personnel have many years of experience with us and in our industry and it may be difficult to
replace them. Further, the loss of any executive officers or key employees could require the remaining senior
leadership to divert immediate and substantial attention to seeking a replacement. The loss of the services of any of
our senior leadership, and the inability to find a suitable replacement, could adversely affect our operating,
acquisition and investment strategies.

27



Our operations are dependent on our ability to obtain railcars, locomotives and other critical railroad items from
suppliers.

Due to the capital intensive nature and industry-specific requirements of the rail industry, there are high
barriers to entry for potential new suppliers of core railroad items such as railcars, locomotives and track
materials. If the number of available railcars is insufficient or if the cost of obtaining these railcars either through
lease or purchase increases, we might not be able to obtain railcars on favorable terms, or at all, and shippers may
seek alternate forms of transportation. For example, in the event of additional government regulations affecting tank
cars, there is no guarantee that a sufficient number of tank cars will be available to support the demand for transport
of petroleum products in North America. As of January 1, 2014, according to the AAR, approximately 18% of the
North American railcar fleet was in storage. In some cases we use third-party locomotives to provide transportation
services to our customers and such locomotives may not be available. Without these third-party locomotives, we
would need to invest additional capital in locomotives. Even if purchased, there is no guarantee that locomotives
would be available for delivery without significant delay. For example, in Australia the availability of new
locomotives is limited, with long lead times for delivery. Additionally, we compete with other industries for
available capacity and raw materials used in the production of certain track materials, such as rail and ties. Changes
in the competitive landscapes of these limited-supplier markets could result in equipment shortages that could have
a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity in a particular year or quarter
and could limit our ability to support new projects and achieve our growth strategy.

We may be affected by acts of terrorism or anti-terrorism measures.

Our rail lines, port operations and other facilities and equipment, including railcars carrying hazardous
materials that we are required to transport under federal law as a common carrier, could be direct targets or indirect
casualties of terrorist attacks. Any terrorist attack or other similar event could cause significant business interruption
and may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. In addition, regulatory measures
designed to control terrorism could impose substantial costs upon us and could result in impairment to our service,
which could also have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

ADDITIONAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR FOREIGN OPERATIONS

We are subject to the risks of doing business in foreign countries.

Some of our subsidiaries transact business in foreign countries, namely in Australia, Canada, the Netherlands
and Belgium. In addition, we may consider acquisitions or other investments in other foreign countries in the future.
The risks of doing business in foreign countries include:

» adverse changes or greater volatility in the economies of those countries;

» adverse currency movements that make goods produced in those countries that are destined for export
markets less competitive;

» adverse effects due to changes in the eurozone membership;

» adverse changes to the regulatory environment or access regimes of those countries;

» adverse changes to the tax laws and regulations of those countries;

» restrictions on the withdrawal of foreign investment, or a decrease in the value of repatriated cash flows;

» adecrease in the value of foreign sourced income as a result of exchange rate changes;

»  the actual or perceived failure by us to fulfill commitments under concession agreements;

= the ability to identify and retain qualified local managers; and

»  the chailenge of managing a culturally and geographically diverse operation.

Any of the risks above could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and liquidity.
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Because some of our subsidiaries and affiliates transact business in foreign currencies and because a significant
portion of our net income comes from the operations of our foreign subsidiaries, exchange rate fluctuations may
adversely affect us and may affect the comparability of our results between financial periods.

Our operations in Australia, Canada and Europe accounted for 21%, 9%, and 1% of our consolidated
operating revenues, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013. The results of operations of our foreign
entities are maintained in the local currency (the Australian dollar, the Canadian dollar and the Euro) and then
translated into United States dollars at the applicable exchange rates for inclusion in our consolidated financial
statements. As a result, any appreciation or depreciation of these currencies against the United States dollar can
impact our results of operations. The financial statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are prepared in the
local currency of the respective subsidiary and translated into United States dollars based on the exchange rate at the
end of the period for balance sheet items and, for the statement of operations, at the average rate for the statement
period. The exchange rates between these currencies and the United States dollar have fluctuated significantly in
recent years and may continue to do so in the future.

We may not be able to manage our exchange rate risks effectively, and the volatility in currency exchange
rates may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity. In addition,
because our financial statements are stated in United States dollars, such fluctuations may affect our results of
operations and financial condition and may affect the comparability of our results between financial periods.

Our concession and/or lease agreements in Australia could be canceled, and there is no guarantee these
agreements will be extended beyond their terms.

Through our subsidiaries in Australia, we have entered into long-term concession and/or lease agreements
with governmental authorities in the Northern Territory and South Australia. Our concession agreement for the
Tarcoola to Darwin rail line expires in 2054 and our lease agreement for our other South Australia rail lines expires
in 2047. If our concession or lease agreements expire, we will no longer act as the below rail access provider, but
will still be permitted to participate in the above rail market. These concession and lease agreements are subject to a
number of conditions, including those relating to the maintenance of certain standards with respect to service, price
and the environment. These concession and lease agreements also typically carry with them a commitment to
maintain the condition of the railroad and to make a certain level of capital expenditures, which may require capital
expenditures that are in excess of our projections. Our failure to meet these commitments under the long-term
concession and lease agreements could result in the termination of those concession or lease agreements. The
termination of any concession or lease agreement could result in the loss of our investment relating to that
concession or lease agreement. Further, the expiration of these agreements and the end of their term would result in
the loss of the associated revenues and income. Either of these events could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Open access regimes in Australia and Europe could lead to additional competition for rail services and decreased
revenues and profit margins.

The legislative and regulatory framework in Australia allows third-party rail operators to gain access to our
Australian railway infrastructure and also governs our access to track owned by others. The Netherlands and
Belgium also have open access regimes that permit third-party rail operators to compete for the business of RRF,
our subsidiary in the Netherlands. There are limited barriers to entry to preclude a current or prospective rail
operator from approaching our customers and seeking to capture their business. The loss of our customers to
competitors could result in decreased revenues and profit margins, which could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.
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Changes to the open access regimes in Australia and Europe could have a significant impact on our operations.

Access fees paid for our access onto the track of other companies and access fees we charge under state and
federal regimes are subject to change. Where we pay access fees to others, if those fees were increased, our
operating margins could be negatively affected. In Australia, if the federal government or respective state regulators
were to alter the regulatory regime or determine that access fees charged to current or prospective third-party rail
freight operators by our Australian railroads did not meet competitive standards, our income from those fees could
decline. In addition, when we operate over track networks owned by others, the owners of the networks are
responsible for scheduling the use of the tracks as well as for determining the amount and timing of the expenditures
necessary to maintain the tracks in satisfactory condition. Therefore, in areas where we operate over tracks owned
by others, our operations are subject to train scheduling set by the owners as well as the risk that the network will
not be adequately maintained.

Revocation of our safety accreditations could result in a loss of revenue and termination of our concession.

Our operating subsidiaries in Australia, the Netherlands and Belgium hold safety accreditations that are
required in order for them to provide freight rail services. Continued maintenance of our safety accreditation in
Australia is a requirement under our concession deeds and some customer contracts. These safety accreditations are
essential for us to conduct our business and are subject to removal. Following significant derailments, the
government entities responsible for oversight of rail safety frequently perform investigations. Any loss of, failure to
maintain or inability to renew, rail safety accreditations necessary to carry on rail operations in any jurisdiction, or
any changes in government policy and legal or regulatory oversight, including changes to the rail safety regulatory
regime, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

RISKS RELATED TO TAXATION

Our ability to use RailAmerica's Section 45G tax credit carryforwards may be subject to limitation due to a
change in the ownership of its stock.

As of December 31, 2013, RailAmerica had tax benefits totaling approximately $106.9 million of Section 45G
tax credit carryforwards. Under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” the corporation's ability to use its pre-change tax attribute
carryforwards to offset its post-change income tax may be limited and may result in a partial or full write down of
the related deferred tax assets. An ownership change is defined generally for these purposes as a greater than 50%
change in ownership over a three-year period, taking into account shareholders that own 5% or more by value of our
common stock. While we currently believe it is more likely than not that we will be able to utilize these tax
attributes, our ability to use RailAmerica's net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes to reduce our
future tax liabilities may be limited.

The United States Short Line Tax Credit expired on December 31, 2013. As a result, our effective tax rate in 2014
will be higher if the credit is not extended.

Since 2005, we have benefited from the effects of the United States Short Line Tax Credit, which is an
income tax credit for Class II and Class III railroads to reduce their federal income tax based on qualified railroad
track maintenance expenditures (the Short Line Tax Credit). Qualified expenditures include amounts incurred for
maintaining track, including roadbed, bridges and related track structures owned or leased by a Class II or Class 111
railroad. The credit is equal to 50% of the qualified expenditures, subject to an annual limitation of $3,500
multiplied by the number of miles of raiiroad irack owned or leased by the Class 11 or Class 11l railroad as of ihe end
of their tax year. On January 2, 2013, the Short Line Tax Credit (which had previously expired on December 31,
2011) was extended for 2012 and 2013. The most recent extension of the Short Line Tax Credit only extended the
credit through December 31, 2013. If the Short Line Tax Credit is not extended for additional tax years, the loss of
the credit will increase our tax rate and reduce our earnings per share.
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If the earnings of our controlled foreign subsidiaries were required to be distributed, our effective tax rate could
be higher.

We file a consolidated United States federal income tax return that includes all of our United States
subsidiaries. Each of our foreign subsidiaries files income tax returns in each of its respective countries. No
provision is made for the United States income taxes applicable to the undistributed earnings of our controlled
foreign subsidiaries. The amount of those earnings was $268.9 million as of December 31, 2013. Although it is our
current intention to fully utilize those earnings in the operations of our controlled foreign subsidiaries, if the
earnings were to be distributed in the future, those distributions may be subject to United States income taxes
(appropriately reduced by available foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries,
and could result in a higher effective tax rate for us, thereby reducing our earnings. See “Part II Item 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Cash Repatriation” for additional information.

Non-U.S. holders who own or owned more than a certain ownership threshold may be subject to United States
Sfederal income tax on gains realized on the disposition of the shares of our Class A common stock.

It is possible that we are a United States real property holding corporation currently or will become one in the
future for United States federal income tax purposes. If we are or become a United States real property holding
corporation, so long as our Class A common stock continues to be regularly traded on an established securities
market, only a non-U.S. holder (i.e., a holder that is not a United States citizen or resident, a corporation or
partnership organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof and certain trusts and estates) who
holds or held (at any time during the shorter of the five year period preceding the date of disposition or the holder's
holding period) more than 5% of our Class A common stock will be subject to United States federal income tax on
the disposition of our Class A common stock. Non-U.S. holders should consult their own tax advisors concerning
the consequences of disposing of shares of our Class A common stock.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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ITEM 2.  Properties.

Genesee & Wyoming, through our subsidiaries, currently has interests in 111 freight railroads. Of these, 109
are short line railroads and one is a regional freight railroad, including 101 located in the United States, seven
located in Canada, one located in Australia and one located in the Netherlands and Belgium. We also operate the
Tarcoola to Darwin rail line, which links the Port of Darwin to the Australian interstate rail network in South
Australia. These rail properties typically consist of the track and the underlying land. Real estate adjacent to the
railroad rights-of-way is generally owned by others, and our holdings of such real estate are not material. Similarly,
sellers typically retain mineral rights and rights to grant fiber optic and other easements in the properties acquired by
us. Several of our railroads are operated under leases or operating licenses in which we do not assume ownership of
the track or the underlying land.

Our railroads operate over approximately 14,700 miles of track that is owned, jointly owned or leased by us,
which includes the Tarcoola to Darwin rail line that we manage under a concession agreement that expires in 2054.
Several of our railroads are operated pursuant to lease agreements that will expire in the next few years and may not
be extended. Leases from Class I railroads and other third parties that could expire in each of the next 10 years
would represent less than 2% of our annual revenues in the year of expiration, based on our operating revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2013. For additional information on these lease expirations see “Part I. Item 1A. Risk
Factors” of this Annual Report. We also operate, through various trackage and operating rights agreements, over
approximately 3,300 additional miles of track that are owned or leased by others under contractual track access
arrangements. The track miles listed below exclude approximately 1,750 miles of sidings and yards, which includes
1,520 miles in the United States, 160 miles in Canada and 70 miles in Australia. Track miles owned by others, but
available to us, under open access regimes in Australia, the Netherlands and Belgium are also excluded. During
2013, we recorded mortgages on many of the owned properties described in the table below as additional security
for our outstanding obligations under our Credit Agreement. See “Part I Item 1A. Risk Factors” for additional
information on our Credit Agreement.

The following table sets forth certain information as of December 31, 2013, with respect to our railroads:

YEAR TRACK
RAILROAD AND LOCATION ACQUIRED MILES STRUCTURE
NORTH AMERICAN AND EUROPEAN OPERATIONS
UNITED STATES:
Genesee and Wyoming Railroad Company
(GNWR) New York (1) 1899 27 Owned
The Dansville and Mount Morris Railroad Company
(DMM) New York (1) 1985 8 Owned
Rochester & Southern Railroad, Inc.
(RSR) New York (1) 1986 58 Owned
Louisiana & Delta Railroad, Inc.
(LDRR) Louisiana 1987 86 Owned/Leased
Buffalo & Pittsburgh Railroad, Inc
(BPRR) New York, Pennsylvania (2) (3) (4) 1988 368 Owned/Leased
Allegheny & Eastern Railroad, LLC
(ALY) Pennsylvania (2) 1992 128 Owned
Bradford Industrial Rail, inc.
(BR) Pennsylvania (3) 1993 4 Owned

Willamette & Pacific Railroad, Inc.
(WPRR) Oregon 1993 178 Leased

Portland & Western Railroad, Inc.

(PNWR) Oregon 1995 288 Owned/Leased
Pittsburg & Shawmut Railroad, LLC

(PS) Pennsylvania (4) 1996 108 Owned
Illinois & Midland Railroad, Inc.

(IMRR) Illinois 1996 97 Owned

Commonwealth Railway, Incorporated

(CWRY) Virginia 1996 24 Owned/Leased

Talleyrand Terminal Railroad Company, Inc.
(TTR) Florida 1996 2 Leased
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YEAR TRACK
RAILROAD AND LOCATION ACQUIRED MILES STRUCTURE
Corpus Christi Terminal Railroad, Inc.
(CCPN) Texas 1997 42 Leased
Golden Isles Terminal Railroad, Inc.
(GITM) Georgia 1998 13 Owned/Leased
Savannah Port Terminal Railroad, Inc.
(SAPT) Georgia 1998 18 Leased
South Buffalo Railway Company
(SB) New York 2001 54 Owned/Leased
St. Lawrence & Atlantic Railroad Company
(SLR) Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont 2002 143 Owned
York Railway Company
(YRC) Pennsylvania 2002 42 Owned
Utah Railway Company
(UTAH) Utah 2002 41 Owned
Salt Lake City Southem Railroad Company, Inc.
(SLCS) Utah 2002 2 Owned
Chattahoochee Industrial Railroad
(CIRR) Georgia 2003 15 Owned
Arkansas Louisiana & Mississippi Railroad Company
(ALM) Arkansas, Louisiana 2003 53 Owned
Fordyce and Princeton RR. Co.
(FP) Arkansas 2003 57 Owned
Tazewell & Peoria Railroad, Inc.
(TZPR) Illinois 2004 24 Leased
Golden Isles Terminal Wharf
(GITW) Georgia 2004 6 Owned
First Coast Railroad Inc.
(FCRD) Florida, Georgia 2005 32 Leased
AN Railway, LL.C.
(AN) Florida 2005 96 Leased
Atlantic & Western Railway, Limited Partnership
(ATW) North Carolina 2005 10 Owned
The Bay Line Railroad, L.L.C.
(BAYL) Alabama, Florida 2005 108 Owned
East Tennessee Railway, L.P.
(ETRY) Tennessee 2005 4 Owned/Leased
Galveston Railroad, L.P.
(GVSR) Texas 2005 39 Leased
Georgia Central Railway, L.P.
(GC) Georgia 2005 171 Owned/Leased
KWT Railway, Inc.
(KWT) Kentucky, Tennessee 2005 69 Owned
Little Rock & Western Railway, L.P.
(LRWN) Arkansas 2005 79 Owned
Meridian & Bigbee Railroad, L.L.C
(MNBR) Alabama, Mississippi 2005 147 Owned/Leased
Riceboro Southern Railway, LLC
(RSOR) Georgia 2005 18 Leased
Tomahawk Railway, Limited Partnership
(TR) Wisconsin 2005 6 Owned
Valdosta Railway, L.P.
(VR) Georgia 2005 10 Owned
Western Kentucky Railway, L.L.C.
(WKRL) Kentucky 2005 — Owned
Wilmington Terminal Railroad, Limited Partnership
(WTRY) North Carolina 2005 17 Leased
Chattahoochee Bay Railroad, Inc.
(CHAT) Alabama, Georgia 2006 26 Owned
Maryland Midland Railway, Inc.
(MMID) Maryland 2007 70 Owned
Chattooga & Chickamauga Railway Co.
(CCKY) Georgia 2008 49 Leased



YEAR TRACK

RAILROAD AND LOCATION ACQUIRED MILES STRUCTURE
Luxapalila Valley Railroad, Inc.

(LXVR) Alabama, Mississippi 2008 34 Owned
Columbus and Greenville Railway Company

(CAGY) Mississippi 2008 151 Owned
The Aliquippa & Ohio River Railroad Co.

(AOR) Pennsylvania 2008 6 Owned
The Columbus & Ohio River Rail Road Company

(CUOH) Ohio 2008 247 Owned/Leased
The Mahoning Valley Railway Company

(MVRY) Ohio 2008 6 Owned
Ohio Central Railroad, Inc.

{OHCR) Ohio 2008 70 Owned/Leased
Ohio and Pennsylvania Railroad Company

(OHPA) Ohio 2008 3 Owned
Ohio Southern Railroad, Inc

(OSRR) Ohio 2008 18 Owned
The Pittsburgh & Ohio Central Railroad Company

(POHC) Pennsylvania 2008 35 Owned
The Warren & Trumbull Railroad Company

(WTRM) Ohio 2008 4 Leased
Youngstown & Austintown Railroad Inc

(YARR) Ohio 2008 5 Leased
The Youngstown Belt Railroad Company

(YB) Ohio ) 2008 14 Owned
Georgia Southwestern Railroad, Inc.

(GSWR) Alabama, Georgia 2008 231 Owned/Leased
Arizona Eastern Railway Company

(AZER) Arizona, New Mexico 2011 200 Owned
Hilton & Albany Railroad, Inc.

(HAL) Georgia 2011 56 Leased
Columbus & Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc,

(CCH) Alabama 2012 26 Leased
Alabama & Gulf Coast Railway LLC

(AGR) Alabama, Mississippi, Florida 2012 283 Owned/Leased
Arizona & California Railroad Company

(ARZC) Arizona, California 2012 190 Owned
Bauxite & Northern Railway Company

(BXN) Arkansas 2012 5 Owned
Califomia Northemn Railroad Company

(CFNR) Califomia 2012 210 Leased
Carolina Piedmont Railroad

(CPDR) South Carolina 2012 28 Owned
Cascade and Columbia River Railroad Company

(CSCD) Washington 2012 131 Owned
Central Oregon & Pacific Railroad, Inc.

(CORP) Oregon, California 2012 305 Owned/Leased
The Central Railroad Company of Indiana

(CIND) Indiana, Ohio 2012 82 Owned
Ceiitral Railroad Company of Indianapolis

(CERA) Indiana 2012 43 Owned/Leased
Chesapeake and Albermarle Railroad

(CA) North Carolina, Virginia 2012 68 Leased
Chicago, Fort Wayne & Eastemn Railroad

(CFE) Indiana, Ohio 2012 281 Owned/Leased
Conecuh Valley Railway, L.L.C

(COEH) Alabama 2012 13 Owned
Connecticut Southem Railroad, Inc.

(CSO) Connecticut 2012 23 Owned/Leased
Dallas, Garland & Northeastern Railroad, Inc.

(DGNO) Texas 2012 168 Owned/Leased
Eastem Alabama Railway, LLC

(EARY) Alabama 2012 26 Owned
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YEAR TRACK
RAILROAD AND LOCATION ACQUIRED MILES STRUCTURE
Grand Rapids Eastern Railroad
(GR) Michigan 2012 22 Owned
Huron and Eastern Railway Company, Inc.
(HESR) Michigan 2012 306 Owned/Leased
Indiana & Ohio Railway Company
(IORY) Indiana, Ohio, Michigan 2012 469 Owned/Leased
Indiana Southem Railroad, LLC
(ISRR) Indiana 2012 166 Owned
Kiamichi Railroad Company L.L.C.
(KRR) Oklahoma, Arizona, Texas 2012 264 Owned
Kyle Railroad Company
(KYLE) Colorado, Kansas 2012 505 Owned/Leased
Marquette Rail LLC
(MQT) Michigan 2012 128 Leased
The Massena Terminal Railroad Company
(MSTR) New York 2012 3 Owned
Michigan Shore Railroad, Inc.
(MS) Michigan 2012 4 Owned
Mid-Michigan Railroad, Inc.
(MMRR) Michigan 2012 82 Owned/Leased
Missouri & Northern Arkansas Railroad Company, Inc.
(MNA) Arizona, Missouri, Kansas 2012 483 Owned/Leased
New England Central Railroad, Inc.
(NECR) Vermont, New Hampshire, Massachusetts, Connecticut 2012 324 Owned
North Carolina & Virginia Railroad Company L.L.C.
(NCVA) North Carolina, Virginia 2012 53 Owned
Otter Tail Valley Railroad Company, Inc.
(OTVR) Minnesota 2012 67 Owned
Point Comfort & Northem Railway Company
(PCN) Texas 2012 14 Owned
Puget Sound & Pacific Railroad
(PSAP) Washington 2012 135 Owned/Leased
Rockdale, Sandow & Southern Railroad Company
(RSS) Texas 2012 4 Owned
San Diego & Imperial Valley Railroad Company, Inc.
(SDIY) California 2012 1 Leased
San Joaquin Valley Railroad Co.
(SJVR) California 2012 297 Owned/Leased
South Carolina Central Railroad Company, LLC
(SCRF) South Carolina 2012 47 Owned
Texas Northeastern Railroad
(TNER) Texas 2012 67 Leased
Three Notch Railway, L.L.C.
(TNHR) Alabama 2012 34 Owned
Toledo, Peoria & Western Railway Corp.
(TPW) Illinois, Indiana 2012 178 Owned/Leased
Ventura County Railroad Company
(VCRR) California 2012 9 Leased
Wellsboro & Coming Railroad, LLC
(WCOR) Pennsylvania, New York 2012 35 Leased
Wiregrass Central Railway, L.L.C.
(WGCR) Alabama 2012 20 Owned
CANADA:
Huron Central Railway Inc.
(HCRY) Ontario 1997 173 Owned/Leased
Quebec Gatineau Railway Inc.
(QGRY) Quebec 1997 303 Owned/Leased
St. Lawrence & Atlantic Railroad (Quebec) Inc.
(SLQ) Quebec 2002 95 Owned
Cape Breton & Central Nova Scotia Railway Limited
(CBNS) Nova Scotia 2012 242 Owned

35



YEAR TRACK

RAILROAD AND LOCATION ACQUIRED MILES STRUCTURE
Goderich-Exeter Railway Company Limited
(GEXR) Ontario 2012 184 Owned/Leased
Oftawa Valley Railway
(OVR) Ontario, Quebec 2012 157 Leased
Southern Ontario Railway
(SOR) Ontario 2012 46 Leased
EUROPE:
Rotterdam Rail Feeding, B.V. (RRF) 2008 — Open Access
AUSTRALIAN OPERATIONS
AUSTRALIA:
Leased/

Genesee & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd (GWA) 2006 791 Open Access

Leased/Open
GWA (North) Pty Ltd (GWA North) 2010 1,395 Access

(1) The GNWR and DMM are now operated by RSR
(2) ALY merged with BPRR in January 2004

(3) BR merged with BPRR in January 2004

(4) PS merged with BPRR in January 2004

EQUIPMENT

As of December 31, 2013, our rolling stock consisted of 1,041 locomotives, of which 941 were owned and
100 were leased, and 21,622 railcars, of which 3,904 were owned and 17,718 were leased. A breakdown of the types
of railcars owned and leased by us is set forth in the table below:

Owned Leased Total

Railcars by Car Type:
Box 970 8,545 9,515
Hoppers 1,212 3,734 4,946
Flats 854 1,333 2,187
Covered hoppers 341 2,329 2,670
Gondolas 295 1,659 1,954
Tank cars 17 117 134
Maintenance of way 161 — 161
Crew cars 13 1 14
Other 41 — 41

3,904 17,718 21,622

ITEM 3.  Legal Proceedings.

3 an 4lan o]

From time to time, we are a defendant in certain lawsuits resulting from our operations in the ordinary
Management believes there are adequate provisions in the financial statements for any probable liabilities that may
result from disposition of the pending lawsuits. Based upon currently available information, we do not believe it is
reasonably possible that any such lawsuit or related lawsuits would be material to our results of operations or have a

material adverse effect on our financial position or liquidity.

/ COUISE.

ITEM 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM S.  Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our Class A common stock publicly trades on the NYSE under the trading symbol “GWR.” The tables below
present quarterly information on the price range of our Class A common stock. This information indicates the high
and low closing sales prices for each recent fiscal quarter reported by the NYSE. Our Class B common stock is not
publicly traded.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 High Low

4th Quarter $ 101.77 § 91.66
3rd Quarter $ 94.84 § 84.78
2nd Quarter $ 9260 $ 79.84
1st Quarter $ 94.14 § 79.72
Year Ended December 31, 2012 High Low

4th Quarter $ 7628 $ 67.32
3rd Quarter $ 6792 $ 5227
2nd Quarter $ 58.15 § 48.08
1st Quarter $ 66.09 $ 54.56

Number of Holders

On February 20, 2014, there were 170 Class A common stock record holders and 18 Class B common stock
record holders.

Dividends

We did not pay cash dividends to our Class A or Class B common stockholders in the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012. We do not intend to pay cash dividends to our common stockholders for the
foreseeable future and intend to retain earnings, if any, for future operation and expansion of our business. Any
determination to pay dividends to our common stockholders in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of
Directors and subject to applicable law and any restrictions contained in our Credit Agreement.

In connection with the funding of the RailAmerica acquisition in 2012, we sold $350.0 million of Series A-1
Preferred Stock with an effective 5% coupon (Preferred Stock) to affiliates of Carlyle Partners V, L.P. (collectively,
Carlyle). We paid $2.1 million and $4.4 million of Preferred Stock dividends in 2013 and 2012, respectively. On
February 13, 2013, we converted all of the outstanding Preferred Stock issued to Carlyle into 5,984,232 shares of
our Class A common stock. In November 2013, Carlyle sold all of these outstanding shares of our Class A common
stock in a public offering.

For more information on contractual restrictions on our ability to pay dividends, see “Part II Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Credit Agreement.”

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See “Part III Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters” for information about securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plan.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

2013

October 1 to October 31
November 1 to November 30
December 1 to December 31

Total

(d) Maximum
(¢) Total Number Number
of Shares of Shares
(or Units) (or Units) that
(a) Total Number Purchased as Part May Yet Be
of Shares (b) Average Price of Publicly Purchased Under
(or Units) Paid per Share Announced the Plans or
Purchased (1) (or Unit)i B Rlans or Programs Programs
1,708 $ 94.74 - —
75 94.63 —_ —
1,017 95.41 — —
2,800 § 94.98 — —

(1) The 2,800 shares acquired in the three months ended December 31, 2013 represent Class A common stock acquired by
us from our employees who surrendered shares in lieu of cash to pay taxes on equity awards made under our Second
Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

ITEM 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The following selected consolidated income statement and consolidated balance sheet data of Genesee &
Wyoming as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009, are derived from our
consolidated financial statements. All of the information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in “Part IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules” and
“Part II Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this

Annual Report.

Because of variations in the structure, timing and size of acquisitions and dispositions, our results of
operations in any reporting period may not be directly comparable to our results of operations in other reporting
periods. For financial information with respect to our principles of consolidation and basis of presentation, see
Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to our Consolidated Financial Statements, and for a complete description of
our most recent acquisitions and dispositions, see Note 3, Changes in Operations, to our Consolidated Financial
Statements, in each case, included within “Part IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules” of this Annual

Report.
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 (1) 2012 (2) 2011 (3) 2010 (4) 2009 (5)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

INCOME STATEMENT DATA:
Operating revenues $1,569,011 $ 874916 $ 829,096 $ 630,195 $ 544,866
Operating expenses:

RailAmerica acquisition-related costs 360 18,592 — — —

RailAmerica integration costs 16,675 11,452 — — —

All other operating expenses 1,171,788 654,550 637,317 499,785 445,544
Income from operations 380,188 190,322 191,779 130,410 99,322
Gain on sale of investments — — 907 — 391
Interest income 3,971 3,725 3,243 2,397 1,065
Interest expense (67,894) (62,845) (38,617) (23,147) (26,902)
Contingent forward sale contract mark-to-market
expense —_ (50,106) S— — —_
Other income/(expense), net 2,122 2,182 703 (827) 2,115
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 318,387 83,278 158,015 108,833 75,991
Provision for income taxes (46,296) (46,402) (38,531) (30,164) (15,916)
Income from equity investment in RailAmerica, net — 15,557 — — —
Income from continuing operations, net of tax 272,091 52,433 119,484 78,669 60,075
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — — — 2.591 1,398
Net income 272,091 52,433 119,484 81,260 61,473
Less: Series A-1 Preferred Stock dividend 2,139 4,375 - — —
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 795 — — =" 146
Net income available to common stockholders $ 269,157 $ 48058 $ 119484 $ 81260 § 61327
Basic earnings per common share attributable to
Genesee & Wyoming Inc. common stockholders:

Onggtei:grrllsnngs per common share from continuing 500 8 113 8 209 § 202§ L66

Basi i hare from

e e s —s  —s s oms o

Weighted average shares—Basic 53,788 42,693 39,912 38,886 36,146
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to
Genesee & Wyoming Inc. common stockholders:

i’;ﬁfﬁﬁ,ﬁg‘;ﬁ%ﬁgﬁ;ﬁ" . $ 479 $ 102 8 279 % 188 $ 154

Diluted eamings per common share from

discontinued O%efatior?s ° $ — 8 $ — & 006 $ 0.04

Weighted average shares—Diluted 56,679 51,316 42,772 41,889 38,974
BALANCE SHEET DATA AT YEAR-END:
Total assets $5,319.821 $5,226,115 $2,294,157 $2,067,560 $1,697,032
Long term S;i‘gt;‘e“;i)"a"“a' leases (excluding portion ¢} <10346 $1,770,566 § 569,026 § 475174 § 421616
Series A-1 Preferred Stock $ — $ 399,524 $ — $ — 3 —
Total equity $2,149,070 $1,500,462 $ 960,634 $ 817,240 $ 688,877

(1) On February 13, 2013, we exercised our option to convert all of the outstanding Series A-1 Preferred Stock issued to Carlyle
in conjunction with the RailAmerica acquisition into 5,984,232 shares of our Class A common stock. On the conversion
date, we also paid to Carlyle cash in lieu of fractional shares and all accrued and unpaid dividends on the Series A-1

Preferred Stock totaling $2.1 million.

(2) On October 1, 2012, we acquired 100% of RailAmerica for approximately $2.0 billion (equity purchase price of
approximately $1.4 billion, or $27.50 per share, plus the payoff of RailAmerica's debt of $659.2 million). The shares of

3)
)

®)

RailAmerica were held in a voting trust while the STB considered our control application, which application was approved
with an effective date of December 28, 2012. Accordingly, we accounted for the earnings of RailAmerica using the equity
method of accounting while the shares were held in the voting trust and our preliminary determination of fair values of the
acquired assets and assumed liabilities were included in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2012.

On September 1, 2011, we acquired the stock of AZER with net assets of $90.3 million.

On December 1, 2010, we acquired $320.0 million of net assets from FreightLink. In 2010, we incurred $28.2 million of
acquisition-related expenses charged to earnings related to this transaction. In addition, we reversed $2.3 million of accrued
restructuring expense related to our Huron Central Railway Inc. (HCRY).

In 2009, we acquired the 12.6% interest in Maryland Midland Railway, Inc. that we did not already own for $4.4 million. In
addition, with respect to HCRY, we recorded a non-cash write-down of non-current assets of $6.7 million and $2.3 million
of restructuring expense, which were partially offset by a tax benefit of $3.6 million.
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ITEM 7.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). G&W acquired RailAmerica on October 1,
2012. Because of the significance of charges related to the Rail America acquisition and other matters described herein, in
addition to disclosing results for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, that are determined in
accordance with U.S. GAAP, we also disclose non-GAAP financial measures that exclude these charges from net income,
diluted earnings per share, income from operations and operating ratio. We are presenting non-GAAP financial measures
excluding these items because we believe it is useful for investors in assessing our financial results compared with the same
period in the prior year. Within the text, in connection with each non-GAAP financial measure presented, we have presented
the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP and have provided a reconciliation
of the differences between the non-GAAP financial measure with its most directly comparable financial measure calculated
and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Outlook for 2014
Safety

Operating a safe railroad benefits our employees, our customers, our shareholders and the communities we serve. We

have led the railroad industry in safety for the past five years and our goal for 2014 is an injury frequency ratio of 0.45
reportable injuries per 200,000 man hours.

Financial Expectations

We expect growth in our revenues and income due to increases in traffic across most of our commodity groups. In
particular, we anticipate growth in petroleum products traffic due to higher volumes of crude oil and liquefied petroleum gas
and the full year impact of an Australian iron ore project that ramped up during 2013. We also expect growth in our income
from the pending acquisition of the assets comprising the western end of the DM&E and from the full year impact of
RailAmerica operating cost synergies that were partially realized in 2013 as the company was being integrated. We expect
that this growth in our revenues and income will be partially offset by the negative currency translation impact of the weaker
Canadian and Australian dollars on the results of our operations in those countries. We expect our free cash flow in 2014 to
increase primarily from an increase in cash from operations.

Capital Plan

We expect to make capital investments totaling $267 million in 2014. Of this total, $168 million is planned for ongoing
railroad track and equipment capital, $15 million is planned for matching capital spending associated with government grant
funded projects in seven operating regions (Pacific, Northeast, Canada, Ohio Valley, Southern, Midwest and Rail Link) and
$31 million is planned for specific 2014 projects, including certain track upgrades and locomotive iease buyouts. In addition,
we expect to spend $53 million on business development related capital, primarily the construction of a new rail spur in
Canada and track improvements in Australia associated with a long-term contract extension.

United States Short Line Tux Credit

The United States Short Line Tax Credit, from which we have benefited since 2005, expired on December 31,
2013. Without an extension to the tax credit, we expect our income tax rate to increase significantly in 2014. While the Short
Line Tax Credit has been extended on three separate occasions in the past with retroactive benefits, and there is significant
bipartisan support for another extension in 2014, we are unable to predict the outcome of the United States legislative
process.

Corporate and Business Development

We continue to work on a number of potential projects located across the geographic markets in which we currently
operate. For example, in Australia, we will continue to work on additional bulk minerals export projects. In the United States,
with the expanded rail footprint provided by the RailAmerica acquisition, our industrial development is focused on the goal
of adding new customers and/or facilities to our railroads. Specific areas of focus will be on shale oil and gas related projects,
as well as, other growth sectors such as agriculture, natural resources and bio-energy.
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Overview

We own and operate short line and regional freight railroads and provide railcar switching and other rail-related services
in the United States, Australia, Canada, the Netherlands and Belgium. In addition, we operate the Tarcoola to Darwin rail
line, which links the Port of Darwin to the Australian interstate rail network in South Australia. Our operations currently
include 111 railroads organized into 11 regions, with approximately14,700 miles of owned, jointly owned or leased track and
approximately 3,300 additional miles under contractual track access arrangements. In addition, we provide rail service at 35
ports in North America, Australia and Europe and perform contract coal loading and railcar switching for industrial
customers.

On January 2, 2014, we and Canadian Pacific (CP) jointly announced our entry into an agreement pursuant to which we
will purchase the assets comprising the western end of CP's Dakota, Minnesota & Eastern (DM&E) rail line for a cash
purchase price of approximately $210 million, subject to certain adjustments including the purchase of materials and
supplies, equipment and vehicles. We intend to fund the acquisition with borrowings under our existing Credit Agreement.
The acquisition is more fully described in Note 21, Subsequent Events, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The asset acquisition is expected to close by mid-2014, subject to approval of the STB and the satisfaction of other
customary closing conditions. Upon closing, our new railroad will be named Rapid City, Pierre & Eastern Railroad. We
expect to hire approximately 180 employees to staff the new railroad and anticipate these employees will come primarily
from those currently working on the rail line.

The western end encompasses approximately 670 miles of CP's current operations between Tracy, Minnesota and Rapid
City, South Dakota; north of Rapid City to Colony, Wyoming; south of Rapid City to Dakota Junction, Nebraska; and
connecting branch lines as well as trackage from Dakota Junction to Crawford, Nebraska, currently leased to the Nebraska
Northwestern Railroad (NNW). Customers on the line ship approximately 52,000 carloads annually of grain, bentonite clay,
ethanol, fertilizer and other products. The new rail operation will have the ability to interchange with CP, Union Pacific,
BNSF and NNW.

On October 1, 2012, we completed the acquisition of RailAmerica for $2.0 billion (equity purchase price of $1.4 billion
plus net debt of $659.2 million). The shares of RailAmerica were held in a voting trust while the STB considered our control
application, which application was approved with an effective date of December 28, 2012. Accordingly, we accounted for the
earnings of RailAmerica using the equity method of accounting while the shares were held in the voting trust and our
preliminary determination of fair values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities were included in our consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2012. The first quarter of 2013 was the first full reporting period in which we controlled the
former RailAmerica railroads. For additional information regarding RailAmerica, see “Changes in Operations—United States
—RailAmerica” below.

Net income in the year ended December 31, 2013 was $272.1 million, compared with net income of $52.4 million in
the year ended December 31, 2012. Excluding the impact of the significant items listed in the table below of $30.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013 and $77.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, net income in the year ended
December 31, 2013 would have been $242.0 million, compared with net income of $129.7 million in the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Included in our net income for the year ended December 31, 2013 was a $41.0 million benefit associated with the
retroactive extension of the United States Short Line Tax Credit for fiscal year 2012, which was signed into law on January 2,
2013. Excluding the $41.0 million retroactive benefit, our provision for income tax was $87.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, which represented 27.4% of income before income taxes. Included in our income before income taxes
for the year ended December 31, 2012 was a $50.1 million mark-to-market expense associated with a contingent forward sale
contract, which is a non-deductible expense for income tax purposes. See Note 10, Derivative Financial Instruments, to our
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further details on the contingent forward sale
contract. Excluding the $50.1 million mark-to-market expense, our provision for income tax was $46.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012, which represented 34.8% of income before taxes. The decrease in the effective income tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared with the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to the
renewal of the United States Short Line Tax Credit through December 31, 2013. The extension of the United States Short
Line Tax Credit produced book income tax benefits of $25.9 million (or $0.46 per share) and $41.0 million (or $0.72 per
share) for fiscal years 2013 and 2012, respectively. Since the extension became law in 2013, the 2012 impact was recorded in
the first quarter of 2013.
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Our diluted EPS attributable to our common stockholders in the year ended December 31, 2013 were $4.79 with 56.7
million weighted average shares outstanding, compared with diluted EPS attributable to our common stockholders of $1.02
with 51.3 million weighted average shares outstanding in the year ended December 31, 2012. Excluding the impact of the
significant items listed in the table below of $0.53 for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $1.51 for the year ended
December 31, 2012, adjusted diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $4.26 with 56.7 million weighted
average shares outstanding, compared with adjusted diluted EPS of $2.53 with 51.3 million weighted average shares
outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2012. Excluding the impact of the significant items listed in the table below of
$0.53 as well as the $0.46 benefit from the United States Short Line Tax Credit for fiscal year 2013, adjusted diluted EPS for
the year ended December 31, 2013 would have been $3.80.

Our results in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 included certain significant items that are set forth below
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts):

Diluted Earnings/

Income/(Loss) After-Tax Net (Loss) Per
Before Taxes Income/(Loss) Common Share
Impact Impact Impact
514 . i
RailAmerica integration/acquisition costs $ 17.0) $ 10.7) $ 0.19)
Business development and financing costs $ 22) § 14) $ (0.03)
Net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets $ 47 8§ 32§ 0.06
Retroactive Short Line Tax Credit for 2012 $ — 3 410 § 0.72
Impact of 2013 Short Line Tax Credit $ — 3 259 § 0.46
Valuation allowance on FTC $ — § 2.0 $ (0.03)
2012
RailAmerica integration/acquisition costs $ (29.5) § 21.0) $ 0.41)
Business development and financing costs $ (18.1) § (a1.0) $ 0.21)
Acquisition/integration costs incurred by RailAmerica $ — § (3.5) $ (0.07)
Gain on insurance recoveries $ 08 § 05 $ 0.01
Net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets $ 112 § 86 $ 0.17
Contract termination expense in Australia $ a.n s 0.8) $ (0.02)
Contingent forward sale contract mark-to-market expense ~ $ (50.1) $ 50.1) $ (0.98)

Operating revenues increased $694.1 million, or 79.3%, to $1.6 billion in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared
with $874.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase in our operating revenues included $635.2 million in
revenues from new operations and a $58.9 million, or 6.7%, increase in revenues from existing operations. When we discuss
a change in existing operations or same railroad, we are referring to the period-over-period change associated with operations
that we managed in both periods (i.e., excluding the impact of businesses acquired/initiated, such as those railroads acquired
in the RailAmerica acquisition).

Qur traffic in the year ended December 31, 2013 was 1,886,012 carloads, an increase of 958,918 carloads, or 103.4%,
compared with the year ended December 31, 2012. The traffic increase included 909,768 carloads from new operations.
Existing operations increased 49,150 carloads, or 5.3%. To provide comparative context for 2013 consolidated traffic
volumes, we are providing a “Combined Company” comparison as though the RailAmerica railroads were owned by us
during 2012. In doing so, wc have reclassified RailAmerica's 2012 information to conform with our presentation. On a
Combined Company basis, traffic increased 117,301 carloads, or 6.6%, compared with traffic in the year ended December 31,
2012. Carloads from existing operations increased by 103,174 carloads, or 5.8%, and new operations contributed 14,127
carloads. The same railroad traffic increase was principally due to increases of 26,943 carloads of petroleum products traffic
(primarily in the Pacific Region), 20,620 carloads of metallic ores traffic (primarily in the Australia Region), 16,209 carloads
of coal and coke traffic (primarily in the Midwest Region), 7,534 carloads of lumber and forest products traffic (primarily in
the Pacific and Northeast regions), 7,177 carloads of metals traffic (primarily in the Northeast and Southern regions), 6,960
carloads of intermodal traffic (primarily in the Australia and Canada regions) and 5,168 carloads of autos and auto parts
traffic (primarily in the Ohio Valley and Pacific regions). All remaining traffic increased by a net 12,563 carloads.
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Income from operations in the year ended December 31, 2013 increased $189.9 million, or 99.8%, to $380.2 million,
compared with $190.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2012. Excluding the impact of the significant items listed in
the previous table of $13.9 million and $20.9 million in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, adjusted
income from operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $394.1 million, compared with adjusted income from
operations of $211.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2012. Our operating ratio was 75.8% in the year ended
December 31, 2013, compared with an operating ratio of 78.2% in the year ended December 31, 2012. Excluding the impact
of the significant items listed in the table above, our adjusted operating ratio was 74.9% in the year ended December 31,
2013, compared with an adjusted operating ratio of 75.9% in the year ended December 31, 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we generated $413.5 million in cash flows from operating activities. During
the same period, we purchased $249.3 million of property and equipment, including $34.2 million for new business
investments. These payments were partially offset by $33.9 million in cash received from government grants and other
outside parties for capital spending and $6.7 million in proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment. We also
repaid $209.3 million of outstanding debt.

Changes in Operations
United States

RailAmerica, Inc.: On October 1, 2012, we acquired 100% of RailAmerica's outstanding shares for cash at a price of
$27.50 per share and, in connection with such acquisition, we repaid RailAmerica's term loan and revolving credit facility.
The calculation of the total consideration for the RailAmerica acquisition is presented below (in thousands, except per share
amount):

RailAmerica outstanding common stock as of October 1, 2012 49,934
Cash purchase price per share $ 27.50
Equity purchase price $ 1,373,184
Payment of RailAmerica's outstanding term loan and revolving credit facility 659,198
Cash consideration 2,032,382
Impact of pre-acquisition share-based awards 9,400
Total consideration $ 2,041,782

We financed the $1.4 billion cash purchase price for RailAmerica's common stock, the refinancing of $1.2 billion of
G&W's and RailAmerica's outstanding debt prior to the acquisition as well as transaction and financing-related expenses with
$1.9 billion of debt from a new five-year Senior Secured Syndicated Credit Facility Agreement (the Credit Agreement) (see
Note 9, Long-Term Debt, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report), $475.5
million of gross proceeds from the public offerings of our Class A common stock and Tangible Equity Units (TEUs) (see
Note 4, Earnings Per Common Share, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report)
and $350.0 million through a private issuance of Preferred Stock to Carlyle. (See Note 4, Earnings Per Common Share, and
Note 10, Derivative Financial Instruments, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report).

Commencing on October 1, 2012, the shares of RailAmerica were held in an independent voting trust while the STB
considered our control application, which application was approved with an effective date of December 28, 2012.
Accordingly, we accounted for the earnings of RailAmerica using the equity method of accounting while the shares were held
in the voting trust and our acquisition date fair values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities have been included in our
consolidated balance sheets since December 28, 2012. The results from RailAmerica's operations are included among the
various line items in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 and are included in our
North American & European Operations segment.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, a new accounting basis was established for RailAmerica on October 1, 2012 for its
stand-alone financial statements. Condensed consolidated financial information for RailAmerica as of and for the period
ended December 28, 2012 is included in Note 8, Equity Investment, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, as discussed more fully under Contingent Forward Sale Contract in Note 10,
Derivative Financial Instruments, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, we
recorded a $50.1 million non-cash mark-to-market expense related to an investment agreement governing the sale of the
Series A-1 Preferred Stock to Carlyle in connection with the funding of the RailAmerica acquisition (the Investment
Agreement). The expense resulted from the significant increase in G& W's share price between July 23, 2012 (the date we
entered into the Investment Agreement) and September 28, 2012 (the last trading date prior to issuing the Preferred Stock).
On February 13, 2013, we exercised our option to convert all of the outstanding Series A-1 Preferred Stock into 5,984,232
shares of our Class A common stock.

We also incurred $17.0 million and $30.0 million of RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related costs during the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. We recognized $15.6 million of net income from our equity
investment in RailAmerica during the three months ended December 31, 2012. The income from our equity investment
included $3.5 million of after-tax acquisition/integration costs incurred by RailAmerica in the three months ended December
31,2012.

Headquartered in Jacksonville, Florida with approximately 2,000 employees, RailAmerica owned and operated 45 short
line freight railroads in North America with approximately 7,100 miles of track in 28 U.S. states and three Canadian
provinces as of the October 1, 2012 acquisition date.

Columbus & Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc.: In April 2012, our newly formed subsidiary, Columbus &
Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc. (CCH), signed an agreement with Norfolk Southern Railway Company (NS) to lease and
operate a 26-mile segment of NS track that runs from Girard, Alabama to Mahrt, Alabama. Operations commenced on July 1,
2012. CCH interchanges with NS in Columbus, Georgia where our Georgia Southwestern Railroad, Inc. also has operations.
The results from CCH’s operations have been included in our consolidated statements of operations since July 1, 2012 and
are included in our North American & European Operations segment.

Hilton & Albany Railroad, Inc.: In November 2011, our newly formed subsidiary, Hilton & Albany Railroad, Inc.
(HAL), signed an agreement with NS to lease and operate a 56-mile segment of NS track that runs from Hilton, Georgia to
Albany, Georgia. Operations commenced on January 1, 2012. HAL handles primarily overhead traffic between NS and our
following railroads: The Bay Line Railroad, L.L.C.; Chattahoochee Bay Railroad, Inc.; Chattahoochee Industrial Railroad;
and Georgia Southwestern Railroad, Inc. In addition, HAL serves several local agricultural and aggregate customers in
southwest Georgia. The results from HAL’s operations have been included in our consolidated statements of operations since
January 1, 2012 and are included in our North American & European Operations segment.

Arizona Eastern Railway Company: On September 1, 2011, we acquired all of the capital stock of AZER. We paid the
seller $89.5 million in cash at closing, which included a reduction to the purchase price of $0.6 million based on the
estimated working capital adjustment. Following the final working capital adjustment, we recorded an additional $0.8 million
of purchase price in December 2011, which was paid to the seller in January 2012. We incurred $0.6 million of acquisition
costs related to this transaction through December 31, 2011, which were expensed as incurred. The results from AZER’s
operations have been included in our consolidated statements of operations since September 1, 2011, and are included in our
North American & European Operations segment.

Headquartered near Miami, Arizona, with 43 employees and 10 locomotives, AZER owned and operated two rail lines
totaling approximately 200 track miles in southeast Arizona and southwest New Mexico connected by 52 miles of trackage
rights over the Union Pacific Railroad as of the September 1, 2011 acquisition date. The largest customer on AZER is
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. (Freeport-McMoRan). AZER provides rail service to Freeport-McMoRan’s largest
North American copper mine and its North American smelter, hauling copper concentrate, copper anode, copper rod and
sulfuric acid. In conjunction with the transaction, AZER and Freeport-McMoRan entered into a long-term operating
agreement.

Determination of Fair Value

We accounted for the RailAmerica and AZER acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting under U.S.
GAAP. Under the acquisition method of accounting:

¢ The assets and liabilities of RailAmerica were recorded at their respective acquisition-date preliminary fair values by
RailAmerica as of October 1, 2012, which is referred to as the application of push-down accounting, and were
included in G&W's consolidated balance sheet in a single line item following the equity method of accounting as of
that date (see RailAmerica as of October 1, 2012 column in the following table).
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*  Upon approval by the STB for us to control RailAmerica, our preliminary determination of fair values of the
acquired assets and assumed liabilities were consolidated with our assets and liabilities as of December 28, 2012
(see RailAmerica as of December 28, 2012 Preliminary column in the following table). Between October 1, 2012
and December 28, 2012, we recognized income from our equity investment in RailAmerica of $15.6 million and
other comprehensive loss of $2.0 million, primarily resulting from foreign currency translation adjustments. In
addition, we recognized $21.8 million, representing the change in RailAmerica's cash and cash equivalents from
October 1, 2012 to December 28, 2012, as a reduction in net cash paid for the acquisition.

* In 2013, we finalized our determination of fair values of RailAmerica's assets and liabilities (see RailAmerica as of
December 28, 2012 Final column in the following table). The measurement period adjustments to the fair values
were as follows: 1) property and equipment increased $10.7 million, 2) intangible assets decreased $29.9 million, 3)
deferred income tax liabilities, net decreased $16.0 million, 4) noncontrolling interest decreased $5.0 million, 5) all
other assets, net increased $1.3 million and 6) goodwill decreased $3.1 million as an offset to the above-mentioned
changes. This resulted in additional annualized depreciation and amortization expense of approximately $4 million.
We do not consider these adjustments material to our consolidated financial statements taken as a whole and as such,
prior periods were not retroactively adjusted.

»  The assets and liabilities of AZER were recorded at their respective acquisition-date fair values and were
consolidated with those of G&W as of the September 1, 2011 acquisition date (see AZER column in the following
table).

The fair values assigned to the acquired net assets of RailAmerica and AZER were as follows (dollars in thousands):

RailAmerica AZER
As of December 28, 2012 As of
Octol‘?ef' t;f 2012 Preliminary Final Sept;(r)l;l;er .

Cash and cash equivalents $ 86,102 §$ 107,922 $ 107,922 § =
Accounts receivable 104,839 91,424 90,659 3,096
Materials and supplies 6,406 7,325 7.325 —
Prepaid expenses and other 15,146 14,815 15,801 2,319
Deferred income tax assets 49,074 49,074 56,998 -
Property and equipment 1,579,321 1,588,612 1,599,282 90,129
Goodwill 474,115 474,115 471,028 —
Intangible assets 451,100 446,327 416,427 —
Other assets 116 116 116 —
Total assets 2,766,219 2,779,730 2,765,558 95,544
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 143,790 135,117 140,160 5212
Long-term debt 12,158 12,010 12,010 —
Deferred income tax liabilities, net 542,210 551,856 535,864 —
Other long-term liabilities 20,754 19,618 21,439 s
Noncontrolling interest 5.525 5.525 481 —
Net assets $ 2,041,782 $ 2,055604 $ 2,055,604 $ 90,332

Australia

Arrium Limited: In July 2012, our subsidiary, Genesee & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd (GWA), announced that it had
expanded two existing rail haulage contracts with Arrium Limited (formerly OneSteel) to transport additional export iron ore
in South Australia. To support the increased shipments under the two contracts, during the year ended December 31, 2012,
GWA invested A$52.1 million (or $54.1 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2012) to purchase narrow gauge
locomotives and railcars as well as to construct a standard gauge rolling-stock maintenance facility in order to support the
increased shipments under the two contracts. During the year ended December 31, 2013, GWA spent an additional A$22.3
million (or $19.9 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) on these projects and does not expect to invest any
additional capital in these projects in 2014.
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Alice Springs and Cook: In May 2012, GWA entered into an agreement with Asciano Services Pty Ltd (AIO), a
subsidiary of Asciano Pty Ltd, whereby GWA agreed to purchase an intermodal and freight terminal in Alice Springs,
Northern Territory from AIO and GWA agreed to sell AIO certain assets in the township of Cook, South Australia that
included GWA's third-party fuel-sales business. GWA completed the purchase of the Alice Springs intermodal and freight
terminal in June 2012 for A$9.0 million (or $9.2 million at the exchange rate on June 30, 2012) plus A$0.5 million (or $0.6
million at the exchange rate on June 30, 2012) tax liability for stamp duty (an Australian asset transfer tax). Previously, GWA
had leased the facility from AIO. The sale of the assets in Cook closed in September 2012. We received A$4.0 million (or
$4.1 million at the exchange rate on September 30, 2012) in pre-tax cash proceeds from the sale and recognized an after-tax
book gain of A$1.3 million (or $1.3 million at the exchange rate on September 30, 2012).

Canada

Tata Steel Minerals Canada Ltd.: In August 2012, we announced that our newly formed subsidiary, KeRail Inc.
(KeRail), entered into a long-term agreement with Tata Steel Minerals Canada Ltd. (TSMC), for KeRail to provide rail
transportation services to the direct shipping iron ore mine TSMC is developing near Schefferville, Quebec in the Labrador
Trough (the Mine). In addition, KeRail plans to construct an approximately 21-kilometer rail line that will connect the Mine
to the Tshiuetin Rail Transportation (TSH) interchange point in Schefferville. Operated as part of our Canada Region, KeRail
is expected to haul unit trains of iron ore from its rail connection with the Mine, which will then travel over three privately
owned railways to the Port of Sept-iles for export primarily to Tata Steel Limited's European operations. The agreement and
construction are contingent on certain conditions being met, including the receipt of necessary governmental permits and
approvals. Once the track construction has commenced, the rail line is expected to be completed three to six months
thereafter, weather conditions permitting.

Results from Operations

When comparing our results from operations from one reporting period to another, it is important to consider that we
have historically experienced fluctuations in revenues and expenses due to acquisitions, changing economic conditions,
competitive forces, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, one-time freight moves, fuel price fluctuations, customer
plant expansions and shut-downs, sales of property and equipment, derailments and weather-related conditions, such as
hurricanes, cyclones, tornadoes, droughts, heavy snowfall, unseasonably warm or cool weather, freezing and flooding. In
periods when these events occur, our results of operations are not easily comparable from one period to another. Finally,
certain of our railroads have commodity shipments that are sensitive to general economic conditions, such as steel products,
paper products and lumber and forest products as well as product specific economic conditions, such as the availability of
lower priced alternative sources of power generation (coal). Other shipments are relatively less affected by economic
conditions and are more closely affected by other factors, such as inventory levels maintained at customer plants (coal),
winter weather (salt and coal) and seasonal rainfall (agricultural products). As a result of these and other factors, our results
of operations in any reporting period may not be directly comparable to our results of operations in other reporting periods.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2012
Operating Revenues
Overview

Operating revenues were $1.6 billion in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $874.9 million in the year
ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $694.1 million, or 79.3%. The $694.1 million increase in operating revenues
consisted of $635.2 million in revenues from new operations and a $58.9 million, or 6.7%, increase in revenues from existing
operations. New operations are those that were not inciuded in our consolidated financiali resuits for a comparable period in
the prior year. The $58.9 million increase in revenues from existing operations included an increase of $67.9 million in
freight revenues, partially offset by a decrease of $9.0 million in non-freight revenues.

46



The following table breaks down our operating revenues and total carloads into new operations and existing operations
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Increase in Total Increase/(Decrease)
2013 2012 Operations in Existing Operations
Total New Existing Total Currency
Operations Operations Operations Operations Amount % Amount %o Impact
Freight revenues $ 1,177,364 $ 484,691 $ 692,673 $ 624,809 $ 552,555 88.4% $ 67,864 109 % $(16,481)
Non-freight revenues 391,647 150,516 241,131 250,107 141,540  56.6%  (8,976) (3.6)%  (4,456)
Total operating revenues ~ $ 1,569,011  § 635,207 $ 933,804 § 874,916 $ 694,095 79.3% $ 58,888 6.7 % $(20,937)
Carloads 1,886,012 909,768 976,244 927,094 958,918 103.4% 49,150 53%

Freight Revenues

The following table compares freight revenues, carloads and average freight revenues per carload for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands, except average freight revenues per carload):

Average Freight
Revenues Per
Freight Revenues Carloads Carload
2013 2012 2013 2012
% of % of % of % of
Commodity Group Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total 2013 2012
Agricultural
Products $ 130,577 11.1% $ 59,378 9.5% 240,840 12.8% 96,734 104% $ 542 § 614
Metallic Ores* 125,928 10.7% 75,188 12.0% 72,366 3.8% 41918 4.5% 1,740 1,794
Chemicals &
Plastics 128,935 11.0% 55,146 8.8% 163,123 8.7% 68,999 7.4% 790 799
Metals 127,769 10.9% 62,129 9.9% 175,636 9.3% 94,621 10.2% 727 657
Pulp & Paper 112,663 9.6% 65,696 10.5% 169,708 9.0% 101,588 11.0% 664 647
Coal & Coke 110,836 9.4% 70,052 11.2% 323,500 17.2% 168,574 18.2% 343 416
Minerals &
Stone 96,771 82% 48,023 7.7% 219,163 11.6% 130,602 14.1% 442 368
Intermodal** 98,759 8.4% 94,735 15.2% 73,666 3.9% 66,706 72% 1,341 1,420
Lumber &
Forest Products 79,035 6.7% 34,839 5.7% 133,649 7.1% 70,896 7.6% 591 491
Petroleum
Products 65,223 5.5% 25,293 4.1% 108,901 5.8% 26,907 2.9% 599 940
Food or
Kindred
Products 31,982 2.7% 5,230 0.8% 55,084 29% 11,011 1.2% 581 475
Waste 22,750 1.9% 13,622 2.2% 43,166 23% 21,676 2.3% 527 628
Autos & Auto
Parts 26,415 2.2% 8,313 1.3% 36,510 1.9% 10,148 1.2% 724 819
Other 19,721 1.7% 7,165 1.1% 70,700 3.7% 16,714 1.8% 279 429
Total $1,177,364 100.0% $624,809 100.0% 1,886,012 100.0% 927,094 100.0% 624 674

* Carload amounts include carloads and intermodal units

** Carload amounts represent intermodal units

Total freight traffic increased 958,918 carloads, or 103.4%, in 2013 compared with 2012. Carloads from existing
operations increased by 49,150 carloads, or 5.3%, and new operations contributed 909,768 carloads. The existing traffic
increase was principally due to increases of 20,601 carloads of metallic ores traffic, 12,577 carloads of petroleum products
traffic, 7,676 carloads of metals traffic, 6,958 carloads of intermodal traffic and 5,625 carloads of agricultural products traffic,
partially offset by a 4,250 carload decrease in pulp and paper traffic. All remaining traffic decreased by a net 37 carloads.
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Average freight revenues per carload decreased 7.4% to $624 in 2013 compared with 2012. Average freight revenues per
carload from existing operations increased 5.3% to $710. Changes in the commodity mix and fuel surcharges increased
average freight revenues per carload from existing operations by 4.8% and 0.5%, respectively, partially offset by the
depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the United States dollar, which decreased average freight
revenues per carload from existing operations by 2.9%. Other than the impacts from these factors, average freight revenues per
carload from existing operations increased by 2.9%. Average freight revenues per carload were also positively impacted by the
changes in the mix of customers within certain commodity groups, primarily metallic ores.

The following table sets forth freight revenues by commodity group segregated into new operations and existing
operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease) in

Increase in Total Existing
2013 2012 Operations Operations
Total New Existing Total Currency
Commodity Group Operations  Operations Operations  Operations Amount % Amount % Impact
Agricultural
Products $ 130,577 $ 72,704 $ 57,873 $ 59,378 $ 71,199 119.9% $ (1,505) (2.5)% $ (2,383)
Metallic Ores 125,928 6,608 119,320 75,188 50,740 67.5% 44,132 58.7%  (5,166)
Chemicals &
Plastics 128,935 72,356 56,579 55,146 73,789  133.8% 1,433 26 % (188)
Metals 127,769 57,599 70,170 62,129 65,640 105.7% 8,041 12.9 % (352)
Pulp & Paper 112,663 43,531 69,132 65,696 46,967 71.5% 3,436 52 % (319)
Coal & Coke 110,836 40,442 70,394 70,052 40,784 58.2% 342 0.5 % (19)
Minerals & Stone 96,771 46,029 50,742 48,023 48,748 101.5% 2,719 5.7 % (827)
Intermodal 98,759 2 98,757 94,735 4,024 4.2% 4,022 42 % (6,744)
Lumber & Forest
Products 79,035 42,103 36,932 34,839 44,196  126.9% 2,093 6.0 % (82)
Petroleum
Products 65,223 34,926 30,297 25,293 39,930 157.9% 5,004 19.8 % (191)
Food or Kindred
Products 31,982 26,788 5,194 5230 26,752 511.5% (36) (0.7% %)
Waste 22,750 8,821 13,929 13,622 9,128 67.0% 307 23 % 4)
Autos & Auto
Parts 26,415 18,637 7,778 8,313 18,102  217.8% (535) (6.4)% (163)
Other 19,721 14,145 5,576 7,165 12,556 175.2% (1,589) (22.2)% (36)
Total freight
revenues $1,177,364 $484,691 $692,673 $624,809 $552,555 88.4% $ 67,864 109 % $(16,481)

The following information discusses the significant changes in freight revenues from existing operations by commodity
group. Changes in average freight revenues per carload in a commodity group can be impacted by changes in customer rates,
fuel surcharges, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, as well as changes in the mix of customer traffic within a
commodity group.

Agricultural products revenues decreased $1.5 million, or 2.5%. Agricultural products average freight revenues per
carload decreased 8.0%, which decreased revenues by $4.7 million, while traffic volumes increased 5,625 carloads, or 5.8%,
which increased revenues by $3.2 million. The decrease in average freight revenues per carload included a 3.9%, or $2.4
million, negative impact due to the depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the United States dollar. The
carload increase was primarily due to increased export grain traffic in Australia, partially offset by lower volumes of Canadian
winter wheat shipments. Because rates for Australian grain traffic have both a fixed and a variable component, the increase in
Australian grain traffic resulted in lower average freight revenues per carload.
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Metallic ores revenues increased $44.1 million, or 58.7%. Metallic ores traffic volume increased 20,601 carloads, or
49.1%, which increased revenues by $39.3 million, and average freight revenues per carload increased 6.4%, which increased
revenues by $4.8 million. The increase in volume and average freight revenues per carload was primarily due to a new iron ore
contract in South Australia, which began in the fourth quarter of 2012. The increase in average freight revenues per carload
included a 7.9%, or $5.2 million, negative impact due to the depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the
United States dollar.

Metals revenues increased $8.0 million, or 12.9%. Metals traffic volume increased 7,676 carloads, or 8.1%, which
increased revenues by $5.3 million, and average freight revenues per carload increased 4.4%, which increased revenues by
$2.8 million. The carload increase was primarily due to increased shipments in the northeastern and southern United States.

Pulp and paper revenues increased $3.4 million, or 5.2%. Average freight revenues per carload increased 9.7%, which
increased revenues by $6.5 million, while traffic volumes decreased 4,250 carloads, or 4.2%, which decreased revenues by
$3.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2013, as a result of the RailAmerica acquisition, 6,494 carloads of pulp and
paper traffic originating on a RailAmerica railroad that is contiguous to a legacy G&W railroad were reported as new
operations. Otherwise, pulp and paper traffic volume increased 2,244 carloads, or 2.2%, and average freight revenues per
carload increased 3.0%.

Minerals and stone revenues increased $2.7 million, or 5.7%. Average freight revenues per carload increased 3.3%,
which increased revenues by $1.6 million, and traffic volume increased 2,986 carloads, or 2.3%, which increased revenues by
$1.1 million. The increase in volume was primarily related to increased rock salt shipments due to severe winter weather in the
United States, partially offset by reduced traffic in Australia.

Intermodal revenues increased $4.0 million, or 4.2%. Intermodal traffic volume increased 6,958 carloads, or 10.4%,
which increased revenues by $9.3 million, while average freight revenues per carload decreased 5.6%, which decreased
revenues by $5.3 million. The carload increase was primarily due to new business converted to rail from road in Australia and
new business in Canada. The decrease in average freight revenues per carload included a 7.3%, or $6.7 million, negative
impact due to the depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the United States dollar.

Petroleum products revenues increased $5.0 million, or 19.8%. Petroleum products traffic volume increased 12,577
carloads, or 46.7%, which increased revenues by $9.7 million, while average freight revenues per carload decreased 18.4%,
which decreased revenues by $4.6 million. The carload increase was primarily due to a new crude oil customer in the Pacific
Northwest. The decrease in the average freight revenues per carload was due to customer mix.

Freight revenues from all remaining commodities combined increased by $2.0 million.

Non-Freight Revenues

The following table compares non-freight revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in
thousands):

2013 2012
Amount % of Total Amount % of Total
Railcar switching $ 161,942 413% $ 134,929 54.0%
Car hire and rental income 34,721 8.9% 21,280 8.5%
Fuel sales to third parties 386 0.1% 11,868 4.7%
Demurrage and storage 58,312 14.9% 26,125 10.4%
Car repair services 21,078 5.4% 7,934 3.2%
Construction revenues 41,677 10.6% — —%
Other non-freight revenues 73,531 18.8% 47,971 19.2%
Total non-freight revenues $ 391,647 100.0% $ 250,107 100.0%
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The following table sets forth non-freight revenues by new operations and existing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease) in

Increase/(Decrease) in Existing
2013 2012 Total Operations Operations

Total New Existing Total Currency

Operations  Operations  Operations  Operations Amount % Amount % Impact
Railcar switching $161,942 $ 20,528 $141,414 $134929 $ 27,013 200% $ 6,485 48% $ (1,805)
Car hire and rental income 34,721 18250 16471 21,280 13441  632%  (4,809) (22.6)% (502)
Fuel sales to third parties 386 - 386 11,868  (11,482) (96.7)%  (11,482) (96.7)% =
Demurrage and storage 58312 30,537 27,775 26,125 32,187 1232 % 1,650 6.3 % (116)
Car repair services 21,078 12,455 8,623 7,934 13,144 165.7 % 689 8.7 % (22)
Construction revenues 41,677 41,677 = — 41,677  100.0 % — — % -
Other non-freight revenues 73,531 27,069 46462 47971 25560 533 %  (1,509) (3.D%  (2,011)

Total non-freight revenues  §391.647 §150,516 $241,131 $250,107 $141,540 566 % $ (8976) (3.6% $ (4,456)

Total non-freight revenues increased $141.5 million, or 56.6%, to $391.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2013,
compared with $250.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase was attributable to $150.5 million from new
operations, including construction revenues of $41.7 million from Atlas, a rail construction business acquired in the
RailAmerica acquisition, partially offset by a decrease of $9.0 million from existing operations. The decrease in non-freight
revenues from existing operations was principally due to a $11.5 million decrease in fuel sales to third parties as a result of the
sale of our fuel-sales business in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012 and a $4.5 million decrease due to the net
depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars and the Euro relative to the United States dollar, partially offset by higher
railcar switching revenues of $6.5 million primarily due to new and expanded customer contracts in Australia and the United
States.

Operating Expenses
Overview

Operating expenses were $1.2 billion in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $684.6 million in the year
ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $504.2 million, or 73.7%. Labor and benefits increased $188.3 million in the year
ended December 31, 2013, primarily related to the addition of employees from the acquisition of RailAmerica and wage and
benefit increases for existing employees. Of the remaining $316.0 million increase in operating expenses, $304.3 million was
from new operations and $36.9 million was from existing operations, partially offset by a decrease in RailAmerica integration
and acquisition-related costs of $13.0 million and a $12.3 million decrease due to the net depreciation of the Australian and
Canadian dollars and Euro relative to the United States dollar. The increase in operating expenses from existing operations
was driven primarily by lower net gain on the sale of assets and insurance recoveries, as well as increases in trackage rights
expense, depreciation and amortization expense, other operating expenses and materials expense in the year ended
December 31, 2013, partially offset by a decrease in diesel fuel sold to third parties, primarily due to the sale of our fuel-sales
business in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012.

Operating Ratio

Our operating ratio, defined as total operating expenses divided by total operating revenues, was 75.8% in the year
ended December 31, 2013 compared with 78.2% in the year ended December 31, 2012. Income from operations in the year
ended December 31, 2013 included $17.0 million of RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related costs, partially offset by
a $4.7 million net gain on the sale of assets. Income from operations in the year ended December 31, 2012 included $30.0
million of RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related costs, partially offset by an $11.2 million net gain on sale of assets.
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates can have a material impact on our operating revenues and operating expenses.
However, the net impact of these foreign currency translation effects should not have a material impact on our operating ratio.
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The following table sets forth a comparison of our operating expenses in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

(dollars in thousands):

2013 2012
% of % of
Operating Operating

Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Currency Impact
Labor and benefits $ 441,318 28.1% $ 257,618 295% $ (4,579)
Equipment rents 77,825 5.0 % 37,322 43 % (734)
Purchased services 120,871 7.7 % 80,572 9.2 % (3,804)
Depreciation and amortization 141,644 9.0 % 73,405 8.4 % (1,689)
Diesel fuel used in operations 147,172 9.4 % 88,399 10.1 % —
Diesel fuel sold to third parties 368 — % 11,322 1.3 % —
Casualties and insurance 40,781 2.6 % 24,858 2.8 % (611)
Materials 78,243 5.0 % 25,240 2.9 % (178)
Trackage rights 50,911 32 % 28,250 32 % (670)
Net (gain)/loss on sale and
impairment of assets (4,677) 0.3)% (11,225) (1.3)% 238
Gain on insurance recoveries (1,465) 0.1)% (5,760) 0.1H% 368
Other expenses 78,797 5.1 % 44,549 5.1 % (656)
RailAmerica acquisition-
related costs 360 — % 18,592 2.1 % —
RailAmerica integration costs 16,675 1.1 % 11,452 1.3 % —
Total operating expenses $ 1,188,823 758 % $ 684,594 782 % $ (12,315)

Labor and benefits expense was $441.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $257.6 million in
the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $183.7 million, or 71.3%. The increase consisted of $176.8 million due to
an increase in the average number of employees, $8.6 million due to annual wage increases and $2.9 million due to an
increase in benefit expenses (primarily health care costs), partially offset by $4.6 million due to the net depreciation of the
Australian and Canadian dollars and the Euro relative to the United States dollar. Our average number of employees during

the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by approximately 2,060 over the prior year, primarily as a result of the

RailAmerica acquisition.

Equipment rents expense was $77.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $37.3 million in the
year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $40.5 million, or 108.5%. The increase primarily resulted from the newly

acquired RailAmerica railroads.

Purchased services expense, which consists of the costs of services provided by outside contractors for repairs and
maintenance of track property, locomotives, freight cars and other equipment as well as contract labor costs for crewing

services, was $120.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $80.6 million in the year ended

December 31, 2012, an increase of $40.3 million, or 50.0%. The increase was primarily attributable to the newly acquired

RailAmerica railroads.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $141.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $73.4

million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $68.2 million, or 93.0%. The increase was attributable to $62.6
million from new operations, primarily driven by the newly acquired RailAmerica railroads, and an increase of $5.6 million
from existing operations, primarily due to depreciation expense related to new locomotives and railcars purchased in
Australia in 2012.

The cost of diesel fuel used in operations was $147.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with
$88.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $58.8 million, or 66.5%. The increase was primarily
driven by the newly acquired RailAmerica railroads.

The cost of diesel fuel sold to third parties was $0.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $11.3
million in the year ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $11.0 million. The decrease was primarily due to the sale of our
third-party fuel-sales business in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012.
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Casualties and insurance expense was $40.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $24.9
million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $15.9 million, or 64.1%. The increase primarily resulted from
the newly acquired RailAmerica railroads, as well as an increase in derailment expense and insurance premiums in Australia.

Materials expense, which primarily consists of the costs of materials purchased for use in repairing and maintaining our
track property, locomotives, rail cars and other equipment as well as costs for general tools and supplies used in our business,
was $78.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $25.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2012,
an increase of $53.0 million. The increase was attributable to $47.3 million from new operations, including $19.3 million
from Atlas, and a $5.7 million increase from existing operations. The increase from existing operations was due to increased
track property and locomotive repairs in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Trackage rights expense was $50.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $28.3 million in the
year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $22.7 million, or 80.2%. The increase was primarily attributable to $11.4
million from new operations, primarily driven by the newly acquired RailAmerica railroads, and an $11.3 million increase in
existing operations, primarily due to new traffic from an iron ore customer in South Australia that moves over a segment of
track owned by a third party.

Net gain on sale of assets was $4.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $11.2 million in the
year ended December 31,2012,

Gain on insurance recoveries of $1.5 million and $5.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, related primarily to a business interruption claim associated with the Edith River Derailment (described in Note
5, Accounts Receivable and Allowance For Doubtful Accounts, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report).

Other expenses were $78.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $44.5 million in the year
ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $34.2 million, or 76.9%. The increase was primarily attributable to the newly
acquired RailAmerica railroads.

RailAmerica acquisition-related costs of $0.4 million and $18.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 consisted of acquisition and financing-related expenses from the RailAmerica acquisition.

RailAmerica integration costs of $16.7 million and $11.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, consisted primarily of RailAmerica employee severance arrangements.

Other Income (Expensej Items
Interest Income

Interest income was $4.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $3.7 million in the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $67.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with $62.8 million in the year
ended December 31, 2012. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to a higher debt balance resulting from the
acquisition of RailAmerica.

Contingent Forward Sale Contract

In conjunction with our announcement on July 23, 2012 of our plan to acquire RailAmerica, we entered into the
Investment Agreement with Carlyle in order to partially fund the acquisition of RailAmerica. Pursuant to the Investment
Agreement, Carlyle agreed to purchase a minimum of $350.0 million of Preferred Stock, which Preferred Stock was
convertible into our Class A common stock in certain circumstances. The conversion price of the Preferred Stock was set at
approximately $58.49, which was a 4.5% premium to our stock price on the trading day prior to the announcement of the
RailAmerica acquisition. For the period between July 23, 2012 and September 30, 2012, this instrument was accounted for as
a contingent forward sale contract with mark-to-market non-cash income or expense included in our consolidated financial
results and the cumulative effect represented as an asset or liability. Our closing price was $66.86 on September 28, 2012,
which was the last trading day prior to issuing the Preferred Stock, and, accordingly, we recorded a $50.1 million non-cash
mark-to-market expense related to the Investment Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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On February 13, 2013, we exercised our option to convert all of the outstanding Preferred Stock issued to Carlyle in
conjunction with the RailAmerica acquisition into 5,984,232 shares of our Class A common stock. On the conversion date,
we also paid to Carlyle all accrued and unpaid dividends on the Preferred Stock of $2.1 million, as well as cash in lieu of
fractional shares. In November 2013, Carlyle sold all of these outstanding shares of our Class A common stock in a public
offering.

Provision for Income Taxes

Included in our net income for the year ended December 31, 2013 was a $41.0 million benefit associated with the
retroactive extension of the United States Short Line Tax Credit for fiscal year 2012, which was signed into law on January 2,
2013. Excluding the $41.0 million retroactive benefit, our provision for income tax was $87.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013, which represented 27.4% of income before income taxes other than the retroactive benefit. Included in
our income before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2012 was a $50.1 million mark-to-market expense
associated with a contingent forward sale contract, which is a non-deductible expense for income tax purposes. See Note 10,
Derivative Financial Instruments, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for
further details on the contingent forward sale contract. Excluding the $50.1 million mark-to-market expense, our provision
for income tax was $46.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, which represents 34.8% of income before taxes. The
decrease in the effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared with the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to the renewal of the United States Short Line Tax Credit through December
31, 2013. The extension of the United States Short Line Tax Credit produced book income tax benefits of $25.9 million and
$41.0 million for fiscal years 2013 and 2012, respectively. Since the extension became law in 2013, the 2012 impact was
recorded in the first quarter of 2013.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share Attributable to G& W Common Stockholders

Net income was $272.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with net income of $52.4 million in
the year ended December 31, 2012. Our net income in the year ended December 31, 2012 included the $50.1 million mark-
to-market expense associated with the contingent forward sale contract. Our basic EPS were $5.00 with 53.8 million
weighted average shares outstanding in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with basic EPS of $1.13 with 42.7
million weighted average shares outstanding in the year ended December 31, 2012. Our diluted EPS in the year ended
December 31, 2013 were $4.79 with 56.7 million weighted average shares outstanding, compared with diluted EPS in the
year ended December 31, 2012 of $1.02 with 51.3 million weighted average shares outstanding.

The following table sets forth the increase in our weighted average basic shares outstanding for the years ended

December 31, 2013 and 2012 as a result of our 2012 public offering of Class A common stock, the shares issuable upon
settlement of the prepaid stock purchase contract component of the TEUs based on the market price of our Class A common
stock at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and from the February 13, 2013 conversion of the Preferred Stock into
our Class A common stock (see Note 4, Earnings Per Common Share, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report):

2013 2012
Class A common stock offering 3,791,004 1,066,867
Shares issuable upon settlement of the prepaid stock purchase contract component of
the TEUs 2,841,650 850,773
Conversion of Preferred Stock 5,262,845 —

Segment Information

Our various railroad lines are organized into 11 operating regions. All of the regions have similar economic and other
characteristics; however, we present our financial information as two reportable segments — North American & European
Operations and Australian Operations.

The results of operations of our foreign entities are maintained in the respective local currency (the Australian dollar,
the Canadian dollar and the Euro) and then translated into United States dollars at the applicable exchange rates for inclusion
in our consolidated financial statements. As a result, any appreciation or depreciation of these currencies against the United
States dollar can impact our results of operations.
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The following table sets forth our North American & European Operations and Australian Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Revenues:
Freight
Non-freight
Fuel sales to third parties
Total revenues

Operating expenses:
Labor and benefits
Equipment rents
Purchased services
Depreciation and amortization
Diesel fuel used in operations
Diesel fuel sold to third parties
Casualties and insurance
Materials
Trackage rights

Net (gain)/loss on sale and
impairment of assets

Gain on insurance recoveries
Other expenses

RailAmerica acquisition-
related costs

RailAmerica integration costs
Total operating expenses

Income from operations

Operating ratio

Interest expense
Interest income

Contingent forward sale contract
mark-to-market expense

Provision for income taxes

Income from equity investment in
RailAmerica, net

Carloads
Expenditures for additions to

property & equipment, net of grants
from outside parties

2013 2012
North North
American & American &
European Australian Total European Australian Total
Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations
$ 917971 $ 259,393 $1,177,364 $ 412,839 $ 211,970 $ 624,809
325,876 65,385 391,261 173,054 65,185 238,239
— 386 386 - 11,868 11,868
1,243,847 325,164 1,569,011 585,893 289,023 874,916
374,935 66,383 441,318 197,407 60,211 257,618
67,297 10,528 77,825 26,298 11,024 37,322
68,632 52,239 120,871 26,330 54,242 80,572
114,542 27,102 141,644 50,156 23,249 73,405
116,204 30,968 147,172 56,298 32,101 88,399
— 368 368 — 11,322 11,322
28,937 11,844 40,781 16,244 8,614 24,858
75,742 2,501 78,243 23,569 1,671 25,240
29,595 21,316 50,911 17,643 10,607 28,250
(4,491) (186) 4,677 (9,178) (2,047) (11,225)
= (1,465) (1,465) = (5,760) (5,760)
71,297 7,500 78,797 35,695 8,854 44,549
360 — 360 18,592 — 18,592
16,675 — 16,675 11,452 — 11,452
959,725 229,098 1,188,823 470,506 214,088 684,594
$ 284,122 § 96,066 $ 380,188 $ 115387 $ 74935 § 190,322
77.2% 70.5% 75.8% 80.3% 74.1% 78.2%
$ 52,740 $ 15154 $ 67,894 $§ 4599 § 16,849 § 62,845
$ 3,631 § 340 $ 3971 § 3219 § 506 $§ 3,725
$ —  $ — 5 — § 50,106 $ — § 50,106
$ 24,038 $§ 22258 $ 46,296 $ 28451 $ 17951 $ 46,402
$ — 3 —  § — $ 15,557 $ — § 15,557
1,649,914 236,098 1,886,012 723,448 203,646 927,094
$ 163545 $§ 51,860 $ 215405 § 69,636 § 122426 $ 192,062
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Revenues from our North American & European Operations were $1.2 billion in the year ended December 31, 2013,
compared with $585.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $658.0 million, or 112.3%. The increase
in revenues from our North American & European Operations consisted of a $505.1 million increase in freight revenues and a
$152.8 million increase in non-freight revenues, in each case, primarily due to the newly acquired Rail America railroads.

Operating expenses from our North American & European Operations were $959.7 million in the year ended
December 31, 2013, compared with $470.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $489.2 million. In
total, labor and benefits increased $177.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, primarily related to the newly
acquired RailAmerica railroads and wage and benefit increases for existing employees. The remaining $311.7 million
increase in operating expenses was primarily driven by the newly acquired RailAmerica railroads, including $17.0 million of
RailAmerica integration and acquisition-related expenses.

Revenues from our Australian Operations were $325.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared with
$289.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $36.1 million, or 12.5%. The increase in revenues
included a $47.4 million increase in freight revenues, partially offset by an $11.5 million decrease in fuel sales to third
parties. The $47.4 million increase in freight revenues consisted of $35.7 million due to a 32,452, or 15.9%, carload increase
and an $11.8 million, or 5.6%, increase in average freight revenues per carload. The increase in average freight revenues per
carload and volume was primarily driven by the expansion of iron ore shipments and the resumption of traffic in 2013 that
had been halted due to the Edith River Bridge outage in 2012. The $11.5 million decrease in fuel sales to third parties was
primarily due to the sale of our fuel-sales business in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012. The depreciation of the
Australian dollar relative to the United States dollar in the year ended December 31, 2013 compared with the year ended
December 31, 2012 resulted in a $19.4 million decrease in revenues.

Operating expenses from our Australian Operations were $229.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2013,
compared with $214.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, an increase of $15.0 million, or 7.0%. The increase in
operating expenses included increased labor expense, trackage rights expense and additional expenses for fuel and for
maintenance of property and equipment, primarily resulted from the expansion of iron ore shipments in South Australia.
Operating expenses in the year ended December 31, 2013 also included additional depreciation expense resulting from the
purchase of new equipment and an increase in casualties and insurance expense due to an increase in derailment expense and
higher insurance premiums, partially offset by an $11.0 million decrease in diesel fuel sold to third parties, primarily as a
result of the sale of our fuel-sales business in South Australia. Operating expenses included a gain on insurance recoveries of
$1.5 million and $5.8 million in the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, primarily related to a business
interruption claim associated with the 2011 Edith River Derailment (described in Note 5, Accounts Receivable and
Allowance For Doubtful Accounts, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report). The
depreciation of the Australian dollar relative to the United States dollar in the year ended December 31, 2013 compared with
the year ended December 31, 2012 resulted in an $11.5 million decrease in operating expenses.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2011
Operating Revenues

Overview

Operating revenues were $874.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $829.1 million in the year
ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $45.8 million, or 5.5%. The $45.8 million increase in operating revenues consisted
of $22.7 million in revenues from new operations and a $23.1 million, or 2.8%, increase in revenues from existing operations.
New operations are those that were not included in our consolidated financial results for a comparable period in the prior year.
The $23.1 million increase in revenues from existing operations included increases of $20.8 million in freight revenues and
$2.3 million in non-freight revenues.

The following table breaks down our operating revenues and total carloads into new operations and existing operations
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease) in Increase/

Total (Decrease) in Existing
2012 2011 Operations Operations
Total New Existing Total Currency
Operations  Operations  Operations  Operations Amount %o Amount % Impact
Freight revenues $624,809 $ 21,105 $603,704 $582,947 $ 41,862 72 % $ 20,757 36% $§ (257)
Non-freight revenues 250,107 1,625 248,482 246,149 3,958 1.6 % 2333 0.9 % (1,257)
Total operating revenues ~ $874,916 $ 22,730 $852,186 $829,096 $ 45,820 55% $ 23,090 28% $ (1,514)
Carloads 927,094 20,781 906,313 997,048 (69,954) (7.00%  (90,735) 9.1)%
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Freight Revenues

The following table compares freight revenues, carloads and average freight revenues per carload for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in thousands, except average freight revenues per carload):

Average Freight
Revenues Per

Freight Revenues Carloads Carload
2012 2011 2012 2011

% of % of % of % of
Commodity Group Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total 2012 2011
Agricultural
Products $ 59,378 9.5% $ 63,394 10.9% 96,734 10.4% 116,443 11.7% $ 614 §$ 544
Metallic Ores* 75,188 12.0% 56,150 9.7% 41,918 4.5% 32,682 33% 1,794 1,718
Chemicals &
Plastics 55,146 8.8% 47,836 82% 68,999 74% 65,137 6.6% 799 734
Metals 62,129 9.9% 51,410 8.8% 94,621 10.2% 90,088 9.1% 657 571
Pulp & Paper 65,696 10.5% 61,793 10.6% 101,588 11.0% 97,018 9.7% 647 637
Coal & Coke 70,052 11.2% 82,244 14.1% 168,574 18.2% 248,460 24.9% 416 331
Minerals & Stone 48,023 7.7% 48,214 8.3% 130,602 14.1% 138,076 13.8% 368 349
Intermodal** 94,735 15.2% 87,657 15.0% 66,706 72% 61,986 6.2% 1,420 1,414
Lumber & Forest
Products 34,839 5.7% 31,469 5.4% 70,896 7.6% 64,875 6.5% 491 485
Petroleum
Products 25,293 4.1% 22,948 3.9% 26,907 29% 24474 2.5% 940 938
Food or Kindred
Products 5,230 0.8% 4,574 0.8% 11,011 1.2% 10,075 1.0% 475 454
Waste 13,622 2.2% 12,012 21% 21,676 23% 21,246 2.1% 628 565
Autos & Auto
Parts 8,313 1.3% 7,826 1.3% 10,148 1.2% 10,425 1.0% 819 751
Other 7,165 1.1% 5,420 09% 16,714 1.8% 16,063 1.6% 429 337
Total $624,809 100.0% $582,947 100.0% 927,094 100.0% 997,048 100.0% 674 585

* Carload amounts include carloads and intermodal units in the 2012 period

** Carload amounts represent intermodal units

Total freight traffic decreased by 69,954 carloads, or 7.0%, in 2012 compared with 2011. Carloads from existing
operations decreased by 90,735 carloads, or 9.1%, and new operations contributed 20,781 carloads. The existing traffic
decrease was principally due to decreases of 79,886 carloads of coal and coke traffic, 20,618 carloads of agricultural products
traffic and 10,890 carloads of minerals and stone traffic, partially offset by increases of 6,242 carloads of metallic ores traffic,
5,756 carloads of lumber and forest products traffic and 4,720 carloads of intermodal traffic. All remaining traffic increased by
a net 3,941 carloads.

Average freight revenues per carload increased 15.2% to $674 in 2012 compared with 2011. Average freight revenues
per carload from existing operations increased 13.8% to $666. Changes in the commodity mix and higher fuel surcharges
increased average freight revenues per carload from existing operations by 5.9% and 0.5%, respectively, partially offset by the
net depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the United States dollar, which decreased average freight
revenues per carload from existing operations by 0.2%. Other than the impacts from these factors, average freight revenues per
carload from existing operations increased by 7.6%. Average freight revenues per carload were also positively impacted by the
changes in the mix of customers within certain commodity groups, primarily coal and coke traffic, metals traffic, waste traffic
and other commodities.
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The following table sets forth freight revenues by commodity group segregated into new operations and existing
operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in thousands):

(Decrease)/Increase in (Decrease)/Increase
Total in Existing
2012 2011 Operations Operations

Total New Existing Total Currency
Commodity Group Operations Operations Operations Operations Amount % Amount % Impact
Agricultural
Products $ 59378 § 354 § 59,024 § 63394 $ (4,016) (63)% $ (4.370) ©9N% $ 23
Metallic Ores 75,188 4,252 70,936 56,150 19,038 339 % 14,786 26.3 % )]
Chemicals &
Plastics 55,146 5,463 49,683 47,836 7,310 153 % 1,847 39 % (64)
Metals 62,129 3,874 58,255 51,410 10,719 20.9 % 6,845 133 % (80)
Pulp & Paper 65,696 2,880 62,816 61,793 3,903 63 % 1,023 1.7 % (158)
Coal & Coke 70,052 432 69,620 82244  (12,192) (14.8)% (12,624) (15.3)% )
Minerals & Stone 48,023 2,762 45,261 48,214 (191) 0.4)% (2,953) 6.1)% 2
Intermodal 94,735 — 94,735 87,657 7,078 8.1% 7,078 8.1% 124
Lumber & Forest
Products 34,839 479 34,360 31,469 3,370 10.7 % 2,891 92 % (13)
Petroleum
Products 25,293 426 24,867 22,948 2,345 10.2 % 1,919 8.4 % (13)
Food or Kindred
Products 5,230 5 5,225 4,574 656 143 % 651 142 % 2
Waste 13,622 89 13,533 12,012 1,610 134 % 1,521 12.7 % 1
Autos & Auto
Parts 8,313 - 8,313 7,826 487 6.2 % 487 6.2 % (61)
Other 7,165 89 7,076 5,420 1,745 322 % 1,656 30.6 % 5
Total freight
revenues $ 624809 $ 21,105 $ 603,704 $ 582,947 § 41,862 72 % $ 20,757 36% $ (257)

The following information discusses the significant changes in freight revenues by commodity group from existing
operations. Changes in average freight revenues per carload in a commodity group can be impacted by changes in customer
rates, fuel surcharges, net depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the United States dollar, as well as
changes in the mix of customer traffic within a commodity group.

Agricultural products revenues decreased $4.4 million, or 6.9%. Agricultural products traffic volume decreased 20,618
carloads, or 17.7%, which decreased revenues by $12.7 million, while average revenues per carload increased 13.2%, which
increased revenues by $8.3 million. The carload decrease was primarily due to a mechanical failure at an export grain terminal
in Australia and a modal shift from rail to truck in the southern United States. Because rates for Australian grain traffic have
both a fixed and a variable component, the decrease in Australian grain traffic resulted in higher average freight revenues per
carload.

Metallic ores revenues increased $14.8 million, or 26.3%. Effective January 1, 2012, a metallic ores customer in
Australia switched its mode of transportation from using railcars to using containers. As a result, our metallic ores traffic count
increased 6,048 carloads for an equivalent volume of product shipped. Otherwise, metallic ores traffic volume increased 194
carloads, or 0.6%, and average freight revenues per carload increased 25.6%. The carload increase was primarily due to a new
iron ore contract in Australia, partially offset by a decrease in traffic in Canada. The increase in average freight revenues per
carload was primarily driven by higher fuel surcharges and an increase in long-haul iron ore shipments in Australia.

Metals revenues increased $6.8 million, or 13.3%. Average freight revenues per carload increased 11.0%, which
increased revenues by $5.7 million, and metals traffic volume increased 1,773 carloads, or 2.0%, which increased revenues by
$1.1 million. The carload increase was primarily due to the expansion of a plant we serve in the southern United States. The
increase in average freight revenues per carload was primarily due to a change in the mix of customer traffic.
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Coal and coke revenues decreased $12.6 million, or 15.3%. Coal and coke traffic volume decreased 79,886 carloads, or
32.2%, which decreased revenues by $33.0 million, while average freight revenues per carload increased 24.8%, which
increased revenues by $20.4 million. The decrease in traffic was largely driven by a decline in coal haulage traffic and
customer-specific circumstances (such as temporary plant shut-downs, high inventory and a plant closing) as well as by
warm winter weather, low natural gas prices and lower levels of export coal. The increase in average freight revenues per
carload was primarily due to the change in mix of customer traffic.

Minerals and stone revenues decreased $3.0 million, or 6.1%. Minerals and stone traffic volume decreased 10,890
carloads, or 7.9%, which decreased revenues by $3.9 million, while average freight revenues per carload increased 2.0%,
which increased revenues by $0.9 million. The carload decrease was primarily due to a decrease in rock salt shipments due
to high stockpiles as a result of mild 2011-2012 winter weather in the northeastern United States.

Intermodal revenues increased $7.1 million, or 8.1%. Intermodal traffic volume increased 4,720 carloads, or 7.6%,
which increased revenues by $6.7 million. The carload increase was primarily due to increased traffic in Australia and a new
customer in the southern United States.

Lumber and forest products revenues increased $2.9 million, or 9.2%. Lumber and forest products traffic volume
increased 5,756 carloads, or 8.9%, which increased revenues by $2.8 million. The carload increase was primarily due to an
increase in United States housing starts.

Waste revenues increased $1.5 million, or 12.7%. The increase was primarily due to an 11.5% increase in average
freight revenues per carload, which increased revenues by $1.4 million. The increase in average freight revenues per carload
was primarily due to the change in mix of customer traffic.

Other freight revenues increased $1.7 million, or 30.6%. The increase was primarily due to a 26.7% increase in average
freight revenues per carload, which increased revenues by $1.4 million. The increase in average freight revenues per carload
was primarily due to the change in mix of customer traffic.

Freight revenues from all remaining commodities combined increased by $5.9 million.

Non-Freight Revenues

The following table compares non-freight revenues for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in
thousands):

2012 2011
Amount % of Total Amount % of Total
Railcar switching $ 134,929 54.0% $ 128,326 52.1%
Car hire and rental income 21,280 8.5% 21,851 8.9%
Fuel sales to third parties 11,868 4.7% 18,002 7.3%
Demurrage and storage 26,125 10.4% 22,136 9.0%
Car repair services 7,934 3.2% 8,224 3.3%
Other non-freight revenues 47,971 19.2% 47,610 19.4%
Total non-freight revenues $ 250,107 100.0% $ 246,149 100.0%
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The following table sets forth non-freight revenues by new operations and existing operations for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/

Doy Ot
2012 2011 Total Operations Operations
Geratiine__Ciperations_ Obeatio  Operstios. _ Astoit % Avaaunt % gnag

Railcar switching $134929 $§ 732 $134,197 $128326 $ 6,603 51% $ 5871 46 % $ (1,165)
Car hire and rental income 21,280 290 20,990 21,851 G7) (2.6)% 861)  (3.9% 4
Fuel sales to third parties 11,868 — 11,868 18,002 6,134)  (4.1)% (6,134 (34.1)% -
Demurrage and storage 26,125 346 25779 22,136 3,989 18.0 % 3,643 16.5 % (28)
Car repair services 7,934 251 7,683 8,224 (290)  (3.5)% (541)  (6.6)% (15)
Other non-freight revenues 47,971 6 47,965 47,610 361 0.8 % 355 0.7 % (53)
Total non-freight revenues ~ $250,107 $ 1,625 $248,482 $246,149 § 3,958 1.6% $ 2,333 09% $ (1,257)

Non-freight revenues increased $4.0 million, or 1.6%, to $250.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared
with $246.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2011. The increase in non-freight revenues was attributable to $2.3
million from existing operations and $1.6 million from new operations. The increase in existing operations was principally due
to higher railcar switching revenues of $5.9 million due to new and expanded customer service contracts in Australia and the
United States, an increase in demurrage and storage revenues of $3.6 million due to an increase in the number of third-party
railcars being stored in the United States and Canada, partially offset by a $6.1 million decrease in fuel sales to third parties
due to the sale of our fuel-sales business in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012 and a $1.3 million decrease due to the
net depreciation of foreign currencies relative to the United States dollar.

Operating Expenses
Overview

Operating expenses were $684.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $637.3 million in the
year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $47.3 million, or 7.4%. The increase in operating expenses was attributable to
$33.9 million from existing operations and $13.4 million from new operations. The increase in existing operations was
primarily due to $18.6 million of acquisition-related expenses from the RailAmerica acquisition, $11.5 million of severance
costs and expenses from the acceleration of stock-based compensation of RailAmerica employees and a $17.9 million increase
in labor and benefits, partially offset by a $7.8 million decrease in equipment rents, a $5.6 million increase in net gain on sale
of assets and a $4.7 million increase in gain on insurance recoveries. In addition, the net depreciation of foreign currencies
relative to the United States dollar resulted in a $0.8 million decrease in operating expenses from existing operations.

Operating Ratio

Our operating ratio, defined as total operating expenses divided by total operating revenues, was 78.2% in the year
ended December 31, 2012 compared with 76.9% in the year ended December 31, 2011. Included in our operating ratio
calculation for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $30.0 million of acquisition and integration-related costs associated
with the acquisition of RailAmerica and severance costs and expenses from the acceleration of stock-based compensation of
RailAmerica employees. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates can have a material impact on our operating revenues

impact on our operating ratio.
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The following table sets forth a comparison of our operating expenses in the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

(dollars in thousands):

2012 2011
% of % of
Operating Operating
Amount Revenues Amount Revenues Currency Impact

Labor and benefits 257,618 295% $ 236,152 285% $ (437)
Equipment rents 37,322 43 % 43,885 53 % (22)
Purchased services 80,572 92 % 78,741 9.5 % (160)
Depreciation and amortization 73,405 84 % 66,481 8.0 % (75)
Diesel fuel used in operations 88,399 10.1 % 88,499 10.7 % =
Diesel fuel sold to third parties 11,322 1.3 % 16,986 2.0 % —
Casualties and insurance 24,858 2.8 % 22,469 2.7 % 44
Materials 25,240 29 % 26,419 32 % 69)
Trackage rights 28,250 32 % 23,066 2.8 % (64)
Net (gain)/loss on sale and

impairment of assets (11,225) (1.3)% (5,660) 0.1% (16)
Gain on insurance recoveries (5,760) 0.7)% (1,061) (0.1)% 59
Other expenses 44,549 51 % 41,340 5.0 % (52)
RailAmerica acquisition-related

costs 18,592 2.1 % - — % —
RailAmerica integration costs 11,452 1.3 % — —% =
Total operating expenses $ 684,594 782 % $ 637,317 76.9 % $ (792)

Labor and benefits expense was $257.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $236.2 million in
the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $21.5 million, or 9.1%, of which $17.5 million was from existing operations
and $4.0 million was from new operations. The increase from existing operations consisted of $8.2 million due to an increase
in the average number of employees, $5.9 million from annual wage increases and $3.8 million of benefit increases (primarily
health care costs), partially offset by $0.4 million due to the net depreciation of the Australian and Canadian dollars and the
Euro relative to the United States dollar. Our average number of employees during the year ended December 31, 2012
increased by 50 employees compared with our average number of employees during the year ended December 31, 2011.

Equipment rents expense was $37.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $43.9 million in the
year ended December 31, 2011, a decrease of $6.6 million, or 15.0%. The decrease was primarily due to the replacement of
leased locomotives in Australia with new owned units and a decrease in freight car rents in the United States, which was
partially offset by $1.3 million from new operations.

Purchased services expense, which consists of the costs of services provided by outside contractors for repairs and
maintenance of track property, locomotives, freight cars and other equipment as well as contract labor costs for crewing and
drayage services, was $80.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $78.7 million in the year ended
December 31, 2011, an increase of $1.8 million, or 2.3%. The increase was primarily related to increased use of contract
services for repairs and maintenance of the locomotive and railcar fleets in Australia, partially offset by the decrease in
expense related to the sale of our drayage business in 2011.

Depreciation and amortization expense was $73.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $66.5
million in the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $6.9 million, or 10.4%. The increase was attributable to a $4.9
million increase from existing operations, primarily due to new locomotives and railcars in Australia, and $2.0 million from
new operations.

The cost of diesel fuel used in operations was $88.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $88.5
million in the year ended December 31, 2011, a decrease of $0.1 million. The decrease was attributable to a $2.6 million
decrease in existing operations, partially offset by a $2.5 million increase in new operations. The decrease from existing
operations was composed of $5.7 million due to a 6.3% decrease in diesel fuel consumption, primarily related to a 9.1%
decrease in carloads, partially offset by $3.1 million from a 3.5% increase in average fuel cost per gallon.
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The cost of diesel fuel sold to third parties was $11.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with
$17.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2011, a decrease of $5.7 million, or 33.3%. The decrease was primarily due to
the sale of our third-party fuel-sales business South Australia in the third quarter 0of 2012,

Net gain on sale of assets was $11.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $5.7 million in the
year ended December 31, 2011. The increase was primarily attributable to a $5.3 million gain on sale of land and track in
Canada and a $1.8 million gain on sale of certain assets in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012.

Gain on insurance recoveries in the year ended December 31, 2012 of $5.8 million was related primarily to a business
interruption claim associated with the Edith River Derailment (described in Note 5, Accounts Receivable and Allowance For
Doubtful Accounts, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report). Gain on insurance
recoveries in the year ended December 31, 2011 of $1.1 million related to a business interruption claim associated with
Cyclone Carlos.

Other expenses were $44.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $41.3 million in the year ended
December 31, 2011, an increase of $3.2 million, or 7.8%. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in property tax
expenses and $0.9 million from new operations.

RailAmerica acquisition-related costs in the year ended December 31, 2012 of $18.6 million consisted of acquisition and
financing-related expenses from the RailAmerica acquisition.

RailAmerica integration costs in the year ended December 31, 2012 of $11.5 million consisted primarily of severance
costs and expenses from the acceleration of stock-based compensation of RailAmerica employees.

Other Income (Expense) Items
Interest Income

Interest income was $3.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $3.2 million in the year ended
December 31, 2011.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $62.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with $38.6 million in the year ended
December 31, 2011. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to our Credit Agreement entered into in conjunction
with the acquisition of RailAmerica, including a $12.6 million make-whole payment resulting from the redemption of pre-
existing senior notes, the write-off of $0.5 million of debt issuance costs and higher outstanding debt due to the acquisition.

Contingent Forward Sale Contract

In conjunction with our announcement on July 23, 2012 of our plan to acquire RailAmerica, we entered into the
Investment Agreement with Carlyle in order to partially fund the acquisition of RailAmerica. Pursuant to the Investment
Agreement, Carlyle agreed to purchase a minimum of $350.0 million of Preferred Stock, which Preferred Stock was
convertible into our Class A common stock in certain circumstances. The conversion price of the Preferred Stock was set at
approximately $58.49, which was a 4.5% premium to our stock price on the trading day prior to the announcement of the
RailAmerica acquisition. For the period between July 23, 2012 and September 30, 2012, this instrument was accounted for as
a contingent forward sale contract with mark-to-market non-cash income or expense included in our consolidated financial
results and the cumulative effect represented as an asset or liability. Our closing price was $66.86 on September 28, 2012,
which was the last trading day prior to issuing the Preferred Stock, and, accordingly, we recorded a $50.1 million non-cash
mark-to-market expense related to the Investment Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2012. See Note 10, Derivative
Financial Instruments, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for further details
on the contingent forward sale contract and Note 4, Earnings Per Common Share, to our Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report for details regarding the conversion of the Preferred Stock.
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Provision for Income Taxes

The $50.1 million mark-to-market expense associated with the contingent forward sale contract included in our income
before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2012 is a non-deductible expense for income tax purposes. As a result,
our provision for income tax was $46.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, which represents 34.8% of income
before income taxes other than the mark-to-market expense. Our effective income tax rate was 24.4% in the year ended
December 31, 2011. The increase in the effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily
attributable to the expiration of the United States Short Line Tax Credit on December 31, 2011. On January 2, 2013, the United
States Short Line Tax Credit was extended for 2012 and 2013. The extension of the United States Short Line Tax Credit
produced book income tax benefits of $41.0 million for fiscal year 2012 and was recorded in the first quarter of 2013 when the
extension became law.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share Attributable to G& W Common Stockholders

Net income was $52.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with net income of $119.5 million in the
year ended December 31, 2011. Our net income in the year ended December 31, 2012 included the $50.1 million mark-to-
market expense associated with the contingent forward sale contract. Our basic EPS were $1.13 with 42.7 million weighted
average shares outstanding in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with basic EPS of $2.99 with 39.9 million
weighted average shares outstanding in the year ended December 31, 2011. Our diluted EPS in the year ended December 31,
2012 were $1.02 with 51.3 million weighted average shares outstanding, compared with diluted EPS in the year ended
December 31, 2011 of $2.79 with 42.8 million weighted average shares outstanding. The weighted average shares outstanding
in the year ended December 31, 2012 included 1,066,867 shares as a result of the public offering of Class A common stock and
850,773 shares as a result of the public offering of TEUs, which both took place in September of 2012.

Segment Information

Our various railroad lines are organized into 11 operating regions. Since all of the regions have similar characteristics,
they previously had been aggregated into one reportable segment. Beginning January 1, 2011, we decided to present our
financial information as two reportable segments — North American & European Operations and Australian Operations.

The results of operations of our foreign entities are maintained in the respective local currency (the Australian dollar, the
Canadian dollar and the Euro) and then translated into United States dollars at the applicable exchange rates for inclusion in
our consolidated financial statements. As a result, any appreciation or depreciation of these currencies against the United
States dollar can impact our results of operations.
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The following table sets forth our North American & European Operations and Australian Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in thousands):

2012 2011
North North
American & American &
European Australian Total European Australian Total
Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations Operations
Revenues:
Freight $ 412,839 $ 211,970 $ 624,809 $ 388,797 § 194,150 § 582,947
Non-freight 173,054 65,185 238,239 168,824 59,323 228,147
Fuel sales to third parties — 11,868 11,868 — 18,002 18,002
Total revenues 585,893 289,023 874,916 557,621 271,475 829,096
Operating expenses
Labor and benefits 197,407 60,211 257,618 186,467 49,685 236,152
Equipment rents 26,298 11,024 37,322 26,460 17,425 43,885
Purchased services 26,330 54,242 80,572 27,911 50,830 78,741
Depreciation and amortization 50,156 23,249 73,405 47,218 19,263 66,481
Diesel fuel used in operations 56,298 32,101 88,399 57,394 31,105 88,499
Diesel fuel sold to third parties — 11,322 11,322 — 16,986 16,986
Casualties and insurance 16,244 8,614 24,858 14,710 7,759 22,469
Materials 23,569 1,671 25,240 24,138 2,281 26,419
Trackage rights 17,643 10,607 28,250 14,368 8,698 23,066
Net (gain)/loss on sale and
impairment of assets (9,178) (2,047) (11,225) (5,167) (493) (5,660)
Gain on insurance recoveries - (5,760) (5,760) (43) (1,018) (1,061)
Other expenses 35,695 8,854 44,549 34,519 6,821 41,340
RailAmerica acquisition-related
costs 18,592 — 18,592 — — =
RailAmerica integration costs 11,452 - 11,452 — — =
Total operating expenses 470,506 214,088 684,594 427,975 209,342 637,317
Income from operations $ 115387 § 74,935 § 190,322 § 129,646 § 62,133 §$191,779
Operating ratio 80.3% 74.1% 78.2% 76.8% 77.1% 76.9%
Interest expense $ 45996 $ 16,849 $ 62,845 $§ 23,171 $ 15446 $ 38,617
Interest income $ 3219 $ 506 $ 3725 $ 2950 § 293 $§ 3,243
Contingent forward sale mark-to-
market expense $ 50,106 $ — % 50,106 $ — 3 — o
Provision for income taxes $ 28451 $ 17951 § 46,402 $ 26,181 $ 12,350 $ 38,531
Income from equity investment in
RailAmerica, net $ 15,557 §$ — % 15557 % $ $
Carloads 723,448 203,646 927,094 785,377 211,671 997,048
Expenditures for additions to
property & equipment, net of grants
from outside parties $ 69,636 $ 122426 $ 192,062 $ 59,383 § 96,643 $ 156,026
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Revenues from our North American & European Operations were $585.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2012,
compared with $557.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $28.3 million, or 5.1%. The $28.3 million
increase in revenues from our North American & European Operations included a $24.0 million increase in freight revenues
and a $4.2 million increase in non-freight revenues. The $24.0 million increase in freight revenues consisted of an increase of
$2.9 million from existing operations and $21.1 million from new operations.

Operating expenses from our North American & European Operations were $470.5 million in the year ended
December 31, 2012, compared with $428.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $42.5 million, or
9.9%. The $42.5 million increase in operating expenses from our North American & European Operations included $29.1
million from existing operations and $13.4 million from new operations. The $29.1 million increase in operating expenses
from existing operations was primarily due to an increase of $18.6 million of RailAmerica acquisition-related costs and $11.5
million of RailAmerica integration expenses, partially offset by a $1.3 million decrease due to the depreciation of the
Canadian dollar and the Euro relative to the United States dollar.

Revenues from our Australian Operations were $289.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, compared with
$271.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $17.5 million. The increase in revenues included a $17.8
million increase in freight revenues and a $5.9 million increase in non-freight revenues, partially offset by a $6.1 million
decrease in fuel sales to third parties. The $17.8 million increase in freight revenues was primarily driven by a new iron ore
contact in South Australia which began in October 2012. The $5.9 million increase in non-freight revenues was primarily
driven by an increased level of activity with existing customers. The $6.1 million decrease in fuel sales to third parties was
primarily due to the sale of our third-party fuel-sales business in South Australia in the third quarter of 2012.

Operating expenses from our Australian Operations were $214.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2012,
compared with $209.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2011, an increase of $4.7 million. The increase in operating
expenses primarily resulted from the additional resources required to support a new iron ore contract in South Australia,
including approximately 50 new employees and additional depreciation expense resulting from the purchase of new
equipment, as well as an increase in other operating expenses primarily due to increased trackage rights and property tax
expenses, partially offset by higher insurance recoveries in 2012 primarily related to a business interruption claim associated
with the Edith River Derailment (described in Note 5, Accounts Receivable and Allowance For Doubtful Accounts, to our
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report) and a decrease in equipment rents due to the
replacement of leased locomotives with new owned units.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents on hand of $62.9 million and $64.8 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Based on current expectations, we believe our cash and other liquid assets, anticipated future cash flows,
availability under our Credit Agreement, access to debt and equity capital markets and sources of available financing will be
sufficient to fund expected operating, capital and debt service requirements and other financial commitments for the
foreseeable future. During 2014, we expect to fund the pending acquisition of the assets comprising the western end of the
DM&E with borrowings under our Credit Agreement.

At December 31, 2013, we had long-term debt, including current portion, of $1.6 billion, which comprised 43.1% of
our total capitalization, and $406.0 million of unused borrowing capacity. At December 31, 2012, we had long-term debt,
including current portion, totaling $1.9 billion, which comprised 49.5% of our total capitalization and $396.3 million of
unused borrowing capacity.

During 2013, 2012 and 2011, we generated $413.5 million, $170.7 million and $173.5 million, respectively, of cash
from operating activities. Changes in working capital decreased net cash flows from operating activities by $25.5 million,
$30.9 million and $36.8 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The $25.5 million change for 2013 was attributable to
a $44.5 million increase in accounts receivable, partially offset by a $16.4 million increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses. The 2013 period included $12.9 million in cash paid for expenses related to the integration of RailAmerica. Of the
$30.9 million change in working capital for 2012, $30.1 million was due to a reduction in accounts payable and accrued
expenses, which included $9.1 million associated with the settlement of a cross-currency swap that matured in December
2012 and $6.3 million in net cash payments related to the December 2011 Edith River derailment. Of the $36.8 million
change in working capital for 2011, $25.6 million was due to a reduction in accounts payable and accrued expenses and $12.3
million was due to an increase in accounts receivable driven by an increase in business in 2011. The $25.6 million reduction
in accounts payable and accrued expenses included $13.0 million associated with the payment of Australian stamp duty for
the acquisition of FreightLink in Australia and $10.5 million due to the timing of the payment of Australian income taxes.
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During 2013, 2012 and 2011, our cash used in investing activities was $208.7 million, $2.1 billion and $235.1 million,
respectively. For 2013, primary drivers of cash used in investing activities were $249.3 million of cash used for capital
expenditures, including $34.2 million for new business investments, partially offset by $33.9 million in cash received from
grants from outside parties for capital spending and $6.7 million in cash proceeds from the sale of property and equipment.
For 2012, primary drivers of cash used in investing activities were $1.9 billion of net cash paid for acquisitions, primarily
related to the acquisition of RailAmerica, and $231.7 million of cash used for capital expenditures, including $101.9 million
for new business investments in Australia, partially offset by $39.6 million in cash received from grants from outside parties
and $15.3 million in cash proceeds from the sale of property and equipment. For 2011, primary drivers of cash used in
investing activities were $178.7 million of cash used for capital expenditures, including $78.2 million for new business
investments in Australia, and $89.9 million in net cash paid for acquisitions, primarily related to the acquisition of AZER,
partially offset by $22.6 million in cash received from grants from outside parties and $9.5 million in proceeds from the
disposition of property and equipment.

During 2013, our cash used in financing activities was $205.9 million, compared with cash provided by financing
activities in 2012 and 2011 of $2.0 billion and $62.0 million, respectively. For 2013, primary drivers of cash used in
financing activities were a net decrease in outstanding debt of $209.3 million, $2.8 million of debt amendment costs and $2.1
million of dividends paid to Preferred Stockholders, partially offset by net cash inflows of $8.3 million from exercises of
stock-based awards. For 2012, primary drivers of cash provided by financing activities were a net increase in outstanding
debt of $1.2 billion, net proceeds of $234.3 million from the sale of our Class A common stock, net proceeds of $222.9
million from the sale of our TEUs, net proceeds of $349.4 million from the issuance of our Preferred Stock and net cash
inflows of $20.3 million from exercises of stock-based awards, partially offset by $38.8 million of debt amendment costs. For
2011, primary drivers of cash provided by financing activities were a net increase in outstanding debt of $47.9 million and net
cash inflows of $18.9 million from exercises of stock-based awards, partially offset by $4.7 million of debt amendment costs.

Purchase of Assets Comprising Western End of Canadian Pacific's Dakota, Minnesota & Eastern Rail Line

On January 2, 2014, we and Canadian Pacific (CP) jointly announced our entry pursuant to an agreement under which
we will purchase the assets comprising the western end of CP's Dakota, Minnesota & Eastern Railroad (DM&E) rail line for
a cash purchase price of approximately $210 million, subject to certain adjustments including the purchase of materials and
supplies, equipment and vehicles. We intend to fund the acquisition with borrowings under our existing credit facilities.

The asset acquisition is expected to close by mid-2014, subject to approval of the STB and the satisfaction of other
customary closing conditions. Upon closing, our new railroad will be named Rapid City, Pierre & Eastern Railroad. We
expect to hire approximately 180 employees to staff the new railroad and anticipate these employees will come primarily
from those currently working on the rail line.

The western end encompasses approximately 670 miles of CP's current operations between Tracy, Minnesota and Rapid
City, South Dakota; north of Rapid City to Colony, Wyoming; south of Rapid City to Dakota Junction, Nebraska; and
connecting branch lines as well as trackage from Dakota Junction to Crawford, Nebraska, currently leased to the Nebraska
Northwestern Railroad (NNW). Customers on the line ship approximately 52,000 carloads annually of grain, bentonite clay,
ethanol, fertilizer and other products. The new rail operation will have the ability to interchange with CP, Union Pacific,
BNSF and NNW.

RailAmerica Acquisition and Related Financings

On October 1, 2012, we announced the closing of our acquisition of RailAmerica and entered into the Credit
Agreement, which was comprised of $1.9 billion in term loans and a $425.0 million revolving credit facility. We financed the
$1.4 biilion cash purchase price for RailAmerica's shares, the refinancing of $1.2 billion of our and RailAmerica’s debt, as
well as transaction and financing-related expenses, with $1.8 billion of debt from our Credit Agreement, $475.5 million of
gross proceeds from our public offerings of Class A common stock and TEUs and $350.0 million of gross proceeds through
the private issuance of Preferred Stock to Carlyle, as more fully described in Note 3, Changes in Operations, and Note 9,
Long-Term Debt, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

On October 1, 2012, in connection with the RailAmerica acquisition, we repaid in full all outstanding loans, together
with interest and all other amounts due under our previously outstanding credit agreement. In addition, we repaid in full our
outstanding Series B senior notes on October 1, 2012, along with an aggregate $12.6 million make-whole payment. In
connection with such repayment, we wrote off $3.2 million of unamortized debt issuance costs.
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As part of the financing for the RailAmerica acquisition, on October 1, 2012, we completed the issuance of 350,000
shares of Preferred Stock at an issuance price of $1,000.00 per share for $349.4 million, net of issuance costs, to Carlyle
pursuant to the Investment Agreement. Dividends on the Preferred Stock were cumulative and payable quarterly in arrears in
an amount equal to 5.00% per annum of the issuance price per share. Each share of the Preferred Stock was convertible at
any time, at the option of the holder, into approximately 17.1 shares of Class A common stock, subject to customary
conversion adjustments. The Preferred Stock was also mandatorily convertible into the relevant number of shares of Class A
common stock on the second anniversary of the date of issuance, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.
Furthermore, we had the ability to convert some or all of the Preferred Stock prior to the second anniversary of the date of
issue of the Preferred Stock if the closing price of our Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange exceeded
130% of the conversion price (or $76.03) for 30 consecutive trading days, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions.
The conversion price of the Preferred Stock was set at approximately $58.49, which was a 4.5% premium to our stock price
prior to the announcement of the RailAmerica acquisition.

As of February 12, 2013, the closing price of our Class A common stock had exceeded $76.03 for 30 consecutive
trading days. On February 13, 2013, we exercised our option to convert all of the outstanding Preferred Stock issued to
Carlyle into 5,984,232 shares of our Class A common stock. On the conversion date, we also paid to Carlyle all accrued and
unpaid dividends on the Preferred Stock of $2.1 million, as well as cash in lieu of fractional shares. In November 2013,
Carlyle sold all of these outstanding shares of our Class A common stock in a public offering.

In connection with the funding of the RailAmerica acquisition described above, on September 19, 2012, we issued
2,300,000 5.00% TEUs. Each TEU initially consisted of a prepaid stock purchase contract (Purchase Contract) and a senior
amortizing note due October 1, 2015 (Amortizing Note) issued by us, which had an initial principal amount of $14.1023 per
Amortizing Note. As of December 31, 2013, the Amortizing Notes had an aggregate principal amount of $21.9 million. On
each January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1, we are required to pay holders of Amortizing Notes equal quarterly
installments of $1.25 per Amortizing Note (except for the January 1, 2013 installment payment, which was $1.4167 per
Amortizing Note), which cash payments in the aggregate will be equivalent to a 5.00% cash payment per year with respect to
each $100 stated amount of the TEUs. Each installment constitutes a payment of interest (at an annual rate of 4.50%) and a
partial repayment of principal on the Amortizing Note. The Amortizing Notes have a scheduled final installment payment
date of October 1, 2015. If we elect to settle the Purchase Contracts early, holders of the Amortizing Notes will have the right
to require us to repurchase such holders' Amortizing Notes, except in certain circumstances as described in the indenture
governing the Amortizing Notes.

Unless settled or redeemed earlier, each Purchase Contract will automatically settle on October 1, 2015 (subject to
postponement in certain limited circumstances) and we will deliver a number of shares of our Class A common stock based
on the applicable market value of our Class A common stock, as defined in the Purchase Contract, which will be between
1.2355 shares and 1.5444 shares (subject to adjustment) per each $100 stated amount of the TEUs based on our share price at
the time of settlement. Each TEU may be separated into its constituent Purchase Contract and Amortizing Note after the
initial issuance date of the TEU, and the separate components may be combined to create a TEU. The Amortizing Note
component of the TEU is recorded as debt and the Purchase Contract component of the TEU is recorded in equity as
additional paid-in capital. On September 19, 2012, we recorded $197.6 million, the initial fair value of the Purchase
Contracts, as additional paid-in capital, which was partially offset by $6.1 million of underwriting discounts and commissions
and offering expenses.

Our basic and diluted earnings per share calculations reflect the weighted average shares issuable upon settlement of the
Purchase Contract component of the TEUs. For purposes of determining the number of shares included in the calculation, we
used the market price of our Class A common stock at the period end date.

Cash Repatriation

At December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $62.9 million, of which $26.1 million was held in our
foreign subsidiaries. We file a consolidated United States federal income tax return that includes all of our United States
subsidiaries. Each of our foreign subsidiaries files income tax returns in each of its respective countries. No provision is made
for the United States income taxes applicable to the undistributed earnings of controlled foreign subsidiaries as it is the
intention of management to fully utilize those earnings in the operations of foreign subsidiaries. If the earnings were to be
distributed in the future, those distributions may be subject to United States income taxes (appropriately reduced by available
foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries; however, the amount of the tax and credits is
not practically determinable. The amount of undistributed earnings of our controlled foreign subsidiaries as of December 31,
2013 was $268.9 million.
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Credit Agreement

As of October 1, 2012, the Credit Agreement included a $425.0 million revolving credit facility, a $1.6 billion United
States term loan, a C$24.6 million ($25.0 million at the exchange rate on October 1, 2012) Canadian term loan and an
A$202.9 million ($210.0 million at the exchange rate on October 1, 2012) Australian term loan. The revolving credit facility
also includes borrowing capacity for letters of credit and for borrowings on same-day notice, referred to as swingline loans.
The Credit Agreement has a maturity date of October 1, 2017.

The Credit Agreement allows for borrowings under the revolving credit facility in United States dollars, Euros,
Canadian dollars and Australian dollars. Under the revolving credit facility, the applicable borrowing spread for the United
States base rate loans and Canadian base rate loans under the Credit Agreement initially were 1.50% over the base rate
through December 31, 2012 and ranged from 0.50% to 1.75% over the base rate depending upon our total leverage ratio
through March 27, 2013. The applicable borrowing spread in the case of the United States, Canadian and European loans is
the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and the Australian loans is the Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate (BBSW), which
were initially 2.50% over the LIBOR and BBSW rate through December 31, 2012 and ranged from 1.50% to 2.75% over
these rates depending upon our total leverage ratio through March 27, 2013. BBSW is the wholesale interbank reference rate
within Australia, which we believe is generally considered the Australian equivalent to LIBOR. On March 28, 2013, we
entered into Amendment No. 1 (the Amendment) to the Credit Agreement. As a result of the Amendment, the applicable
borrowing spread for the United States and Canadian base rate loans under the revolving credit facility were reduced to
0.25% to 1.50% over the base rate and the applicable borrowing spread for the United States, Canadian, European and
Australian term loans were reduced to 1.25% to 2.50% over the respective LIBOR and BBSW rates depending upon our total
leverage ratio.

The existing term loans and loans under the revolving credit facility are guaranteed by substantially all of our United
States subsidiaries for the United States guaranteed obligations and by substantially all of our foreign subsidiaries for the
foreign guaranteed obligations. The Credit Agreement is collateralized by a substantial portion of the real and personal
property assets of our domestic subsidiaries that have guaranteed the United States obligations under the Credit Agreement
and a substantial portion of the personal property assets of our foreign subsidiaries that have guaranteed the foreign
obligations under the Credit Agreement.

During the three months ended December 31, 2012, we made prepayments on our United States term loan of $47.5
million, prepayments on our Canadian term loan of C$10.0 million (or $10.0 million at the exchange rate on the date it was
paid) and prepayments on our Australian term loan of A$18.0 million (or $18.6 million at the exchange rate on the date it was
paid). We also made scheduled quarterly principal payments of $16.4 million on our United States term loan, C$0.2 million
(or $0.2 million at the average exchange rate during the period in which paid) on our Canadian term loan and A$2.0 million
(or $2.1 million at the average exchange rate during the period in which paid) on our Australian term loan during the three
months ended December 31, 2012,

In March 2013, we prepaid in full the remaining balance on our Canadian term loan, which resulted in the write-off of
unamortized deferred financing costs of $0.5 million. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2013, we made
prepayments of $79.0 million and scheduled quarterly principal payments totaling $63.7 million on our United States term
loan. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we made prepayments of A$24.0 million (or $23.6 million at the average
exchange rates during the periods in which paid) and scheduled quarterly principal payments totaling A$8.1 million (or $7.7
million at the average exchange rates during the periods in which paid) on our Australian term loan.

As of December 31, 2013, we had outstanding term loans of $1.4 billion in the United States with an interest rate of
1.92% and A$150.8 million in Australia (or $134.4 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) with an interest rate
of 4.40%. As of December 31, 2013, we had outstanding revolving credit facilities of $11.0 million in the United States with
an interest rate of 1.92% and €3.6 million in Europe (or $4.9 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) with an
interest rate of 1.97%.

In addition to paying interest on any outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement, we are required to pay a
commitment fee in respect of the unutilized portion of the commitments under the revolving credit facility. The commitment
fee rate initially was 0.50% per annum through December 31, 2012 and will range from 0.25% to 0.50% depending upon our
total leverage ratio thereafter. We also pay customary letter of credit and agency fees.
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The Credit Agreement also includes (a) a $45.0 million sub-limit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and
(b) sub-limits for swingline loans including (i) up to $30.0 million under the United States revolving credit facility, (ii) up to
$15.0 million under each of the Canadian revolving credit facility and the Australian revolving credit facility and (iii) up to
$10.0 million under the Euro revolving credit facility.

The Credit Agreement contains a number of customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things,
limit or prohibit our ability, subject to certain exceptions, to incur additional indebtedness; create liens; make investments;
pay dividends on capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire capital stock; consolidate or merge or make acquisitions or
dispose of assets; enter into sale and leaseback transactions; engage in any business unrelated to the business currently
conducted by us; sell or issue capital stock of any of our restricted subsidiaries; change our fiscal year; enter into certain
agreements containing negative pledges and upstream limitations and engage in certain transactions with affiliates. Under the
Credit Agreement, we may not have an interest coverage ratio less than 3.50 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter. In
addition, we may not exceed specified maximum total leverage ratios as described in the following table:

Maximum Total

Period Leverage Ratio
Closing Date through September 30, 2013 4.75 to 1.00
October 1, 2013 through September 30, 2014 4.25 10 1.00
October 1, 2014 through September 30, 2015 3.75 t0 1.00
October 1, 2015 and thereafter 3.50t0 1.00

As of December 31, 2013, we were in compliance with the covenants under our Credit Agreement. As of December 31,
2013, our $425.0 million revolving credit facility consisted of $15.9 million of outstanding debt, subsidiary letters of credit
guarantees of $3.1 million and $406.0 million of unused borrowing capacity. Subject to maintaining compliance with the
covenants under the Credit Agreement, the $406.0 million of unused borrowing capacity as of December 31, 2013 is
available for working capital, capital expenditures, permitted investments, permitted acquisitions, refinancing existing
indebtedness and general corporate purposes. We expect to use a portion of the availability under our Credit Agreement to
fund the pending acquisition of the assets comprising the western end of the DM&E.

On July 29, 2011, we entered into the Third Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement (Prior
Credit Agreement), which replaced our credit agreement then in effect. The Prior Credit Agreement had a borrowing capacity
of $750.0 million and a maturity date of July 29, 2016. The Prior Credit Agreement included a $425.0 million revolving
credit facility, a $200.0 million United States term loan, an A$92.2 million ($100.0 million at the July 29, 2011 exchange
rate) Australian term loan and a C$23.6 million ($25.0 million at the July 29, 2011 exchange rate) Canadian term loan. As
described above, in connection with the RailAmerica acquisition, on October 1, 2012, we repaid in full all outstanding loans,
together with interest and all other amounts due under the Prior Credit Agreement. No penalties were due in connection with
such repayments. In connection with the repayment of the Prior Credit Agreement, we wrote off $2.9 million of unamortized
debt issuance costs and incurred $0.5 million of legal expenses during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Senior Notes

In 2005, we completed a private placement of $100.0 million of Series B senior notes and $25.0 million of Series C
senior notes. The Series B senior notes bore interest at 5.36% and were due in July 2015. On October 1, 2012, we repaid the
$100.0 million of outstanding Series B senior notes, along with an aggregate $12.6 million make-whole payment, with
proceeds from the Credit Agreement. The Series C senior notes had a borrowing rate of three-month LIBOR plus 0.70% and
were repaid in July 2012 through borrowings under the Prior Credit Agreement. In addition, we wrote off $0.3 million of
unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our senior notes during the year ended December 31, 2012.
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TEUs

As discussed above in “RailAmerica Acquisition and Related Financing,” each TEU consists of an Amortizing Note
due October 1, 2015, with an initial principal amount of $14.1023 per note. As of December 31, 2013, the Amortizing Notes
had an aggregate principal amount of $21.9 million. On each January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1, we are required to pay
holders of Amortizing Notes equal quarterly installments of $1.25 per Amortizing Note (except for the January 1, 2013
installment payment, which was $1.4167 per Amortizing Note), which cash payments in the aggregate will be equivalent to a
5.00% cash payment per year with respect to each $100 stated amount of the TEUs. Each installment constitutes a payment
of interest (at an annual rate of 4.50%) and a partial repayment of principal on the Amortizing Note. The Amortizing Notes
have a scheduled final installment payment date of October 1, 2015. If we elect to settle the Purchase Contracts early, holders
of the Amortizing Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase such holders' Amortizing Notes, except in certain
circumstances as described in the indenture governing the Amortizing Notes.

Non-Interest Bearing Loan

In 2010, as part of the acquisition of FreightLink, we assumed debt with a carrying value of A$1.8 million (or $1.7
million at the exchange rate on December 1, 2010), which represented the fair value of an A$50.0 million (or $48.2 million at
the exchange rate on December 1, 2010) non-interest bearing loan due in 2054. As of December 31, 2013, the carrying value
of the loan was A$2.3 million (or $2.0 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) with a non-cash imputed interest
rate of 8.0%.

Equipment and Property Leases

We enter into operating leases for railcars, locomotives and other equipment as well as real property. We also enter into
agreements with other railroads and other third parties to operate over certain sections of their track and pay a per car fee to
use the track or an annual lease payment. The costs associated with operating leases are expensed as incurred.

The number of railcars and locomotives leased by us, including 8,004 railcars and 175 locomotives acquired from
RailAmerica in 2012, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 was as follows:

December 31,

2013 2012
Railcars 17,718 18,311
Locomotives 100 182

Our operating lease expense for equipment and real property leases and expense for the use of other railroad and other
third parties' track for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was as follows (2012 excludes lease expense
related to RailAmerica's equipment and real property leases and trackage rights expense included in equity earnings for the
period from October 1, 2012 to December 28, 2012) (dollars in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Equipment $ 32,050 $ 13,38 §$ 19,328
Real property $ 8,062 $ 5,055 $ 4,632
Trackage rights $ 50911 $ 28250 $ 23.066

We are party to several lease agreements with Class I carriers and other third parties to operate over various rail lines in
North America, with varied expirations. Certain of these lease agreements have annual lease payments. Revenues from
railroads we lease from Class I carriers and other third parties accounted for approximately 9% of our 2013 total revenues.
Leases from Class I railroads and other third parties that are subject to expiration in each of the next 10 years represent less
than 2% of our annual revenues in the year of expiration based on our operating revenues for the year ended December 31,
2013.
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Shelf Registration

We have an effective shelf registration statement on file with the SEC for an indeterminate number of securities that is
effective for three years (expires September 12, 2015), after which time we expect to be able to file an automatic shelf
registration statement that would become immediately effective for another three-year term. Under this universal shelf
registration statement, we have the capacity to offer and sell from time to time securities, including common stock, debt
securities, preferred stock, warrants and units.

Grants from Outside Parties

Our railroads have received a number of project grants from federal, provincial, state and local agencies and other
outside parties (e.g., customers) for upgrades and construction of rail lines and upgrades of locomotives. We use the grant
funds as a supplement to our normal capital programs. In return for the grants, the railroads pledge to maintain various levels
of service and improvements on the rail lines that have been upgraded or constructed. We believe the levels of service and
improvements required under the grants are reasonable. However, we can offer no assurance that grants from outside parties
will continue to be available or that even if available, our railroads will be able to obtain them.

Insurance and Third-Party Claims

Accounts receivable from insurance and other third-party claims was $33.0 million and $25.0 million as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Accounts receivable from insurance and other third-party claims at December 31,
2013 included $16.8 million from our Australian Operations and $14.8 million from our North American & European
Operations. The balance from our Australian Operations resulted predominately from a derailment in Australia’s Northern
Territory (the Edith River Derailment) in December 2011. The balance from our North American & European Operations
resulted predominately from a derailment in Alabama (the Aliceville Derailment) in November 2013. We received proceeds
from insurance totaling $11.1 million, $21.8 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, and recorded related gains on insurance recoveries totaling $1.5 million, $5.8 million and $1.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

2014 Budgeted Capital Expenditures

The following table sets forth our budgeted capital expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2014 (dollars in
thousands):

Budgeted Capital Expenditures: 2014
Track and equipment, self-funded $ 199,000
Track and equipment, subject to third-party funding 73,000
New business development 53,000
Grants from outside parties (58,000)
Net budgeted capital expenditures $ 267,000

Our budgeted capital expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2014 include $47 million of capital expenditures
for our Australian Operations, including $25 million in capital expenditures for new business development.

We have historically relied primarily on cash generated from operations to fund working capital and capital
expenditures relating to ongoing operations, while relying on borrowed funds and stock issuances to finance acquisitions and
new investments. We believe our cash flow from operations will enable us to meet our liquidity and capital expenditure
requirements relating to ongoing operations for at least the duration of the Credit Agreement.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Based on our assessment of the underlying provisions and circumstances of our material contractual obligations and
commercial commitments as of December 31, 2013, there is no known trend, demand, commitment, event or uncertainty that
is reasonably likely to occur that would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial
condition or liquidity.
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The following table represents our obligations and commitments for future cash payments under various agreements as
of December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Less than 1 More than 5§

Contractual Obligations: Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years

Long-term debt obligations (1)  § 1,657,374 $ 83,490 $ 216,671 § 1,312,638 $ 44,575
Interest on long-term debt (2) 159,639 35,151 62,286 20,581 41,621
Derivative instruments (3) 838 — 838 - —
Capital lease obligations 11,142 876 1,758 8,324 184
Operating lease obligations 235,401 32,414 38,949 26,807 137,231
Purchase obligations (4) 14,469 14,469 — — —
Other long-term liabilities (5) 31,312 2,609 2,112 750 25,841
Total $ 2,110,175 § 169,009 $ 322,614 $ 1,369,100 § 249,452

(1) Includes an A$50.0 million (or $44.6 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) non-interest bearing loan
due in 2054 assumed in the acquisition of FreightLink with a carrying value of A$2.3 million (or $2.0 million at the
exchange rate on December 31, 2013).

(2) Assumes no change in variable interest rates from December 31, 2013.

(3) Includes the fair value of our interest rate swaps of $0.8 million.

(4) Includes purchase commitments for future capital expenditures among our existing operations. Excludes the pending
purchase of assets on the western end of CP's DM&E line of approximately $210 million (which is subject to STB
approval and the satisfaction of other closing conditions), which was announced in January 2014.

(5) Includes estimated casualty obligations of $11.4 million, deferred compensation of $11.2 million and certain other
long-term liabilities of $8.8 million. In addition, the table includes estimated post-retirement medical and life
insurance benefits of $6.9 million and our 2014 estimated contributions of $0.8 million to our pension plans.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

An off-balance sheet arrangement includes any contractual obligation, agreement or transaction involving an
unconsolidated entity under which we (1) have made guarantees, (2) have a retained or contingent interest in transferred
assets, or a similar arrangement, that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to that entity for such assets, (3) have an
obligation under certain derivative instruments, or (4) have any obligation arising out of a material variable interest in such an
entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to us, or that engages in leasing or hedging services
with us.

Our off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2013 consisted of operating lease obligations, which are
included in the contractual obligations table above.

Impact of Foreign Currencies on Operating Revenues and Expenses

When comparing the effects on revenues of average foreign currency exchange rates in effect during the year ended
December 31, 2013 versus the year ended December 31, 2012, foreign currency translation had an overall negative impact on
our consolidated operating revenues due to the weakening of the Australian and Canadian dollars relative to the United States
dollar, partially offset by the strengthening of the Euro relative to the United States dollar in the year ended December 31,
2013. Currency effects related to operating revenues and expenses are presented within the discussion of these respective
items included within this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to use judgment and to
make estimates and assumptions that affect business combinations, reported assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Management uses its judgment in making significant estimates in the areas of recoverability and useful
life of assets, as well as liabilities for casualty claims and income taxes. Actual results could materially differ from those
estimates.
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Business Combinations

We account for businesses we acquire using the acquisition method of accounting. Under this method, all acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. We record the underlying net assets at their respective acquisition-date fair values. As
part of this process, we identify and attribute values and estimated lives to property and equipment and intangible assets
acquired. These determinations involve significant estimates and assumptions, including those with respect to future cash
flows, discount rates and asset lives, and therefore require considerable judgment. These determinations affect the amount of
depreciation and amortization expense recognized in future periods. The results of operations of acquired businesses are
included in our consolidated statements of operations beginning on the respective business’s acquisition date.

Property and Equipment

We record property and equipment at cost. We capitalize major renewals or improvements, but routine maintenance and
repairs are expensed when incurred. We incur maintenance and repair expenses to keep our operations safe and fit for existing
purpose. Major renewals or improvements to property and equipment, however, are undertaken to extend the useful life or
increase the functionality of the asset, or both.

When assessing spending for classification among capital or expense, we evaluate the substance of the respective
spending. For example, costs incurred to modify a railroad bridge, either through individual projects or pre-established multi-
year programs, which substantially upgrade the bridge’s capacity to carry increased loads and/or to allow for a carrying speed
beyond the original or existing capacity of the bridge, are capitalized. However, costs for replacement of routinely wearable
bridge components, such as plates or bolts, are expensed as incurred. Other than a de minimis threshold under which costs are
expensed as incurred, we do not apply pre-defined capitalization thresholds when assessing spending for classification among
capital or expense.

Unlike the Class I railroads that operate over extensive contiguous rail networks, our short line and regional railroads
are generally geographically dispersed businesses that transport freight over relatively short distances. As a result, we
typically incur minimal spending on self-constructed assets and, instead, the vast majority of our capital spending relates to
purchased assets installed by professional contractors. We also generally do not incur significant rail grinding or ballast
cleaning expenses. However, if and when such costs are incurred, they are expensed.

The following table sets forth our total net capitalized major renewals and improvements versus our total maintenance
and repair expense for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (dollars in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Gross capitalized major renewals and improvements $ 220,529 $ 116,222  $ 107,419
Grants from outside parties 33,913 39,632 22,642
Net capitalized major renewals and improvements $ 186,616 $ 76,590 $ 84,777
Total repairs and maintenance expense $ 328991 $ 180,282 $ 172,396

We depreciate our property and equipment on the straight-line method over the useful lives of the property and
equipment. The following table sets forth the estimated useful lives of our major classes of property and equipment:

Estimated Useful Life (in Years)

Property: Minimum Maximum
Buildings and leasehold improvements (subject to term of lease) 2 40
Bridges/tunnels/culverts 20 50
Track property 5 50
Equipment:

Computer equipment 2 7
Locomotives and railcars 2 30
Vehicles and mobile equipment 2 10
Signals and crossing equipment 4 30
Track equipment 2 10
Other equipment 2 20
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We continually evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate that the carrying amounts of our
long-lived tangible assets may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that an asset should be evaluated for possible
impairment, we use an estimate of the related undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining life of such asset in
measuring whether or not impairment has occurred. If we identify impairment of an asset, we would report a loss to the
extent that the carrying value of the related asset exceeds the fair value of such asset, as determined by valuation techniques
applicable in the circumstances. Losses from impairment of assets are charged to net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of
assets within operating expenses.

Gains or losses on sales, including sales of assets removed during track and equipment upgrade projects, or losses
incurred through other dispositions, such as unanticipated retirement or destruction, are credited or charged to net (gain)/loss
on sale and impairment of assets within operating expenses. Gains are recorded when realized if the sale value exceeds the
remaining carrying value of the respective property and equipment. If the estimated salvage value is less than the remaining
carrying value, we record the loss incurred equal to the respective asset’s carrying value less salvage value. There were no
material losses incurred through other dispositions from unanticipated or unusual events in the years ended December 31,
2013,2012 or 2011.

Grants from Outside Parties

Grants from outside parties are recorded as long-term liabilities and are amortized as a reduction to depreciation
expense over the same period during which the associated assets are depreciated.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We review the carrying values of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives at least annually to
assess impairment since these assets are not amortized. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, an
impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess. We perform our annual impairment test as of
November 30 of each year, and no impairment was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, as a
result of our annual impairment test. Additionally, we review the carrying value of any intangible asset or goodwill whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. The determination of fair value
involves significant management judgment including assumptions about operating results, business plans, income
projections, anticipated future cash flows and market data. Impairments are expensed when incurred.

Amortizable Intangible Assets

We perform an impairment test on amortizable intangible assets when specific impairment indicators are present. We
have amortizable intangible assets valued primarily as service agreements, customer contracts or relationships and track
access agreements. These intangible assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected economic
longevity of the facility served, the customer relationship, or the length of the contract or agreement including expected
renewals.

Derailment and Property Damages, Personal Injuries and Third-Party Claims

We maintain liability and property insurance coverage to mitigate the financial risk of providing rail and rail-related
services. On August 1, 2013, we renewed these annual insurance policies, which now cover all of our operations under one
insurance program. Incidents involving entities previously owned by RailAmerica that occurred prior to this renewal would
be considered under RailAmerica’s legacy liability and property insurance policies. Our primary liability policies currently
have self-insured retentions of up to $1.0 million per occurrence. RaiiAmerica's prior primary liability policies” seif-insured
retentions were as high as $4.0 million per occurrence. With respect to the transportation of hazardous commodities, our
liability policy covers third-party claims and damages associated with sudden releases of hazardous materials, including
expenses related to evacuation, as a result of a railroad accident. Personal injuries associated with grade crossing accidents
are also covered under our liability policies. Our property damage policies currently have various self-insured retentions,
which vary based on type and location of the incident, of up to $1.0 million per occurrence except in Australia where our self-
insurance retention for property damage due to a cyclone or flood is A$2.5 million. RailAmerica's primary property damage
policies previously had self-insured retentions of up to $1.5 million per occurrence. The property damage policies also
provide business interruption insurance arising from covered events. The self-insured retentions under our policies may
change with each annual insurance renewal depending on our loss history, the size and make-up of our company and general
insurance market conditions.
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Employees of our United States railroads are covered by the Federal Employers' Liability Act (FELA), a fault-based
system under which claims resulting from injuries and deaths of railroad employees are settled by negotiation or litigation.
FELA-related claims are covered under our liability policies. Employees of our industrial switching and railroad construction
businesses are covered under workers' compensation policies.

Accruals for FELA claims by our railroad employees and third-party personal injury or other claims are recorded in the
period when such claims are determined to be probable and estimable. These estimates are updated in future periods as
information develops.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (Compensation Committee) has discretion to determine
grantees, grant dates, amounts of grants, vesting and expiration dates for stock-based compensation awards to our employees
under our Second Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the Omnibus Plan). The Omnibus Plan permits the
issuance of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and any other form of award established by the
Compensation Committee, in each case consistent with the Omnibus Plan’s purpose. Under the terms of the awards, equity
grants for employees generally vest over three years and equity grants for directors vest over their respective remaining terms
as directors.

The grant date fair value of non-vested shares, less estimated forfeitures, is recorded to compensation expense on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes pricing model and straight-line amortization of compensation expense is recorded over the requisite service
period of the grant. Two assumptions in the Black-Scholes pricing model require management judgment: the life of the option
and the volatility of the stock over the life of the option. The assumption for the life of the option is based on historical
experience and is estimated for each grant. The assumption for the volatility of the stock is based on a combination of
historical and implied volatility. The fair value of our restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing market
price of our Class A common stock on the date of grant.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, compensation cost from equity awards was $11.7 million. We also recorded an
additional $5.1 million of costs from the acceleration of equity awards for certain terminated employees related to the
integration of RailAmerica. As of December 31, 2013, the compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized
was $14.6 million, which will be recognized over the next 3 years with a weighted average period of 1.3 years. The total
income tax benefit recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for equity awards, including the benefit recognized
from the acceleration of equity awards related to the integration of RailAmerica, was $5.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, compensation cost from equity awards was $7.9 million. We also recorded an
additional $4.1 million of costs from the acceleration of equity awards for certain terminated employees related to the
integration of RailAmerica. The total income tax benefit recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for equity
awards, including the benefit recognized from the acceleration of equity awards related to the integration of RailAmerica,
was $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, compensation cost from equity awards was $7.7 million. The total income tax
benefit recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for equity awards was $2.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under a balance sheet approach for the financial accounting and reporting of deferred
income taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of temporary differences between the book and tax basis of assets
and liabilities, as well as available income tax credits and capital and net operating loss carryforwards. In our consolidated
balance sheets, these deferred obligations or benefits are classified as current or non-current based on the classification of the
related asset or liability for financial reporting. A deferred income tax obligation or benefit that is not related to an asset or
liability for financial reporting, including deferred income tax assets related to tax credit and loss carryforwards, is classified
according to the expected reversal date of the temporary difference as of the end of the year. We evaluate on a quarterly basis
whether, based on all available evidence, our deferred income tax assets will be realizable. Valuation allowances are
established when it is estimated that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.
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No provision is made for the United States income taxes applicable to the undistributed earnings of controlled foreign
subsidiaries because it is the intention of management to fully utilize those earnings in the operations of foreign subsidiaries.
If the earnings were to be distributed in the future, those distributions may be subject to United States income taxes
(appropriately reduced by available foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries.

Other Uncertainties

Our operations and financial condition are subject to certain risks that could cause actual operating and financial results
to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in our forward-looking statements. For a complete description of our
general risk factors including risk factors of foreign operations, see “Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual Report.

Management believes that full consideration has been given to all relevant circumstances to which we may be currently
subject, and the consolidated financial statements accurately reflect management’s best estimate of our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows for the years presented.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See Note 20, Recently Issued Accounting Standards, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We actively monitor our exposure to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks and use derivative financial
instruments to manage the impact of certain of these risks. We use derivatives only for purposes of managing risk associated
with underlying exposures. We do not trade or use such instruments with the objective of earning financial gains from interest
rate or exchange rate fluctuations, nor do we use such instruments where there are no underlying cash exposures. Complex
instruments involving leverage or multipliers are not used. We manage our hedging positions and monitor the credit ratings of
counterparties and do not anticipate losses due to counterparty nonperformance. Management believes that our use of derivative
financial instruments to manage risk is in our best interest. However, our use of derivative financial instruments may result in
short-term gains or losses and increased earnings volatility.

Interest Rate Risk & Risk Sensitivity

Our interest rate risk results from variable interest rate debt obligations, where an increase in interest rates would result in
lower earnings and increased cash outflows. The following table presents principal cash flows from our debt obligations, related
weighted average annual interest rates by expected maturity dates and estimated fair values as of December 31, 2013 (dollars in
thousands):

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Fixed rate debt:
Tangible Equity Units  § 10,694 $ 11,184 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — $ 21878 $ 21,698
Other debt (1) 1,548 6,070 1,446 8,698 319 44,759 62,840 18,996
Average annual
interest rate 7.0% 7.4% 7.9% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 7.7%
Variable rate debt:
Revolving credit
facility:
Europe —_ — — 4,948 — — 4,948 4,959
United States — —_— — 11,000 — — 11,000 10,997
Term loans:
Australia 7,840 9,649 12,062 104,885 — — 134,436 135,491
United States 64,284 79,119 98,899 1,191,112 — - 1,433,414 1,429,204
Average annual
interest rate 2.4% 3.0% 4.2% 5.0% 0.0% 0.0% 4.7%
Total $ 84,366  $106,022  $112,407 $1,320,643 § 319 $ 44759 $1,668,516 $ 1,621,345

(1) Includes an A$50.0 million (or $44.,6 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) non-interest bearing loan due in 2054 assumed in the acquisition
of FreightLink with a carrying value of A$2.3 million (or $2.0 million at the exchange rate on December 31, 2013) with a non-cash imputed interest rate of
8.0%

The variable interest rates presented in the table above are based on the implied forward rates in the yield curve for
borrowings denominated using United States LIBOR, Australia BBSW and Euro LIBOR (as of December 31, 2013). The
borrowing margin is composed of a weighted average of 1.75% for United States, Australian and European borrowings under
our Credit Agreement. To the extent not mitigated by interest rate swap agreements, based on the table above, assuming a one
percentage point increase in market interest rates, annual interest expense on our variable rate debt would increase by
approximately $2.8 million. Furthermore, if we were to refinance all of our debt obligations in the current environment, we
believe we would incur interest rates no worse, and potentially better, than our current rates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply the following three-level hierarchy of valuation inputs as a framework for measuring fair value:

e Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that we have the ability to access at the
measurement date.

»  Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable
market data.
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*  Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs are unobservable.

Since our long-term debt is not quoted, fair value was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis based on Level 2
valuation inputs, including borrowing rates we believe are currently available to us for loans with similar terms and maturities.
Primary inputs into the model that will cause the fair value of our debt to fluctuate period-to-period include the fixed interest
rates, the future interest rates, credit risk and the remaining time to maturity of the debt obligations.

We use interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates of our variable rate debt. These
swap agreements are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. To value the interest rate swaps, a discounted
cash flow model is utilized. Primary inputs into the model that will cause the fair value to fluctuate period-to-period include the
fixed interest rates, LIBOR implied forward interest rates, credit risk and the remaining time to maturity of the interest rate
swaps. Management’s intention is to hold the interest rate swaps to maturity. Changes in the fair value of the agreements are
recorded in net income or other comprehensive income/(loss), based on whether the agreements are designated as part of a
hedge transaction and whether the agreements are effective in offsetting the change in the value of the interest payments
attributable to our variable rate debt.

The following table summarizes the terms of our outstanding interest rate swap agreements entered into to manage our
exposure to changes in interest rates on its variable rate debt (dollars in thousands):

Notional Amount

Effective Date Expiration Date Date Amount Pay Fixed Rate Receive Variable Rate

9/30/2013 9/29/2014 9/30/2013 1,350,000 0.35% 1-month LIBOR
12/31/2013 1,300,000 0.35% 1-month LIBOR

3/31/2014 1,250,000 0.35% 1-month LIBOR

6/30/2014 1,200,000 0.35% 1-month LIBOR

9/30/2014 9/29/2015 9/30/2014 1,150,000 0.54% 1-month LIBOR
12/31/2014 1,100,000 0.54% 1-month LIBOR

3/31/2015 1,050,000 0.54% 1-month LIBOR

6/30/2015 1,000,000 0.54% 1-month LIBOR

9/30/2015 9/30/2016 9/30/2015 350,000 0.93% 1-month LIBOR
9/30/2016 9/30/2026 9/30/2026 100,000 2.79% 3-month LIBOR
9/30/2016 9/30/2026 9/30/2026 100,000 2.79% 3-month LIBOR
9/30/2016 9/30/2026 9/30/2026 100,000 2.80% 3-month LIBOR

On November 9, 2012, we entered into multiple 10-year forward starting interest rate swap agreements to manage our
exposure to changes in interest rates on our variable rate debt. On the date of the hedge designation, September 30, 2016, it is
probable that we will either issue $300.0 million of fixed-rate debt or have $300.0 million of variable-rate debt under our
commercial banking lines. The forward starting interest swap agreements are expected to settle in cash on September 30, 2016.
We expect any gains or losses on settlement will be amortized over the life of the respective swaps.

The following table summarizes our interest rate swap agreements that expired during 2013 (dollars in thousands):

Notional Amount

Effective Date Expiration Date Date Amount Paid Fixed Rate Receive Variable Rate
10/6/2008 9/30/2013 10/6/2008 § 120,000 3.88% I-month LIBOR
10/4/2012 9/30/2013 10/4/2012  § 1,450,000 0.25% 1-month LIBOR

1/12013 § 1,350,000 0.25% 1-month LIBOR
4/1/2013  § 1,300,000 0.25% 1-month LIBOR
7/1/2013  § 1,250,000 0.25% 1-month LIBOR
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The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements were estimated based on Level 2 inputs. Our effectiveness testing
during the year ended December 31, 2013 resulted in no amount of gain or loss reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income/(loss) into earnings due to ineffectiveness. During the year ended December 31, 2013, $4.1 million of
net losses were realized and recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations. Based on our fair value
assumptions as of December 31, 2013, we expect to realize $1.6 million of net losses that are reported in accumulated other
comprehensive income into earnings within the next 12 months. See Note 16, Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, to
our Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, for additional information regarding our cash
flow hedges.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2013, $142.1 million of third-party debt related to our foreign operations was denominated in the
currencies in which our subsidiaries operate, including the Australian dollar, Canadian dollar and Euro. The debt service
obligations associated with this foreign currency debt are generally funded directly from those operations. As a result, foreign
currency risk related to this portion of our debt service payments is limited. However, in the event the foreign currency debt
service is not paid from our foreign operations, we may face exchange rate risk if the Australian or Canadian dollar or Euro
were to appreciate relative to the United States dollar and require higher United States dollar equivalent cash.

We are also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk related to our foreign operations, including non-functional
currency intercompany debt, typically from our United States operations to our foreign subsidiaries, and any timing difference
between announcement and closing of an acquisition of a foreign business to the extent such acquisition is funded with United
States dollars. To mitigate currency exposures related to non-functional currency denominated intercompany debt, cross-
currency swap contracts may be entered into for periods consistent with the underlying debt. In determining the fair value of the
derivative contract, the significant inputs to valuation models are quoted market prices of similar instruments in active markets.
To mitigate currency exposures of non-United States dollar denominated acquisitions, we may enter into foreign exchange
forward contracts. Although these derivative contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting, we believe that such instruments are
closely correlated with the underlying exposure, thus reducing the associated risk. The gains or losses from changes in the fair
value of derivative instruments that are not accounted for as hedges are recognized in current period earnings within other
income, net.

To mitigate the foreign currency exchange rate risk related to a non-functional currency intercompany loan between our
United States and Australian entities, we entered into an Australian dollar/United States dollar floating to floating cross-
currency swap agreement (the Swap), effective as of December 1, 2010, which effectively converted the A$105.0 million
intercompany loan receivable in the United States into a $100.6 million loan receivable. As a result of the quarterly net
settlement payments associated with this swap, we realized a net expense of $4.4 million within interest (expense)/income for
the year ended December 31, 2012. In addition, we recognized $0.6 million within other income, net related to the settlement of
the derivative agreement and the underlying intercompany debt instrument to the exchange rate for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The Swap expired on December 1, 2012 and was settled for $9.1 million.

On November 29, 2012, simultaneous with the termination of the previous swap, we entered into two new 2-year
Australian dollar/United States dollar floating to floating cross-currency swap agreements (the Swaps), effective December 3,
2012. These agreements expire on December 1, 2014. The Swaps effectively convert the A$105.0 million intercompany loan
receivable in the United States into a $109.6 million loan receivable. The Swaps require us to pay Australian dollar BBSW plus
3.25% based on a notional amount of A$105.0 million and allow us to receive United States LIBOR plus 2.82% based on a
notional amount of $109.6 million on a quarterly basis. BBSW is the wholesale interbank reference rate within Australia, which
we believe is generally considered the Australian equivalent to LIBOR. As a result of these quarterly net settlement payments,
we realized a net expense of $2.7 million within interest (expense)/income for the year ended December 31, 2013. In addition,
we recognized $0.4 million within other income, net related to the settlement of the derivative agreement and the underlying
intercompany debt instrument to the exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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The following table summarizes the impact of these foreign currency financial instruments on our statement of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

Amount Recognized in Earnings

Location of Amount

Recognized in Earnings 2013 2012
Quarterly settlement under cross-currency swap Interest (expense)/income $ (2,696) $ (4,638)
Mark-to-market of intercompany debt Other (expense)/income, net (15,517) 2,053
Mark-to-market of cross-currency swap Other income/(expense), net 15,944 (1,750)
$ 2,269) $ (4,335)

The following table presents our financial instruments that are carried at fair value using Level 2 inputs at December 31,
2013 and 2012 (dollars in thousands):

2013 2012
Financial liabilities carried at fair value using Level 2 inputs:
Interest rate swap agreements $ 36,987 $ 4,227
Cross-currency swap agreements 16,056 255
Total financial assets carried at fair value 53,043 4,482
Interest rate swap agreements $ 2439 § 4,659
Cross-currency swap agreements —_ 143
Total financial liabilities carried at fair value $ 2439 § 4,802

Sensitivity to Diesel Fuel Prices

We are exposed to fluctuations in diesel fuel prices since an increase in the price of diesel fuel would result in lower
earnings and cash outflows. In the year ended December 31, 2013, fuel costs for fuel used in operations represented 12.4% of
our total expenses. As of December 31, 2013, we had not entered into any hedging transactions to manage this diesel fuel risk.
We receive fuel surcharges and other rate adjustments that partially offset the impact of higher fuel prices. As of December 31,
2013, each one percentage point increase in the price of diesel fuel would result in a $1.6 million increase in our annual fuel
expense to the extent not offset by higher fuel surcharges and/or rates.

ITEM 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements and supplementary financial data required by this item are listed under Part I'V. Item 15
following the signature page hereto and are incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in
our reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2013. Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2013 to accomplish their objectives at the reasonable assurance level.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as that term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2013 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Genesee & Wyoming Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that:

»  pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of Genesee & Wyoming Inc.;

e provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;

«  provide reasonable assurance that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the
authorization of management and directors of Genesee & Wyoming Inc.; and

»  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition
of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013.
Management based this assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in the Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
The Company’s internal controls over financial reporting, established and maintained by management, are under the general
oversight of the Company’s Audit Committee. Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of our internal
control over financial reporting and testing of the operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, management determined that, as of December 31, 2013, we maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, which has audited and reported on the
consolidated financial statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has audited the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as stated in their report which is included herein under “Part IV. Item 15.
Exhibits, Financial Statements and Schedules.”
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ITEM 9B. Other Information.

None.
PART III

ITEM 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our proxy statement to be filed
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year in connection with the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of G&W
to be held on May 21, 2014, under “Proposal One: Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers,” and “Corporate
Governance.”

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct that applies to all directors, officers and employees, including
our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer, and our Chief Accounting Officer and Global Controller.
The Code of Ethics and Conduct is available on the Governance page of the Company’s Internet website at
www.gwrr.com. We will post any amendments to the Code of Ethics and Conduct and any waivers that are required
to be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the NYSE on our Internet website within the required time period.

ITEM 11.  Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our proxy statement to be filed
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year in connection with the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of G&W
to be held on May 21, 2014, under “Executive Compensation”, including the “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report,” and “Summary Compensation Table” sections, and “2013 Director
Compensation.”

ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The following table sets forth all of our securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation
plans as of December 31, 2013:

()

(a) Number of Securities Remaining
Number of Securities (b) Available for Future Issuance
to be Issued upon Weighted Average Under Equity Compensation
Exercise ol Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Reflected in Column (a))

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 969,332 § 54.32 2,174,314

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders — = =

Total 969,332 § 54.32 2,174,314

The remaining information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our proxy statement to
be filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year in connection with the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders
of G&W to be held on May 21, 2014, under “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.”

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our proxy statement to be filed
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year in connection with the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of G&W
to be held on May 21, 2014, under “Corporate Governance” and “Related Person Transactions.”

ITEM 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our proxy statement to be filed
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year in connection with the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of G&W
to be held on May 21, 2014, under “Proposal Three: Ratification of the Selection of Independent Auditors.”
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PART 1V
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS FORM 10-K
Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and Subsidiaries Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Years Ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Separate Financial Statements of Subsidiaries Not Consolidated and 100 Percent Owned:
RailAmerica, Inc. and Subsidiaries Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 28, 2012

Consolidated Statement of Operations for the Period October 1, 2012 (acquisition date) through
December 28, 2012

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Period October 1, 2012
(acquisition date) through December 28, 2012

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Period October 1, 2012 (acquisition date)
through December 28, 2012

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Period October 1, 2012 (acquisition date)
through December 28, 2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(b) EXHIBITS—See INDEX TO EXHIBITS filed herewith immediately following the signature page hereto,
and which is incorporated herein by reference

(c) NONE
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 27, 2014 GENESEE & WYOMING INC.

By: /s/ JOHN C. HELLMANN

John C. Hellmann
Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Date Title Signature

February 27, 2014 Chairman of the Board of Directors /s/ MORTIMER B. FULLER III

Mortimer B. Fuller III

Chief Executive Officer, President and
February 27, 2014 Director (Principal Executive Officer) /s/ JOHN C. HELLMANN

John C. Hellmann

Chief Financial Officer
February 27, 2014 (Principal Financial Officer) /s/ TIMOTHY J. GALLAGHER

Timothy J. Gallagher

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal
February 27,2014 Accounting Officer) /8/ CHRISTOPHER F. LIUCCI

Christopher F. Liucci

February 27, 2014 Director /S/" RICHARD H. ALLERT

Richard H. Allert

February 27, 2014 Director /s/ RICHARD H. BOTT

Richard H. Bott

February 27, 2014 Director /s/ @IVIND LORENTZEN III

@ivind Lorentzen 11T

February 27, 2014 Director /S/" ROBERT M. MELZER

Robert M. Melzer

February 27, 2014 Director /s/  MICHAEL NORKUS

Michael Norkus

February 27, 2014 Director /s/  ANN N. REESE
Ann N. Reese

February 27, 2014 Director /s/  PHILIP J. RINGO
Philip J. Ringo

February 27, 2014 Director /s/  MARK A. SCUDDER

Mark A. Scudder
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual
information or other disclosure, other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents
themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made
by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant
agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as the date they were made or at any other

time.

M)
11

3)

3.1

)
4.1

42

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 23, 2012, by and among Genesee & Wyoming Inc.,
Jaguar Acquisition Sub Inc. and RailAmerica, Inc., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23,2012 (File No. 001-31456).

(i) Articles of Incorporation
The Exhibits referenced under 4.1 and 4.4 hereof are incorporated herein by reference.
(ii) By-laws

Amended By-laws, effective as of August 19, 2004, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2004 (File No.
001-31456).

Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures

Restated Certificate of Incorporation is incorporated herein by reference to Annex II to the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 15,2011 (File No.
001-31456).

Specimen stock certificate representing shares of Class A Common Stock is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-03972) filed on June 12, 1996.

Form of Class B Stockholders® Agreement dated as of May 20, 1996, among the Registrant, its
executive officers and its Class B Stockholders is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration

No. 333-03972) filed on June 7, 1996.

Series A-1 Preferred Stock Certificate of Designations dated as of September 28, 2012, is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on October 3, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

Purchase Contract Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2012, among Genesee & Wyoming Inc.
and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Purchase Contract Agent and as attorney-in-fact for
the holders of the Purchase Contracts from time to time and Wilmington Trust, National Association,
as Trustee, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(p) to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

Form of Unit (included in Exhibit 4.5 hereof), is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(q) to
the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

Form of Purchase Contract (included in Exhibit 4.5 hereof), is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4(r) to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2012 (File No.
001-31456).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 19, 2012, between Genesee & Wyoming Inc.
and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4(s) to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2012 (File No.
001-31456).

Form of Amortizing Note (included in Exhibit 4.8 hereof), is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 4(t) to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2012 (File No.
001-31456).
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4.10

(10)

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

Indenture, dated as of September 19, 2012, between Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as Trustee, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(u) to the
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

Material Contracts
The Exhibit referenced under 4.3 hereof is incorporated herein by reference.

Memorandum of Lease between Minister for Transport and Urban Planning a Body Corporate
Under the Administrative Arrangements Act, the Lessor and Australia Southern Railroad Pty Ltd.,
the Lessee, dated November 7, 1997, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 1998 (File No. 000-20847).

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 3, 2001, by and among Genesee & Wyoming

Inc., ETR Acquisition Corporation and Emons Transportation Group, Inc. is incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 12, 2001
(File No. 000-20847).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of May 25, 2005 by and among Rail Management
Corporation, Durden 1991 Family Gift Trust, Durden 1991 Family Discretionary Trust, Durden
1991 Family Trust, K. Earl Durden 1991 Gift Trust, Durden 1996 Family Gift Trust, RP Acquisition
Company One, a subsidiary of Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and RP Acquisition Company Two, a
subsidiary of Genesee & Wyoming Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2005 (File No. 001-31456).

Share Sale Agreement dated February 14, 2006 by and among Genesee & Wyoming Inc., GWI
Holdings Pty Ltd, Wesfarmers Limited, Wesfarmers Railroad Holdings Pty Ltd, Babcock & Brown
WA Rail Pty Ltd, QRNational West Pty Ltd, Australia Southern Railroad Pty Ltd, Australia Western
Railroad Pty L'td and Australian Railroad Group Pty Ltd is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2006 (File No.
001-31456).

Letter Agreement dated February 16, 2006 between Wesfarmers Railroad Holdings Pty Ltd and GWI
Holdings Pty Ltd is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2006 (File No. 001-31456).

Restated Genesee & Wyoming Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as Amended through
September 27, 2006, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1(a) to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-09165) filed on November 3, 2006. **

Form of Senior Executive Continuity Agreement by and between Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and the
Company Senior Executives is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 8, 2007 (File No. 001-31456). **

Form of Executive Continuity Agreement by and between Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and the
Company Executives is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 8, 2007 (File No. 001-31456). **

Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Summit View, Inc., Jerry Joe
Jacobson and Genesee & Wyoming Inc. dated as of September 10, 2008, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 7,
2008 (File No. 001-31456).

ohl
B

............................ estated 2004 Deferred Co for high
compensated employees and directors dated as of December 31, 2008 is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 7, 2009
(File No. 001-31456).%*

!

Lo}

Employment Agreement dated as of May 30, 2007, and as amended and restated December 30,
2009, by and between Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and Mortimer B. Fuller III, together with Exhibit A
(Waiver and General Release Agreement), is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 26, 2010 (File No. 001-31456). **

Business Sale Agreement dated June 9, 2010, by and among Freight Link Pty Ltd (Receivers and
Managers Appointed), Asia Pacific Transport Pty Ltd (Receivers and Managers Appointed)
(“APT”), other APT joint venture sellers, GWA (North) Pty Limited and Genesee & Wyoming Inc.,
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed on August 6, 2010 (File No. 001-31456).
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10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Amendment Deed to Business Sale Agreement by and among Asia Pacific Transport Pty Ltd
(Receivers and Managers Appointed), Freight Link Pty Ltd (Receivers and Managers Appointed),
GWA (North) Pty Limited and Genesee & Wyoming Inc. dated October 27, 2010, is incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
February 25, 2011 (File No. 001-31456).

Deed of Amendment and Acknowledgement to the Business Sale Agreement by and among Asia
Pacific Transport Pty Ltd (Receivers and Managers Appointed), Freight Link Pty Ltd (Receivers and
Managers Appointed), GWA (North) Pty Limited and Genesee & Wyoming Inc. dated November 24,
2010, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on December 1, 2010 (File No. 001-31456).

Sale Consent Deed by and among GWA (North) Pty Ltd., The Northern Territory of Australia, The
Crown in right of the State of South Australia, The AustralAsia Railway Corporation, Asia Pacific
Transport Pty Limited (Receivers and Managers Appointed) dated November 19, 2010, is
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 24, 2010 (File No. 001-31456).

Guarantee and Indemnity (GWA) by and between Genesee & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd and The
AustralAsia Railway Corporation dated November 19, 2010, is incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 24, 2010 (File No.
001-31456).

Second Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus Incentive Plan is incorporated herein by reference to
Annex [ to the Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 15, 2011
(File No. 001-31456). **

Form of Option Award Notice under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus Incentive
Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q filed on August 5, 2011 (File No. 001-31456).%*

Form of Restricted Stock Award Notice under the Second Amended and Restated 2004 Omnibus
Incentive Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2011 (File No. 001-31456).**

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice under the Second Amended and Restated 2004
Omnibus Incentive Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2013 (File No. 001-31456). **

Investment Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2012, by and among Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and
Carlyle Partners V, L.P., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

Debt Commitment Letter, dated as of July 23, 2012, among Genesee & Wyoming Inc., Bank of
America, N.A. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, is incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2012 (File
No. 001-31456).

First Amendment to the Investment Agreement, dated as of September 10, 2012, by and between
Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and Carlyle Partners V, L.P., is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 10, 2012 (File No.
001-31456).

Voting Trust Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2012, between Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and R.

Lawrence McCalffrey, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).
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10.25 Senior Secured Syndicated Facility Agreement dated as of October 1, 2012, among Genesee &

Wyoming Inc., RP Acquisition Company Two, Quebec Gatineau Railway Inc., Genesee & Wyoming
Australia Pty Ltd, Rotterdam Rail Feeding B.V., Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent,
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Citigroup
Global markets Inc., as co-lead arrangers and co-bookrunning managers, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as co-syndication agents, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi
UFJ, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, Sovereign Bank N.A., Branch Banking and Trust
Company, Fifth Third Bank, Royal Bank of Canada, TD Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as co-documentation agents, and the lenders and certain guarantors party thereto from
time to time, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

10.26 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 1, 2012, among Genesee & Wyoming Inc.,
Carlyle Partners V GW, L.P.,, CP V GW AIV 1, L.P.,, CP GW AIV 2 LP,,CPV GW AIV 3, L.P,, CPV
GW AIV 4, L.P., CP V Coinvestment A, L.P. and CP V Coinvestment B, L.P., is incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3,
2012 (File No. 001-31456).

10.27 Voting Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2012, by and between Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and RR
Acquisition Holding LLC, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2012 (File No. 001-31456).

10.28 Acknowledgment and Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2013, by and among Genesee & Wyoming
Inc. and holders of the Series A-1 Preferred Stock party thereto is incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2013 (File No.
001-31456).

10.29 Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 28, 2013, to the Senior Secured Syndicated Facility
Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2012, among Genesee & Wyoming Inc., RP Acquisition
Company Two, Quebec Gatineau Railway Inc., Genesee & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd, Rotterdam
Rail Feeding B.V., Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and the agents, lenders and
guarantors party thereto from time to time, is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 2, 2013 (File No. 001-31456).

1D Not included as a separate exhibit as computation can be determined from Note 2 to the financial
statements included in this Report under Item 8

*(21.1) Subsidiaries of the Registrant

*(23.1) Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

*(23.2) Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

*(31.1) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer
*(31.2) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer
*(32.1) Section 1350 Certifications

*101 The following financial information from Genesee & Wyoming Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2013, formatted in XBRL includes: (i) Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years
Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the Years Ended December 31,2013, 2012 and 2011, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements.

* Exhibit filed or furnished with this Report.

* Management contract or compensatory plan in which directors and/or executive officers are eligible

to participate.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Genesee & Wyoming Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for
these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the Report of Management on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these
financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP

Rochester, New York
February 27, 2014
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GENESEE & WYOMING INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,
2013 2012
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 62,876 $ 64,772
Accounts receivable, net 325,453 262,949
Materials and supplies 31,295 32,389
Prepaid expenses and other 52,584 33,586
Deferred income tax assets, net 76,122 71,556
Total current assets 548,330 465,252
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 3,440,744 3,396,295
GOODWILL 630,462 634,953
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net 613,933 670,206
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS, net 2,405 2,396
OTHER ASSETS, net 83,947 57,013
Total assets $5.319.821 $5.226.,115
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of long-term debt $ 84366 $ 87,569
Accounts payable 242,010 232,121
Accrued expenses 130,132 93,971
Deferred income tax liabilities, net - 3,083
Total current liabilities 456,508 416,744
LONG-TERM DEBT, less current portion 1,540,346 1,770,566
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES, net 863,051 862,734
DEFERRED ITEMS - grants from outside parties 267,098 228,579
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 43,748 47,506
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES — —
SERIES A-1 PREFERRED STOCK - 399,524
EQUITY:
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, one vote per share; 180,000,000 shares
authorized at December 31, 2013 and 2012; 64,584,102 and 57,882,442 shares
issued and 51,934,137 and 45,359,083 shares outstanding (net of 12,649,965 and
12,523,359 shares in treasury) on December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 646 579
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value, ten votes per share; 30,000,000 shares
authorized at December 31, 2013 and 2012; 1,608,989 and 1,728,952 shares issued
and outstanding on December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 16 17
Additional paid-in capital 1,302,521 866,609
Retained earnings 1,058,884 789,727
Accumulated other comprehensive income 6,089 43,271
Treasury stock, at cost (220,361)  (209,266)
Total Genesee & Wyoming Inc. stockholders' equity 2,147,795 1,494,937
Noncontrolling interest 1,275 5,525
Total equity 2,149,070 1,500,462
Total liabilities and equity $5,319,821 $5,226,115

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENESEE & WYOMING INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
OPERATING REVENUES $1,569.011 § 874916 § 829.096
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Labor and benefits 441,318 257,618 236,152
Equipment rents 77,825 37,322 43,885
Purchased services 120,871 80,572 78,741
Depreciation and amortization 141,644 73,405 66,481
Diesel fuel used in operations 147,172 88,399 88,499
Diesel fuel sold to third parties 368 11,322 16,986
Casualties and insurance 40,781 24,858 22,469
Materials 78,243 25,240 26,419
Trackage rights 50,911 28,250 23,066
Net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets 4,677 (11,225) (5,660)
Gain on insurance recoveries (1,465) (5,760) (1,061)
Other expenses 78,797 44,549 41,340
RailAmerica acquisition-related costs 360 18,592 —
RailAmerica integration costs 16,675 11,452 —
Total operating expenses 1,188,823 684,594 637,317
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 380,188 190,322 191,779
Gain on sale of investments — — 907
Interest income 3,971 3,725 3,243
Interest expense (67,894) (62,845) (38,617)
Contingent forward sale contract mark-to-market expense — (50,106) -
Other income, net 2,122 2,182 703
Income before income taxes and income from equity investment 318,387 83,278 158,015
Provision for income taxes (46,296) (46,402) (38,531)
Income from equity investment in Rail America, net — 15,557 —
Net income 272,091 52,433 119,484
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 795 — —
Less: Series A-1 Preferred Stock dividend 2,139 4,375 —
Net income available to common stockholders $ 269.157 $ 48058 § 119,484
Basic earnings per common share attributable to Genesee & Wyoming
Inc. common stockholders $ 500 $ 1.13 § 2.99
Weighted average shares—Basic 53,788 42,693 39.912
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Genesee & Wyoming
Inc. common stockholders $ 479 $ 1.02 $ 2.79
Weighted average shares—Diluted 56,679 51,316 42772

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENESEE & WYOMING INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ INCOME:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net unrealized income on qualifying cash flow hedges, net of tax

(dollars in thousands)

provision of $13,992, $2,702 and $759, respectively

Changes in pension and other postretirement benefit, net of tax
provision/(benefit) of $208, ($72) and ($24), respectively

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO GENESEE &

WYOMING INC.

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

$ 272,091 $ 52433 $ 119,484

(62,532) 5,451 3,511)
20,988 4,053 1,334
362 (128) @2)
(41,182) 9,376 (2,219)
$ 230,909 $ 61,809 $ 117,265
795 i —

$ 230,114 $ 61,809 $ 117,265

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



GENESEE & WYOMING INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 and 2012
(dollars in thousands)

G&W Stockholders
Accumulated
Class A Class B Additional Other Non-
Common Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury controlling Total
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Income/(Loss) Stock Interest Equity
BALANCE, December 31,2011 $ 527 § 22§ 385473 $ 741,669 $ 37,895 $(204,952) $ — $ 960,634
Net income — — - 52,433 - - — 52,433
Other comprehensive income - — - — 9,376 — — 9,376
Dividends paid on Series A-1 )
Preferred Stock = e -— (4,375) — = = (4,375)
Proceeds fr 1 tock
e i pb 9 = 19,311 = - — — 19,320
Conversion of 273,021 shares
Class B common stock to
Class A common stock 5 5) = = — e == -
Compensation cost related to
equity awards — = 12,151 —_ == — - 12,151
Compensation costs related to
equity awards included in
income from equity investment
in RailAmerica == == 2,816 == = = - 2816

Tax benefits from share-based
compensation —_ o 4,795 — — — — 4,795

Stock issuance proceeds, net of
stock issuance costs - 3,791,004

shares Class A common stock 38 - 234,302 o o - o 234,340
TEU Purchase Contracts

issuance proceeds, net of

issuance costs - 2,300,000 units —_ —_ 191,428 — — —_ — 191,428
RailAmerica acquisition

consideration for share-based

awards — = 15,400 — —_ e = 15,400
Treasury stock acquisitions from

equity awards, 63,462 shares = = = = — (4,314 - (4.314)
Settlement of deferred stock

awards, 31,244 shares = - 933 — — > T 933
Noncontrolling interest -

increase from Rail America

acquisition — — —_ — — .- 5528 5.525
BALANCE, December 31,2012 $§ 579 § 17 $ 866,609 § 789,727 $ 47271  $(209,266) $ 5,525 $1,500,462
Net income — — — 271,296 —_— — 795 272,091
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (41,182) — — (41,182)
Dividends paid on Series A-1

Preferred Stock = = = (2.139) s = == (2,139)
Proceeds from employee stock

purchases 6 —_ 12,504 — — — — 12,510
Conversion of 119,963 shares

Class B common stock to | 1

Class A common stock M - — - - = -
Conversion of 5,984,232 shares

Series A-1 Preferred Stock to

Class A common stock 60 = 399,329 — - = - 399,389
Compensation cost related to

equity awards — — 16,951 —_ — — — 16,951
Tax benefits from share-based

compensation — — 6,854 — — o — 6,854
Treasury stock acquisitions from

equity awards, 126,606 shares — = = s — (11,095) e (11,095)
Settlement of deferred stock

awards, 4,859 shares i - 274 i = e - 274
Noncontrolling interest - change

in fair value (see Note 3) — i — e - - (5,045) (5,045)
BALANCE, December 31,2013 $§ 646 §$ 16 $1,302,521 $1,058,884 § 6,089 $(220,361) $ 1,275 $2,149,070

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENESEE & WYOMING INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
(dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 272,091 $ 52,433 § 119,484
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Income from equity investment in RailAmerica, net — (15,557) —
Depreciation and amortization 141,644 73,405 66,481
Compensation cost related to equity awards 16,951 12,151 7,776
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation (6,861) (5,335) (2,820)
Deferred income taxes 10,229 29,926 26,291
Net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets 4,677) (11,225) (5,660)
Gain on sale of investments — - (907)
Gain on insurance recoveries (1,465) (5,760) (1,061)
Insurance proceeds received 11,053 21,479 646
Contingent forward sale contract mark-to-market expense — 50,106 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities which provided/(used) cash,
net of effect of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net (44,454) (262) (12,307)
Materials and supplies (1,839) (567) (1,206)
Prepaid expenses and other (22) (5,384) 3,543
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 16,383 (30,051) (25,556)
Other assets and liabilities, net 4,471 5,320 (1,235)
Net cash provided by operating activities 413,504 170,679 173,469
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment (249,318) (231,694) (178,668)
Grant proceeds from outside parties 33,913 39,632 22,642
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  (1,925,296) (89,935)
Insurance proceeds for the replacement of assets — 370 —
Proceeds from the sale of investments — — 1,369
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment 6,687 15,298 9,464
Net cash used in investing activities (208,718)  (2,101.690) (235.128)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal payments on long-term borrowings, including capital leases (471,957)  (1,013,166) (533,544)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 262,651 2,192,916 581,394
Debt amendment/issuance costs (2,773) (38,839) (4,742)
Net proceeds from Class A common stock issuance — 234,340 —
Net proceeds from TEU issuance — 222,856 —
Net proceeds from Series A-1 Preferred Stock issuance — 349,418 —
Dividends paid on Series A-1 Preferred Stock (2,139) (4,375) —
Proceeds from employee stock purchases 12,510 19,320 17,433
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation 6,861 5,335 2,820
Treasury stock acquisitions (11,095) (4,314) (1,326)
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (205,942) 1,963,491 62,035
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (740) 5,023 (524)
(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,896) 37,503 (148)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 64,772 27,269 27,417
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year $ 62,876 $ 64,772 $ 27,269

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GENESEE & WYOMING INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BUSINESS AND CUSTOMERS:

Unless the context otherwise requires, when used in these consolidated financial statements, the terms
“Genesee & Wyoming,” “G&W” and the “Company” refer to Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and its subsidiaries,
including RailAmerica, Inc. and its subsidiaries (RailAmerica). G& W acquired RailAmerica on October 1,

2012. However, the shares of RailAmerica were held in a voting trust while the United States Surface Transportation
Board (STB) considered the Company's control application, which application was approved with an effective date
of December 28, 2012. Accordingly, the Company accounted for the earnings of RailAmerica using the equity
method of accounting while the shares were held in the voting trust and the Company's determination of fair values
of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities has been included in its consolidated balance sheets since December
28, 2012. All references to currency amounts included in these consolidated financial statements are in United

States dollars unless specifically noted otherwise.

The Company owns and operates short line and regional railroads in the United States, Australia, Canada, the
Netherlands and Belgium. In addition, the Company operates the 1,400 mile Tarcoola to Darwin rail line, which
links the Port of Darwin with the Australian interstate rail network in South Australia. Operations currently include
111 railroads organized into 11 regions, with approximately 14,700 miles of owned and leased track, approximately
4,800 employees and more than 2,000 customers. The Company provides rail service at 35 ports in North America,
Australia and Europe and performs contract coal loading and railcar switching for industrial customers. See Note 3,
Changes in Operations, for descriptions of the Company’s changes in operations in recent years.

The Company's railroads transport a wide variety of commodities. Revenues from the Company’s 10 largest
customers accounted for approximately 24%, 31% and 29% of the Company’s operating revenues in 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements presented herein include the accounts of Genesee & Wyoming Inc. and
its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP) as codified in the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition

Railroad revenues are estimated and recognized as shipments initially move onto the Company’s tracks,
which, due to the relatively short duration of haul, is not materially different from the recognition of revenues as
shipments progress. Industrial switching and other service revenues are recognized as such services are provided.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased
to be cash equivalents.

Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies consist primarily of purchased items for improvement and maintenance of road
property and equipment and are stated at the lower of average cost or market. Materials and supplies are removed
from inventory using the average cost method.
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Business Combinations

The Company accounts for businesses it acquires using the acquisition method of accounting. Under this
method, all acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The Company records the underlying net assets at
their respective acquisition-date fair values. As part of this process, the Company identifies and attributes values and
estimated lives to property and equipment and intangible assets acquired. These determinations involve significant
estimates and assumptions, including those with respect to future cash flows, discount rates and asset lives, and
therefore require considerable judgment. These determinations affect the amount of depreciation and amortization
expense recognized in future periods. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the
consolidated statements of operations beginning on the respective business’s acquisition date.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Major renewals or improvements to property and equipment are
capitalized, while routine maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred. The Company incurs maintenance
and repair expenses to keep its operations safe and fit for existing purpose. Major renewals or improvements,
however, are undertaken to extend the useful life or increase the functionality of the asset, or both. Other than a de
minimis threshold under which costs are expensed as incurred, the Company does not apply pre-defined
capitalization thresholds when assessing spending for classification among capital or expense.

Unlike the Class I railroads that operate over extensive contiguous rail networks, the Company’s short line and
regional railroads are geographically dispersed businesses that transport freight over relatively short distances. As a
result, the Company typically incurs minimal spending on self-constructed assets and, instead, the vast majority of
its capital spending relates to purchased assets installed by professional contractors. In addition, the Company
generally does not incur significant rail grinding or ballast cleaning expenses. However, if and when such costs are
incurred, they are expensed.

The Company depreciates its property and equipment using the straight-line method over the useful lives of
the property and equipment. The following table sets forth the estimated useful lives of the Company’s major classes
of property and equipment:

Estimated Useful Life (in Years)

Property: Minimum Maximum
Buildings and leasehold improvements (subject to term of lease) 2 40
Bridges/tunnels/culverts 20 50
Track property 5 50
Equipment:

Computer equipment 2 7
Locomotives and railcars 2 30
Vehicles and mobile equipment 2 10
Signals and crossing equipment 4 30
Track equipment 2 10
Other equipment 2 20

The Company reviews its long-lived tangible assets for impairment whenever events and circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts of such assets may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that an asset may
not be recoverable, the Company uses an estimate of the related undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining
life of such asset in measuring whether or not impairment has occurred. If impairment is identified, a loss would be
reported to the extent that the carrying value of the related assets exceeds the fair value of those assets as determined
by valuation techniques applicable in the circumstances. Losses from impairment of assets are charged to net (gain)/
loss on sale and impairment of assets within operating expenses.



Gains or losses on sales, including sales of assets removed during track and equipment upgrade projects, or
losses incurred through other dispositions, such as unanticipated retirement or destruction, are credited or charged to
net (gain)/loss on sale and impairment of assets within operating expenses. Gains are recorded when realized if the
sale value exceeds the remaining carrying value of the respective property and equipment. If the estimated salvage
value is less than the remaining carrying value, the Company records the loss incurred equal to the respective asset’s
carrying value less salvage value. There were no material losses incurred through other dispositions from
unanticipated or unusual events in the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 or 2011.

Grants from Outside Parties

Grants from outside parties are recorded as long-term liabilities and are amortized as a reduction to
depreciation expense over the same period during which the associated assets are depreciated.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company reviews the carrying values of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives
at least annually to assess impairment since these assets are not amortized. If the carrying amount of the asset
exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The Company
performs its annual impairment test as of November 30 of each year. No impairment was recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2013 or 2012. Additionally, the Company reviews the carrying value of any intangible asset or
goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The determination of fair value involves significant management judgment including assumptions about operating
results, business plans, income projections, anticipated future cash flows and market data. Impairments are expensed
when incurred.

Amwortizable Intangible Assets

The Company performs an impairment test on amortizable intangible assets when specific impairment
indicators are present. The Company has amortizable intangible assets valued primarily as service agreements,
customer contracts or relationships and track access agreements. These intangible assets are generally amortized on
a straight-line basis over the expected economic longevity of the facility served, the customer relationship, or the
length of the contract or agreement including expected renewals.

Derailment and Property Damages, Personal Injuries and Third-Party Claims

The Company maintains liability and property insurance coverage to mitigate the financial risk of providing
rail and rail-related services. On August 1, 2013, the Company renewed these annual insurance policies, which now
cover all of the Company's operations under one insurance program. Incidents involving entities previously owned
by RailAmerica that occurred prior to this renewal would be considered under RailAmerica’s legacy liability and
property insurance policies. The Company’s primary liability policies currently have self-insured retentions of up to
$1.0 million per occurrence. RailAmerica's prior primary liability policies' self-insured retentions were as high as
$4.0 million per occurrence. With respect to the transportation of hazardous commodities, the liability policy covers
third-party claims and damages associated with sudden releases of hazardous materials, including expenses related
to evacuation, as a result of a railroad accident. Personal injuries associated with grade crossing accidents are also
covered under the Company’s liability policies. The Company’s property damage policies currently have various
self-insured retentions, which vary based on type and location of the incident, of up to $1.0 million per occurrence
except in Australia where the Company's self-insurance retention for property damage due to a cyclone or flood is
A$2.5 million. RailAmerica's primary property damage policies previously had self-insured retentions of up to $1.5
million per occurrence. The property damage policies also provide business interruption insurance arising from
covered events.

Employees of the Company's United States railroads are covered by the Federal Employers' Liability Act
(FELA), a fault-based system under which claims resulting from injuries and deaths of railroad employees are
settled by negotiation or litigation. FELA-related claims are covered under the Company's liability policies.
Employees of the Company's industrial switching and railroad construction businesses are covered under workers'
compensation policies.

F-10



Accruals for FELA claims by the Company's railroad employees and third-party personal injury or other
claims are recorded in the period when such claims are determined to be probable and estimable. These estimates
are updated in future periods as information develops.

Income Taxes

The Company files a consolidated United States federal income tax return, which includes all of its United
States subsidiaries. Each of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries files appropriate income tax returns in each of its
respective countries. No provision is made for the United States income taxes applicable to the undistributed
earnings of controlled foreign subsidiaries as it is the intention of management to fully utilize those earnings in the
operations of foreign subsidiaries. The provision for, or benefit from, income taxes includes deferred taxes resulting
from temporary differences using a balance sheet approach. Such temporary differences result primarily from
differences in the carrying value of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes. Future realization
of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income. The
Company evaluates on a quarterly basis whether, based on all available evidence, the deferred income tax assets will
be realizable. Valuation allowances are established when it is estimated that it is more likely than not that the tax
benefit of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (Compensation Committee) has
discretion to determine grantees, grant dates, amounts of grants, vesting and expiration dates for stock-based
compensation awarded to the Company’s employees under the Company’s Second Amended and Restated 2004
Omnibus Incentive Plan (the Omnibus Plan). The Omnibus Plan permits the issuance of stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units and any other form of award established by the Compensation Committee, in each case
consistent with the Omnibus Plan’s purpose. Under the terms of the awards, equity grants for employees generally
vest over three years and equity grants for directors vest over their respective remaining terms as directors.

The grant date fair value of non-vested shares, less estimated forfeitures, is recorded to compensation expense
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes pricing model and straight-line amortization of compensation expense is recorded over the
requisite service period of the grant. Two assumptions in the Black-Scholes pricing model require management
judgment: the life of the option and the volatility of the stock over the life of the option. The assumption for the life
of the option is based on historical experience and is estimated for each grant. The assumption for the volatility of
the stock is based on a combination of historical and implied volatility. The fair value of the Company's restricted
stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the Company’s Class A common stock on the
date of grant.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company applies the following three-level hierarchy of valuation inputs for measuring fair value:

* Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the ability
to access at the measurement date.

+  Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all
significant inputs are observable market data.

* Level 3 - Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs are
unobservable.

Foreign Currency

The consolidated financial statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were prepared in the local
currency of the respective subsidiary and translated into United States dollars based on the exchange rate at the end
of the period for balance sheet items and, for the statement of operations, at the average rate for the statement
period. Currency translation adjustments are reflected within the equity section of the balance sheet and are included
in other comprehensive income. Cumulative translation adjustments are recognized in the consolidated statement of
operations upon substantial or complete liquidation of the underlying investment in the foreign subsidiary.
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Management Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management
to use judgment and to make estimates and assumptions that affect business combinations, reported assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates using management judgment are
made in the areas of recoverability and useful life of assets, as well as liabilities for casualty claims and income
taxes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

Slower growth, an economic recession, or significant changes in commodity prices or regulation that affects
the countries where the Company operates or their imports and exports, could negatively impact the Company's
business. The Company is required to assess for potential impairment of non-current assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances, including economic circumstances, indicate that the respective asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable. A decline in current macroeconomic or financial conditions could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the 2013 presentation, most notably of which
was the break out of trackage rights expense on the Company's consolidated statements of operations that had
previously been included in other expenses.

3. CHANGES IN OPERATIONS:
United States

RailAmerica, Inc.: On October 1, 2012, the Company acquired 100% of RailAmerica's outstanding shares for
cash at a price of $27.50 per share, and in connection with such acquisition, the Company repaid RailAmerica's term
loan and revolving credit facility. The calculation of the total consideration for the RailAmerica acquisition is
presented below (in thousands, except per share amount):

RailAmerica outstanding common stock as of October 1, 2012 49,934
Cash purchase price per share $ 27.50
Equity purchase price § 1,373,184
Payment of RailAmerica's outstanding term loan and revolving credit facility 659,198
Cash consideration 2,032,382
Impact of pre-acquisition share-based awards 9,400
Total consideration $ 2,041,782

The Company financed the $1.4 billion cash purchase price for RailAmerica's common stock, the refinancing
of $1.2 billion of the Company's and RailAmerica's outstanding debt prior to the acquisition as well as transaction
and financing-related expenses with approximately $1.9 billion of debt from a new five-year Senior Secured
Syndicated Credit Facility Agreement (the Credit Agreement) (see Note 9, Long-Term Debt), $475.5 million of
gross proceeds from the Company's public offerings of Class A common stock and Tangible Equity Units (TEUs)
(see Note 4, Earnings Per Common Share) and $350.0 miilion through a private issuance of mandatorily convertibie
Series A-1 Preferred Stock to affiliates of Carlyle Partners V, L.P. (collectively, Carlyle) (see Note 4, Earnings Per
Common Share, and Note 10, Derivative Financial Instruments).

Commencing on October 1, 2012, the shares of RailAmerica were held in an independent voting trust while
the STB considered the Company's control application, which application was approved with an effective date of
December 28, 2012. Accordingly, the Company accounted for the earnings of RailAmerica using the equity method
of accounting while the shares were held in the voting trust and acquisition date fair values of the acquired assets
and assumed liabilities have been included in the Company's consolidated balance sheets since December 28, 2012.
The results from RailAmerica's operations are included among the various line items in the Company's consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 and are included in the Company's North American
& European Operations segment.
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In accordance with U.S. GAAP, a new accounting basis was established for RailAmerica on October 1, 2012
for its stand-alone financial statements. Condensed consolidated financial information for RailAmerica as of and for
the period ended December 28, 2012 is included in Note 8, Equity Investment.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, as discussed more fully under Contingent Forward Sale Contract in
Note 10, Derivative Financial Instruments, the Company recorded a $50.1 million non-cash mark-to-market expense
related to an investment agreement governing the sale of the Series A-1 Preferred Stock to Carlyle in connection
with the funding of the RailAmerica acquisition (the Investment Agreement). The expense resulted from the
significant increase in the Company's share price between July 23, 2012 (the date the Company entered into the
Investment Agreement) and September 28, 2012 (the last trading date prior to issuing the Series A-1 Preferred
Stock). On February 13, 2013, the Company exercised its option to convert all of the outstanding Series A-1
Preferred Stock into 5,984,232 shares of the Company's Class A common stock.

The Company also incurred $17.0 million and $30.0 million of RailAmerica integration and acquisition-
related costs during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company recognized $15.6
million of net income from the equity investment in RailAmerica during the three months ended December 31,
2012. The income from equity investment included $3.5 million of after-tax acquisition/integration costs incurred by
RailAmerica in the three months ended December 31, 2012.

Headquartered in Jacksonville, Florida with approximately 2,000 employees, RailAmerica owned and
operated 45 short line freight railroads in North America with approximately 7,100 miles of track in 28 U.S. states
and three Canadian provinces as of the October 1, 2012 acquisition date.

Columbus & Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc.: In April 2012, the Company's newly formed subsidiary, Columbus
& Chattahoochee Railroad, Inc. (CCH), signed an agreement with Norfolk Southern Railway Company (NS) to
lease and operate a 26-mile segment of NS track that runs from Girard, Alabama to Mahrt, Alabama. Operations
commenced on July 1, 2012. CCH interchanges with NS in Columbus, Georgia where the Company's Georgia
Southwestern Railroad, Inc. also has operations. The results from CCH’s operations have been included in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations since July 1, 2012 and are included in the Company’s North
American & European Operations segment.

Hilton & Albany Railroad, Inc.: In November 2011, the Company's newly formed subsidiary, Hilton & Albany
Railroad, Inc. (HAL), signed an agreement with NS to lease and operate a 56-mile segment of NS track that runs
from Hilton, Georgia to Albany, Georgia. Operations commenced on January 1, 2012. HAL handles primarily
overhead traffic between NS and the Company's following railroads: The Bay Line Railroad, L.L.C.; Chattahoochee
Bay Railroad, Inc.; Chattahoochee Industrial Railroad; and Georgia Southwestern Railroad, Inc. In addition, HAL
serves several local agricultural and aggregate customers in southwest Georgia. The results from HAL’s operations
have been included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations since January 1, 2012 and are included
in the Company’s North American & European Operations segment.

Arizona Eastern Railway Company: On September 1, 2011, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of
Arizona Eastern Railway Company (AZER). The Company paid the seller $89.5 million in cash at closing, which
included a reduction to the purchase price of $0.6 million based on the estimated working capital adjustment.
Following the final working capital adjustment, the Company recorded an additional $0.8 million of purchase price
in December 2011, which was paid to the seller in January 2012. The Company incurred $0.6 million of acquisition
costs related to this transaction through December 31, 2011, which were expensed as incurred. The results from
AZER’s operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations since September 1,
2011 and are included in the Company’s North American & European Operations segment.

Headquartered near Miami, Arizona, with 43 employees and 10 locomotives, AZER owned and operated two
rail lines totaling approximately 200 track miles in southeast Arizona and southwest New Mexico connected by 52
miles of trackage rights over the Union Pacific Railroad as of the September 1, 2011 acquisition date. The largest
customer on AZER is Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. (Freeport-McMoRan). AZER provides rail service to
Freeport-McMoRan’s largest North American copper mine and its North American smelter, hauling copper
concentrate, copper anode, copper rod and sulfuric acid. In conjunction with the transaction, AZER and Freeport-
McMoRan entered into a long-term operating agreement.
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Determination of Fair Value

The Company accounted for the RailAmerica and AZER acquisitions using the acquisition method of
accounting under U.S. GAAP. Under the acquisition method of accounting:

»  The assets and liabilities of RailAmerica were recorded at their respective acquisition-date preliminary fair
values by RailAmerica as of October 1, 2012, which is referred to as the application of push-down
accounting, and were included in the Company's consolidated balance sheet in a single line item following
the equity method of accounting as of that date (see RailAmerica as of October 1, 2012 column in the
following table).

¢ Upon approval by the STB for the Company to control RailAmerica, the preliminary determination of fair
values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities were consolidated with the Company's assets and
liabilities as of December 28, 2012 (see RailAmerica as of December 28, 2012 Preliminary column in the
following table). Between October 1, 2012 and December 28, 2012, the Company recognized income from
its equity investment in RailAmerica of $15.6 million and other comprehensive loss of $2.0 million,
primarily resulting from foreign currency translation adjustments. In addition, the Company recognized
$21.8 million, representing the change in RailAmerica's cash and cash equivalents from October 1, 2012 to
December 28, 2012, as a reduction in net cash paid for the acquisition.

* In 2013, the Company finalized its determination of fair values of RailAmerica's assets and liabilities (see
RailAmerica as of December 28, 2012 Final column in the following table). The measurement period
adjustments to the fair values were as follows: 1) property and equipment increased $10.7 million, 2)
intangible assets decreased $29.9 million, 3) deferred income tax liabilities, net decreased $16.0 million, 4)
noncontrolling interest decreased $5.0 million, 5) all other assets, net increased $1.3 million and 6)
goodwill decreased $3.1 million as an offset to the above-mentioned changes. This resulted in additional
annualized depreciation and amortization expense of approximately $4 million. The Company does not
consider these adjustments material to its consolidated financial statements taken as a whole and as such,
prior periods were not retroactively adjusted.

*  The assets and liabilities of AZER were recorded at their respective acquisition-date fair values and were
consolidated with those of the Company as of the September 1, 2011 acquisition date (see AZER column in
the following table).

The fair values assigned to the acquired net assets of RailAmerica and AZER were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

RailAmerica AZER

As of As of December 28, 2012 As of
October 1, 2012 Preliminary Final September 1, 2011
Cash and cash equivalents $ 86,102 $ 107,922 §$ 107,922 §$ -
Accounts receivable 104,839 91,424 90,659 3,096
Materials and supplies 6,406 7.325 7,325 e
Prepaid expenses and other 15,146 14,815 15,801 2,319
Deferred income tax assets 49,074 49,074 56,998 —
Property and equipment 1,579,321 1,588,612 1,599,282 90,129
Goodwill 474,115 474,115 471,028 - -
Intangible assets, net 451,100 446,327 416,427 —
Other assets 116 116 116 —
Total assets 2,766,219 2,779,730 2,765,558 95,544
Accounts payable and accrued expenses = 143,790 135,117 140,160 5,212
Long-term debt 12,158 12,010 12,010 —
Deferred income tax liabilities, net 542,210 551,856 535,864 —
Other long-term liabilities 20,754 19,618 21,439 -
Noncontrolling interest 5,525 5,525 481 —
Net assets $ 2,041,782 $ 2,055,604 § 2,055,604 § 90,332
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Pro Forma Financial Results (unaudited)

The following table summarizes the Company’s unaudited pro forma operating results for the years ended
December 31,2012 and 2011 as if the acquisition of RailAmerica had been consummated as of January 1, 2011. The
pro forma operating results do not include the impact of any potential operating efficiencies, savings from expected
synergies, costs to integrate the operations or costs necessary to achieve savings from expected synergies or the
impact of derivative instruments that the Company has entered into or may enter into to mitigate interest rate or
currency exchange rate risk (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

2012 2011
Operating revenues $ 1,461,419 $ 1,365,804
Net income attributable to Genesee & Wyoming Inc. $ 112,191 § 128,122

Less: Series A-1 Preferred Stock dividend 17,500 17,500

Net income available to common stockholders $ 94,691 § 110,622
Basic earnings per common share attributable to Genesee & Wyoming Inc.
common shareholders $ 199 § 2.34
Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Genesee & Wyoming Inc.
common shareholders $ 189 § 2.21

The 2012 and 2011 unaudited pro forma operating results include the acquisition of RailAmerica adjusted, net
of tax, for depreciation and amortization expense resulting from the determination of fair values of the acquired
property and equipment and amortizable intangible assets, the inclusion of interest expense related to borrowings
used to fund the acquisition, the amortization of debt issuance costs related to amendments to the Company’s prior
credit agreement and the elimination of RailAmerica's interest expense related to debt not assumed in the
acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were
based upon the Company’s historical consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011 and RailAmerica's consolidated statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2012,
the three months ended December 28, 2012 and the year ended December 31, 2011. Since the pro forma financial
results for 2012 and 2011 assume the acquisition of RailAmerica was consummated on January 1, 2011, the 2011
results included $20.3 million, net of tax, of acquisition-related costs and expenses related to change of control
agreements incurred by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2012, $9.5 million, net of tax, of fees
associated with the funding of the acquisition and $12.9 million, net of tax, of acquisition-related costs incurred by
RailAmerica during the year ended December 31, 2012. The pro forma results for 2012 included approximately $55
million of costs incurred by RailAmerica associated with the redemption of senior secured notes in January 2012. In
addition, the 2012 pro-forma results have been revised to eliminate the Company's $50.1 million mark-to-market
expense related to the Investment Agreement in connection with the funding of the acquisition.

As aresult of these charges, the numerator used in the calculation of pro forma diluted EPS attributable to
G&W common shareholders was reduced by the Series A-1 Preferred Stock dividend and the denominator excluded
approximately 6.0 million “if-converted” shares related to the Series A-1 Preferred Stock.

The pro forma financial information does not purport to be indicative of the results that actually would have
been obtained had the transactions been completed as of the assumed dates and for the periods presented and are not
intended to be a projection of future results or trends.

Australia

Arrium Limited: In July 2012, the Company's subsidiary, Genesee & Wyoming Australia Pty Ltd (GWA),
announced that it had expanded two existing rail haulage contracts with Arrium Limited (formerly OneSteel) to
transport additional export iron ore in South Australia. To support the increased shipments under the two contracts,
during the year ended December 31, 2012, GWA invested A$52.1 million (or $54.1 million at the exchange rate on
December 31, 2012) to purchase narrow gauge locomotives and railcars as well as to construct a standard gauge
rolling-stock maintenance facility in order to support the increased shipments under the two contracts. During the
year ended December 31, 2013, GWA spent an additional A$22.3 million (or $19.9 million at the exchange rate on
December 31, 2013) on these projects and does not expect to invest any additional capital in these projects in 2014.
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Alice Springs and Cook: In May 2012, GWA entered into an agreement with Asciano Services Pty Ltd (AIO),
a subsidiary of Asciano Pty Ltd, whereby GWA agreed to purchase an intermodal and freight terminal in Alice
Springs, Northern Territory from AIO and GWA agreed to sell AIO certain assets in the township of Cook, South
Australia that included GWA's third-party fuel-sales business. GWA completed the purchase of the Alice Springs
intermodal and freight terminal in June 2012 for A$9.0 million (or $9.2 million at the exchange rate on June 30,
2012) plus A$0.5 million (or $0.6 million at the exchange rate on June 30, 2012) tax liability for stamp duty (an
Australian asset transfer tax). Previously, GWA had leased the facility from AIO. The sale of the assets in Cook
closed in September of 2012. The Company received A$4.0 million (or $4.1 million at the exchange rate on
September 30, 2012) in pre-tax cash proceeds from the sale and recognized an after-tax book gain of A$1.3 million
(or $1.3 million at the exchange rate on September 30, 2012).

Canada

Tata Steel Minerals Canada Ltd.: In August 2012, the Company announced that its newly formed subsidiary,
KeRail Inc. (KeRail), entered into a long-term agreement with Tata Steel Minerals Canada Ltd. (TSMC), for KeRail
to provide rail transportation services to the direct shipping iron ore mine TSMC is developing near Schefferville,
Quebec in the Labrador Trough (the Mine). In addition, KeRail plans to construct an approximately 21-kilometer
rail line that will connect the Mine to the Tshiuetin Rail Transportation (TSH) interchange point in Schefferville.
Operated as part of the Company's Canada Region, KeRail is expected to haul unit trains of iron ore from its rail
connection with the Mine, which will then travel over three privately owned railways to the Port of Sept-iles for
export primarily to Tata Steel Limited's European operations. The agreement and construction are contingent on
certain conditions being met, including the receipt of necessary governmental permits and approvals. Once the track
construction has commenced, the rail line is expected to be completed three to six months thereafter, weather
permitting.

Results from Operations

‘When comparing the Company’s results from operations from one reporting period to another, it is important
to consider that the Company has historically experienced fluctuations in revenues and expenses due to acquisitions,
changing economic conditions, competitive forces, changes in foreign currency exchange rates, one-time freight
moves, fuel price fluctuations, customer plant expansions and shut-downs, sales of property and equipment,
derailments and weather-related conditions, such as hurricanes, cyclones, tornadoes, droughts, heavy snowfall,
unseasonably warm or cool weather, freezing and flooding. In periods when these events occur, the Company's
results of operations are not easily comparable from one period to another. Finally, certain of the Company’s
railroads have commodity shipments that are sensitive to general economic conditions, such as steel products, paper
products and lumber and forest products, as well as product specific economic conditions, such as the availability of
lower priced alternative sources of power generation (coal). Other shipments are relatively less affected by
economic conditions and are more closely affected by other factors, such as inventory levels maintained at customer
plants (coal), winter weather (salt and coal) and seasonal rainfall (agricultural products). As a result of these and
other factors, the Company’s results of operations in any reporting period may not be directly comparable to its
results of operations in other reporting periods.
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4. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Common shares issuable under unexercised stock options calculated under the treasury stock method,
weighted average Class B common shares outstanding and Series A-1 Preferred Stock were the only reconciling
items between the Company’s basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years
ended December 31,2013, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2013 20<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>